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BasunicTs

Hupo nskyemo BciM TUM LLLO HAITKCAJTH CBOI Bio-
rpadii i nogdasm npo pororpadii. Ocobinso asky-
€MO TUM KOTPi po3LUYyKaJIM i 10/1aJ11 CTapi icTOpHY-
Hi MaTepsisin. Bawa nomiy i cyrectii OyJ/in HaJimipHo
KOHEYHI | KOPHMCHI /10 BWIAHHA W€l POJIMHHOI
icTopii.

Mu crnioaieMocs 110 BUIAHHA LIET KHWXKKH 3a/10-
BO.IMThL Bac, i xo4emo BipuTH WO 1g NpaLs Kpaule
NO3HAHOMMTL YJIEHIB HALLIOI POJIMHH.

3a koMmiter — Bacuabs ®eneiiko

Ipuceara
List KHMYMKA NPUCBAYCHA CBITI NAMSATI 11IOHIpiB-

nepecenenuiB CunesBectpa i €Bnokii Peneiiko.
Bonu Hanekanu 10 TOro NOKOIHHS L0 NEPeKHUITH
TAXKKI 3JMHI, OiZHOTY H BCAKOro poaa Hecnpa-
Be/iIMBOCTI. BiciMiecaTh pOKIB TOMY, BOHH MaJjiu
BiaBary i npenbaunMBIiCTh JIMILMTH CBIH piiHMi
kpait i Buixatu 10 Kanaau. Hessaxaroun Ha Besiki
TPY/IHOLLI H TSHXKi WHUTTEBI 06CTABUHM IX OJIMHOKA
uina 6yna 3n106yTH Kpauy aoso ans cebe i s
CBOIX JliITEH.

Book Committee — William, Dennis, Sandra and Kathie
Fedeyko



Introduction

There were several reasons why our family histo-
ry is now written. We are a family of five known
generations, three of them born and raised in Canada
and the U.S.A. Their knowledge of the generation
which first came to Canada is somewhat obscure
because accurate records were not kept. Those of us
who have some memories of our ancestors have to
rely largely on dim recollection of the past. How
much richer our family story would have been had we
stopped to listen and recorded past experiences.

As the family grows larger, there is a tendency to
stray away from the family. It is hoped that the
younger generation can recognize their place in the
Fedeyko family geneology and continue to live in the
spirit of love and respect of one another.

A few members of our family do not share our
interest in preserving our family history, however
humble it may be. Most of you have shown a positive
response toward placing our family history on per-
manent record. Future generations will be apprecia-
tive of your efforts.

This book is an attempt to record the history of
known descendants of Sylvester and Eudokia
Fedeyko. Errors, omissions and other inaccuracies
will creep in, despite the fact that great care was taken
to avoid them.

Through the medium of this book, it is hoped that
we will establish new and renewed friendship among
the families, and at the same time pass on the legacy
of our ancestors to the future generations. While
attempting to preserve our family’s history, we hope
that it will be an inspiration to our youth who face
challenges never before dreamed of and may they
uphold the ideals of those who have gone before.

Family Name Changes
' Some of the family names, as they were entered
Into official Canadian records, are almost beyond

recognition. There are several reasons why those
changes came about.

Some of these include the influence of the Polish
language used on various documents drawn up in
Galicia, the retention of the Ukrainian pronuncia-
tion, and the lack of knowledge of the English lan-
guage which created nothing but confusion when
dealing with English in this country.

The Polish letter “‘J”’ is pronounced as English
letter Y in the word BOY; the Polish “C” pro-
nounced as the English letters “TS” in the word Bits
and the Polish ““KS” pronounced as the English
letter *“X”’ in the word “Alexandra.”

Much of this spelling and pronunciation con-
fusion continued during the documentation of land
applications and titles, as well as the birth and mar-
riage registrations. Names such as Jacko (Yatsko —
Yakiw) became Jack — Jacob, Aleksandra was
changed to Alexandra, Wasyl changed to William,
Maria to Mary, Ivan to John and Stephania to Stella.

The business and social community was most
influential in bringing about changes in our family
names.

The Emigration Story

Why did our ancestors from Galicia choose to
emigrate at all? The answer to that and other impor-
tant questions may be found in the study of the
political, social and economic conditions that almost
forced them to emigrate from their homeland and
look for new homes in foreign lands.

In the year 1900 approximately 17 million Ukrai-
nians lived within the Russian Empire and about 3
million in the Austro-Hungarian Empire; 300,000 in
Bukovyna and 400,000 in Carpatho-Ukraine (Sub-
carpatia). The Ukrainians of the Russian Empire, if
they left at all, chose to take up lands in southern
Siberia. Almost all of the Ukrainians who arrived in



Canada before World War I were the emigrants of
Austria dominated lands of Galicia and Bukovyna.

Although Galicia provided many Ukrainian im-
migrants to Canada. it was not inhabitated ex-
clusively by Ukrainians. Statistics of that day show
that Galicia was inhabited by 40% Ukrainian, 40%
Polish and 10% Jewish and a small percentage of
German people. The majority of Ukrainians lived in
the eastern part of Galicia and northern Bukovyna.
Today, that area is known as the Ukrainian Soviet
Socialist Republic. The Poles and the Romanians
lived mainly in western Galicia and southern
Bukovyna. They became known as the ‘‘upper
class,” owned great tracts of land, dominated the
government and together with the Jews and the Ger-
mans, made up about 75% of the urban population.
The Ukrainians lived in small villages in the coun-
tryside and worked the land. As late as 1900, 95% of
the Ukrainian people of Galicia were peasants.

The Political Conditions: Prior to and in the 1900’s

The various ethnic minorities that lived within
the Austro-Hungarian Empire were held in subjec-
tion by the ‘“Divide and Rule’ philosophy. The
nationalist feelings of each ethnic group were encour-
aged, but the administrative units were so arranged
that the two largest groups, the Poles and the Ukrai-
nians, were always pitted against one another. The
Poles continued to oppress the Ukrainians since there
was no change in the dependence of the Ukrainians
on the wealthy Polish landlords. The Ukrainians had
few political liberties and were deprived of the educa-
tional opportunities. The electoral processes
favoured the Polish landlords who usually became
heads of the country government. The Ukrainians
had no effective majority in any government body.
Social and Economic Conditions

Before serfdom was abolished in 1848 in Austria,
the condttion of the Ukrainian peasant was pitiable.
Extreme inequity existed between the landlord and
his serf. The serf approaching his lord’s dwelling was
required to take off his hat when still 100 steps away.
He could not marry without his lord’s consent and a
child could not be sent to school without the lord’s
permission. The lord could have his serf beaten and
the serf could not demand admittance before the lord
to present his grievances.

The serf and his family lived in a small hut on a
small plot of land which he worked, though it did not
belong to him. He had to pay titles and taxes on it but
could not sell it, make any improvements on it, or
divide it among his heirs without the lord’s permis-
sion. He worked on the lord’s lands certain days of
the week without pay, and he had to give the lord a
share of the produce from his own land. He paid taxes
on the salt he used and the fruit he grew. He was
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forced to buy a certain quantity of liquor from the
lord’s distillery and pay for it by the extra work on the
lord’s lands. The lord was the master. tax collector.
lawmaker and judge. The serf was the lord’s chattel
in every respect.

Following the abolition of serfdom there was
little or no change in the living conditions of the
peasant class. The peasants continued to be depen-
dent on the large land owners because they lacked
means to improve their own lot. The nobility still
held some ninety percent of the forest lands. In the
provinces they held control over the liquor industry
and made huge profits from it.

As late as 1892, the large landowners held 43% of
all the cultivated lands. Eighty-three percent of the
large estates (over 1500 acres) were held in a special
status of ownership. Of the 2 million three hundred
thousand people who lived on these estates, only
some two one-hundredths of one percent derived
direct benefits as landlords. The others had either no
land at all or so little that it could not provide the
means of livelihood. In Galicia, half of land that
belonged to the peasants consisted of plots of not
more than two hectares (approximately 5 acres).
There were no major industries to absorb the growing
population, the peasants’ heirs were forced to remain
on even smaller subdivisions of land willed to them
by their parents.

In addition to the hardships caused by the scarcity
of land, the peasants had to bear the burdensome
loads of taxes imposed by the landlords, the state and
the church. The prices on the peasants’ produce were
low, but the prices on manufactured goods that the
peasants had to buy were extremely high. Interests on
loans varied from six to twenty percent depending on
the area. Peasants who were unable to pay their debts
lost their property. During one ten-year period in the
late nineteenth century, over 23,000 peasants lost
their property for the non-payment of debts and tax-
es. In order to prevent the loss of their lands in this
way and to ensure that they could provide for their
families the peasants were forced to seek other
sources of income. The economic situation in Galicia
was such that it could not provide work for the wage
earners.

In their search for ways and means to improve
their lot, the Ukrainians from Galicia sought season-
al employment in Hungary, Germany and France.
But increased earnings alone did not solve the politi-
cal problems of the peasants nor did they satisfy their
longing for freedom. The only solution was to be
found in emigration.

Emigration — Why Did They Choose Canada?

Economic conditions in Canada toward the end
of the nineteenth century favored a program of mass



immigration into the country. Millions of acres of
Canadian prairies were ready to be converted from
the grassy pastures of the buffalo into a rich agricul-
tural land and for this purpose, settlers were needed.
The completion of the Canadian Pacific Railway in
1885, crossing the prairies and joining east to west in
one country from sea to sea, encouraged the develop-
ment of agriculture as well as other industries. Im-
provements in ocean transportation helped to link
Canada with other established industrial and com-
mercial centres of the world. After 1896, the price of
grain rose steadily while costs of transportation of
farm products to Europe dropped. In 1870, the inven-
tion of the steel plow made it easier to break the
prairie sod; the development of a roller mill in 1878
made it possible to grind the hard spring wheat into
flour. In 1880 the introduction of a twine binder
speeded up harvesting operations and the con-
struction of a grain elevator improved the shipping
methods. Together these and other factors led to the
hastening of prairie settlement.

The first attempts to settle the west had failed in
part because the crops sown were not adapted to
prairie weather conditions. Frosts damaged the crops
before they matured. In 1876, Red Fife wheat was
introduced into Western Canada. From it was bred
Marquis wheat, which became the staple of Western
Canada’s wheat production. The well-known agri-
cultural scientist, W. S. Saunders, at Rosthern, Sas-
katchewan announced that the three grains of *‘Red
Fife” wheat had arrived in Canada from Galicia.
Thus, wheat from Western Ukraine preceded the
arrival of Ukrainian settlers from the same area.

The federal government’s program of western
settlement, railway expansion and industrial de-
velopment called for the promotion of mass immigra-
tion. Clifford Sifton, Minister of the Interior in the
new Wilfred Laurier government of 1896, saw to it
that the Canadian west was widely advertised in
several European countries. Steamship companies
were encouraged to bring over immigrants by gov-
ernment bonuses for each head of a family and two
dollars for anyone else that they brought along. Some
5000 to 6000 agents scoured Galicia and Bukovyna
telling the people of the government’s offer of 160
acres of free land per farmer and the prospect of work
with good pay.

The Ukrainian peasants were attracted by these
offers, by the promise of political and religious liber-
ty. and by the freedom from compulsory military
service that existed in Canada. A further inducement
to prospective emigrants came from pamphlets pub-
lished by Dr. Oleskiw who had personally investi-
gated conditions in Canada.

Oleskiw, an intellectual with a progressive out-
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look was deeply concerned about the desperate eco-
nomic state of the Ukrainian peasantry. He was
especially concerned about the exploitation of peas-
ants by the unscrupulous agents working for the
steamship companies. He wrote a booklet entitled
**About Free Lands’’ which was distributed to 351
village reading halls across Galicia and was widely
read.

In 1895, Oleskiw and a colleague toured Canada
as official representatives of the Galician Ukrainians
conferring with politicians and civil servants across
Canada. All were impressed with Oleskiw’s busi-
nesslike approach to problems of mass immigration.
Once back in Galicia, Oleskiw wrote another book-
let, ““About Immigration”, in which he described
his impressions of Canada and foretold the happy
future for the emigrants.

With the assistance of a committee representing
people from all parts of Galicia, Oleskiw worked out
the details of the move. He was able to obtain finan-
cial assistance from the Canadian government be-
tween 1898 and 1900, the period during which he
acted as an official representative of the Canadian
immigration department in Austrian Galicia. The
first of the mass movement of the Ukrainians to
Canada arrived at Quebec on April 30, 1896. There
were 107 persons in that party.

Estimates of the number of Ukrainian immigrants
from Western Ukraine to arrive in Canada between
1890 and 1914 vary from 100,000 to 200,000. The
exact figure is difficult to arrive at because Ukrai-
nians were registered under several nationalities.

In this first wave of Ukrainian emigration to Can-
ada, the vast majoni.y were peasants with little if any
formal education and with no money. About fifty
percent of them could not read or write, and only a
very small number of them belonged to what may be
called an intellectual class. A few were skilled
tradesmen. Although conservative to the core, they
had the courage to face the unknown and start life all
over again in the new country. While the majority
settled on farm land, others took whatever jobs were
available and hoped to earn enough money to return
to their native villages and live there in comfort.
Work was available on railway construction, in mines
and in factories, and in the construction industry in
towns and cities. Many also found seasonal employ-
ment in lumber camps or on the farms.

Early Ukrainian immigrants to the three prairie
provinces settled in blocks. In some cases whole
villages migrated and settled together. Dotting the
map of Canada are some 180 Ukrainian place names.
As strangers in a foreign country, immigrants wanted
to be among their own kind, to have someone to turn
to. They visited and comforted each other, and



helped one another to build their first homes and
work on the land.

Some English-speaking Canadians criticized the
government for allowing these block settlements and
in that way retarding the process of assimilation.
Others inside and outside the Federal Parliament
condemned the Liberals for doing nothing to help the
Ukrainian immigrants. The government was accused
of dumping ‘‘Galicians” in the West who were igno-
rant of the conditions, laws and methods of farming,
and leaving them to survive the best they could. The
settlers lived in abject poverty, some in huts, some
even in holes in the ground.

By 1905, the pattern of Ukrainian settlement was
firmly established; thereafter settlement expanded
outward from the original blocks. Ukrainian colonies
extended in a belt north from southeastern Manitoba
to east of Winnipeg, and from there to Edmonton
along the line of the Canadian National Railway.
They included Yorkton, Rosthern, Radisson, Krydor
and Hafford in Saskatchewan; and in Alberta a block
extending east of Fort Saskatchewan practically to the

IIpo nepwmx YkpaiHcbKHX NOC/EHLIB
B CackauveBaHi

LikaBo unTaeTbca Apyruii Tom ictopii Cackaue-
BaHy niJ Ha3Boto “CackayeBaH i Horo 1roau” aBTo-
pa Hxana I'akca. ABTop nogae cnoragun Tomaca
MekHaTOHa, KOJIMILHLOrO Nocja A0 AOMIiHisJIbHO-
ro napasmeHty 3 okpyru CanaTkoBTC; npo
yKpaiHCbKHUX MOCeJIeHLIB, IKHMH BiH OIiKyBaBCS i
IOMOMIr ocicTUCA B TeNepillHUX OKOJIMUAX
Kannep, Bpokcton i CtopHoBeii. He Binomo, uu 1e
6yno nepiue ykpaiHcbke nocesieHHs B CackaueBaHi,
YH TiJIbKW OAHe 3 paHiluMX. B Tux coragax Hanuca-
HO Tak:

“BecHoro 1897 poky s oTpuMaB Tejerpamy BiJ
3eMenbHOrO fnenaptameHTy Madito6a i IliBHiYHO-
3axiguoi 3anizHnyHoi Komnasii, wo6 3HalTH Bin-
NOBiOHY 3eMJIIO AJ1s1 MOCEJIEHHs! BEJMKOro 4Mcna
cepeaHbO-eBponeiiliB. S BiANoBiB, 110 KOJIMLIHA
nicucTa noJsioca, AKMX 25 MHJIb Ha MiBHIYHHUEH cXin
3BI[CH, llle Mae AesKi Jlicki 1o6poro nepesa, Aello
ciHa, BpoxaiiHy 3eMJII0 i 03epa, asie 6iIbLIICT Jlica
crnajieHo.

He3zabapom npubyno kinbka BaroHiB rajuyas i
O6ykxoBuHUiB. PenepanbHe imirpauiiiHe 6ropo
NPUIIOPYUYUIIO MeHi mocenuTH iXx. Moi nepiui Bpa-
XeHHs OyJIH, WO Lie HEMOXXJIMBHIA Pif MocesieHNiB, i
s MaJsoluo He BigMoBHUBca. OOHaK s CBOKO OYMKY
CKOpoO 3MiHiB. Sl mo6auuB, WO NMpPH 3yNMUHLI NOTATY
BCi XXiHKM B TY MHUTb MoOIrjM 4o 03epa 3 KJIyHKaMu
OpyaHoi 6iM3HM i Noyasu eHepriiHo npatu. B Tim
TpaHcnopTi 6yB 3a nepekjagaya 4eMypyH XM, L0
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Saskatchewan border with Vegreville and Vermilion
as major centres.

The Ukrainian peasants of Austria knew the
hopelessness of working a small patch of land. They
found intolerable a system in which most of what
they earned seemed to enrich the already wealthy
landlord, the village innkeeper, the priests — every-
one but themselves. In the end, many decided to turn
their backs on this and go out for lands across the
ocean.

But during the same period, an organized politi-
cal and economic struggle was already underway in
the homeland. Those who left Galicia were under
that influence, directly or indirectly, of the social and
national awakening back home, and this they brought
with them to Canada. Many of them may not have
been able to read and write, but they understood
much. They knew what injustice was and they were
learning how to organize to fight it. These were the
courageous men and women who stepped off the boat
onto the Canadian soil.

Oe3HacTaHHO BXHBaB [0 iMirpaHTiB 6atora. BiH
MabyTb He 370ragaBcs, IO Li JIFOJH 3HaAX0AAThCS
nig oxXxOopoHOl kaHafdifickkoro mpanopa. HaBiTb
CHJIbHI POCTOM YOJIOBIKM MOKIpHO THYJIMCS mepen
foro GaTorom, Xou BiH caM OyB HacTiJIbKM 300-
XJIIBUM MEP30THHKOM, 1110 0OOpHii Xj10neup Mir 61
fioro nonmosatu. A Horo nepecrepir He MiAHOCUTH
Gisiblile HbaTora, ajie BiH MeHi cka3aB, WO Li JIOOU
TillbkH 6aTir po3ymitoTe. S GauuB, sk BiH OUB Xi-
Hok kynu nomnano. Llporo 6ysno 3abarato, i s fioro
3inXHYyB 3 MIATPOPMH Ta 3aTeserpadysas no Bin-
Hirery — 3BiJIbHUTH iforo 3 ciyx6u, 60 iHakile s
nokuHy. Ha Horo Micue s B34B rajmibkoro Himus
Ha nipi3Buiue Patribep 3 bepexan, axuii nobpe ro-
BOPHUB O aHIJiACHKH.

ITo sxiMch yYaci MeHi BOajlocsi NMPUMICTUTH iMi-
rpaHTiB TPOXH B iMirpauiiiHim OyauHKy, a pewity
— B WICTLOX BaHTaXHHUX BaroHax. BoHu BooBo-
JIATIACSA TUMYacCOBUM NPUTYJIKOM, a Mi3Hillle iX po3-
MillleHO Yy lIaTpax, [OOCTaBJEHMX ypsaaom. 3a-
JIi3HWYHA KOMMaHis BUcJlana MeHi CTapuid TpaH3HT,
60 3eMieMipHi NO3HAYKM BCi MO3HUKAJIHU | TPYIHO
6yJio BUMeEXyBaTH ceklii i 4yeTBepTkH ¢apmiB. 3
IONOMOroK TOro TPaH3UTy MeHi Baajocsi Bil-
HAHTH MO3HAKH MEX.

TpaHcnopT ckyiagascs 3 125 ocib. MeHi 6yno
cKa3aHo, 100 po3MicTUTH OYKOBHHLIB i rajauyax
okpeMo, 60 BOHM XHBYTb AyXe HEe3riIJMBO 3 CO-
6010. [leski 3 HUX Oy/IM rpeKko-npaBoCsaBHi, a aefKi
rpeKo-KaTOJIMKH, aje s He IeBHUH siki. MabyTh



BOHH MO.1i;IMIHCA Ha pe,qiriﬁHiyi Fp_\’lei abo MoKe
RMHMKIH SIKi pacOBI PIKHHLI B iCTOPIi THX TH01€i.
Hogi nocejeHUI Moya; p)'6gT11 JlepeBa i TecaTH
ko104 Ha xaTH. S Haﬁ'HFIB KLbKa nap KOHEeH —
[103803UTH [1€PEBA HA MiCLIE i BHOPaTH MypaBy Ha
HOKPHTTS naxiB. Hoceﬂenul Ma.lH CBOE€ Maii-
crepcbke 3HAPALIA | 3HATH. AK HUM OpY.IyBATH,
po6asuH BiKOHHHMIII, OBipKH i IBepi. Bukonano
KpHHHLI T2 BAKOHAHO KOHeuHy MpaLiio. KyxoHb He
6v-10. ajge Moce/IeHLl MafiCTEPHO criopy 1M1 cobi
rAMHSHY Ni4 3 KOMHHOM. Ix neui BHIA-TH 1pe-
cMmauHuii X110, XO4 MyKa HE Oy.1a nepuoi SKOCTH i
Lok 106pol MYKH KOLWITYBAB SI..SO. . .
JlexTo 3 HUX MaB Irpolul, ane Oi1bLIICTL 30BCIM
Hivoro He Mmaja, i TOMYy 3a/0BXYyBaIHCA B 6a-.
raTwmx. Bci BOHH MOKA3aiUCA NpPAlbOBHTHMH i
BAAYHHMH 32 HalMeHLy I’IOMI‘-I..BOHPI NpHiXaan Ha
33k MK nponaraHiu CudTtoHa i He3MipHO paninu
priacHoto (hapMoto. BoHH He XOTiH ocinaTHes Ha
BiKpHTHX CTENAX, &/1e BOILH JTCHCTI i 101MHHCTI
(bapmu, 106 MaTH CBOE JEPEBO i CiHO. XO4 nph-
XOIUI0CS 1M TAKKO PALFOBATH KOJIO KOPYYBaHHS
stickis. He MOXY CKa3aTH, 1110 iX YHCTOTA piBHs1ACH
ixHiii N06OKHOCTI, 60 BOHH By1H MO6OKHI. B Hux
6yB A9K, LIO BiANpaBIAB LUEPKOBHI CIyXOH i uuTaB
MOJIMTBH KOXHOI Hellili i CBATA, @ THX CBAT Tak
Jvike GaraTo. Ha Takux okasisx cxoausues 4oso-
BikM i okiHkW, yOpani B rpyde, ane OijeceHbke
yGpaHHsi, NPUKPALICHE KOJILOPOBHUM BHLHTTAM
460 TkaHHAM pyuHoi poGoTn. Ha TlM'y6[‘)aHHI~O He
6v-10 ani Api6OYKH 6pyay. Xouy OyaHi AHI BOHH Toi
YHCTOTH He 3aEPXKYBaH. 51 MOXY CKaXaTH, L0 BCi
BHaTKH y 3BA3KY 3 IX MOCETEHHAM 3apaxoBaHO Ha
iX romcTeaH 1 9 NEBHHH, L0 ypsal OTPHMAB Ha3al

KOXHHI LIEHT. o » _
Bouu MajM JAMBHI 1 175 KaHadlius HaBiTh

HernpHeMHi 3BH4al. O/1MH 3 TaKHX 3BHYAIB OVB 11i.1y-
BaHHS B pvKy. d BilVuUMB iX Bid Tiei HAaBHYKH i we
JesIKUX IHLLIMX HABHYOK. PO siKi He Oy.1y 3ra/1IyBaTH.
IicTh THKHIB NPOXKHB 1 3 THMH J1H0.1bMH i MEPEKO-
HaBCA. WO 3 HUX OV.IVTh 100pi rpoMaisHu. B Tol
yac s BKe MaB 100poro nepek.jaiaya B ocobi dxo-
3eda bekepa. 3 Horo 10nomMoroo s po3ka3aB THM
JHIAM. L0 Bid Tenep BOHH MYCATb 3KHBATHCA 3i
3BHYAsIMH LIbOTO HOBOTO Kpar 1 3a0X0uyBaB iX
nocH.1aTH 1iTel 19 WKo.1H. BoHu He Oy 10 Toro
NPHXH:IbHI. HOFOYHCD 110JATKIB. @ 10 TOr0 IXHi aiTH
He Ma i BiANOBi.IHOro yOpaHHS.

Yo.10BikM XO0IM;IH Ha 3apobiTkH. [iBuaTtam s
3HAaXO0/MB MpaLko B JOMALLHIH C1yxk01, | BOHH ayxe
CKOpO TMpPHCBOIOBAIHCA 10 HOBOrO OTOYEHHS,
BUBYAM J100pe aHrjliiicbkky MOBY, 3aMiHIOBAJIH
CBOKO CTAapoKpaeBY Holly Ha kaHafilcky. OBeui
KOXYLLIKH i TOMOTKaHe MoJIOTHsAHE YOpaHHs B)Ke He
6y.10 10 ix cMaky. Bouu uiaausu 3i cBoix 3apibkiB i
Bi[l1aBaJIM rpoLUi Ha I1IYT, KOPOBY Ta iHLWIi noTpebu
rocnoaapcraa.

Wopoky noceleHli 3anpoiuyBajid cobi CBOiX
3HaoMHX 3 EBponu, ax Mok He 1OKPH/IH LIJIOTO
TaBHwHny. He3zabapom BoHH nobyayBaau cobi
Kpauli XxaTH. [eXTo nokpHBaB JaXH CHIMKaMH,
3HOBY iHLII MajM MOJEPHI XaTH 3 JepeBa i JaxXH
NOKPHUTI roHTaMu. 3 HUX Oy.JH a00pi rocnogapi i
10alAMBO 1OKIYBAJUCA Xya000K i KiHbMH,
BCTAOUYH 4YACOM cepejl HOYi. 106 JaTH nawi abo
NCTE.TMTH CBIXOI COJIOMH Ha JleroBucbko. HaBiTh
KYPH iM HECJIMCs BIIPO,10BX Li101 3UMH i stiius Oy 1m
200pi, 0/HaK 11010 Macia, TO 1 HOro HEe MOXY
pexkomenayBaTH. Iloctyn TuX noceneHuiB 6yB
Takui, sk i Bcix iHwmKx. Ha 3aran Bonu 106pe 1o-
BOJMHCA | OYIM yxke rOCTHHHI. [lesiki 3 HUX Oy./H
TPOXH Tipuli, ajie Taki 3HAXOAAThCS BCHO,IH.

Photo courtess ol the Public Archives ol Canada

KOXAOTO
OCEJIEHUS |

HaHaoi:chKii yDAOD nouyas OGLMPHO MDOTOJNOWYBATH B lanruiHi # BykoBu-—

Hi B 1E°5Tux nOKax. [lepeciuyni cenAHcvxi rocmomapcTiBa B 12CO 1%

poKax Ha uKucnwsBany 7.5 2kpir 3emni.
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Family Units
Sylvester and Eudokia Fedeyko
by William (Wasyl) Fedeyko

1920, Sylvester and Eudokia Fedeyko.

The life span of the parents of Sylvester and
Eudokia Fedeyko covered a period of time from the
early 1800’ until about 1870 or 1880. The peasants of
that time, unable to read or write, did not keep any
records about themselves. The few records which
were kept by the churches were mostly destroyed
during the two world wars. Ukrainian people were
enslaved and their social and economic conditions
reached one of the lowest levels in their entire history.
Taras Shevchenko, who lived and wrote and pro-
duced his greatest literary work then, described that
ppriod as the darkest and blackest age of the Ukrai-
nian people.

Although serfdom was abolished in the Austro-
Hungarian Empire in 1848, the conditions under
which the poor people were forced to exist did not
change very much until the late 1800's. The gradual
change which came about allowed the peasants to
own a small plot of land and provided them with a
parochial system of elementary education. That kind
of schooling was optional and not very effective. My

grandfather, Sylvester Fedeyko, born an Austrian
citizen on January I, 1863 was destined to live and
grow up under such adverse conditions. (He was the
son of Lucas Fedeyko and his wife — unfortunately
our records have not provided us with any further
information other than this.)

The village of Ukryniw in the county of Sokal,
located in the pleasant agricultural countryside of
Galicia (Western Ukraine) was the birthplace of my
grandfather. His parents were peasants dependent on
a landlord to provide them with work which in turn
would provide the family with the barest necessities
for existence. At an early age, young Sylvester was
forced to work in the fields of the village landowner
to supplement the family income. In his mid-teens,
he got acquainted with a Waligurski family in the
neighboring village of Nismich, whose livelihood
was that of tanning and processing sheep hides. He
worked part-time free of charge while learning the
“sheepskin’ trade. That type of work fascinated him
and in later years, it provided him with a living.

Upon reaching the age of 19 years, Sylvester was
obligated by law to take a 3-year army training
course. As a young eligible recruit, he was inducted
into the Austrian army training command in 1882. It
appears that the wealthy landowners had considera-
ble influence on the government of the day because
arrangements were made whereby a leave of absence
was granted the trainees — a period of two weeks in
the spring and two weeks in the fall of the year
During the spring leave, they helped with the field
seeding operations and during the autumn season
they helped 'wvith the grain harvesting. For most re-
cruits, the army ““leave™ provided a break from the
training monotony.

At age 22, Sylvester completed his compulsory
training term with the Austrian army. He returned to
his native Ukryniw to find out that there was little or
no opportunity for him to begin any kind of liveli-
hood. After some time, he decided to go to Nismich
and locate his friends — the Waligurski family.

Eudokia. the only daughter of the Waligurski



1916, Front row, L-R: Edward Fedeyko, Eudokia Fedeyko, Catherine Barchuk, Sylvester Fedeyko. Back row: Alexandra Fedeyko,
Kost Fedeyko, Rozalia Fedeyko, Elisaveta (Fedeyko) Barchuk holding daughter Stephania.

family, was grown up and after a short courtship,
married Sylvester in 1886. Eudokia’s father parcelled
off about %2 an acre of land, built a little hut on it and
that constituted a home for the newlyweds.

With the support of Eudokia’s parents, Sylvester
was able to start his own tanning and tailoring busi-
ness. In time, he became very proficient in his trade.
He was able to tailor superior sheep-skin coats for

which there was a ready market. After a few years of

hard work, he was able to save up enough money to
build a new house to suit the needs of a growing
family.

In 1887, Jacob was born, followed by Kost in
1890, Elisaveta in 1896 and Alexandra in 1904. Syl-
vester, in spite of his hard work at his sheep-skin
trade, found that the income from his work was
inadequate to meet his family’s needs. There ap-
peared to be little or no future for his growing family.

In the early 1900’s, news of free lands began to
circulate in the Nismich and the area villages. The
steamship agents visited villages and talked about
free fertile agricultural lands in Canada and Brazil.
News of people who had emigrated earlier, were
spread among the local people. Eudokia and Sylves-
ter decided that their only hope to improve their lot
would be to emigrate to that distant **land of hope™
— Canada.

In the later part of 1905, Sylvester applied for a
complete army discharge. On January 1, 1906 he
received his Austrian “Abshied” (discharge), a docu-
ment which would allow him to leave Austria legally.
The family decided that Sylvester and his 16-year-old
son, Kost, who was somewhat boisterous and aggres-
sive, would leave first. They would look over the part
of the country suitable to their needs and then the
other members of the family would follow later. In
April of 1906, Sylvester and his son Kost landed in
Canada.

Philip and Hryhory Saganski, friends of the
Fedeyko's from their homeland, had settled in the
Krydor area in 1905. Upon his arrival in Rosthern,
Sylvester turned to his friends for advice and as-
sistance. Both the father and the son lived with and
helped the Saganski’s for a period of time that sum-
mer.

While it was important to locate land upon which
to settle, it was equally important to earn some much
needed money to be able to make a start on his own.
Sylvester found employment with the railroad in
Saskatoon area and Kost got himself a farm job with a
German family in the Rosthern district. By the end of
that year, the pooled financial resources of the two
Fedeykos were much improved.



During the winter of 1906, transportation ar-
rangements to Canada were made for the remaining
four members of the family. The house and other
properties of Nismich were sold and the money
raised was enough to finance the trip to Canada.

Words cannot express the thoughts and feelings
of the family leaving their home and friends forever.
They prayed and cried, they hugged and kissed and
there they parted. Sokal was the nearest railway
point. They boarded the train to Hamburg, Germany
and after several days of waiting, the steamship
*Mount Temple”” with its human cargo on board, set
sail for Canada.

The ocean voyage lasted about 18 days. Food
served aboard the ship was strange. People not being
used to sailing got sea sick. Not knowing the lan-
guage that was used aboard ship made it hard to
understand necessary directions and requests. It was
a trip of misery that would long be remembered.

On April 17, 1907, Eudokia, age 44; along with
Jacob. age 19; Elisaveta, age 11 and Alexandra, age 3;
and Anna Waligurski, age 15 (Eudokia’s niece)
stepped off the ship in the port of St. John, New
Brunswick. Land agents and railway people took
charge of the immigrants. Among them were inter-
preters who were able to translate English into Ukrai-
nian. Train travel from St. John to Winnipeg was
somewhat better than ocean travel.

The family arrived in Rosthern, Saskatchewan in
the early part of May. Sylvester and Kost met them at
the railway station. What a family reunion that must
have been! One can only imagine the thoughts and
feelings of the people under such circumstances.

After a couple of days stay at the immigration
house in Rosthern, the family loaded up their bag-
gage and all their earthly belongings on a wagon
drawn by a team of oxen and started out for Krydor
some 50 miles away. That trip took 3 days. There
were stopping places along the way where food and
shelter were provided. There were no roads and
wagon trails made by Indians were rough and muddy.
Creeks swollen by spring run-off waters had to be
crossed and finally at the end of the third day they
arrived at the Saganski homestead. A month and one-
half after they left their homeland, they reached their
destination with little or no money and no shelter.

The Saganski family, who had only the bare
necessities for shelter themselves, provided the new-
ly arrived immigrants with a small log building
which served them as a temporary residence during
most of the summer. The necessary cooking and
other needed facilities were shared.

Sylvester had filed an application for homestead
land about 12 miles west of Saganski’s. Logs for the

house and other buildings had to be hauled in from a
“Spruce Bush” about 15 miles to the north-west.
Walking speed of oxen was between 2 and 3 miles per
hour. Before they could be used in the building walls,
logs had to be peeled and hewed. Work proceeded at
a very slow pace. To close in the house, doors,
windows and shingles had to be purchased at a build-
ing supply store 50 miles away. There was no money.

The Federal government of that time guaranteed a
bank loan for homestead improvements. Grandfather
Sylvester was able to negotiate such a loan. He used
the money to buy the necessary materials to close up
the house as well as to purchase a wood burning stove
and a few tin pots and pans.

Prior to the purchase of a wood stove, an outside
bake oven was built — “Peech”. It was the very first
structure on grandfather’s homestead. Grandmother
Eudokia grew up with the use of such a baking
facility and it took her a long time to convince herself
that an iron wood stove could ever replace the proven
value of the “Peech”. That outside bake oven con-
tinued to be used for many years even after the iron
stove was ‘“‘accepted.”

In the late autumn, after the mud plastering of the
walls of the house, the roof was shingled and the

14 mno Phar

£ 290

Hi0E STRECH NG
~Pec

DEAN K. Lol

Hand tools made by Sylvester Fedeyko and used on the
homestead.



windows and doors installed, the family moved in.
Nearly all the furniture was home made — chairs,
table, beds and shelves for dishes such as they were.
Family members shared in the hard work to accom-
plish that which they had set out to do — own a new
home, humble as it was. There was no such a thing as
a “house warming™ but it must have been a heart
warming experience for all the members of the family
to move into their own home.

In addition to the house, a shed for the oxen and a
cow was built. Before freeze-up, a few acres of prai-
rie soil were cultivated. The following spring, a
garden was planted as well as a small plot of wheat
and oats. Grandmother Eudokia brought garden seed
with her from the old country, wheat and oat seed was
“borrowed™ from the neighbors.

After a three-year residence in Canada, Grand-
father Sylvester was able to recount his accomplish-
ments. He owned 160 acres of homestead land, 3
oxen, | cow, a house, a couple of sheds, a few
chickens, 2 pigs, a wagon, a walking plow, a couple
of harrows, but no money. Being a resourceful per-
son, he took advantage of whatever opportunities
presented themselves and he had confidence in his
own ability to improve his lot.

With hard work and perseverance, the family
farm prospered. Jacob and Kost got off-farm employ-
ment, and their financial support helped out very
much. Oxen were traded for horses, additional ma-
chinery was purchased and more land was cultivated
and brought into production. In 1910, a new house
was built. It was larger and more comfortable than
the old one. The old house was remodelled, extended
and rebuilt into a livestock barn. A few acres of
prairie were fenced off to serve as a pasture for cows
and horses.

By 1910, Jacob and Kost acquired their own land
adjoining that of their father. Machinery and horses
were shared. In 1911, each one of the sons set up their
individual farm operations. Separate houses were
built on each one’s land and additional necessary
equipment was purchased.

In 1912, a railway was built connecting Prince
Albert with North Battleford. The railway right-of-
way crossed Grandfather’s farm. About the same
time, Oukraina school was built just a half mile south
of the house. Krydor became a railway trading point
just 3%2 miles to the east. With the coming of the
Krydor Post Office, the school, and the Worobetz
Church 2% miles to the north-east, the homestead
began to appear like a permanent home.

By 1912, Jacob, Kost and Elisaveta were all mar-
ried and on their own, leaving Alexandra the only
child at home. She had just started school. Grand-
father decided to rent his land to Jacob. That arrange-

ment appeared to be working out well for both the
father and son.

Many changes came about during the two de-
cades 1913 to 1933. The war years of 1914 to 1918
brought devastation to many countries of Europe
while the Canadian west continued to prosper. From
1923 on. both grandparents lived what appeared to be
a happy and contented retired life. They continued to
live on the old homestead. Two horses and a buggy. a
couple of cows, a few chickens, a couple of pigs and
a small garden occupied all of their time. They were
able to look after themselves fairly well and appeared
happy doing it. Having lived through the hard home-
stead years, the depression of the early thirties had
very little effect on the life-style of the two elderly
Fedeykos.

.

1929, Front row, L-R: Eudokia Fedeyko, Alexandra (Fedeyko),
Deditch holding daughter Anne, Pauline Deditch in front of
Paul R. Fedeyko, Rozalia Fedeyko with Elsie (Elizabeth), De-
ditch in front, Sylvester Fedeyko. Back row: Edward Fedeyko,
Kost Fedeyko.

The horse, sled and buggy trip to the nearby
church was regular, summer and winter. The sled
replaced the buggy in the winter-time. The “‘one
horse open sleigh™ which is often pictured on Christ-
mas cards, would be a very good description of
Grandfather’s horse-drawn sled. The same method of
transportation was used when going shopping or
visiting neighbors.

In the early 1930°s Grandfather Sylvester’s health
began to fail. He was in and out of hospital several
times. He died on August 9, 1937 and was buried in
the cemetery beside the church which he had helped
to build.

Following the passing of Grandfather Sylvester,
Grandmother (then 74 years old) was not totally able
to care for herself. The land was rented and most of
the furniture, stock and other small items of value
were sold. Grandmother moved about, living for
short periods of time with Elisaveta, Kost and finally



in the fall of 1938 she went to live with her oldest son
Jacob. She appeared to be happy with her surround-
ines but her health was failing. Atage 77, she died on
Af)ril 17. 1940 and was buried in a plot beside her
husband. Sylvester. at the Worobetz church ceme-
tery. (A quirk of fate — Eudokia Fedeyko landed in
Canada on April 17, 1907 and died on the April 17,
1940. She was born on the March 14, 1863, her oldest
orandson was born March 14, 1911.)

" The personalities of the two grandparents were
different. Grandfather Sylvester was modest, quiet,
tolerant and exercised a great deal of patience. He
would rather follow than lead. Setting a good exam-
ple to be followed rather than ordering a person to
obey, was his philosophy. His mild-mannered ap-
proach to problems made him a favorite among his
relatives and friends. Due to his slight speech imped-
iment (stuttering) he did more listening than talking.
He was a jovial person, and more often looked at the
lighter side of things rather than harbour doom and
gloom. It was probably due to his army training that,
while in good health, he walked about like a soldier.
He owned a gun and he enjoyed hunting. His ability
to hunt proved to be very useful in the early home-
steading days when meat was scarce. Wild ducks,
geesc and rabbits were plentiful and grandfather was
able to supply wild game as additional food for the
table. Woodwork was his main hobby, cabinet mak-
ing. etc.

The grandchildren adored and followed him
around wherever he went. He was a good wood-
worker. He cut out carvings of birds and animals to be
given away to youngsters. Manikin cut-outs were
constructed in such a way that the limbs were move-
able and attached to strings. By pulling the strings,
arms, legs and head made small movements — all
this to the delight and enjoyment of grandchildren
and some elders as well. Most of his spare time was
spent in his little woodwork shop. As a child, Grand-
father learned to read and write in a parish school. As
time passed, he cultivated a reading habit and spent
much of his leisure time in reading books and news-
papers. The Bible was often referred to as the most
important book.

Grandmother Eudokia was a rather aggressive
type of personality. She had a tendency to lead rather
than follow, give orders rather than take them and
argue with expectation to win. There were times that
her type of attitude caused a few differences of opin-
l1on among the immediate members of the family.
Kost and Elisaveta by nature and temperament were
more like their mother, while Jacob and Alexandra
were more like their father. It can be said that stub-
bornness was one of the characteristics of the
Fedeyko family.

Both grandparents were very religious and hard-
working people. They came to Canada with a strong
conviction in the Ukrainian Greek-Catholic faith and
continued to support their church through their lives.
Grandfather was a founding member of the Worobetz
Church on the hill, and was instrumental in locating a
special kind of bell when the belfry was built. Sun-
day’s and all church holidays were observed with the
greatest of reverence. It was considered a sin to work
or do physical labour, except for the absolute neces-
sities, during any of the holy days. Many of the book
prayers were memorized and repeated morning and
evening. (Jacob and Kost were old enough to take
part in the church choir in the old country.) The priest
was considered to be a very righteous person.

Hard work and perseverance can be attributed to
both grandparents. Grandfather Sylvester, an expert
sheep-skin furrier by trade from his homeland in
Europe, was able to feed and cloth his family from
that income. Grandmother worked part-time in the
fields of the village landowner to supplement the
family income. Cutting and binding grain with a
sickle, planting and picking potatoes, stacking hay,
all back breaking types of common, hard labour,
were done by women and children.

Grandmother Eudokia was a good housekeeper.
Everything inside and outside of the house was kept
spotlessly clean, everything was in order and in
place. A large broom made of very fine willow
branches was used to sweep the yard and around the
house. Small bits of wood, twigs and straw were
picked up and thrown in a refuse receptacle. Grand-
father used the same type of broom to sweep up the
barn, chicken house and hog pen. There was a place
for everything and everything was in its place.

The deserted old house, the leaning old barn
behind the trees still stand as memorials, reminding
us and other children that our grandparents lived
there. From their oppressed homeland, they came
here empty handed and started with nothing. Their
oppressors had given them neither an education, help
nor leadership. Here they started without a cent or
any advice. They were strong-willed, and their com-
plete faith in God, who heard their prayers, helped
them overcome their many obstacles. They gave us
the opportunity to build a better life for ourselves and
our children. Let us honor that old grandmother and
grandfather who provided the foundations for our
work, who equipped us for life and who gave us the
rules.

Let us salute that abandoned broken down old
house, and that leaning old barn behind the trees,
because that is where the ideal was born and all good
things started.
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Application for Homestead Title, Sylvester Fedeyko.

Jacob and Katerina Fedeyko
by William Fedeyko, Sr.

Jacob (Yatsko), the eldest son of Sylvester and
Eudokia Fedeyko, was born on December 4, 1887 in
the small village of Nismich Sokal County, province
of Galicia, Austria presently known as Western
Ukraine. The story of the early years of his life are
not clear because of lack of records, however, some
information was handed down to me by word of
mouth.

The village school, which my father attended,
was under the supervision and authority of the local
village council in conjunction with the Greek Cath-
olic Church. Polish and Ukrainian languages were
used in class instruction. Younger children attended
school in the mornings and the older ones in the
afternoon. Religious instruction was given on a regu-
lar basis. 1960, Jacob and Katerina Fedeyko.




At age 14 my father graduated from the village
school. He was fluent in both the Ukrainian and
Polish languages and his general knowledge at the
time of his graduation was probably equal to the
knowledge acquired by a grade 8 graduate in our
Canadian schools. Very little else was known about
any other school activities, except that at age 15 he
was a member of the local church choir.

From age 15 to 19 my father, along with others of
his age, got work in the fields of the local landbaron.
Each year it was seeding in the spring, weeding
during the summer, and harvesting during the fall, all
by hand. Money they earned helped to supplement
the family income. During the slack periods in field
work, he apprenticed with the village tailor and be-
came quite proficient at the trade after a couple of
years of training.

In 1905, the Fedeyko family decided to emigrate
to Canada. Sylvester and Kost, the second eldest son,
would come in the spring of 1906, and the other
members of the family would follow in the spring of
1907.

With the departure of his father and younger
brother, Jacob assumed many of his father’s respon-
sibilities. Arrangements had to be made to dispose of
the family property and much of the personal effects.
The family home had to be sold and the income from
the sale had to be sufficient to cover the transporta-
tion costs to Canada. The sad and tearful village
farewells; the wagon ride to the railway station in
Lwiw; the train ride to Hambourg, Germany; the
numerous custom questionings, and the medical ex-
aminations before ship-boarding were some of the
harrowing experiences of the 20-year-old Jacob and
the other members of the Fedeyko family.

After three weeks of ocean travel and weakened
by prolonged sea-sickness, Jacob 20, his mother
Eudokia 42, sisters Elisaveta 11, and Alexandra 3,
disembarked in the Port of St. John, New Brunswick,
Canada on April 17, 1907. They had left their home-
land forever and Canada became their new adopted
home.

New trials, hardships and experiences awaited
the newly landed immigrants from Nismich, Galicia.
Strange unknown language, strange food, more
medical examinations, Canadian custom procedures
and finally a train journey to Rosthern, Saskatchewan
ended with the meeting of Sylvester and Kost at the
railway station. That family reunion was truly and
sincerely appreciated by each family member. The
memory of that occasion was not to be forgotten.

The Government Immigration Hall at Rosthern
Provided shelter and sleeping accommodation for the
newly arrived immigrants. Having rested up for a few
days the Fedeyko clan loaded up all their belongings

on a wagon, drawn by a team of oxen, and set outon a
journey to their new home. After three days of travel
they arrived at their destination in the Krydor district.
The Philip Saganski family, friends from the old
country, provided the Fedeyko's with a small granary
type building to serve as their home for the greater
part of that summer.

Summer of 1907 was a busy season for father
Sylvester and son Jacob. The first structure on the
newly acquired homestead land of Sylvester
Fedeyko, was an outside bake-oven, known as a
“peech”. The second structure, of course, was a
house.
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The Jacob Fedeyko original farm buildings built in 1914-15.

Logs for the building had to be hauled in from the
bush some 15 miles away, by ox team and wagon.
After months of hard work the house was made
habitable and the family moved into their new home.

In the fall of 1907 my father was able to get a job
with a railway “‘extra gang™. The main duty of that
“gang’ was emergency work, such as track repair
after a train wreck, or snow shovelling after a severe
snowstorm. That type of work was not steady and
lay-offs occurred quite frequently.

In the spring of 1908 father applied for a home-
stead adjacent to his father’s farm. His application
was accepted, but the title to the land could not be
obtained until the applicant fulfilled certain land
improvements and became a Canadian citizen. It was
March of 1913 before he was able to qualify for a title
to his land.

With a few dollars earned at various jobs and a
government guaranteed loan, Jacob was able to buy a
team of oxen, a wagon, a walking plow and a few
other minor items of equipment. Some of the other
machinery was shared between Kost and father Syl-
vester. Little did my father realize that it was a begin-
ning of a farming career which was to last for the next
50 years.

At the age of 23, in January of 1910, Jacob mar-
ried Catherine Horbay, age 17. The newly-weds lived



with the Fedeyko family until the summer of 1911.
That summer a log house, with an attached cow-
shed, was built on the south-east quarter of section 6
township 44 Range 8-west of the third meridian. This
dwelling was home until 1919.

Catherine (Horbay) Fedeyko was born on Sep-
tember 21, 1892 in the village of Sylimiw, county of
Sokal, Galicia, Austria (Western Ukraine). the eldest
child of Paul and Ludwina Horbay. About four miles
separated the two communities where each of my

parents were born and lived during their early years, ,

but they did not know of each other until they met in
Canada.

The Paul Horbay family landed in Canada on
April 4, 1909 with a family of six children — Cath-
erine 16, Helena 14, Stefan 10, Peter 6, Antoni 3, and
Maria 6 months old. In the summer of 1909 my
mother got a job as a domestic helper with a dou-
kobor family at Petrofka, Saskatchewan. She worked
there for seven months and got paid $70 for her
effort.

In accordance with the marriage customs of that
period, Ukrainian parents made most of the decisions
and arrangements for their children’s marriages.
During the winter of 1909 those typical arrangements
were made, and my parents were married on the 31st
of January in 1910.

Through sheer hard work and perseverance of
both of my parents, the farm prospered. A barn,
chicken house and a couple of outbuildings were
built during the summer of 1911 and 1912. Oxen were
traded for horses and additional machinery was
bought. By 1915, my father owned a 14-run 7 ft. seed
drill pulled by 3 horses, a 4% ft. hay mower, a rake,
harrows, a 2-furrow riding plow and a grain binder.
They had about 40 acres under cultivation.

1923

1922, Katerina Fedeyko holding Stephania.

Children came along. the first was Wasyl
(William) born in March 1911, Mary born in Dec.
1912, and John in April 1916. Other children of the
family came along later— Stephania born in October
1921 and Paul born in January 1927.

In 1914, when the World War I broke out, there
was a time when Austrian citizens were considered
enemy aliens, and as such were required to report to
the nearest police station once a month. Although the
Fedeyko family were naturalized Canadians, my fa-
ther was one of those who was required to report.

Grain prices improved during the wartime period
and the farmers prospered. My father and his brother
Kost, along with 3 other neighbors, bought a gas-
oline powered traction engine, a one cylinder *Ti-
tan”’ (manufactured by the International Harvester
Company), and a threshing machine. Kost, who had
gained gasoline engine mechanical experience, be-
came the chief engineer of that threshing outfit.

The homestead farm operation, which appeared
adequate in the early stages, began to look inade-
quate by 1917. There was no room for expansion
because of shortage of suitable farm land. The family
was growing and the needs were greater. Volodimir
Hryvnak, a municipal secretary as well as a C.P.R.
(Canadian Pacific Railway) land agent, in con-
versation with my father suggested that he knew of
open flat prairic farm land in the Cut Knife area.
Hryvnak, along with my father and brother Kost
drove out to investigate. They liked what they saw
and decided to buy a section of C.P.R. land (1-45-22-
W3) about 82 miles north of Cut Knife.

In the spring of 1918, the partnership of Fedeyko
Brothers (Jacob and Kost) bought a new 11-22
Sawyer-Massey tractor (11 horse power on the draw
bar and 22 horse power on the belt pulley) and a 2
furrow prairie breakway plow. That summer they
broke and worked down about 100 acres of prairie
soil. In addition to the land work, a house and a barn
were built. The house (20" X 42"), divided by a wall
in the middle, served the two families for 3 years.
Jacob’s family at that time consisted of 5 persons and
the family of Kost consisted of 4 persons — these 9
people were all housed in two 20 feet by 21 feet
compartments. The homestead land in Krydor was
sold to Philip Saganski, and the family moved to Cut
Knife in the spring of 1919. My father and mother
spent the next 30 years working and improving their
new home.

To the delight of the 5 children in the two fam-
ilies, the Fedeyko Brothers bought a new 1920
Chevrolet model 490 touring car. In 1921, a J.I. Case
tractor and threshing machine was added to the farm
operation. In 1922 Kost and his family decided to go
back to Krydor leaving my father as a sole owner of



the farm operation. Repayment arrangements be-
tween the two brothers were made with the result that
my father took on a considerable debt and it took
mzin)’ years of hard work before all debts were
cleared.

The years of 1922 to 1930 were years of fairly
good progress. Crops were good, children were
growing up and were able to help out. School,
however, was a problem as Wardenville school was 5
miles away. Fortunately, in 1924, Wembly school
was built just 4 mile away. Mary, John, Stephania
and Paul took much of their schooling there.

The economic depression years of 1930-39 had
their ill effects oneveryone in the land. Prices of farm
products fell to record lows. It seemed that no one
had any money and consequently nothing much was
bought. Hogs were sold at $3 each, eggs were 3-5¢
per dozen, good steers were priced at $10-12 each and
wheat sold at 20-25¢ per bushel. However, the farm
people. though short of money, had plenty of food to
live on. In 1939 things started to change for the better.

Itis ironic to think that a war is responsible for the
improvement of economic conditions in the land, but
that was exactly what happened. When the war broke
out in 1939 prices on farm products improved, old
mortgages were paid off and new power equipment
replaced the old horse-drawn machinery.

By 1945 John had taken over his father’s farm
operation and following John's marriage in 1949, my

1943, Threshing on the Jacob Fedeyko farm.

parents decided to retire. In 1950 they bought a house
in North Battleford and moved in the fall of that year.
Both enjoyed fairly good health for a few years to
come.

In July 1960, my parents celebrated their fiftieth
wedding anniversary and it was probably the most
important family event in the history of our family.
My brother and sister and I, organized the event
which brought together members of both sides of the
family, including the grandchildren and great-grand-
children. We gathered in North Battleford for a
prayer service followed by an appropriate program.
Because of the size of the gathering of family mem-
bers, it turned out to be a very successful and a happy
celebration.

- Family gathering for the 50th Wedding Anniversary of Jacob and Katerina Fedeyko. Front row, L-R: Katherine Fedeyko, Justine
Paueyko' Ste_phania Schneider, Katerina Fedeyko, Jacob Fedeyko, Alice Fedeyko, Claire Fedeyko holding Mary Ann, Denise
e l?»On h_o!dtng Douglas. Second row: Peter Paulson, Wm. (Wasyl) Fedeyko, Howard Schneider, John Fedeyko, Paul Fedeyko

olding Michael, Kenneth Paulson. Third row: Eugene Fedeyko, Howard L. Schneider, Wm. S. Fedeyko, Ronald Fedeyko, Douglas
eyko. Missing from the picture are: Dennis Fedeyko and Dwain Schneider.



As a person, my father was honest, industrious,
perseverant, orderly and methodical. He was 5 feet 4
inches tall and walked fast, with jerky movements.
He had a working knowledge of spoken English,
could read fairly well, but could not learn English
spelling in order to be able to write well. He was
fluent in both Ukrainian and Polish languages —
written and spoken. Tailoring was his trade acquired
in his home village. My first good Sunday suit was
tailored by my father.

Farm animals and particularly good horses were
his pride and joy. He was not too mechanically mind-
ed, but he liked woodwork. My father was a modest
man, but somewhat short on patience. Because he
expressed himself fairly well in the Ukrainian lan-
guage, in his early years [ remember him taking part
in a Ukrainian drama held in our local school. He was
a moderate drinker and a heavy smoker. Smoking,
probably, contributed to his lung cancer.

Community affairs interested my father. He
served as a chairman in Wembly school district for a
period of time. In North Battleford he took an active
part in the Ukrainian Orthodox parish and served as
an altar attendant. He was a member of the Cut Knife
Agricultural Society, the Mohyla Ukrainian Institute
as well as a member of the Ukrainian Orthodox

Church. He was a subscriber to the “*Ukrainian
Voice™ for 53 years (1910 to 1963). His lifetime
efforts were dedicated to making conditions better
for those who followed him.

My mother was a strong willed person, religious
and very dedicated to her home and family. Very
often in her quiet way she was able to convince her
husband to her way of thinking. In her spare time she
did a lot of reading and in later years television
helped to pass the time away. When the children were
young, she did most of the sewing of clothes for
them. She was a good cook and an excellent house-
keeper. Mother loved nice clothes, but could not
afford them in her earlier years. In her later years, she
was always well dressed.

In her retirement years, she spent a lot of time
working with the Ukrainian Orthodox Church in
North Battleford. She made friends easily and she
loved company. A dedicated mother and a true Chris-
tian who spent her life time at hard work after deny-
ing herself the many better things in order that her
children could enjoy a better life.

In 1961 my father developed lung cancer. His
health deteriorated progressively and he died on Jan-
uary 19, 1963 at age 75 and was buried in the North
Battleford cemetery. My mother lived alone for the
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next four years. She developed stomach cancer and
died at the age of 75 on July 25, 1967. She was buried
beside my father in the North Battleford cemetery.

Both of my parents have left us a legacy rich in
traditions, customs, and human character. It is hoped
that the younger generations will recognize that com-
mon heritage and make an effort to pass it on to those
who follow.

1967, L-R: John, Stephania, Paul, Mary and Bill, children of
Jacob and Katerina Fedeyko.

Re: FEDEJKO, Jacko Re: _I'IEBBAJ'_KE@‘?"_"W_______
In reply to your inquiry of_Tecent date this is Inreply to your inquiryof gl
to advise that the following particulars of entry appear in the to advise that the following particulars of entry appear in the

Immigration Records:- Immigration Records:-

Name_____ FEDEJKO, Jacko ] e Name______ HORBAJ, Katherina

Name of Vessel__Mount Temple Name of Vessel_Prinz Oscar

Port of Arrival_St.John ,NB Date_April 17, 1907 Port of ArrivaL_&_';]_fm_nﬂE_ Date - 4-4-09

Date of Birth or Age___ 20 Date of Birth or Age 16 -
Status___Landed Immigrant Status _ Landed Immigrant

Accompanied by Eustokya age 40 Accompanied by _Pawel 42 Ludwika 35
Jetysaweta age 11, Aleksandra age 3 __Hg 1??_6}_4@ %E%‘_B_ n 10 Piot® 6 Antoni 3
1923/24 Registration (When applicable) 1923/24 Registration (When applicable)

Date — R A R Date —— Aggo ==
Remarks Remarks e o
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Manager, Dgpartmental Records — Manager, Départmental Records
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M.&1, 483 (3-73)

Dates etc. of arrival in Canada of Jacob Fedeyko and Katerina Horbaj.



THE NATURALIZATION ACT
CERTIFICATE OF NATURALIZATION

Domininn uf Canada, |

Provinee of Saskateheiran, .

IN THIE DISTRICT COURT OF TILE JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF. . ... -

before 1lis Honour - .. the Judge of the said court, sitting in chambers:

WIIEREAS e formerly

of

now of . in the Province of

Naskatchewan e . ., has complied with the
(Occupution)

several requircments of The Naturalization Act, and has duly resided in Canada for the period of

three years. And whereas the certificate granted to the said... S

.......................... undef the fifteenth section of the said Act has been duly
presented to the said Judge sitting in Chambers in the said Judiecial District, and whereas a copy
of such certificate has been duly posted up in a conspienons place in the otlice of the clerk of the

said Court and the said Judge has direered the issue of a Ceriitierte of Naturalization o the =aid

This is thevefore to certify to all whom it may concern that, under and by virtue of the said
Aet has become
nataralized as a DBritish subjeet, and i3, within Canada, entitled to all political and other rights,
powers and privileges. and subjeet to all obligations to which a natural-born DBritish subjeet is
entitled or subjeet within Canada, with this qualification, that be shall not, when within the lmits
of the foreign State of which hie was a subjeet or eitizen previous to the date hereof, be deemed to.
be a British subjeet unless he has ccased to e a subject or cifizen of that State. in pursuance of
the laws thereof, or in pursnanee of a treaty or convention to that effect.

Given under the seal of the said Court this.. . . LT day
of . .one thousand nine hundred and......... ..

g T

N .
B LI ST i S -

‘L.s.] Clerk of the District Jourt.

1910, Naturalization Certificate of Jacob Fedeyko.
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Kost Bohdan Fedeyko
as written by his son, Paul R. Fedeyko

Kost Fedeyko emigrated to Canada with his fa-
ther Sylvester in 1905. He was hired out to work at an
early age around the Rosthern area. Although he had
only a public school education from the Ukraine,
Kost tried to increase his knowledge by reading and
later writing and speaking the high and low German
languages. He was encouraged to sing in the church
choir in the community.

Kost returned to Krydor late in 1911, then in
February of 1912 married Rozalia Bazarkewich.
Though both were very young they homesteaded
south of his father for 5 years. He used his early
experiences with farm animals as a basis for buying,
selling, and trading to earn a few extra dollars for
family life. It was there that their sons, Edward and
Paul were born.

In March of 1919 Kost moved to Cut Knife with
his brother Jacob and farmed there for 4 years. Many

- i J
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1937, 25th Wedding Anniversary. Kost and Rosalia Fedeyko
with sons Edward and Paul.

1919, The new family automobile. Kost, Rosalia and son Paul.

were the stories told about the Indians and their chief
Bonos but there was never any trouble from, or fear
of, them.

In 1922 Kost and Rozalia returned to Krydor and
rented the farm from Mr. Gidluk for 5 years at ¥ of
the crop. They purchased the property in 1927 and
settled there permanently.



1931, Kost Fedeyko with his prize stallion.

Kost was very active in the Ukrainian church and
culture. He attended the first convention for the re-
birth of the Ukrainian Orthodox Church in Canada at
Saskatoon in 1918, and also at Winnipeg 40 years
later in 1958. He helped organize and build churches
in Krydor and Hafford and was “*diak™ for 25 years
in the parish. He also supported Peter Mohyla In-
stitute in Saskatoon and was a member and director.
He was instrumental in starting the National Home at
Krydor where many Ukrainian functions — plays
and displays — were held by all the area’s people.

At home the value of newspapers (Ukrainian
Voice, Herald, Ukrainian Farmer, as well as the En-
glish Winnipeg Free Press) was evident and helped to
keep the family in touch with the times as well as
being a source of education for all life’s needs. There
was always lively discussion about new topics and
current affairs. Kost was an avid reader and the home
was full of good books by authors of Ukrainian orig-
in. Many of these were donated to Mohyla Institute
by Rozalia. They were donors to St. Andrew’s Col-
lege and tried to encourage the young people in their
participation in church life.

Kost had a broad interest in politics at the
Federal, Provincial, and Municipal levels. His
achievements in this area occurred over an 11 year
span, 1929-1940. He started as the Secretary-Trea-
surer of the Zbaraz School District and continued in
that capacity for 20 years. Many of the meetings were
recorded in Ukrainian, some Polish, and the English
he knew. Kost thought it very important to have the
young teachers of Ukrainian origin teach reading,
writing, and spelling in the Ukrainian language from
3:30-4:30 every day, to keep the traditions and
heritage of our forefathers alive. The Province of
Saskatchewan granted the civil right to do this in all
the schools.

In 1928, Kost got involved in municipal politics
and in 1929 was elected Reeve of the Redberry Mu-
nicipality. He held that position until 1933. He was

21

delegate to the annual conventions of the Saskatche-
wan Association of Rural Municipalities from 1929
to 1932 in Saskatoon, Regina, Prince Albert and
again in Regina. Kost organized the Farm Boys
Camp to compete at the Saskatoon Exhibition
1931-1934, and was also a delegate to the United
Farmers of Canada Convention in Regina. As Reeve,
Kost was sent to a Regina Exhibition to purchase
registered bulls and locate them in various areas of
municipality, and the next year was asked to go again
and purchase a prize Belgian stallion to improve the
quality and breed of horses. Teachers’ conventions
were also held at Hafford to encourage them to con-
tinue higher education to better themselves.

In 1932 Kost obtained his Certificate of Registra-
tion under the Naturalization Act and encouraged
everyone to do the same. He was very proud when, in
1958, he became a Canadian Citizen.

1960, Kost Fedeyko speaking at a UCC meeting.

Federally and provincially Kost supported the
Liberal political parties and, as he could speak En-
glish, German, and was fluent in Ukrainian, was
asked by the M.P.’s and M.L.A.’s to canvas in dif-
ferent areas where they needed help. He did,
however. do as much as anyone to help elect the late
Rt. Hon. John G. Diefenbaker to his terms of office
in Ottawa.

For all his good deeds in Saskatchewan, the gov-



KOCTb $EJNENKO

Kpuaop. Cack. — Beaukowo srpa-
TON I8 Hawoi rpoMaan O6yaa
cMepTh 11 aoBrolitHoro aska Ko-

cta  Peaehika, akui ynokoiscs 31
annus 1964 poky. lMokiiunin Kocts
noxeans 3 cexa Hucwnyi, Coxatn-
CLKOIO MOBITY B [aTH4YMHI, 1e Ha-
poaunca 1890 poxy. /[lo Kawaan
npuGyB 1906 poky 16-aitHum xaom-
UeM 3i CBOIMKH GaThKaMH, fKi moce-
auanca Ha dapmi B okoanmui KpH-
nopy. B 1912 poui Kocts oapy-
I
BOHH Mani asox cuHiB — Eawsaprua
i Masaa. B 1951 poui Kocrs nynus
xary s I'edpdopai i aonomaras cu-
HOBi y npaui Ha ¢apmi. Kocts Ha-
feAKaB 10 AKTIBHHX MiOHepiB Y K-
PaiHCLKOIO WHTTA B HaWiR OKpPY3i.

Moaoaim xaonuem Koctb cnisas
Yy KpIIOCi B UEPKBi, a 3 BiapOAKeH-
HAM  VYKpaiucekol  [lpasociasmoi
Uepksi B Kanani Bin cras asxom

Aefikis BHCHIB Ha CTiHi noxsaabHa
rpaMoTa, AKY BOHH OTPHMAanH Bil
Koncucropii - mawoi  llepksn  3a
CHBOIO Y4aCThb y nepwim 3'i3ai 1918
POKY, H3 AKiM pilleHO BiAHOBHTH
Yxpaincoky Ilpasocaasny Llepksy
8 Kanaai.

Kocte 6yB oamum 3 ocHoBono-
ACKHHKIB Hawoi rpoMaan B Kpu-
aopi i 1i JgOBroAiTHMM roaoBoio.
ByB Takox ureHom YkpaiHcbkoro
Hapoanoro Ilomy. Bim npawosas y
.ApaMaTHuHiM TrypTKy, 6yB y 3apa-
i Binainy KYK y Teddopai, §ye
weposues IuctHryry Ilerpa Moru-
MK i yneHOM Horo aAMpekuil Ta wie-
HoM Micuesoro Bimainy CYC. Biu
6yB ’KEPTBEHHOIO II0AHHOIO Ha Uep-
KOBHi # KyabTYpHi iHcTHTywil. Kias-
Ka pokiB 6vB piBoM MyHiumMna:y.
Bin 1106uB kHitkkH i Mas a06py
6ibaiorexy.

MokiAnni

3ANHWHB Y  CMYTKY

wusca 3 Posazieo Basypkesuy i

y Kpuaopi & I'epdopai. B xari de-;

6ak # Onexcanapy bo#uyk ta narb
onyKiB. Y Helimwo Beuepom y Llep-
xsi cB. An. Iletpa # flasra 8 Kpu-
aopi 6yaa Biacaykena [lanaxuaa,
a B NOHEALIOK BiA6YBCA NMOXOPOH
npH BEaHKIM u4HCai noged.

[loxopoHeno Koects Ha usiHTapi
6118 uepkB B KpHaopi. Yuacuukis
noxopony 3anpoweto 1o Hapoawo-
ro Jlomy Ha 3aynoxiiny TtpHauy. B
4aci OCTAHHBOTO WINYBAHHR ydac-
HHKH MOXOPOHY 370XKHIH Ha HeBR-
Hy4iA BiHeu» 66 noaspis. 3a 3ro-
10KI POAMHIL MIO CIMY IHPH3IHAYEHO
1ak: 26 a0a. wa Iucturyt Merpa Mo-
1ian, 25 poa. wa Konerio cs. An-
1pea v Biuninery, 10 noa. Ha ,Bic-
WK i 5 o1 Ha , Ykpaiucekui To-
10¢”,
Okpemo Tpe6a we 3rajatd, wo
u._Bacuap deseitvo_y ®opr Cac-
KauesaH, AATA., 310KHB Y NIMATH
csolo ByAka Kocta - - 25 noa. Ha
Koaerio c¢B. AHapes y Biunninery,
v n-no Boroammup Ta Ipnua Jla-
wykH B Topouti aaam 10 goa. wa
Ko.terilo B NaMATbL  CBOro  cBara
Kocis.

Xa#t l'ocnoas  MiLiocepaAnuit no-
rilWHTh 3acMYYeHY POAHHY, a Aywy
6a. n. Kocra oceanrh y CBoix He-
HecHUX OCeanx.

"

o. C. 3ysak.
NnoAsIKA BIA POAWHHU

ITo B1pari Myka i Gatbka MH,
ropeM 3:1cMy4YeHa POAHHA, CKladae-
MO cepaeyHy IOAAKY NapoXxoBi
Beey. o. C. 3y3akosi i askosi n. L
[TasayweBi 3a MOXOPOHHi BianpasH,
Yinouomy Tosapuctsy im. Jleci Yk-
paiiku B Kpuaopi 3a mnpHrorysas-
HA MOMHHANbHOTO 06iny, poauHi i
IPY3aM 32 BiHKI Ta BCIM Y4acHi-
KaM MNOXOpPOHY, WO npuéyan Bia-
RAaTH OCTaHHIO MNPHCAYTY NOKiAHO-
my. Xait Tocnoab BHHaropogHTh
ycix cropHuelo!

JApywivia Posaxin ®depefixo
i cun Manxo.

1964 Ukrainian Voice. In memory of Kost Fedeyko.

In recognition for his contri-
bution to the community.

Fedeyko Bay, on 'Redberry
Lake, honours the late Con-
stantine Fedeyko who home-
steaded in the district. Mr.
Fedeyko served as secretary
of the schoal district, councillor
and reeve, He .also organized
and helped build the Greek
Orthodox Church in Hatohd ™~

ernment honored him by naming Fedeyko Bay on

Redberry Lake after him.

His later years were spent on the farm and in the
town of Hafford. As much as his age and health
permitted, Kost kept involved in church and political

activities.
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Application for Homestead Title.

Rozalia Fedeyko (nee Bazarkewich)
as written by her son, Paul R. Fedeyko

Rozalia was the mainstay in the Kost Fedeyko
home, keeping it lively, sunny and organized. As a
very young pioneer wife she learned quick and effi-
cient ways to provide for the family and always had a
supply of preserves in the cellar for any occasion at
any time.

Being self-educated, Rozalia kept up her learning
reading newspapers, books, and attending meetings
of iImportance. She was a member of various Ukrai-
nian organizations and local groups and was a firm
belicver in the Bible and the church. Her generous
donations to St. Andrew’s College in memory of her
late husband and son show her determination to fur-
ther expand the culture and heritage of the Ukrainian
people. Her works of art in needlework and design
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the work was done at night by the light of a kerosene
lamp.

Her garden. flowers. and fruit trees took a lot of
Rozalia’s time and attention and were the envy of all
the neighbors. She worked hard for her good results
as water had to be hauled a distance by hand from a
well. She also took an interest in raising poultry and
they were her Leghorns that laid the first white eggs
for Easter. She maintained that warm water and fresh
straw were the secret to having fresh eggs in the
house all winter. She personally selected the cows for
milking, carried water to them by hand all winter and
soon had fresh milk in the house all through the cold
months. Rozalia’s greatest assets were her will to go
ahead, her helping hand and good advice, and her
genuine smile.

After her son Edward, and later her husband
Kost, passed away, she stayed with her brother Joe in
Saskatoon for many years and enjoyed the modern
day conveniences in the city. She then came to Toron-
to, lived with her son Paul for a while, and then
moved to the Ivan Franko Seniors Home where she
was able to socialize with people of her age and
nationality.

Elizabeth (Fedeyko) and Martin Barchuk
as written by their daughters Catherine Karpan
and Stephanie Melnyk

1912-13, Original log house built by Martin Barchuk. 1982
photo.

Our father, Martin Barchuk, was born in Austria
on Nov. 12, 1885. He attended school there and spent
two years in the Polish army. In 1907 Grandfather
Julian Waschuk and Grandmother Catherine together
with son Mike and daughter Margaret and stepsons
John, Peter, and Martin and stepdaughter Tillie left
Poland to make their home in Canada. During the
Atlantic crossing the ship lost its way in the night, ran
aground, and capsized. There was a lot of screaming
and crying and they all thought that it was the end.
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Some spotted land not far off, an island, and those
who could swim, did, while others were taken by
boats. Another ship came along later and they arrived
in Canada safely, and travelled to Saskatchewan.

Under the agreement with the Government of
Canada the family was able to get a quarter section of
land for ten dollars and would get the title after
proving their residence. Grandfather Waschuk filed
on the homestead on SW quarter of Sec. 13, Town-
ship 44, Range 9, W of the 3rd Meridian, and Peter
and Martin filed on SW and SE quarters of Sec. 12.
Township 44, Range 9, W of the 3rd Meridian,
respectively. Thus they settled in a community five
miles west of the present site of the Village of Krydor.

When the family arrived on the site of their future
home in the spring of 1907 they quickly went to work
with a team of oxen and began to build a home. Logs
were gathered, peeled, the home was plastered inside
and out, the roof was shingled and all was in readi-
ness for the winter. Some land was also broken for the
next spring’s planting.

Our mother, Elizabeth Fedeyko, was born in Aus-
tria on May 20, 1896. She attended school in Austria
and could read and write. When Elizabeth was 11
years old her parents, brothers and sister immigrated
to Canada and settled on the homestead west of
Krydor.

Inearly 1910-11 our father became fascinated by a
young lady with grey eyes and dark brown hair and a
nice fair complexion. So began the courtship be-
tween Martin and Elizabeth and in November of 1911
they were married in the Catholic church in the Or-
low district south of Redberry Lake.

In 1911 our father began to build a house on his
homestead. It had 4 rooms, a clay floor, and shingles.
Initially only the 2 front rooms were used for living in
while the two smaller rooms at the back were used for
storage and only later as sleeping quarters.

Our mother Elizabeth spent most of her time
trying to excel in her cooking as it was an established
custom that the new bride prove herself, and she did.
It was fortunate that our mother had gone to school in
the old country and could read and write, as there
were no schools in the district. Since she lived in a
Ukrainian settlement all her life there was little effort
made to speak English. Mother was our pillar of
strength, was always ready to help anyone in need in
the community, and was constantly active in parish
work. Indian tribes used to trek through and would
stop at the farm to procure milk for their babies or
food for themselves. It took our mother some time to
get used to them but when she did, they fascinated
her.

In the spring of 1912, Father built a log barn and a
shed, mud-plastered and white washed on the out-



sides. The mud-plastered buildings took constant
plaster finishing as they deteriorated in rain and sun.
Gradually our house took on a new look; we got
wooden floors and ceilings, the inside was plastered
and painted, and a porch was added to protect us
from the sweep of the wind and rain. The trees on the
west side gave us shelter from the west winds.

In the early years the winters were long and cold
and snow was abundant and deep. The closest shop-
ping was in Rosthern and our father and neighbors
took their grain there for gristing and purchased what
few necessities they could afford. These trips took 2
to 4 days. depending on the weather conditions, and
it was our mother who stayed behind to care for the
home and do the chores. It was some time later that
Father and the neighbors took their grain to the mill in
the town of Radisson. This was more convenient
since there was no river to cross.

In late September of 1912, Martin and Elizabeth
were blessed with twin girls, Catherine and Anne.
Elizabeth was overjoyed and loved to make clothes
for them. Aunt Alexandra stayed to help Elizabeth
with the twins although she was only 9 years old
herself. It was amusing when the babies started to
cry. Alexandra didn’t know what to do and she would
join them in tears. In August of 1913, little Anne

became a victim of dysentry and succumbed to the
ailment.

In 1913, Northern Railroad completed the link
between Battleford and Blaine Lake and started to
provide small 1000 bushel grain cars for the farmers.
It was not unusual for the farmers to get together and
haul the grain and load the cars by hand at that time.
The Village of Krydor was one of these shipping
points. To name this point two farmers’ names were
used, Kry from Krysak, and Dor from Teodor Lu-
cyk.

Neighbors often got together for wood-sawing
bees, butchering, helping with chores if someone
was ill, or fencing a field to provide pasture or protect
the crop from stray animals.

It was about this time that the farmers were in
need of more horses so Father went to Alberta to
purchase a carload of horses. On the way home the
train was derailed and the horses had to be rounded
up, reloaded, and finally were successfully trans-
ported to Krydor.

In 1918 there was an epidemic of flu and Father
came down with a serious case of it. Mother made the
12 mile trip to Hafford with a team and sleigh to get
badly needed medicine while the 4 small children

1917, Standing, L-R: first two, family friends, Jacob Fedeyko. Sitting: Elizabeth Barchuk, Martin Barchuk, Stefan Deditch,
Alexandra Deditch.
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kept the house warm and took care of Father until she
returned.

Our mother had inherited the skill of a good
seamstress from her father who was a tailor and had
learned the trade in the old country. She was quite
capable of making most of our clothes. She raised
ducks and geese and used their feathers to make
pillows, quilts, and feather ticks which were so warm
and cozy and which we really needed. since the wood
heater generally went out about midnight and by
morning the water in the Kitchen was frozen. In later
years mother loved fancy work and did beautiful
cross stitch, long and short stitch, and Knitting. |
quite remember some pink wool vests she made for
us.

Washing was a big chore. It was done on a wash
board by hand and then rinsed. and it generally took a
day to do the family wash. Grandmother used to take
her clothes, after they were washed, to the lake
nearby, fill the tub with water, soften it with wood
ash, and rinse the clothes so they would come out
nice and white.

One of the more important events was the Christ-
mas season which we all looked forward to. Christ-
mas Eve was celebrated at our house on December
25th, and at Grandmother's thirteen days later as they
followed the Julian calendar. The Ukrainian tradition

Martin and Elizabeth Barchuk children. Standing, L-R: Steph-
anie, Catherine and Irene. Walter, sitting.

of hay under the table and twelve dishes was fol-
lowed. we sat to supper at the rising of the first star.
and singing followed supper.

Our family was growing up (there were 5 children
now: Catherine 1912, Stephanie 1914, Irene 1916,
Walter 1918, Anne 1922) and Father decided more
land should be acquired closer to town and a high
school. In 1927 Father sold our land to Martin
Novicki and purchased Philip Johnson’s land two
miles east of Krydor. The first year was spent reno-
vating: first the house, then the barn and other build-
ings. An ice cellar was built under a summer kitchen
where butter, cream, and meat could be stored during
warm weather. There was a deep well with a windmill
which lessened our workload when the wind blew.
The water, however, was very hard so we hauled
water for drinking, cooking, and washing from a
shallow well some distance away.

1936, 25th Wedding Anniversary, Elizabeth and Martin Bar-
chuk.

1929 10 1939 were hard years; this was a drought
period, there was little rain, crops were light and
world markets were depressed. Grain brought very
little cash. 1937 was a disaster crop year; the crops
dried up. pastures were useless, cattle were sold for



{4 cents per pound. hogs sold at $2.40 for a 200

ound animals. During this “Relief Period™ most
people had to apply for assistance from the govern-
ment.

Our father was a man of great integrity and hon-
esty. his word never broken. His horses which he
raised were his great love and pride and joy. Due to
illness, he was forced to give up farming and retired
to Blaine Lake, built a new home, and bought a
Billiard business. When his health was failing he and
Mother decided to take a short holiday trip to Toronto
to visit Anne and Nick. When they returned his
health got worse and in November, 1949 he died at the
age of 65. He was laid to rest in a small country
church cemetery which so many years before he had
helped to build.

1981 Toronto Ont. Three sisters, L-R: Anne Malarchuk, Steph-
anie Melnyk and Catherine Karpan.

Mother continued to live in Blaine Lake until her
marriage to Dmytro Bobiak, when they moved to
North Battleford. Shortly after moving, they went
into building and retailing homes. Mother joined the
church, all the ladies’ groups. and was very active
helping with church work, embroidering, and cook-
ing. Her health began to fail but she persisted in
gardening and church work until 1965 when she
passed away and was buried in the North Battleford
cemetery.

Alexandra (Fedeyko-Deditch) and Paul
Wojchuk

Alexandra, daughter of Sylvester and Eudokia
Fedeyko was born March 12, 1904 in the Village of
Nismich, Sokol County, Ukraine.

I was the youngest in the family and had two
brothers, Jacob and Kost, and a sister Elisaveta.

‘The hardships in Ukraine forced the families to
emigrate and find freedom from oppression, and
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1917, Stefan (Steve) and Alexandra Deditch.

opportunities to build a better life for themselves and
their children in this free democratic land.

News of agents of steam-ship lines circulating
attractive offers of cheap land in Canada reached
many villagers in Nismich.

In the early spring of 1906, my Father Sylvester
then forty-two and my sixteen year old brother Kost,
leaving the rest of the family behind to join them
later, arrived at Rosthern, Saskatchewan. Father
found employment in the Saskatoon area with a rail-
way gang, while Kost went to work as a farm hand in
a German settlement near Rosthern.

Many hardships were encountered during their
trip and on the job mainly because of the language
barriers and shortage of money.

On April 17, 1907, Eudokia, my Mother, forty-
three, Jacob nineteen, Elisaveta eleven and | age
three, landed in the portof St. John, New Brunswick,
Canada. Our railway tickets were paid to Rosthern,
and after two weeks with a stop over at Winnipeg. the
family arrived in Rosthern in the early part of May.
Imagine the joy when the whole family was reunited!

My Father now owned a team of oxen and a



wagon. It took almost four days of travel over Indian
trails to get to the Krydor community, where our
homestead was established.

Philip Saganski’s family, Father’s friends from
Nismich provided the newly arrived Fedeyko family
with a small granary type of building for temporary
living quarters. We stayed with Saganski’s most of
that summer; while Father with the help of Jacob and
a few neighbours were busy building a log house on
his own property.

Logs for house building had to be hauled for
many miles with oxen and wagon. Summer trails
were rough and often muddy. Doors and windows
had to be bought in Rosthern. The final mud-plaster
application to walls, ceiling and floor made the house
habitable and the family moved in, in the late sum-
mer of 1907 — new land, new friends and a new
home.

There were no schools, no railways, no roads, no
hospitals, and no churches in that whole Krydor
area. The nearest railway and trading points were
Rosthern about forty-five miles to the south. It took
about a week’s travel with an ox and wagon team to
make a return journey.

In 1913 a Greek Catholic Church was built —
known as the Worobetz Church — one of the first
major community achievements. In 1913, a railway
was built connecting Prince Albert and North Bat-
tleford. Trains ran within two hundred yards of the
family’s new house. In 1914 Oukraina School was
built just half a mile south of Father’s house.

I was ten years old when I started school. Stefan
Deditch was my first teacher. He taught in Oukraina
school for five years — 1914 to 1919 — the First
World War years.

There were forty some pupils attending Oukraina
School, with no one knowing the English language.
Therefore Ukrainian language had to be used to
make English meaningful. Ukrainian prayers were
repeated for morning class opening and Ukrainian
songs were sung in the process during the school day.

Stefan Deditch was born in the Village of
Komariv, near Sokal in West Ukraine. He attended
elementary and high school in Ukraine. In 1910, at
age eighteen years he came to Canada and shortly
after entered Teachers’ College in Regina receiving
his teaching qualifications.

I married Stefan Deditch on July 14, 1917. The
wedding was a very pompous sort of an affair — a
local teacher marrying a local girl in the community.
This event indeed was a happy occasion for the
family and community.

Father built on an additional bedroom on the
North side of the new house and Stefan and I lived
with Father and Mother for another three years,
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Stefan continuing teaching and I now assuming posi-
tion of a housewife.

In 1917 an automobile appeared in the Communi-
ty. My husband bought a Model T Ford in the fall of
1917. He could not use it in the winter because of
snow. I learned to drive it too— quite an accomplish-
ment, as women of that day did not drive auto-
mobiles.

In 1919, my husband departed from teaching and
started to look at other means of livelihood.

In 1920 brothers Kost and Jacob bought a Livery
Barn in Cutknife and asked Stefan to come and
operate it for them.

Livery barns during the horse and wagon days
would be compared to the present garage business. It
was a stable for horses where they were housed and
fed. In winter and summer, the surrounding area
farmers drove to town with horse teams. They hauled
mostly grain to town where they did their shopping.
In the winter particularly, the horses were housed and
fed inside a barn. The farmers were charged a fee for
that service.

A Livery Barn operator usually did the town Dray
work. It was a service that consisted of delivering
freight and express from the railway station, to the
various business places in town. Unloading carloads
of lumber, coal, machinery, hauling of drinking water
to residences within the town community was done
by the Drayman. It was a service business with a
horse team and wagon in the summer time and a
sleigh in the winter.

[ helped by driving the Model T Ford to deliver
mail to and from the post office and the trains and
also acted in the capacity as a taxi driver for train
passengers.

With the advent of mechanized equipment such
as trucks, motor cars and tractors, Livery Barn busi-
ness dropped off.

My husband and I with daughters Pauline and
Elsie returned to my parents temporarily. Stefan im-

1948, Stefan Deditch "discing”.



mediately went in search of land and home of his
own.
Family of Stefan and Alexandra Deditch

The family consisted of five children:

— Elizabeth Anne born in 1922, died the same
year.
*— Pauline, married John Worbey who passed
away in 1965. Their two children Robert and Glen

1974, Front row, L-R: Elizabeth (Elsie) Worobetz holding Tara
Codling, Patrick, Terry and Robert Worobetz, Patricia Codling
holding son Jason. Back row, L-R: John Worobelz, Alexandra
Wojchuk, Paul Wojchuk, Cathy Worobetz and lan Codling.

live in Los Angeles, California. Pauline and her
husband Gilbert McCutcheon reside in Los Angeles.

— Elizabeth a school teacher and her husband
John Worobetz reside in Prince Albert, Sask. They
have five children — Patricia, Catherine, Robert,
Terrance and Patrick.

— Anne married Tony Sawicki and lived in Los
Angeles during the time of her passing in 1969. They
had three children — Donna, Charlene and Ted.

— lhor, RCMP Staff Sergeant, Detachment
Commander in Kitimat, B.C. married Marie Halko.
They had two children — Steven (deceased) and
Petulla.

My husband passed away March 26, 1951. Fol-
lowing his death I and IThor moved to North Bat-
tleford. The farm was later sold.

In October 1952, I remarried, to Paul Wojchuk.
He was a section foreman with the Canadian Pacific
Railway stationed at Wilbert, Sask. The nature of his
employment was such that he and one or two men
under his supervision looked after a section of rail-
way maintenance. Paul was transferred to Cloan and
finally to North Battleford in 1961.

[n 1963 Paul Wojchuk retired and bought a home
in North Battleford.
In 1967 Paul and I sold our home in North Bat-
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1956, Paul and Alexandra (Deditch) Wojchuk.

tleford and moved to Kelowna where we purchased a
home and then exchanged it for a condominium in
1979.

Alexandra Wojchuk

Youngest and only living child of

Sylvester and Evdokia Fedeyko
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North Battleford, Sask.
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Dear X Madam

alsksonirs
Re_  Mre. F, Wojobuk (Fedejko]
I reply 1o your nquiry of ____Feceaat date shus o
b advise that the following particulan ol entry appear in the Immigranion Records -
Mame FEIRJED Aleksandra o
Hama of Vessel GallaMount Temple -
Fort of Arrival 8t, Jotm, NB  Dme__April 17,1807

Date of Bisth o Age & sone _landed lacigrsat

Accompanied by WRBETED Eulckya; Jacko; Jarysawers, -

Remara —— - —
Youn very wuly,
1
L.Ds Ao Aa Mg ba
D. Hesthenngton,
LR ¢ Chiel, Imengraion fegords,

Landed Immigrant Status.

Moi cnnovunn

CrosMuHI HACVBAKOTLCH CYMHI 1 pasticki. [lepuui
POKH KHTTA Hatloi po vt B Kanati Ovan Taxki a
ro uwacamu oespasi. Mu HeIHaiam auriiiicbkoi
MOBH. HC3HAAH  TVTCINX OOCTABHH 1 HEMAIH
HisiKUX  dinancoBix 3acodin oLl Mmaiike 6¢3
rpoucii.

Front row, L-R: children Charlene and Donna Sawicki, Pat and
Cathy Worobetz, Glen and Robert Worby. Back row: Tony and
Ann (Deditch) Sawicki, John and Elsie Worobetz, Alexandra
Wojchuk, Marie Dedish, (bride), Ihor Dedish, (groom), Paul
Wojchuk, John Worby, Pauline Worby, 1958.

1976, L-R: Steven Dedish, Alexander Wojchuk, Paul Wojchuk,
Petulla Dedish.

5. naiisonouna B ponui Pelieiikin, Hapo/mia-
cs 1904-ro poxky 8 ceai Huesumui, nosir Cokazin - 8
Facmunni. Baxima Yepaina) Jlo Kana npuixa-
1a 1907-10 poky 3 poanuami. 3amaHi. netocTaTteu i
3araIbHY OV # HEPCKHBAIR PA3OM 3 WiCcHaMH
Hatol po i, OKoIHIs 1e MOT po iyl Hadv/ I
3eMIE0 OV/1d TOpOOBATA. JIICHCTA 3 KAMIHHSM 1 MO-
yapasmi., Isikkol npaui ov:10 norpidono dararo a
KopicTe Ovia masa. OJHe Lo MOKIHBO TPHMAIO



pac 1pH Haliil. a ue Oy710 o BCi Hauli MOHipH-
cveiM DYIH B TIM CaMiM 0JIOKEHIO K MIL.

T TsKKOIO NPANeHo, Hadi€r, BHTPHBATICTIO 1 Bip-
vio B bora Mu nepesiin ui nioHipeLKi He10CTaTKM.
LIKo:y | HEAAJCKY Bij1HAC HEPKBY, 30yayBain 1914-
ro poky. Sl nouaia X0 TH 10 Ko Ko mada 10
ait, Kinpka JiT nisuime opana uod B in uepksi
ko1py Mili DaTLKO nomarap Oy1yBaTi.

Moi pojduil JHIUNAN  pLAHMIE Kpail. pLIHIO i
IIHPOKE 3HAKOMCTBO 1100H 3100y TH Kpauly 107110
s ceoe i s eBoix aiteit. Boun npudpain Kanany
qK OVIVUV KPATHY [U1s OVIVUHX NOKOITiHD.

[Mepesknsuin 80 AiT CBOro AUIT8 s 3p03yMmisia
BeJIMKY BapTICTh 1 3acayri ¢Boix poauuis. Bouu
B BCE T€ 110 M DYJI0 JI0pore — BOHH J1d.TH
MCHI T MOTM JHTHM Kpatiy 101K | SCHY DVAVUHICTE v
BizibHl Kpaini. 3 ranboKo NoWaHoo i BASYHICTIO
NPHCBAYVIO X KiILKA HIHPUX CIR CBOTM POIHYaM
Ha BIUHHI COOMMH.

— Hanucaaa AdiKcan/pa
(®eneiiko-/liany) Boituyk.
Tpasenn 1984

Dr. llarij (Hilarius) Fedeyko

llari) Fedeyko, Ukrainian, was born July 22,
1900, in Uhryniv, Western Ukraine, son of Iwan and
Ahaphia (daughter of Symon and Mychalchuk Pel-
ahia).

He graduated gymnasium (highschool) in Sokal.
During the First World War he served as a volunteer
starshyna-khorunzhyj (ensign) in the Ukrainian
Gahcian Army (UHA) in the 5th **Sokal Brigada™
(Brigade). In addition to a number, each Brigade
carried the name of the locality, where it came into
being. The UHA was formed in early November,
1918, in Lviv and in the countryside.

The Galician units of UHA crossed the river
Zbruch into Central Ukraine on July 18, 1919 in order
to help the Ukrainian National Republic against Rus-
sian Bolsheviks, who invaded Ukraine from the
north-east,

He was very active during university studies in
the university students’ organization **Student’ska
Hromada™ in Lviv, having been a long time member
of its Board. He had been also a member of Ukrainian
Catholic Church.

He graduated as a Doctor of Medicine from Jan
Kazimierz University in Lviv, Western Ukraine (at
that time Poland), on June 30th, 1934,

In 1933, Ilarij Fedeyko married Olha Medwid,
born in Lviw, daughter of Ilarij and Julia Terlecka.
Fedeykos’ permanent residence was Lviv. She was
:‘mtive member of **Students’ka Hromada'’,
"Pros'vita™ (Enlightening), Ukrainian youth organi-
zation “*Plast™ and some others. She graduated and

1935, Dr. llarij and his wife Olha Fedeyko.

received a Masters MA degree from Jan Kazimierz
University of Lviv, in 1933.

Dr. llarij Fedeyko practised medicine from 1934
to 1936 and specialized in the diseases of ear, nose
and throat in Lviv, and later at the university clinic in
Vienna, Austria.

Then he was employed at the Public Hospital and
at Ukrainian hospital **Narodna Lichnytsia™ (Na-
tional Infirmary) in Lviv. From May, 1938, he was
employed at Metropolitan Andrij Sheptytsky's Hos-
pital.

A group of Ukrainian doctors founded the
“Narodna Lichnytsia™ organization, which opened
an outpatient clinic. One of its major achievements
was construction of Metropolitan Sheptytsky’s Hos-
pital, in 1937, This well equipped hospital main-
tained a policlinic, which offered free medical
services to thousands of patients. At that time Dr.
Fedeyko was also a very active member of the Ukrai-
nian Hygienic Society, Ukrainian Medical Society
and “*Moloda Hromada™ .

The Ukrainian Hygienic Society, founded in Lviv
1929, was extremely active in the area of health care
until the outbreak of World War I1.

Dr. Fedeyko worked mornings in the above men-
tioned policlinic and gave free service to the poor;
afternoons and evenings, he worked in his medical
office with help of his wife Olha. In the above said
policlinic in the Metropolitan Sheptytsky’s Hospital,
he was employed as a chief Medical Doctor in the ear,
nose and throat department. He was appointed in
1941 a second director in the same hospital.

In order to understand better the events of that
time, it is necessary to mention, that September lst,
1939, the Polish-German war broke out and led even-
tually to the outbreak of World War II. Then, on the
basis of a secret clause of the non-aggression pact of



August 23, 1939, between Germany and USSR (The
Ribbentrop-Molotow Pact) the USSR attacked Po-
land on September 17, 1939, and the Soviet armies
occupied Western Ukraine (at that time eastern part
of Poland). On September 22, the Bolsheviks oc-
cupied Lviv.

This was a very insecure, dangerous and hard
time. Dr. Fedeyko was still employed in the above
mentioned hospital, however it had been renamed.
Doctors’ responsibilities in that hospital were very
special: patients were high ranked party members
and military officers.

Dr. Fedeyko’s wife was working as a scientifical
worker in the Academy of Science in Lviv.

Many Ukrainians were arrested and deported.
People, who had been active in Ukrainian organiza-
tions in the past, were always suspicious.

Despite non-aggression Pact, that existed be-
tween Germany and USSR, the last one was prepar-
ing feverishly for the war.

Germans announced war against USSR on June
22, 1941. Russians began to evacuate to the East
skilled specialists and members of Ukrainian intel-
ligentsia. Most political prisoners in Lviv and in
various towns were shot dead, some had been evacu-
ated.

Fedeykos’ family was prepared for the worst.
There were long, dangerous and uncertain nights.
Many people were coming to Dr. Fedeyko’s office
not only for medical service but also for advice and
some assistance, in this complicated situation.

On June 30, 1941, Germans occupied Lviv and by
middle of July, all Galicia.

Dr. Fedeyko was soon appointed a second direc-
tor in the Ukrainian Hospital of Metropolitan Shep-
tytsky, where he was employed before as a chief
doctor. Besides his medical work as a specialist, he
was providing the said hospital with necessary medi-
cal supplies, drugs and food. It was quite responsible
and hard task.

Ukrainians undertook vigorously to rebuild their
national economy and cultural life.

Dr. Fedeyko belonged to a doctor’s group, which
organized Ukrainian Red Cross in Lviv. His wife
Olha headed women’s section of the mentioned Red
Cross.

Conditions changed greatly, after Germans oc-
cupied almost entire territory of the Ukrainian SSR in
the late autumn. The brutality of their regime became
evident everywhere. Beginning in 1942 there were
mass deportations of rural and city population, es-
pecially of young people, to forced labour in Ger-
many. Many Ukrainian organizations were forced to
disappear. Property nationalized by Russians had
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been not returned by Germans. Close members of the
Fedeyko family were arrested.

By the end of April 1944, all eastern and central
Ukraine was again in Soviet hands. At that time, a
wave of Ukrainian refugees moved west to Germany,
Austria and Slovakia. Many people were forcibly
taken by Germans to hard labour. Among thousands
of Ukrainian refugees, who left their native land,
after unsuccessful struggle for Ukrainian liberation,
there were many doctors.

Dr. I. Fedeyko with his wife and family, left his
native land and beloved Lviv, in April 1944. It was
quite difficult to make proper decisions as to the
forthcoming plans because of that immensely stren-
uous and dangerous time.

Bolsheviks occupied Lviv in July, 1944, for the
second time.

At the beginning the Fedeyko family went to
Cracow (Generalgouvernemet-Poland) for a few
months and in August left for Austria, where Dr.
Fedeyko had been appointed a medical doctor in
Vitis (north-west from Vienna) and vicinity. The said
appointment resulted because the doctor from Vitis
was taken to the army. Dr. Fedeyko’s wife worked
partially in his office, especially in the pharmacy.
There were some Ukrainian refugees in Vitis whom
Dr. Fedeyko helped with finding jobs, giving free
medical service, drugs, etc. He worked here until the
end of World War II.

After the Russians occupied the eastern part of
Austria, he left in 1945 for Vienna, where he was
employed as a specialist at the University Medical
Department for ear, nose and throat diseases. The
situation in Vienna was very dangerous for all re-
fugees and for Ukrainians in particular. Many people
were arrested by Russians and deported.

Fedeykos moved to Innsbruck, Austria’s French
zone, where Dr. Fedeyko organized the Ukrainian
Red Cross and was employed as chief medical doctor
in the hospital for Displaced Persons. Many refugees
often used his free medical service and advice.

Opportunities for emigration overseas opened in
the later half of 1947, when the United States passed
the Displaced Persons Act. Soon Canada and Aus-
tralia also declared their willingness to take displaced
persons.

While the aim of the United Nations Relief and
Rehabilitation Administration (UNRRA) was only to
give material help and aid in repatriation, the Interna-
tional Refugee Organization (IRO) broadened its
mission to include resettlement of refugees.

Thanks to the efforts of Uncle Konstantine, (son
of Sylvester Fedeyko) from Krydor, Saskatchewan,
Dr. Fedeyko emigrated from Austria (Lansersee)



with his wife, in February, 1948. On March 17, 1948,
they arrived in Halifax and after a few days they went
to Val d'Or, Quebec, to Mr. and Mrs. Peter Lewcuns’
family. Here the Fedeykos were heartily accepted
and had a good rest. After a few weeks they moved to
Toronto. where they were cordially accepted by Mr.
and Mrs. Paul Fedeyko, who had been always willing
and ready to help. Mr. Paul Fedeyko was a cousin,
and son of Mr. Konstantin Fedeyko.

Finally there was new hope, new expectations in
a free country. Dr. Fedeyko and his wife began to be
active in Ukrainian organizations, became church
members and participated in social life activities.

They worked for the Ukrainian youth organization
“Plast’”’, where Dr. Fedeyko organized and con-
ducted courses for youth. He also became an active
member of Ukrainian Canadian Legion, Branch 360.
Additionally, he was planning to organize a Ukrai-
nian hospital, where Ukrainian doctors would be
able to work and treat Ukrainian patients.

Dr. Fedeyko strived hard to bring from Austria to
Canada his mother and brother-in-laws.

But despite his urgent efforts it was impossible to
find work in the medical field.

Dr. Ilarij Fedeyko died of heart attack on Febru-
ary 21, 1949, survived by his wife. ‘‘His long wait
has ended”” — headlines in Canadian newspapers.
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1949, Paper clipping, “Homin of Ukraine”.

ON'EVE OF I0B
IN HOSPITAL HERE
P DOCTOR DIES

Yy !

Tast n aht an the eve nf obiaining .
a postt,onr i a Canadian hosoutal,
Dr Hilars:e Fedeyln, noted Furo-
"rear ear nose and throat specialist, |
who has been working as w2techman !
i a Terento garage, ceollapsed and
| died.

Dr Fedeyvko 48 whe is sarvived
,by h.s widon Mre Olga I"N’ie\'kﬁ.i
ccame to Canada «< g displaced per-!
'\rm 10 months agn.

A rative of Lwow {n the bl\ram&
he was guperintendent of a 500- |
‘bed hospital there while the city
changed hands three times during
the war First 1t was captured by
the Russiars, then by the Germans
and finally recapiured by the]
Russians.

He left the hospital as an immi-
grant soon aftcr ard travelled 1o

-Ithe French zone of Germany where!
-|ho served as a doctor 1 a Red|

i

t

t

|C|m\ hospital  Later he became:
Yehief of staff at a French govern-
{ ment hospital

! Sponsored bv his brother, Panl'
'Fedevko, the doctar managed to
. &et to Canada bul his degrees from

- the Upniversity of Cracow and tha-

‘Unnersity of Vienna
recogmzed
For a tane he in the
 Ri€ase p 13 of hs b.otaer s garage|
wihen the only nredical werk he w as,
able tn ot o Tacery we: 3 job
vas orderly a1 2 To,
few d=3< ago he nad cecured. what
1 fverds ae-c.roed @< “a neuch bei-
ost,or at the Oniaiio meutal
. b ai Mim o " He was 10 have
cstaried work today
To improve his knglish and learn
more of Canadian life he had been

were noti

wotked

“attending evemmng classes on Shaw
' 81, Last night he left his home to
180 to the schoal
Hfew munutes later,

but returned a
complaining of
, feeling unwell. A short time later
"he died . ’
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vt respiial. AL

HIS LONG WAIT
HAS ENDED .,

TORONTQ, Feb, 23.—CP)—
For 10 months Dr, Hilarius
Fedeyko, noted Ukrainian eye
ear, nosc and throat doctor,
worked as a night watchman in
a Toronto garage!

He went to classes for new
Canadians and studied during
his spare time to pass Ontario
medical examinations required
of displaced persons wanting
to practise in the province.

He was to start work at the
Ontario Mental Hospital at
suburban Mimico today. But
Dr, Fedeyko, holder of four
medical degrees from Cracow
and Vienna universities, col-
lapsed and died last night.

Dies 0 lh?éshold
Of New Career

)
Di. Hilarius Fedeyko. 48 was to

have staited a new life :n Canada

today. He will be buiried Friday
morning 1nstead.
A noted ear, nose anra thioat

Ukrainia
and in the French sector of Ger-
lmany, he came to Canada as a dis-
placed person 10 months ago. Since
,then. he had worked as a watch-
man in a Torontc garage

He died Monday at his home,
1071A College St, a few days after
yhe had been pffered a position at
the Ontario Hospital. Mimico. He
'is survived by his wife. QOlga

Dr. Fedeyko ‘xas superintendent

specialist in his native

;of a 300-bed hospital et Lwow
When the Russians recaptuired
.Lwow fiom the Germans, Dr.

Fedeyko left the hospital and tiav-
elled as an immigrant to the
French zone of Germany, where he
served as a doctor in a Red Cross
hospital. Later he directed a
Fiench Government infitmary.

1949, Paper clippings, “Edmonton Journal”.



Most Reverend Jsidore Bovecky, B.1D.

PHONE PR. 2381

61 GLEN EDYTH DRIVE

TORONTO 8. ONTARIO

24-ro motoro, 1949,
Cn, Ic. Xp.

Bucoronosa.aHa [lani!

3 mp¥BOAY HaArioI cMeprt: Bamoro
LODOroTo My¥a MpONy NPMHATHE Bipn MeHe Halmupimi Blmasm
cniBuyTrTda, BTpara Bamoro ZOpororo My#e € OGOJNIOUOKN He
Tinpry AJA Bac ane LAA Hac ycix 1 nmAa Bcero yxDAIHCHHKOTO
Hapony, ILAA AKOro Ox,.m,laApift cBiTMB 3paskoM He Tiiabknm
DIKPOr0 XPHACTIAHLHA KATOJNKAE, aje T&KOK 1 PEeBHOro naTpioira.

Baxawoun oO6mnpHNMX Jack Bin 'ocnmoma, moTixm i pospanm

ocTaw Biajauuit B Xpucri,

Sl

Bucoxomonz.iaHa lani
Onpra 7enefiro, -
107IA Hanexr yan., B.,
TopoHTO, NHT,

Letter of condolence sent to Olha Fedeyko by Most Reverend Isidore Borecky, D. D. (Bishop).
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1949, Paper clippings, “New Pathway".

1938, William (Wasyl) and Justina (Raychyba) Fedeyko.

William and Justine Fedeyko

March 14, 1911, was an exciting day at the home
of Eudokia and Sylvester Fedeyko. Two mid-wives, |
was told, helped my mother with her first born. My
parents, Jacob and Catherine Fedeyko. decided to
name me Wasyl, later changed to William (Bill). 1
was the eldest child of my parents and the eldest
grandchild of both the Sylvester Fedeyko and the Paul
Horbay families.

My Earliest Recollections

One of the several recollections of my early years
amazed my mother. I remember very vividly my
mother rocking me in a willow-woven basket type
cradle, suspended from the ceiling by four tiny
ropes, and singing a lullaby. Grandfather hand-made
my cradle out of fine willow saplings. That same
cradle was used for my sister Mary when she came
along about two years later.

My grandfather Fedeyko’s “*Victor™ gram-
ophone was an object of sheer mystery. I could never
understand how a tiny needle scratching on a black
disc could produce all Kinds of sounds coming out of
a megaphone-type horn.

My first car ride, at about age 4, with my Uncle
Kost was probably my biggest thrill during my pre-
school age. Among my other memories were horse-
back rides with my father, Christmas holidays with
my grandparents, hog-butchering and my first day at
school.

Steven Deditch, my uncle, was my first teacher at
the Oukraina School, located about one mile west of
our home. The walk to and from school took me
across a little creek and past Uncle Kost’s house.
Other neighboring children walked that way and |
enjoyed those walks, particularly so in the spring of
the year. Ukrainian was used as a language of instruc-
tion in school most of the time because the children
knew no English. Translations and meanings of
words were explained in English, but the learning
process seemed very slow. I memorized my English
reading lessons but I did not understand what 1 read
until about the end of my third grade.

That creek which I crossed on the way to school
has an interesting memory for me. Every spring, run-
off water would bring in a lot of sardine-sized fish up
stream. They were delicious when fried. On the way
home from school the older boys would catch them in
their five pound lard pails used for their lunch con-
tainers. I wasn’t able to do that well and one day 1 told
my Uncle Kost about my lack of fishing success. He
advised me to wait beside the creek and when the
older boys had caught a pail-full of fish and left it
unattended that I should pick up the pail with the fish
and run for home about 300 yards away. That turned



out to be bad advice. I got caught by one of the older
boys who put me across his knee just to remind me of
my wrong doing. The next day when I related my bad
experience to my uncle, he further advised me that
should learn to run faster. In later years we joked
about that episode.

A “‘spark-plug™ event brings back another mem-
ory. It happened one morning when a number of boys
and [ were going to school. We could see my uncle
busy around a one-cylinder gasoline engine he used
for sawing wood. He called us over into his yard on
the pretense that he needed our help to start his
engine. He showed us a spark-plug attached to a wire
and asked us to hold hands in line, with the front boy
holding the spark-plug. I think that there were about
five of us, and no one questioned how that hand-
holding arrangement would help start his ailing en-
gine. When he turned the engine wheel over slowly
there was a buzzing sound and then a loud yelp from
all those holding hands. That electric shock speeded
up our progress to school and as long as I can remem-
ber my uncle never again was trusted by that group of
boys.

I was eight years old when the family moved to
Cut Knife. Our nearest school was five miles away.
At that age I was too young to be entrusted with
driving a horse to school, so my parents decided to
send me to grandfather Horbay’s, my mother’s par-
ents, for the next 3 summers to take my schooling at
the Oukraina School. My aunt Mary Horbay, uncle
John Horbay, and 1 walked 32 miles to and from
school every day, rain or shine. School stayed open
from about March until November. It was impossible
to keep that school building warm during the severe
winter weather.

1920, Jacob Fedeyko family automobile. Wasyl at the wheel,
John on the running-board, Mary in the back seat, mother
Katerina, standing.

In 1921, when my sister Mary reached school
age, we were sent to Cut Knife where my Uncle Steve
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Deditch and Aunt Alexandra lived. We were always
brought home for the week-end. I enjoyed my Cut
Knife school mainly because of the short walk.

Upon reaching age 11 or 12, I was considered old
enough and responsible enough to be able to drive a
horse to school. My sister Mary, brother John and I
drove to Wardenville School for the next two years, a
distance of five miles. In 1924 Wembley School was
built just a > mile from our house. The following
year, 1925, I became the first grade eight graduate of
that school.

High School and Normal School Years 1925-1930

After threshing, on October 25, 1925, I was en-
rolled in the grade nine class in the North Battleford
Collegiate, some 40 miles east of Cut Knife. My
father found a boarding place for me about a mile
away from school. Due to a late start I found my
school work quite hard in that I had to try to catch up
to the rest of the class. However, I graduated with
honors in June of 1926.

The following year I went back to the same
school and boarded with the same people. That year |
got involved in sports, such as hockey, badminton
and basketball. I joined the Trail Rangers at the
United Church where | made many friends, and
where | enjoyed the fellowship of boys my own age.

During the summer holidays I picked up a job
setting up horse-binders and other harvesting ma-
chinery with the International Harvester dealer in Cut
Knife. [ earned $5 a day working from 8 o’clock in
the morning until 6 o'clock in the evening. My father
let me use the family touring car to drive daily in and
out of town a distance of 9 miles. | was able to hold
that summer job for the next three summers and the
extra money thus earned helped out with my school-
ing away from home.

Due to poor crops in 1927, | stayed home and
helped out with farm work. I started to drive a car at
age 12 and my father made me his chief engineer and
tractor operator. I operated our threshing machine in
the fall of 1927.

In September of 1928 I was enrolled in the grade
eleven class in the City Park Collegiate in Saskatoon
and I stayed at the Mohyla Ukrainian Institute. That
institution had a significant influence on me. It made
me realize that the Ukrainian language, customs and
traditions were an important part of my heritage. It
was that institution that provided me with the oppor-
tunity to meet and later marry the girl of my dreams
— Justine Raychyba.

In June of 1930 I graduated from the Moose Jaw
Normal School — a full-fledged teacher. My plans
were to teach for a couple of years, in order to make
enough money to enroll in University. The economic



depression beginning in 1930 changed all my plans
and I was forced to enter into other fields of endeav-
our.

My Teaching Career Oct. 1930-Dec. 1936

In 1930 school-teaching jobs were hard to find.
Through the efforts of my school friend, Fred An-
druschak, I was able to find a teaching position at the
“Co-operation School’" about 12 miles south of Rab-
bit Lake. My starting salary was $100 per month and
room with board cost me $25 per month. In 1933
Zoria school board paid me $500 per year, the lowest
salary of my teaching career. The school had an
enrollment of over 40 children in one room with
grades from one to ten. In 1936 I accepted an offer of
$650 per year at Whitkow School with a free teach-
erage. As it turned out that school was my last teach-
ing position.

I enjoyed teaching because it offered a special
kind of challenge, but my workload was very heavy.
Over and above my regular classroom work, com-
munity involvement took up a lot of my time. Teach-
ing Ukrainian languages after school hours, work
with young people in the community, sports ac-
tivities, choir work and my Grade 12 correspondence
courses quite often kept me up until 2 A.M. Commu-
nities of that time expected leadership from their
teachers and only the active teachers were able to
hold their positions. At the end of December in 1936,
I resigned from my teaching positiori and went into a
business venture in St. Michael, Alberta.

My Business Ventures 1937-1965

The period of time that I spent in the various
business ventures was interesting, challenging, and
rewarding. My Uncle Kost, more than anyone else,
influenced and encouraged me to leave my teaching
job and go into business. In 1936 John Nikiforuk,
John Magus and I pooled our financial resources and
bought a $2500 grocery-confectionery business
(with a post-office included) in St. Michael, Alberta.
We made slow but steady progress in our business
until the outbreak of the war in 1939. Changes in
business planning had to be made.

Justine and I were married in July of 1938, a year
before the war broke out. Both my business partner
and | were aware of the fact that some sort of enlist-
ment in the armed forces was inevitable. John
Nikiforuk volunteered for overseas service and I
enlisted into the Youth Training Plan in preparation
for war time work. I spent four years in aircraft work
In Edmonton, while Justine managed the business. I
took specialized training in aero-engine work and
Spent most of my four years in test-running aircraft
engines used in training planes.

In 1946 I sold out my share in the grocery busi-
ness to John Nikiforuk and formed a partnership with
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Mike Panko, my brother-in-law. We bought a Cock-
shutt farm implement dealership with an Imperial Oil
agency included, in St. Michael. Post-war business
was good and our partnership prospered.

In 1946 Beaver Construction Ltd. was incorpo-
rated and I was one of its six shareholders. We pur-
chased a small gravel-loading machine and went into
municipal road gravelling.

The Redwater oil field was discovered in 1947
and Beaver Construction Ltd. was able to get a good
contract with Imperial Oil Ltd., the largest oil-field
developer. Our main job was maintaining and grav-
elling oil-field roads and drilling sites. Later we went
into gravel-crushing. I designed and built our first
gravel crusher during the winter of 1948. A year later
we purchased an additional large gravel crusher.
Gravelling roads was seasonal work for us and that
caused us some concern when there was no work
during the winter months.

In 1952-53, Beaver Construction Ltd. was sold. |
also sold my share of the St. Michael business and
our family moved to Fort Saskatchewan, just 14 miles
east of Edmonton.

In 1954 I purchased a refrigerated semi-trailer
unit with a Mack diesel tractor and contracted with
Midland Superior Ltd. For the next three years |
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1954, in order of height: Bill Jr. Eugene, Dennis and Katherine.



drove my own unit, hauling mostly meat products
from Edmonton and Calgary to Toronto and
Montreal. Driving that distance was hard work. It
kept me away from home a lot of the time but the pay
was good and we needed the money to finance the
needs of our growing family.

Century Transport Ltd. was incorporated in 1956
and [ was its major shareholder. president and general
manager. We bought more equipment. set up a shop
in Edmonton, and I quit driving. By 1962 we had
about 24 pieces of equipment, a shop. and an office in
west Edmonton with about 25 people on payroll. The
trucking business was profitable, but very demand-
ing, and so in 1965 we decided to sell out.

Farming in High Level 1965-1978

Farming appealed to me for a number of years but
[ could never get enough money together to go into it
properly. In 1964 Michael Raychyba, my father-in-
law wanted to retire and suggested that we consider
purchasing his farm in the High Level area. All the
members of our immediate family were consulted,
including Kathie, who was 12 years old at the time,
and we decided to sell our trucking business and
move to High Level — about 500 miles north of
Edmonton. The farm which we bought consisted of
four quarter-sections of land and a full line of ma-
chinery. We were able to rent an additional four
quarter-sections nearby. I seeded my first crop in the
spring of 1965.

A new house was built on the SW 2-110-17 W5
and the family moved in the summer of 1966. Kathie
had just completed her grade 8, Dennis had finished
his grade 12, Eugene was married and on his own and
that left Bill (Jr.) and me to farming. [ don’t think that
we fully realized what was involved in farming 500
miles north of Edmonton, but we said to ourselves
that “*where there’s a will, there’s a way™.

To start with, we bought the much needed land
clearing equipment — D7 Caterpillar tractor with a

1973, W. Fedeyko “Homestead", High Level, Alberta.

breaking plow, a piler and brush cutter. and a root
windrower. Dennis (while attending University) and
Bill applied for and got additional homestead land —
three quarter sections each. We traded small ma-
chines for larger equipment. By 1970. we had a
sizeable cattle and hog operation and about 1500
acres of land under cultivation. Dennis and Barbara
came into the farm operation in 1971 and stayed with
it until 1978, when Dennis decided to go back teach-
ing.

In 1978 Justine and I decided to retire in Kel-
owna, B.C. Bill and Darlene took over the manage-
ment of a 3000 acre farm with about 2400 acres under
cultivation. After 13 years of farming, with its ups
and downs, we felt that age was catching up to us and
that we had accomplished as much as were able to do.
We are justly proud of our farm and very confident
that Bill, Darlene, Patricia and Joanne will carry on
with the family farming tradition. We wish them
many happy and successful years of farming.

Our Marriage and Family

Justine Raychyba, a petite brown-eyed brunette
caught my fancy during our stay at the Mohyla Ukrai-
nian Institute in Saskatoon (boys and girls residence)
in 1928. Following the end of the school term in
1929, we corresponded occasionally for about 4
years. In the summer of 1933 I took a course at the
University of Saskatchewan and Justine happened to
be working in Saskatoon at that time. We met quite
often and our friendship became quite close. During
the 1930s money was scarce and travelling even
short distances was beyond my means. We were able
to meet about 2 or 3 times a year during the next 5
years. Correspondence was the only means of com-
munication. On July 30, 1938, we were married in
the Ukrainian Orthodox Church in Edmonton. When
the children came along, and the first three were
boys, we were no different from any other typical
young family. It was the tricycle, the bicycle and
finally a learner’s permit and the car. As the post-war
economic conditions improved we were able to travel
as a family. Christmases and Easters were usually
spent in North Battleford where my parents lived.
Family visits were made to Krydor, Hafford, Cut
Knife and Prelate, where most of our relatives lived.

After we moved to Fort Saskatchewan | was able
to buy a lake-side lot and build a summer cottage at
Long Lake about 40 miles north of our home town.
Most of our summer week-ends were spent at the lake
— boating, water-skiing and fishing. Many of our
friends and their children shared our leisure week-
ends with us. Family church attendance at St. Elias
Ukrainian Orthodox Church in Edmonton was regu-
lar on Sundays.
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1964, Eugene, Katherine, Dennis and Bill Jr. (standing).

The boys belonged to the Knot-Hole Gang of the
Edmonton Eskimos football cheering section and we
rarely missed the Edmonton games. Hockey games,
at the old Edmonton Gardens, were interesting and
exciting during the winter months. As soon as the
boys were old enough to hold a drivers license our
family outings became less frequent. Of all our fam-
ily activities, I think that our fishing trips stand out as
the most memorable.

My Community Involvement

During my teaching years I took an active part in
and helped organize the following:
— Square Hill Hockey Club
— Square Hill Softball Club
— a dance orchestra, in which I played a saxophone,
banjo, violin and guitar.
— Square Hill and later Whitkow Ukrainian Youth
Organization C.Y.M.K. I was its charter member
and president.

In St. Michael, Alberta — I served as a:
— secretary of the Board of Trade for many years.

— member of the local school board and sports
organizations.
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— organizer and conductor of the local young peo-
ple’s choir.
— charter member and organizer of the St. Michael
Community Centre.

In Fort Saskatchewan I was a member of:

The Lions Club

— Masonic Lodge
— St. Elia Ukrainian Orthodox Church in Edmon-
ton, an executive member and president of the church
Board for several years.
In High Level I was involved in the following:
— charter member of the Lions’ Club.
— charter member and president of the High Level
Unifarm Local (farm organization).
— Unifarm — district director.
— Unifarm — regional director.
— Unifarm — provincial executive member.
— President and later secretary-treasurer of the Boy-
er River Rural Electrification Association.
— Charter member and president of the Northern
Lights Gas Co-op.
— Chairman of the High Level-Fort Vermilion Agri-
cultural Service Board.
— Vice chairman and chairman of the High Level-
Fort Vermilion Hospital and Health Service Board.
— Member of the High Level Chamber of Com-
merce.
— Chairman of the Farm Development Committee.
— Member of the Alberta Wheat Pool advisory com-
mittee.

As of 1983 I have been a 53 year subscriber to the
following publications:

— Ukrainian Voice (weekly).

— The Herald (Ukrainian Orthodox Church — semi-
monthly).

— MacLeans Magazine

— Western Producer (farm weekly).

I have been a member of the Ukrainian Orthodox
Church all my life. I am a member of the following:
— Mohyla Institute — Saskatoon, Sask.

— St. John's Institute — Edmonton, Alta.
— Ukrainian Self-Reliance Association
— Order of St. Andrew

— Life Member of St. Andrew’s College.

Our main financial contributions were and are
being made to:

— St. Andrew’s Endowment Foundation
— S.U.S. Foundation
— Ukrainian Museum of Canada

In my early years I supported and was active in

Liberal politics. At present I stand politically neutral.

My Near Tragic Events
It was a beautiful warm sunny spring Easter Sun-
day in April of 1922. My Uncle Steve Deditch and



Aunt Alexandra of Cut Knife hitched up a team of
horses to a **democrat™ (2 seat buggy) and came
down to the farm to celebrate Easter with our family.
About 3 o'clock in the afternoon Uncle Steve de-
cided that we should be going back home.

At that time, sister Mary, cousin Edward and [
stayed with Uncle and Aunt while attending school in
town. After bidding our farewells we got into the
**democrat’’ and headed for Cut Knife, a distance of
9 miles.

The warm sunny day caused a lot of snow to melt
quickly during the day and by late afternoon, the
usually dry creek which we had to cross, was running
swift and deep with melted snow water. The creek
crossing had no bridge.

When we came to that creek of rushing water
Uncle Steve stopped and looked over the situation.
The main current did not appear too wide, and a
stretch of shallow water appeared to be about 2 feet
deep. We were told to hang on tightly to the vehicle
while we were crossing.

The horses were urged to go fast and almost
jumped into the water. Suddenly, because of the
depth of the water, the horses were forced to swim!
Only their heads appeared above water. The current
of the creek began to pull the democrat downstream
and all of us were in that icy cold water up to our
waists. Just then the horses jumped to solid footing
on the other side of the main current and pulled the
democrat out of the deep water. We were all wet,
cold, and scared but thankful that we were not
drowned.

Victoria Day, a bright, sunny and seemingly
warm May 24th, 1926 was a school holiday. Six or
eight boys, all classmates in the North Battleford
Collegiate, decided to run down to the river for an
afternoon ‘“‘May Day’" dip at our favorite swimming
hole. Three or four of us sat at the waters edge trying
to cool off and probably hesitant to jump in. One of
the boys, and to this day I don’t know who, playfully
I suppose, pushed the four of us into the cold water. |
remember opening up my eyes under-water, I felt a
severe pain in my stomach and hand. As hard as I
tried I could not stretch out my legs. I held my breath
and flailed with my arms. Suddenly I felt a pull on
my hair and a tight grip on my arm. I was pulled out
of the water. Two of the boys gripped my wrists while
two others pulled on my legs by my ankles. That
painful operation straightened me out. I did not get
any water into my lungs. After I got myself
organized I thanked Per Larson for saving my life.
We all walked back home quietly it seemed, and we
didn’t go back to that swimming hole until the water
warmed up.

Kathy and Percy, our daughter and son-in-law,
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came down to High Level for a farm holiday in July
of 1977. Bill (Jr.) and I promised Percy a fishing trip
to the lake where fishing was always at its best —
Wadlin Lake, about 2 hour flying time south of Fort
Vermilion.

All arrangements were made, and Percy, Bill (Jr.)
and I set out in a Cessna 180 from a river base in Ft.
Vermilion. The pilot landed on Wadlin Lake at about
4 p.m. with the understanding that we were to be
picked up at around 8 p.m.

Fishing was very good. By 6:30 we caught all the
fish we wanted to catch. We filleted our fish, made
our fish supper, had a cold beer and sat down waiting
for our “‘air-taxi’ to arrive. About 8 p.m. the plane
came down.

We loaded up our *‘catch™, got on the plane, and
headed for the home base at Ft. Vermilion. At about
the 3000 ft. level the aircraft motor sputtered and
stopped. The pilot made some hurried adjustments
and the motor started up again. We dropped about
1000 ft. in the interval. A few minutes later it hap-
pened again — a ‘‘sputter’’ and then silence, except
for a swish of rushing air. We were going down on a
“landing incline”. The pilot, while working fran-
tically on various controls, started calling out ‘‘May
Day — May Day” (meaning serious emergency —
going down) and giving his approximate location.
He then turned to us, his passengers, and told us to
buckle up tightly, put our heads between our knees
and pray a little. My reply to him was that I would
pray a little but [ was not able to put my head between
my knees.

At about the 1000 ft. level the motor came to life
again. What a sigh of relief! Between the first and
second stoppage of the motor, the pilot changed his
course of direction and he told us that he was headed
for the nearest bend in the river. We gained altitude
for a few seconds and got up to about 1200 ft. We had
just caught sight of the river ahead when the motor
sputtered and died again for the last time. The plane
had enough speed and height to be able to glide over
some tall timber on the river bank and land somewhat
roughly on the river. We could see an island about />
mile downstream. The pilot pulled out the emergen-
cy paddles and we were able to guide our downed
aircraft to a safe shore landing on the island. Some-
what shaken by our experience we sat quietly for
awhile. The pilot tried his wireless equipment, but
was not able to make contact with anyone. About
9:30 we heard and then saw a plane overhead. Ob-
viously someone got one of our ‘*‘May Day’ mes-
sages and sent a plane out looking for us. Our pilot
made contact with him on the radio-phone and gave
him the details of our trouble. At 11:30 a motorboat,
dispatched from Ft. Vermilion, a distance of about 15



miles by river, arrived and took us to the nearest
roadway coming to the river. A while later a truck-
van arrived and drove us to Ft. Vermilion. We got
home to High Level at around 2 a.m.

That day we were lucky in both fishing and fly-
ing. the family enjoyed the fish and we were glad to
be back with them. An excellent fishing trip and we
were not charged for it.

Hobbies

I enjoy a variety of sports. During the early years
of my life I played hockey, baseball and softball,
tennis and badminton. I played several musical in-
struments but the saxophone was my favorite instru-
ment.

In later life I enjoyed reading, gardening, fishing
and hunting. Since we’ve retired I do a lot of reading.
In the summer months I’ve been busy with wood-
work and fishing in the Okanagan area. In the last
five years we’ve travelled to Europe and visited my
mother’s birth place. We made several trips up and
down the Western United States and Mexico. We saw
Canada from North to South and from the Pacific to
the Atlantic. It is a great country, it’s our homeland,
thanks to our forefathers. In recent years my sport
activities have narrowed down to watching hockey,
baseball and football on T.V. (or live whenever possi-
ble) and I enjoy them very much.

Conclusion

Since our retirement in 1979, we’ve been visited
quite regularly by our children and grandchildren.
We enjoy their visits very much and we look forward
to their continued visits. We are looking forward to
our Fedeyko Family Reunion in 1985.

I hope that the many descendants of the Sylvester
Fedeyko family will make a truly sincere effort to
come and get acquainted and reacquainted with one
another. God willing, I hope to see all of you at the
John Fedeyko farm in July of 1985.

Justine (Raychyba) Fedeyko

[ arrived rather noisily on March 9th, 1914,
fourth in line of a family of 8 girls and one boy. My
parents, Michael and Eva (Gizen) Raychyba had
moved from Gimli, Man. to Prelate, Sask. in 1910
with one daughter, Anna, and were still living with
my paternal grandparents Theodore and Justine
Raychyba, when I was born. My day and night
routine was apparently reversed for I slept during the
day and cried all night. Someone had to be up con-
tinually to let the others sleep while I was rocked or
carried around. This lasted for one year and my
mother said that one time she got so desperate that
she thought choking me would end the misery for all
of them. Luckily, reason prevailed and I am able to
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tell my story. After that year, Dad built a home on his
own land and he moved 2 miles from my grand-
parents.

There were not too many Ukrainians in our com-
munity, so that at school we also had German and
English pupils. I am sorry now we did not learn
German from our classmates, but rules were strict
and we were allowed English only in the schoolyard.
I did not start school until age 7, being small for my
age, and the school was 12 miles away. However, at
age 6 I had command of both Ukrainian and English,
reading and writing, having learned from the older
ones. At age 12 I finished grade eight and again was
kept at home for one year, being too young to be sent
away to the P. Mohyla Institute in Saskatoon to attend
High School. From 1927-30 I attended Nutana Colle-
giate and resided at the Ukrainian Mohyla Institute
for the first three years — the year of grade 12 |
worked for my room and board at W. Stacey’s of
Stacey Jewellers, as dad could no longer afford to pay
for board and room.

My preferred subjects in High School were all
maths, i.e. Algebra, Geometry, Trigonometry, and
also Chemistry and Grammar. I took 4 years of
French and still remember some words and phrases
that help me with my crossword puzzles. History was
my worst subject. At 16 I finished grade 12, but the
age for attending Normal School (Education) was 18
so again I had to wait one year. In that period eco-
nomic conditions got worse than ever and no money
was availabe so that was the end of my schooldays. I
am glad now I didn’t end up being a school teacher as
[ probably would have become a nervous wreck if |
had had to battle with the present day students and all
their frustrations with the modern society.

My stay at the Mohyla Institute was probably the
highlight of my 69 years. There I made the acquain-
tance of students from other provinces and many of
them we have been in touch with through our Ukrai-
nian organizations over the years. The 60th Anniver-
sary re-union of the Institute in 1976 in Saskatoon
was a most joyous occasion in spite of our advanced
years. Many were missing but memories remain and
old snapshots and photographs are often thumbed
through bringing back pleasant memories of those
yesteryears.

In my first year at Mohyla there were 120 stu-
dents, a capacity crowd of 30 girls and 90 boys.
Rather lopsided but it gave the girls, regardless of
age, the privilege of dancing all evening while the
younger boys had about three or four dances set aside
for them in order to let the University students and
older boys have the advantage on the dance floor.
Once a month they would clear the tables from the



dining room for the dance. The girls would spend the
afternoon making sandwiches, our cook would sup-
ply some sweets — it was very low key as to a lot of
us there was no extra money available. We would
wear our Jean blouses with the sailor collars all week.
On Saturday morning we would wash, starch, and
iron them and go downstairs to the dance. However,
that didn’t prevent us from having as good or better
time than the older and better-off girls who could
afford fancy party dresses.

The skylight between the boys and girls rooms
provided a broom passage sometimes when the boys
would pass over some treats. They seemed to have
more money for such things. The specialty was milk
and ginger-snaps or raisin bread. I still love both. The
skylight also provided me with my first glimpse of
the mastering of the violin by my present husband. It
was my second year in residence and his first. He had
caught my eye in the first few days, good looking,
curly black hair and not the kind to pay too much
attention to girls. That in itself seemed like a chal-
lenge. So as I sat in the window watching him play he
suddenly looked up, saw me and immediately pulled
the blind down — what a let-down. However, |
played in the mandolin orchestra (always on a bor-
rowed mandolin) and he had one he wasn't using. |
borrowed his for the term and after returning home
for the summer holidays I wrote to thank him again
for the use of it and so our correspondence began and
lasted throughout the years until finally he popped
the question with the ““proviso” — that being
whether 1 would settle for apple boxes for chairs.
There was not the slightest hesitation on my part in
agreeing with that although it never really came
about.

In 1937 my father moved most of the family to
Peace River leaving my brother John, sister Kath-
erine and myself in Prelate on the farm. Since 1929
he had been freighting on the Peace River to Fort
Vermilion in his home-made boat. He had taken a
homestead in Fort Vermilion in 1929 and wanted to
move the family there. The only access was by boat
and mother refused to move that far so they bought a
small acreage across the river from Peace River town
and settled there. The girls got their High School
education there. There was not much use for them to
stay in Prelate any longer. 1937 was probably the
worst, but the last year of the Dirty Thirties. My
brother put in some crop 3 times but it was all blown
away. No crop— no garden — completely dried out.
That fall we would get carloads of hay and straw for
the animals, dried beans and smoked dry fish and
some fresh garden produce. You had to be in town
early to get a share, but somehow we survived. We
had a milk cow and sold a little cream occasionally.

In 1938 my brother married my school pal Helen
Hoshowsky from Gravelbourg, Sask. She was teach-
ing in our school at the time. A couple of weeks later
Katherine and I went to Smoky Lake to my eldest
sister’s place (Bill and Anna Pidruchney). Katherine
went on to join the family in Peace River and I staved
at Anna’s until my wedding day on July 30th, 1938.

[ borrowed $50 from my future husband (have
never repaid it) to buy my wedding dress, etc. Nei-
ther his parents or mine attended the wedding cere-
mony at the Ukrainian Orthodox Church in Edmon-
ton with Rev. Hrycyna performing the ceremony. or
at the small wedding reception we had at the Shasta
Cafe. Only my sister Anna and family and my cous-
in, Christine Curtis, and family were there. The rest
were close friends and numbered I8 in all, I believe,
Nobody could afford to travel that distance.

We stayed the night in Edmonton and the next day
on our drive to St. Michael, Bill stopped on a hill still
some miles away and pointed to a tiny speck in the
distance to what was to be home. I did not know a
single soul there except John Nikiforuk who had been
best man and was our business partner. Incidentally,
we had to hold up the ceremony in church as he was
late.

The first years at St. Michael were hard-working
ones. We made do with a lot but never really suf-
fered. One thing we lacked was water. We had to haul
it about half a mile so none was wasted needlessly.
When Billy was born in Oct. 1939, there was a diaper
wash every day on the wash board. I got my first gas-
powered washer when our third child was one year
old —in 1948. But it seemed we had more time then,
than we have now when all those extra chores are no
more. Both Bill and John Nikiforuk had been school-
teachers, so suits were a must. They were sadly in
need of repair by the time they were discarded so |
ripped, washed, mended and from the better pieces
made pants, coats and hats for the boys. I was pretty
expert at flaps, flies and inset pockets. By the time
Kathie came along I couldn’t do much dress-making
for a little girl, as I had forgotten how.

We took a honeymoon week-end trip to Banff
four years after we were married. Somehow Bill
managed to get 3 days off. After John Nikiforuk
enlisted in the Postal Corps | was promoted to Acting
Postmaster and we had Fred Palamarchuk for help in
the store and Anne Matwichuk in the house. In May
1940 my sister Mary came from Peace River to be
with me as Fred had also gone into the Postal Corp.
She stayed until Nov. 1942 when she married a local
boy — Mike Panko and they moved to his farm 6 miles
from town. Bill’s cousin Mary Parchoma. from
Krydor, replaced her and stayed about 2 years. She
got acquainted with the Swift’s salesman, a widower,



Mike Grekul and also got married. Then Olga Skwa-
ruk. a local girl, was with me and in about six months
she got married also. I began to feel the girls looking
for husbands should have been beating a path to my
door and asking to work for no wages.

However. in the time from 1939-1945, when we
moved from the back of the store and bought
Krewusik's house, I knew most of the people in the
surrounding areas. Through mail sorting I learned
the names of all the people and the 3 sub-post offices
to whom we sent mail twice weekly, provided a
further list of names which were eventually trans-
ferred to faces. I enjoyed the Postal work much more
than the store. People didn’t ask for credit in the P.O.
and I didn’t have to answer to my husband on week-
ends as to why credit was extended to so and so if he
was a poor risk. It was hard to say no.

My husband made a sort of two-wheeled wagon,
rather like a big wheelbarrow with which we hauled
mail to the train. Also our beef, which came in
quarters and halves, and double orange crates, we
handled all by ourselves, which was hard work.
However, we managed and after the war was over we
sold that business, so I was back to housekeeping
only and raising a family. We built a chicken house
beside our house so that the boys would have some
responsibilities. Sometimes they fell through the
hole in the ceiling when they went up to throw straw
down for bedding. They did their work quite
faithfully and when we were in a position to sell some
eggs the money came in very handy. I still like
chickens and had we lived in another spot I would
probably have tried to convince Bill to allow me to
keep a few laying hens.

Our children are quite unique personalities and
outside of a few scratches and bruises have not caused
any serious problems. William Sylvester (1939) at
age 4 or 5 told his dad that he didn’t think he was
driving properly and he wanted to get off. He was
permitted to do so (about 3 miles from home) and
luckily a neighbor picked him up and to my utter
surprise he was home shortly after leaving. I couldn’t
at that time understand my husband’s logic but father
conceded to his son’s wishes.

Bill Jr. turned out to be my chauffeur when my
husband was away a week at a time and I had full
confidence in his driving ability at age 12.

Eugene Anton (1945) told his grandfather to put
his tools away or he would make short work of them.
For his nosiness he was almost decapitated by a disc
one day as it was parked beside our driveway and the
driver didn't see that the kid was peaking around the
wheel.

Dennis Paul (1947) at 2 or 3 years used to hang on
to the fence around the house and scream for dear
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life. No one could figure out why — nothing was
hurting. He still talks quite loudly!

Anna (1950) was stillborn.

Katherine Elizabeth (1952) weighed in at 9 Ibs. 3
oz. and was named after her grandmother Fedeyko
and my sister Katie who passed away in 1946 at 26
years of age. Katie went in for a simple tonsillectomy
but re-acted to the anaesthetic and died before the
operation was performed. It was a hard blow to the
family and all who knew her.

All the boys in their turns were paper boys and if [
do say so myself were very good ones from reports I
got from their customers. So when Dennis outgrew
his route Kathie took over and she did a very credita-
ble job in the days before women’s lib. In her high
school years she was an excellent basketball player
and liked sports. She was also called upon to babysit
quite often even at 11 years of age. People seemed to
trust her with babies in diapers and being the young-
est she had had no such experience. It must have been
natural instinct.

Now they are all married and we have been pre-
sented with eight grandchildren. Bill and Darlene
have two girls, Eugene and Sandra have none so far,
Dennis and Barbara have a girl and boy and Kathie
and Percy have four girls.

Hopefully we will be granted a few more years to
watch them grow into adulthood and grow up to
appreciate their parent’s heritage.

We lived in St. Michael from 1938-1952 where all
the children were born. Then we moved to Fort
Saskatchewan, Alta. and lived there until 1966.
Those were also good years. We built a brand new
house and the children had access to good schools,
band, cubs and scouts and we were close enough to
Edmonton to attend our Ukrainian Orthodox Church
every Sunday. There the boys served as altar boys
something they thoroughly enjoyed and Kathie at-
tended Sunday school. [ made some lasting friends
there also. We even joined the Square Dance club one
summer but when Bill started trucking between Ed-
monton and Eastern Canada we were forced to give
that up.

In 1966 we moved to High Level to the farm we
bought from my father and lived there until 1978.
Again we made new acquaintances and [ thoroughly
enjoyed the long summer days, picking mushrooms,
Saskatoon berries, planting a big garden and looking
after chickens. For a few years I belonged to the
Hospital Auxiliary in High Level and served as Sec-
retary for one year. | canvassed the town a few times
for the Heart and Cancer Funds. It did your heart
good to get a positive response.

In 1978 we retired to Kelowna, B.C. It was with
some regret that I left High Level but it seemed to be



1963, Wasyl and Justine Fedeyko, 25th Wedding Anniversary.

that way with every move we made. Our children tell
us they are glad we moved to a tourist place. They
take over the basement when they visit us and don’t
have to live in a hot camper. We enjoy having them
down especially when they are so considerate of our
advancing years and don’t all come at once. The last
3 years have been busy ones in the fall. Bill made an
apple crusher and we make 55 to 60 gallons of pure
apple juice each year. The children and grand-
children all love it and get their supply. I feel as long
as I'm able to I will continue to do this for them. This
is indeed a land of plenty and this is one way of
showing our appreciation.

Over the years my hobbies have been mostly
needlework — knitting, crocheting, cross-stitching
and my pet — petit-point. I hope to leave my handi-
work for my children and grandchildren to remember
me by. Now I have a little more time and could sit for
hours with needle in hand and magnifying glass
around my neck. I hope to make some pictures for
wedding presents also. They are a gift that is rarely
given but are lasting ones.

During my first year at Mohyla Institute
1927-1928 I took Ukrainian Dancing Lessons from
the ballet master Vasyl Avramenko. I was very good
at it and we would perform at Nutana Collegiate
where we were well received. Any kind of dancing
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was my special joy, however, the years have taken
their toll of agility, and some arthritis in my ankle has
slowed me down. I still play in the Senior Citizen's
mandolin orchestra and thoroughly enjoy tapping my
feet to the music. We still do a lot of travelling and
hopefully will continue to do so as long as Bill can
drive (while I sleep). The family has decided to have
areunion every year in July or August and we had our
first one in 1982 at the High Level farm. Bill and
Darlene were great hosts. Darlene had prepared a lot
of the food ahead of time and when Eugene and
Sandra arrived a day ahead of everyone else, Sandra
just took over as chief chef — all she was missing was
the cap. A lovely time was had by all and even though
Dennis was willing to have it in Grande Prairie in
1983, Bill and Darlene think the logical place is the
farm where there is room to roam and they don’t have
to worry about how they can get away at the critical
“crop time”’. And so until they holler **STOP™ we
will convene there once a year.

Life has treated us very well. Bill, his sister
Stephania and I took a 2 week trip to Poland in June
1978. That doubled our appreciation of the country
we live in. My husband has been a good father and
provider and from force of habit of having lived
through the dirty thirties in Saskatchewan'’s dust
bowl, I have been very hesitant about spending more
than necessary, a habit which is hard to break. One
thing we have never scrimped on is donations to our
Ukrainian Museum of Canada in Saskatoon etc. We
are encouraging our children to donate a little to these
Institutions also, although they have their own affil-
iations and obligations. They have responded to this
very well for which we are grateful and proud.

I hope the next generation will try and write
another book to follow up this one and keep the

1984, W. and Justine Fedeyko family.



Fedeyko family name alive for future generations to
read and appreciate the effort that has been put into
this first one, with my husband as chief instigator and
certainly the one who has put a lot of time and effort
into getting it to press.

SPOTLIGHT

Justine and William Fedeyko

Throughout their lives William and Justine Fedeyko of Kelc'wpa.
B.C. have actively supported the many institutions of the Ukrainian
self-Reliance League of Canada. .

One of their major contributions has been to the IUkrarman
Museum of Canada in Saskatoon in recognition of the important
role the Museum plays in preserving our heritage and sharing it
with the community at large. They have donated over $5,000. to
the Museum Building Fund and have promoted the Museum with
other members of the community.

William "adeyko was born in Krydor, Saskatchewan. He is a
graduate of Normal School in Moose Jaw. After some years in the
teaching profession and other endeavours, Mr. Fedeyko estab-
lished a road gravelling and trucking business in Edmonton and
later farmed in High Level, Alberta. In 1979 the Fedeykos retired
and now reside in Kelowna, B.C.

Justine Fedeyko (nee Raychyba) was born in Prelate, Saskat-
chewan. While attending school in Saskatoon, she resided at
Mohyla Institute. She has been an active member of the Ukrainian
women's Association of Canada for many years,

The Fedeykos have a life-long record of community service. In
their well-earned retirement, may they enjoy the benetits of their
contributions to the Ukrainian community.

HOC tima i Backan e aenkn

HcTuna # Bacuas Oenedxu

MavceTeo Bacuues 1 Detuna depellkn nasemaTe Ao Tux
BEAMKUX MeUueHATIP YRPAIHCHKMX TPPOMABACEKO=-KYABTYPHHX
opravisauill, Ta ixeTnTyuiM, 6ed xoTpux TAKl YCTAKOMM
He MOTAME icHYBAaTH Ta poasupatTHeA, fAx nposlaml vaeww
wawol uepxen Ta ivcTHryull camoctiMuuubnkoro
cepefoBHitA, BOMW OpaJiM ®EBY YYACTs B rpouagcbriil
npaul, Ta wepreysasan, | aassue epTBYKTh, NMOBANMI
CYM¥ HA HAW] cnpAaBM,

lo eTocyeTsena Yepalncokoro NMyasew Hawaaw, To
napcTeo fenelkn Takom nindepmyBasM UM YCTAHOBY,
poayminyn paxsaupicTs npaul - MeTw Haworo Myaew »
afepexerHi Hawol kyabTypHol cnanuwun » Kawaal, [Jo
UBOFO YACY BOHM nogapysaau nouwas 35,000, WA
Eyalepeasnull ®oun Myaew, wo MOowe MOCAYRMTH 1HWHM 3A
NpMKJe] XePTBEHHOCTH Ha cBol crnpap#, Mo ceoix cuAax
TAa apoayumiuui,

lian Bacwar $enelwo poausca » Kpuaop, Cackavesas,
Bin sariuyue yuuTeaebchbky cedminapino B Myc lmas,
YunTeawpar p CackavyeraHl, 1 Hanexas Ao Toro AKTHBHOTO
PYPTHA cBlOOMMX YKpAIHCEKHX y4wHTenlp, BuxosaHuls
Incturyry iu, N, Mormam, wo sigorpaam npoplany pose
8 POIBHTKY HAWOrO KYABTYPHO-OCBITHEOTO ®MTTA NO
OKOAWUAX,

Nicaa kisskox A1T yuMTessckkol npaul n-crTeo
Penelivn nepe.wananecs no Aapbeprm, [Tan Penelive crap
BaacHMkoM niggpuemcTes B EaMoHToni, a onlexsa
tapuepysns & [all Jepen, Anufepra, FleHoumcHo, BOWR
OyAr AKTHBHWMM 4neHauMy yrpaincekol rpowmanw B
Eamoutoni, ¥ I979-ouy pouli Mancreo Pepellkn nepeixanm
Ao Keaoswa, E.H. Ha craxull nofyr Ta 2acaymenwuil
pianoyunox,

Mari Detmma $eneltxo (Palunba) mapoamnacsa ®
lipiaelr, Cackavemsan, [lofHMpapTm BHLY HAYKY B
CackaTyni nepstysata s IncTuryri iu. Netpa Morumam,
Bona fysa sasma¥ akTHBHOD 4JeHKow Cowdy Yepalnok
Kanagm,

MascTso denelxm mawres aosroairrilf pexopa
Jdacayzedol rpouasceroi npaml ma kyaeTYpHim moaw,

Eaxaguo Im smmomosenna 1 pamocTR 3a ixHw Bianawy
Npaum, -

1979, Paper clipping.
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William S. and Darlene Fedeyko

1967, William S. and Darlene (Green) Fedeyko.

William Sylvester Fedeyko, born October 19th,
1939, at Lamont, Alberta. The first child of William
and Justine Fedeyko while they lived at St. Michael,
Alberta.

I remember some of my very early days living
behind the store-post office combination my parents
operated. The kitchen part had one wall banked with
clear cased batteries, two high for power storage
from the windmill. Some Saturday nights were spent
listening to Foster Hewitt and Hockey Night in Cana-
da.

There was a daily trip to the railroad station with
the two wheel rickshaw type push cart for the mail.
The sidewalks in town were made of wood with wide
cracks and it was quite a feat to find a penny, nickel or
dime and recover it from below the boards.

I went to St. Michael School from grades one to
seven. In August of 1952 we moved to Fort Saskatch-
ewan where | completed my grade twelve. I also
attended Linday-Thurber Composite High School in
Red Deer, Alberta for two semesters to complete
courses in grade eleven and twelve.

In Fort Saskatchewan | belonged to the Boy
Scouts, Sea Cadets, the Fort High School Band and
the 49th Loyal Edmonton Regiment Army Reserve
Band. In the band I played the Baritone Horn and
Trombone. The band years were very satisfying and
rewarding, because of the different professionals I
had the pleasure of playing beside, and also the
appreciation of music of all types that I acquired.



During my school years I delivered papers for
The Edmonton Bulletin and later The Edmonton
Journal. T was a gas pump jockey on weekends at
Dad’s gas station in St. Michael. My fee was 10¢ a
customer. I was also a checker for Beaver Con-
struction during the summer in the Simmons Oilfield
north of Bruderheim, Alberta.

After leaving school 1 worked for Alberta De-
partment of Highways working my way up from a
checker and chainman to Senior Instrumentman.
Lacombe, Provost, Cockrane, Boyle, Manning,
Redwater, Falher, Valleyview and Wandering River
are some of the places I worked with Highways. I was
in charge of one of the first four crews that did the
preliminary highway survey from Wandering River
to Fort McMurray, Alberta. Falso drove a Royal Mail
Truck for one year on two different routes: one from
Edmonton to Lloydminster, the other from Regina to
Lanigan in Saskatchewan. While on the Regina run |
used to stop at a place called Raymore for coffee.
One night while having coffee T. C. Douglas came in
and had a coffee with me.

In 1963 1 quit the Alberta Government job and
started working for Dad’s trucking firm, apprentic-
ing as a Heavy Duty Mechanic. The next two years
were spent repairing, loading, and sometimes driv-
ing trucks. We hauled a variety of things from hang-
ing beef carcasses, canned pop, to barrelled
horsemeat and live daffodils between Edmonton and
Vancouver.

The major turning point in my life came in 1965,
when along with Dad we decided to try farming for a
business. Dad planted the 1965 crop alone while |
helped wind down the trucking business in Edmon-
ton. On October Ist, 1965 I arrived at High Level to
stay, and since have been trying to learn proper and
profitable farming techniques. Dad bought Grandpa
Raychyba’s farm as he was retiring, and offered me
the opportunity to work my way into a quarter share
partnership. I have since bought out Dennis’ share
and along with my wife own fifty percent.

Our farm operation consists of four sections of
land with 2000 acres cultivated. We crop approx-
imately 1000 acres yearly with the remainder in
clover (400), summer fallow (400) and hay-pasture
(200). We also have a 40 cow commercial herd that
keeps us busy during the winter and spring. Since
1965 we have developed 1600 acres from bush to
cultivated land. Our land is located in Townships 109
and 110 which is north of the 58th parallel.

On August 4th, 1967 I married Darlene Green of
Edmonton. I convinced Darlene to leave behind her
family, friends, T.V. and radio reception, paved
roads and many other things cities offered, to move
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1969, The Fedeyko brush cutting machine.

1974, Harvesting equipment. Bill on the iront Combine and Bill
sr. on the back one.



1979, Plowing on the Fedeyko farm.

to High Level. We lived in a house trailer for the first
ten years and then built our own home on the farm.

We have two daughters, Patricia born in August
of 1968 and Joanne born in February of 1971.

1971, the girls' christening, Bill, Darlene holding Joanne, and
Patricia.

In the High Level area I've been able to be in-
volved in many community organizations from being
President of the Curling Club and Parent-Teachers
Association, Chairman of the Agricultural Develop-
ment Committee to serving as a counselor on the
Improvement District Council. I've also been on the
executive for the Unifarm Local in our area.

We have had the opportunity in High Level to be
a pioneer type person in today’s fast moving society.
In 1965 High Level and area consisted of a new hotel,
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a few older stores, and many shacks assembled in
what seemed like a continual mud hole. The rural
area was a patchwork of small fields varying in sizes
from 5 to sometimes 50 acres with access by gravel
road if you were lucky, but mainly a trail through the
bush. There were no rural phones, T.V. or radio
reception, luckily a very knowledgeable public nurse
for medical advice, and 200 miles of gravel road to
getto it all.

Today the town is paved as is the highway past our
farm. The town has modern recreation and hospital
facilities. It has a new block square provincial build-
ing and nearly all the services a person requires.
Being a part of the lobbying process to help gain
these many things for our area has been most interest-
ing, and has given me the opportunity to meet with
various government and cabinet people.

Our family has a history dating back to 1930 in
the High Level area. My great grandfather Teodor
Raychyba applied for the NE 33-109-17 W of the 5th
on May 21st, 1930. He came to this area and stayed
for two summers and a winter. Patricia and Joanne are
the fifth generation of our family to live in this area.

A highlight event of our family happened during
the Queen’s visit to Grimshaw in 1978. We waited for
nearly four hours at a strategic vantage point before
the Queen and Prince Philip arrived. Darlene forgot
our camera and luckily so, because being one of the
few people without a camera jammed against her face
the Queen came over to her and “*chatted™ with her
about the length of our wait, where we were from and
how far away from home we were.

My wife Darlene and my daughters have pre-
pared their own stories as part of our family history
record.

Darlene Fedeyko

| was born Darlene Jacqueline Edna Green in
Edmonton, Alberta, on May 8th, 1941 to John (Jack)
and Dorothy Green. | am the middle child, having an
older sister and a younger brother. My sister Dorothy
is a graduate nurse now working at the Dickensfield
Extended Care Nursing Home in Edmonton and my
brother John (Jack) is a constable with the R.C.M.P.
stationed in Stettler, Alberta. My mother is still living
in Edmonton. My father was the Grand Lodge Repre-
sentative for the I.LE of M. for the three Prairie
Provinces until his retirement in 1959. He passed
away in October of 1967.

During my growing up years | attended King
Edward, Garneau, Sherbrooke Jr. High and Ross
Sheppard Composite High School. After leaving
school 1 enrolled in a Business Course at MacTavish
Business College. Following college I was employed
by The Edmonton Journal, Paramount Industries



1983, William S., Darlene, Patricia (15), Joanne (12'%)
Fedeyko.

Ltd., Big Island Developments Ltd. and The Royal
Trust Co. until my marriage to Bill on August 4th,
1967.

After our marriage, we moved to the farm in the
High Level area. The transition to farm life was
difficult for me, having been used to the amenities of
city life.

Through the years I've been involved in various
organizations in different capacities such as Honored
Royal Lady of the Order of the Royal Purple, Presi-
dent of the local Association of Guides, leader for
both the Girl Guides and Brownies and President of
the United Church women.

The birth of our two daughters, Patricia and
Joanne, were the happiest events of our lives. The
experience of raising them on the farm will be one |
feel they won’'t regret, nor will I. My marriage to Bill
and the decision to stay on the farm has been very
rewarding and extremely fulfilling.

Patricia

I was born Patricia Lynn Fedeyko on August 7th,
1968 in Edmonton, Alberta. I've lived in High Level
ever since and have attended the High Level School
since kindergarten. I was baptized on July 4th, 1971
in Edmonton, Alberta at Robertson-Wesley United
Church. I've been involved in many clubs and school

1983, Patricia Fedeyko,
14"z, grade 9.

-

1984, Carnival Queen. Patricia Fedeyko was crowned Lions
Club Carnival Queen at the Queen Teen Dance held Friday
night at the Legion. Patricia received a trip to Vancouver for
two as part of her prize. Other contestants were Helena Impett
and Krista Ziegler, Mar. 24, 1984.



activities. They include brownies, guides, pathfin-
ders. figure skating, 4-H, school volleyball and bas-
ketball and have taken piano lessons. During my
years in High Level I have made friends with many. |
am the oldest child in our family and have one
younger sister.

1983, Joanne Fedeyko, 12,
grade 6.

1974, Patricia and Joanne Fedeyko.

Joanne

I was born Joanne Jacqueline Fedeyko on Febru-
ary 15th, 1971 in the Edmonton General Hospital in
Edmonton, Alberta. I was one week old before my
father first saw me. On July 4th, 1971 in Edmonton at
Robertson-Wesley United Church I was baptized. |
took my first communion on December 20th, 1982 in
the High Level Ecumenical United Church. I go to
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the High Level Public School and am in grade six.
I've been going to this school since | was in kinder-
garten. I took piano lessons for three years but quit
this year as I now play the clarinet in the grade six
band at school. I have been a brownie and girl guide
and have taken figure skating lessons and belonged to
the 4-H club. | am presently taking voice lessons. I
have two pets, a dog called Stubble and a cat called
Little Girl.

Eugene and Sandra Fedeyko
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1975, Eugene and Sandra Fedeyko

At my birth, my parents lived at St. Michael so |
took up residence at this north central Alberta vil-
lage. I am the second offspring and second son of
William and Justine Fedeyko. | was born at the Mis-
ericordia Hospital in Edmonton on June 29, 1945. As
for my Christian names — Eugene was chosen for no
real special reason and Anton was the name of an
uncle on the father’s side.

My earliest recall begins between ages four and
six. I was always into trouble at this time. The only
time | was not in a mess was when | was just getting
out of it! I carry battle scars today like the etching of a



farm disc on my head when it ran over me and burn
marks on my arm from a brief encounter with hot
ashes when | fell from a wheelbarrow. I always
seemed to be praying tersely on the floor of the
proverbial covered wagon, completely surrounded
and outnumbered and thinking “‘give me another
chance — I wont do it again!™ Seems funny though
— the wagon is still being chased and surrounded,
the problems are older and more complex but the
prayer is still about the same.

1951, Bill, Eugene and Dennis Fedeyko.

There is much fond recollection through to age
six, such as summer Sunday outings to EIk Island
Park and all the good things that are enjoyed by
family and friends on a Sunday afternoon at the lake.
My brother, Dennis and | also enjoyed our short pants
(“*Sound of Music shorts™ — you recall what Maria
designed from the curtains). Mother expertly engi-
neered our pants from one of father’s discarded suits,
braces and all. Mother made the greatest food for the
lake and to me that was always the highlight. 1 found
out later, mother always made great food but how the
outdoors always adds to its **goodness.™

My first day of school was in St. Michael. My
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mother’s sister. Isabelle was the teacher and my cous-
in, Jeanette Panko was a classmate although she was
in grade two. I could speak little if any English when
[ started school and proceeded to let everyone know
who I was when [ hollered at brother Bill through a
closed window that very first day. It took my aunt
very little time to curb my Ukrainian in the classroom
— I was a fast learner. In no time at all I had gradu-
ated from grade one!

1954, Mother Justine with Dennis, Kathy and Eugene
Fedeyko.

By the time grade two was upon me, we had a
new addition (sister Kathie) and we had all packed
our bags and moved about 30 miles south-west to the
town of Fort Saskatchewan. At that time, the town
was infamous only for its provincial gaol. Our family
unit was now complete — father, mother, William Jr.,
Dennis and Kathie. This was the beginning of my
formative years and yes, more trouble.

Our new home was surrounded by bush and was
right across the “‘clearing’” from the Nick Pal-
amarchuk family, who had also just moved from St.
Michael. (Nick is my godfather.) Fred Palamarchuk,
Nicks brother, built both the Palamarchuk house and



our house. but not to completion. Over the next few
vears. slowly but surely as time permitted, father
completed the house. built a garage and did the
Jandscaping. Grandfather and Grandmother Fedeyko
came to visit a couple of times during the con-
struction period and Grandfather helped father with
the garage and also the concrete walkways.

[ don’t have much recall of the first few years in
Fort Saskatchewan apart from school. delivering pa-
pers. piano lessons. and helping out at home. We
used to have to come home every day right after
school and change clothes so our school clothes
would not be ruined and to this day, this habit re-
mains with me. With delivering papers. we were
soon notorious in town and with the piano lessons,
myself at least, somewhat less notorious I would say.
Help at home was required of each of us no matter to
what degree. I still feel somewhat guilty as I had to be
pushed a little harder than the others for my share but
I always consoled myself that what I had accom-
plished was just perhaps a little better than most!

In addition to delivering papers, we picked bot-
tles. picked bottles, picked bottles and picked more
bottles. And, I believe that by the time I was in junior
high school I was completely self-sufficient for little
frivolities. I could always manage to buy a pop and
chips after school, and as often as not I also bought
for my friends.

The one thing about school in Fort Saskatchewan
that still remains with me is that the school I attended
was the “traditional red brick school.™ It was a two-
storey building, with a bell tower and bell that would
ring to signal the commencement of classes in the
morning, the lunch hour and when school was out for
the day. The school was located approximately one
mile from our house and we used to have to make the
trip home for lunch, summer and winter. Only the
lucky students from the farm were allowed to bring
their lunch and stay in over the lunch period.

Before the end of grade two, I was firmly en-
trenched in the scouting program. As a cub scout
(Tawney Group) at first and then a few years later as a
boy scout (Wolf Pack), I worked for and received all
the merit badges in these two progressions (which 1
have packed away somewhere). I also have some stars
from cub scouts. The exact reason for these stars
€scapes my memory but they are probably just sim-
ply because I was a star!

Summer camp was a highlight of my youth al-
though [ remember my first two-week camp experi-
ence at Bar-V-Nok was something less than great as |
Was so homesick after the first week that I spent a
80od deal of my time crying. Not wanting anyone to
know what was really wrong. I led them to believe
that I was sick! The second year, Dennis and [ both
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attended camp and I weathered the two weeks away
from home much better. I **graduated’” from summer
camp to attending St. John's Institute and have fond
memories of the summers I spent there, including
that of meeting my cousin Mary Fedeyko for the first
time.

At a very early age, I found that I enjoyed music
and liked to sing. and although I don"t remember it, |
apparently sang at a concert in Andrew when I was
quite young, and was judged to be “"good”’. During
my school years I sang in the Glee Club and was
involved in choral competitions. I also participated
in church and CYMK choirs. which I enjoyed very
much.

Father was away a lot of the time in our early years
due to his business so mother had to cope alone. I
know it was a strain on her as on a few occasions she
would tell me I was going to drive her to Ponoka and
yet she knew I had no driver’s license! I used to
remind her of this fact sometimes when her patience
was running out and sometimes you could tell she
was turning away with a smile. The rest of the time
she would threaten 40 lashes! Although we all joke
about these kinds of things now, both mother and
father had to endure much to see our way a little
softer and easier.

Sports was a big part of my life during my school
years and I competed in a variety of them. both
individually and in team sports. I learned how to
skate on a pond where my father used to change oil in
his trucks. (There was a puddle about ten feet in
diameter that used to form and that is where my
hockey career began!) I guess my favourite sport
would have to be football. I played in junior high and
high school and had an opportunity to play with the
Edmonton Wildcats Junior Football Club but decided
that my chances of making a career in football were
probably less than ideal. Instead of playing with the
team, I entered the working world and accepted a
position with the Department of Highways as a sur-
Veyor.

My working life has included that with the De-
partment of Highways, a short time at Sherritt Gor-
don Mines in Fort Saskatchewan and the last nineteen
years has been spent in the construction industry.
When I entered the construction industry, it was in
the capacity of a “‘surveyor’ and during my first few
years in the industry, I went to night school and
completed a program in Construction Technology.
This allowed me to move through various positions
and for the last fifteen years, I have been employed as
a project manager in both commercial and heavy
construction projects. The work is very demanding
but I enjoy the challenge and changing technology of
the industry.
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1964, Bill standing, with Eugene, Kathy and Dennis Fedeyko.

I met Sandra at Alberta College in early 1964
when [ was taking a semester to upgrade some grade
twelve courses. We dated for two years and were
married July 2, 1966 in Edmonton. Just prior to our
wedding we had considerable bad luck. I was laid off
from my job at Sherritt Gordon Mines due to market
cutbacks — that proved somewhat stressful when my
future relatives asked about the type of work I did!
The real tragedy was that we had purchased my
mother and father’s home in Fort Saskatchewan (as
they were heading north to farm near High Level) and
approximately three weeks before the wedding day,
there was a serious fire and the house was gutted.
Fortunately no one was home at the time. It was a
shaky start but things improved rapidly and we were
soon settled in a comfortable apartment in Edmonton
and I got a new job one week after our wedding.

The pace has been pretty steady over the last
eighteen years and my job has taken me away from
home on a number of occasions for projects that
extended over a year. My enthusiasm for sports
hasn’t changed much, although I am not as involved
in individual sports as I once was. | do enjoy a good
game of racquetball, curling or golf and am an avid
Eskimo and Oiler fan. The highlight of 1984 had to
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be attending that final Stanley Cup Game — the
Edmonton Coliseum was alive! Sandra has taken up
an interest in running that extends past that of a
“recreational”” runner and will hopefully complete
her third marathon (26.2 miles) in October 1984. |
limit my mileage to the bicycle!

In closing, I have to commend my father for the
initiative he has shown in making this family history
book a reality. Were it not for his devotion and dream
of seeing this book completed, we would not be
sharing in our history and in looking forward to the
reunion in Cut Knife in 1985.

Sandra (Saboe) Fedeyko

1966, Standing: Eugene and Bill Fedeyko. Seated: Sandra
Fedeyko.

My parents met and were married during World
War Il while my father was serving with the Royal
Canadian Engineers in England. 1 was born near
Wallingford, Berkshire, England in June 1945 in an
old estate that had been converted into a nurs-
ing/maternity home. (Wallingford, my mother’s
home, is a beautiful town located on the Thames
River about six miles from Oxford.)

At the end of the war my father headed home on a
“troop ship” and my mother and I, like many war
brides and their children, waited several months be-
fore being able to travel to Canada. We finally
arrived in Halifax, Nova Scotia in September 1946
aboard the Queen Mary and travelled across Canada,
by train, to Holden, Alberta which is located approx-
imately 60 miles east of Edmonton. My mother, as
might well be expected, says she was quite apprehen-
sive about our new home during that long train ride,
but the conductor was most reassuring! My



«gmocked™ dresses were quickly replaced with

“trousers’”’ by my paternal grandmother and my

mother became skilled at maneuvering my English
ram through the streets of Holden.

My school years were spent in three different
locations — Holden, Camrose and Grande Prairie —
and after graduating from high school, I attended
Alberta College in Edmonton (where [ met Eugene).
| have been working in the same area of government
for over 20 years and my work has continued to be
challenging and exciting. I am employed in an ad-
ministrative capacity with the Occupational Health
and Safety Division, Alberta Workers’ Health, Safe-
ty and Compensation. The particular service that I
work with is involved in the inspection of work sites
throughout the province and the investigation of inci-
dents relating to health and safety issues.

Our 18 years of married life have been busy, in
spite of the fact that we have had no children to attend
to! (We get the occasional babysitting duty at the
Zalasky's with their four lovely daughters to test our
parenting skills!) Demanding jobs, night courses,
hobbies, travelling away from home for both busi-
ness and pleasure have kept us on the go. In the last
few years I have taken up running and find that I am
spending considerable time *‘in training™ and at
races, with no hope of achieving any Olympic class
times but I am having great fun doing it.

I grew up with Norwegian (my father’s ancestry)
and English (my mother’s ancestry) traditions and
customs. In addition, I had considerable exposure to
many Ukrainian customs in Holden as it was made up
of a very large Ukrainian community, and many of
our family friends were Ukrainian. The Fedeyko
family is rich in Ukrainian tradition and I have en-
joyed being part of it and particularly in sharing in
traditions associated with Christmas and Easter, and
with such events as weddings and christenings.

Being part of the editing committee of this family
history book has been a learning experience and
reading the individual stories, almost makes me feel
that 1 know some of you. I look forward to meeting
you all in 1985!

Dennis and Barbara Fedeyko
I was born in Lamont, Alberta on February 23,
1947 and lived for the next § years in St. Michael
where my parents ran the post office and general
store. St. Michael was a small community that served
a Ia_rge farming area, and it was an ideal place to
begin life as everyone knew everyone else. Some of
the earliest memories are of going to the train station
10 get the mail on a high wagon with large wheels.
he arrival of the train with all of its noise and clatter
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1971, Dennis and Barbara (Pratt) Fedeyko.

was frightening as the entire station and platform
would shake. We would then help push and pull the
wagon back to the store for the mail sorting.

We lived in a small, white stucco house next door
to our cousins, the Pankos, and spent many hours
playing with them. Jeanette and Iris Panko and Eu-
gene, my brother, and I once built a wagon using
shingles for wheels and we had quite an argument
when one of the girls sat in it and the entire con-
traption collapsed.

Saturday was bath day for us, after which we
would watch the activity in the streets as everyone
came into town to shop. I remember my dad, Uncle
Mike Panko, and other men departing on Saturday
afternoons on fishing trips. These seemed to involve
a lot of preparation and the departure was an impor-
tant event. Although I was too young to go along, my
brother Bill, often went.

Eugene was only 2 years older than I was and so
we spent a lot of time together and got into our share
of mischief during those early years. Eugene was
more adventuresome and reckless than | was and he



came out on the short end of the deal. On various
occasions, he fell out of the chicken coop hayloft
onto a cement floor, he fell into a pile of burning
straw, and he fell under a disc as it was being pulled
by our house. I survived those first five years un-
scathed.

Another vivid memory for me was the infrequent
arrival of Grandma and Grandpa Raychyba to visit us
from their farm. I did not know where their farm was
(Fort Vermilion) but I knew it was a long way from
our home. They would arrive in a large grain truck
that was always fully loaded with various supplies
and farm equipment by the time they left in several
days.

We moved to Fort Saskatchewan, 15 miles from
Edmonton, in 1952 and I remember that on the first
night we stayed in our new, unfinished house, there
was a hanging at the provincial jail. Mom was afraid
the condemned prisoner would escape and as our
house was in the bush on the outskirts of town, it
would be an ideal hiding place. I doubt that Mom
slept a wink that night.

I started school the next year and was the only one
of our family of four kids who had all of his schooling
in the same community. The school at that time was
at least two miles from home and we walked every
day and also came home for dinner. 1 don’t recall
taking lunch to school, but I suppose we did on the
coldest days. 1 also survived these long walks un-
scathed.

Eugene and 1 delivered the Edmonton Journal
after school for years, with Mom being our general
manager and investing our profits in Canada Savings
Bonds. I really appreciated her financial wizardry
when I bought my first home many years later, as
those meagre earnings added up to quite a nestegg.
Out of our excess profits we bought scooters and had
hours and miles of fun with them. One Christmas the
family went to North Battleford, but Eugene and |
got to stay behind so we could deliver papers and
collect any “‘tips’ given for our good service
throughout the year. We then took the Dayliner train
by ourselves to North Battleford, and this was my
first train trip.

During these years we often travelled to North
Battleford at Easter, Thanksgiving or Christmas to
visit Grandma and Grandpa Fedeyko, then to Cut-
knife to see Uncle John Fedeyko, Aunt Alice, and
cousins Ronnie and Doug; Aunt Mary Paulson and
Uncle Pete; and to Hafford to see the Fedeykos and
Horbays. Mom would pack a huge lunch which we
would start to devour as soon as our house was out of
sight. Then we would stop at the Husky House in
Lloydminster for a meal and would be ready to eat
Grandma out of house and home as soon as we
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1959, Dennis Fedeyko age
12.

o,
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arrived! Grandma would be busy in the basement of
the house cooking all of the time and Grandpa would
be smoking his “roll-your-owns™ made from Old
Chum tobacco. In the morning Grandma would cook
us as many eggs as we wanted to eat, until Mom
would finally stop her.

At the farm, Uncle John would take us for rides
on the combine in the fall, and the whole farm was
fascinating. We had good times there and still do on
our visits to this day. If time permitted we travelled to
Hafford and visited the Fedeykos and Horbays. |
recall visiting a farm one time where Mary and Rose
Fedeyko and Eugene and I spent the afternoon slid-
ing down a huge haystack. We also had a lot of fun
with David and Henry Horbay when they got their
electric train one Christmas. One summer, Henry and
Jimmy Horbay took Eugene and me shooting go-
phers in a field outside of town, but we had little
success and blamed this on the rifle’s sights.

There were many visits from relatives to our
house in Fort Saskatchewan. I recall Grandma and
Grandpa Fedeyko coming and Grandpa helping Dad
cement the curb around our yard. We had visits from
the Horbays; Aunt Stella and Uncle Howard
Schneider from Seattle (this was the first time I met
Howard and Dwayne); Uncle Paul and Aunt Claire;
and Dad’s cousin, Paul, and Louise from Toronto
(when I met Konnie and Richard). We always took
the relatives, young and old, on scooter rides. After
Dad built a cabin at Long Lake, we usually took the
relatives there for some fishing and we enjoyed a lot
of good times there together.

Shortly after we moved to Fort Saskatchewan,
Mom’s sister, Isabelle, came to stay with us, and the
spare room became known as “‘Aunt Isabelle’s
room”" . Later Dad’s brother, Paul, z-.laycd with us and
it was rechristened **Uncle Paul’s room’

Before we had our cabin at Long Lake, Dad
would take us fishing to various lakes for a weekend-



He outfitted a blue Volkswagen van with a propane
stove in the back, boat on top and a bed inside for
himself. We slept in a tent and ate meals fit for a king
__fresh fish. beans. bread and sweet mixed pickles.
These trips to Island Lake. Long Lake, Buck Lake
and Whitefish Lake are great memories for me. and |
am thankful my Dad put up with tangled lines. taking
all of the fish off of the hooks. cooking for us. and
taking care of us.

Dad also took us to a lot of Edmonton Eskimo
football games where we could sit in the endzone in
the Knot Hole Gang section and see the game for
$1.00. On several occasions we took some friends on
our fishing trips or to the football games and they
would tell us that if it was not for our Dad taking
them. they would never have been able to go on these
trips. Although he was so busy wih his trucking
business. his gardening and his church work. I look
back on a great number of good times we spent
together.

Mother. meanwhile, was busy year round with
cooking meals for relatives and friends that dropped
in (no one left without a meal and it continues to this
day), picking mushrooms or berries that were in
season, doing her embroidery and petit-point or busy
with church work. She looked after things when Dad
was away and now I am amazed at how she kept
everything under control with we three boys gener-
ally raising hell (Kathie was too young to raise hell at
the time). Mom fought with us over piano lessons
(she lost and we won, much to my regret to this day),
but playing football won out in the end. While we
lived in Fort Saskatchewan, Mom would buy live
chickens each fall. and I remember how she could
never eat supper after spending the day killing and
cleaning chickens.

During the summer after I completed Grade 10, |
attended a 4-week Ukrainian summer school at St.
John’s Institute in Edmonton, and the next summer at
St. Andrew’s College in Winnipeg. These courses
dealt with Ukrainian language, culture and history.
along with a lot of recreation time and tours to various
points of interest. | made some good friends and
really enjoyed the experience, and am thankful my
Parents gave me the opportunity to attend these
courses.

Fort Saskatchewan was a great town in which to
8row up. My brother, Bill, often took me to see the

monton Oil Kings junior hockey games at the
Now-demolished Edmonton Gardens, and also to
Speedway Park in Edmonton to see the stock car
races. In later years Eugene and I went together to
CYMK meetings at our church in Edmonton, and he
taught me how to drive as we travelled back and

orth. I have so many other good memories — Ka-
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thie’s christening in the basement of the house shortly
after we moved to Fort Saskatchewan: Kathie's finger
hanging on by a thread of skin after Bill accidentally
closed the door on it: countless games of ping-pong
and table hockey with Bill and Eugene in the base-
ment: Eugene throwing a pop bottle through the shoe
maker’s plate glass window downtown: Bill's first
new car — a dark green Volkswagon. and later his
blue convertible; Dad taking me on the plane to
Vancouver when he went to pick up two new trucks;
Mom and Dad’s twenty-fifth wedding anniversary on
our back lawn: digging up the garden each spring and
fall by hand and shovelling out our long roadway in
the winter also by hand; working with Dad in the
truck shop in Edmonton on Saturdays and summer
holidays: going Christmas carolling with our CYMK
group: having all of the relatives over at our house
every Ukrainian New Years; playing Scrabble after
church on Sundays, or playing with our *‘family
band™ after church on Sundays — Dad on the sax-
ophone. Mom on the mandolin, Bill on the trom-
bone, Eugene on the trumpet, Kathie at the piano and
me on the clarinet. We enjoyed Fort Saskatchewan
very much, and the next chapter in our lives was quite
different from anything we had known.

Dad had decided to sell his trucking business and
take over Grandpa Raychyba’s farm at High Level in
1965, so as soon as I finished Grade 12 I drove up
there with Mom and Dad to help out for the summer
months until university began. We left on a Sunday
with Mom and Dad in one truck and I followed in a
red Ford Econoline pickup that I eventually kept for 6
years and called **Little Red’’. I honestly had no idea
where we were going, except that it was north and
took all day to get there. Upon arriving at the farm, I
slept in a small holiday trailer we had and Mom and
Dad stayed in Grandpa Raychyba’s house. Things
seemed quite primitive to a life-long city slicker like
me — no power, refrigerator, running water, etc. But
amazingly, I again survived all of these hardships.
Dad had built a shower behind a granary shortly after
he arrived at the farm that spring. It consisted of
heating a pail of water in the house, going across the
yard, climbing a ladder and pouring the water into
another pail at the top of the shower, and then climb-
ing down and washing with the knowledge that one
pail of water was all you had. But it was very wel-
come after a long. hot, dirty day of work.

The following summers and years spent on the
farm were undoubtedly the greatest and most varied
source of learning experiences I will ever have in my
life. From cutting the bush to harvesting the grain,
we worked long and hard. but it was rewarding to see
a field become clear of roots over the years. Dad
inspired us and taught us and I will always admire



him for the vision of success he had from day one,
and his never-ending enthusiasm and encourage-
ment, even though things were awfully tough at
times. He led by example and not by talk.

We saw a lot of progress over the years, with the
purchase of bigger and better equipment and better
crops and fields as we learned more. Power. tele-
phones, pavement as far as High Level, and then
television arrived, and [ often stopped to think of the
hardships and ordeals my Grandpa Raychyba must
have endured when he freighted to the Fort Vermilion
area from Peace River in order to start homesteading
this land.

Dad, Bill and I worked hard in the fields, but

perhaps the hardest work was getting the Caterpillar
out when Bill became stuck while piling bush. Then
we would cut trees in 18" lengths to put under the
tracks of the Cat in order to build a cord road onto
solid ground. We would cut for hours, carry the
lengths of wood to the Cat and put them under the
tracks. As the Cat was lowered, the wood would
disappear, and the process had to be repeated until the
Cat could be walked out. When you were hot, bone-
tired and eaten alive by mosquitoes, the day seemed
never-ending. I recall once when we worked all day
getting the Cat out, and finally after supper it broke
loose and Bill walked it on top of the brush pile. We
all decided he would go down the other side and walk
it back to the road to wait a few days for things to dry
out some more. But as soon as he came off the brush
pile on the other side, he sank again, so we went
home and started cutting wood again the next morn-
ing.
During the winters I attended university at Ed-
monton and stayed at St. John’s Institute, and later in
an apartment. These were the best times of my life
and I enjoyed the companionship and camaraderie of
many friends throughout these years. At St. John's,
the Christmas carolling, the Christmas concerts and
the exchange weekends with the Institutes in Saska-
toon and Winnipeg were the highlights of the year.
Eugene and his wife, Sandra, were very good to me
during these years by having me over for meals
countless times and lending me their car on week-
ends. Without their help and support, life would have
been much more difficult. We shared many good
times together.

I also sang with the University of Alberta Male
Chorus for the four years I attended university. The
Chorus was invited to sing at the Royal Alexandra
Hospital Nurses spring concert in 1969, and it was
there I met my future wife. She sang a duet with
another girl, and as soon as [ saw her on stage. | knew
that she was for me.

Barbara Jean Pratt is the daughter of Doug and
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1970, Dennis Fedeyko,
Graduate, University of Al-
berta, B.Ed.

Jean Pratt of Edmonton. Her father was the minister
at Highlands United Church, just a few blocks from
St. Elias Ukrainian Greek Orthodox Church that we
attended for years. Barbara was born in North Bat-
tleford and had lived in North Battleford, Saskatoon,
Dundurn, Maidstone and Edmonton. We started dat-
ing. and Barbara graduated in nursing and began
working at the Royal Alex in September, 1970. |
graduated with a B. Ed. in May of 1970 and began
teaching at the High Level Public School in Septem-
ber.

1970, Barbara Pratt, Gradu-
ate, School of Nursing, R.N.

In late September, 1970, Bill got a piece of metal
in his eye at the farm and I had to drive him to
Edmonton for an operation. While there, I proposed
to Barbara, and we were married on July 3, 1971 at
Highlands United Church with her father officiating.
We returned to High Level and the farm and moved
into Grandpa Raychyba’s house which we had fixed
up. | taught school in High Level for a total of four
years and Barbara worked at the drug store in town
and later nursed at the new High Level Hospital.

Our first child, Alison Maureen, was born In
Edmonton on May 10, 1974 and shortly after Barbara



and Alison returned from Edmonton, we moved into
a new double wide trailer (partially financed by my
paper route money) a mile south of Mom and Dad’s
and Bill and Darlene’s. We now had a telephone
(1972), CBC television (1973), and running water
(along with all of the headaches that follow in the
winter). In 1974 Barbara’s parents moved to
Hamilton, Ontario where her Dad was the minister at
Melrose United Church until December 1983. They
then moved to and presently reside in Red Deer,
Alberta where her dad is minister at Gaetz United
Church.

1984, Barbara and Dennis Fedeyko with children Michael and
Alison.

On November 26, 1976, Michael William was
born at the High Level Hospital — the first and only
grandson on the Fedeyko side of the family (Alison is
the oldest grandchild on the Pratt side). Michael
William was named after his great grandfather,
Michael Raychyba and his grandfather, William
Fedeyko, Sr.

In September, 1978 we moved to Grande Prairie
where I teach math at the Grande Prairie Composite
High School. Barbara worked until 1984 for South
Peace Planned Parenthood as an educational con-
sultant. Alison and Michael both take piano lessons
and Alison is taking Ukrainian dancing lessons with
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1984, Alison Fedeyko, member of the Ukrainian Dancing
Group.

the Troyanda Society of Ukrainian Culture. Barbara
is very actively involved with the choir and is the
organist at St. Paul’s United Church, and 1 am in-
volved with the Scout organization.

We have enjoyed visits with our parents in
Hamilton, Red Deer, and in Kelowna, B.C. very
much and try to have our children visit their cousins
and aunts and uncles as often as possible. The early
family visits and memories I have are very important
to me, and [ hope to be able to give my children as
many happy and meaningful memories as were given
to me.

Katherine (Fedeyko) and Percy Zalasky

I was born June 4, 1952, in Lamont, Alberta, a
sister to three older brothers; and I spent the better
part of my growing years trying to keep up with
them.



1954, Kathie Fedeyko.
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The family moved from St. Michael to Fort Sas-
katchewan in 1952 when I was 6 months old. My
earliest memories are of “*swimming™ in a big wash-
tub in the back yard and of my 4th birthday when Dad
brought my trike home in one of his BIG Macs. It was
about that time that Grandma and Grandpa Fedeyko
came from North Battleford for a visit, in their purple
pickup truck.

1953, Kathie and Dennis Fedeyko.

The boys played football, baseball and hockey, so
those activities came naturally to me. As a youngster
[ organized neighborhood kids in these sports and as
[ grew older, I played fastball on community teams. |
was rarely without my ball glove and also enjoyed
long summer afternoons at the pool and winters at the
skating rink. When the boys needed a “*helper,™ | was
a willing volunteer on their paper routes! Soon | had
my own route and was Fort Sask.’s first papergirl!
Piano lessons rounded out my activities: [ achieved a
grade 6 level in Royal Conservatory.

We went to church in Edmonton every Sunday.
and | recall driving through the bush to get from our
house to the highway and being able to lean out the
windows to pick saskatoon berries. How [ envied my
brothers who had to **stay home to study for exams”
and, therefore, could not go to church.



That same bush housed my brothers’ huts; one
was a two-room affair in the ground with a tin roof
(an old soda pop sign). The interior with its picture
over the doorway and broken chair is vivid to me
still. It was out of bounds to me, but once, when
Dennis had ‘*had it with me, he locked me in for a
while. I do not recall the imprisonment breaking my
spirit.

Each brother has a special place in my heart. Bill
was 13 when I was born; therefore, he was gone from
home by the time I was aware of what was going on.
He came home one day in a VW Beetle and scared
the daylights out of me because he had grown a beard
and I didn’t recognize him at all. [ used to brag about
him to my friends because he was so tall he could
touch the top of the door frame. Funny how brothers
shrink! [ remember the Christmas presents from Bill
too: one year a heart shaped locket, and one year a
doll. I was delighted to be remembered by someone
so “worldly.”

Eugene [ remember for the time he took in the
bathroom, for his cars, and for the girlfriend he
brought over to do homework with. I am sure | was
just a pesky little sister in his scheme of things.

Dennis chaperoned me at about age 5 or 6 to my
first movie, **‘Bambi.”” When the forest burned down
and the great stag came over the hill, I burst into tears
of fright and had to be taken home! Oh brother! Little
sisters!

While we lived in Fort Saskatchewan, I spent two
weeks for each of four summers at Camp Bar-V-Nok,
a Ukrainian Orthodox Church camp on Pigeon Lake.
I thrived on these group experiences. Equally enjoy-
able were the summer holidays I spent in St. Michael
with the Pankos, particularly my cousin Sonia who
was my age. Christmases were usually spent in North
Battleford with Grandma and Grandpa Fedeyko. The
sights, smells and tastes of that house are still so
clear. Uncle John Fedeyko and Aunt Alice, Doug and
Ron (Dougie and Ronnie) would come; visiting was
done mainly in the basement, there was the huge
water tank in one corner that I feared would weaken
and flood us all. I got to sleep either on the chester-
field with chairs on the open side with the chime
clock to lull me or in the basement room in the bed
with the big sag and the big feather quilt. Mornings,
these were the best because Grandma fried her eggs
in real butter!

Uncle Paul Fedeyko used to come and stay at our
house and would bring the boys John Deere minia-
ture machinery, tractors, etc. I longed for one of
those little green tractors but I guess they were still
trying to get me to play like a girl. Mom did make me
abride’s dress for my walking doll, and one rainy day
when | complained, “What can I do now?" she
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pulled it out and I loved it. But finally, one Christmas
I got my own semi with two trailers’

When I was 13, Mom and Dad went up to the
farm in High Level for a weekend. Dennis and Bill
were there, and Eugene was in Grande Prairie with
his fiancee. It was my first time at home alone, in
charge of the house. That weekend, of all weekends,
it burned down. Luckily. I had decided to sleep at a
friend’s house for the night and so, was out of danger.
There were no phones at the farm and I remember
what a time we had getting hold of everyone con-
cerned via the RCMP. In retrospect, the fire made
moving a lot easier because a lot of the junk was
gone. But the flames came up into my closet so 13
years of my ‘*good junk™ was also gone!

We moved to the farm right after the fire so it was
a long time until September for me to get back into
school and make some new friends. I had always
liked school, but the principal at Rocky Lane, Mr.
George Meyer, took a special interest in me and
showed me I could excel academically if I chose to. |
did very well in my subjects at Rocky Lane and also
in all sports there; volleyball, basketball, and track
and field. I was quickly accepted by fellow students
as my Raychyba grandparents had homesteaded and
helped settle the area, so the family was well known
to the people. Some of them even said my manner-
isms, speech and reading were just like Grandma Eva
Raychyba’s who used to read the newspapers to
friends and neighbors.

During my high school years, I spent two sum-
mers at St. Andrew’s College in Winnipeg studying
Ukrainian language and culture. Lots of friends from
across Canada and the United States were made there
and [ served as President of the Students’ Union for
the second summer.

Since Rocky Lane or High Level had no grade 12
at the time, I had to go to Fairview for one year and
stayed at the College there.

In 1970, I entered the University of Alberta in the
Faculty of Medical Laboratory Science. For 3 of my 4
university years, I stayed at St. John’s Institute and
shared my life with the Ukrainian Orthodox Youth
there. I was active in sports and drama and toured
small towns in Alberta with the annual concert. My
second year there I had the distinction of being
elected the first female president of the Students’
Union of the Institute; that same year, they had their
first female rector, my cousin, Myroslava Fodchuk.
It was about this time that I spotted a young man who
took my fancy and whom I came to love and respect
as a very good friend. Percy Zalasky. son of Nick and
Nettie Zalasky of Derwent, Alberta, left for Bar-
bados for a two-year stint with CUSO in 1972 and so



1974, Katherine Fedeyko,
B.Sc., University of Alberta.

began the two most glorious years of letter writing of
my life!

In 1974 I graduated from the University of Alber-
ta with a B.Sc. in Medical Laboratory Science, and a
R.T. (Registered Technologist Certificate). | had
worked summers and nights at the University of
Alberta Hospital in the Biochemistry Lab and really
liked the fast pace and stress of the work there. In
September of that year, 4 months after graduation and
2 weeks after Percy's return from Barbados, I left for
Europe with 3 other girls and travelled around En-
gland, Scotland, and the Continent for 3> months.
Most of our time was spent in Germany and we still
have friends there; but we also spent a lot of time in
Holland, Percy’s mother’s homeland, and in Italy,
where his grandfather had retired to. We flew home
from the Canary Islands and 1975 saw me back at the
University Alberta Hospital working for a living
again. In February of 1976, Percy and I were married
at St. Andrew’s Ukrainian Orthodox Church in Ed-
monton and spent our two-day honeymoon at Elk
Island National Park cross-country skiing. Percy
taught High School Math at Queen Elizabeth Com-
posite High School in Edmonton. I quit working for
the summer of 1976 and we were off to the Olympics
in our little red Vega (Vera Vega). We visited CUSO
friends in Nova Scotia on the same trip and returned
to Edmonton after 62 weeks with a genuine lobster
trap on our roof, much more Canadian, and much
more pregnant!

Amy was born on April 28, 1977 in Edmonton,
the joy of our lives and the first grandchild for Nick
and Netti and first great-grandchild for " Opa’ Auke
Vander Linde in Italy. Baba and Dido Fedeyko were
old hands at grandparenting by now; Amy was #5 for
them. Amy was a seasoned camper at 2 months of
age and had even been backpacked into the Opal
Hills in Jasper National Park. We moved to our pres-
ent home in St. Albert from our rented duplex in

1984, Percy and Katherine Zalasky with Amy, Erin, Audrey and
Heather.

Edmonton shortly before Erin Katherine was born on
March 28, 1979 in Edmonton. My second career as a
mother and homemaker was firmly entrenched now.

Erin endeared herself to us at birth by being
normal after a breech delivery. Poor Opa in ltaly had
sent a blue cape for his great-grandson — it matches
Erin’s Dutch blue eyes beautifully!

Audrey Christine was born September 17, 1980,
in St. Albert and so as not to be tagged as just the 3rd
of 3, gave us a harrowing experience at the age of 4
months. She had been admitted to hospital with
pneumonia and 1%2 days later when | went in to feed
her, I found her convulsing and in apparent respirato-
ry and cardiac arrest. Luckily she was resuscitated
and after 4 weeks in hospital, had recovered. She still
holds a special place in our hearts after that little
escapade.

Percy moved out to Paul Kane High School in St.
Albert in January of 1981 and is still teaching High
School Math there.

Heather Maureen was born during a nurses’ strike
on February 28, 1982. Opa, again, had sent blue 10
his great-grandson and again, we appeased him with
pictures of his Dutch blue eyes in Heather!

With our family complete, Percy and I are begin-
ning to get back into activities we’d always enjoyed.
We both love winter and snow and pray for wild
snowstorms. Whenever the chance comes up we're
cross-country skiing around St. Albert, or out to EIK



Island Park or Devon. We hope to get some Alpine
cross-country skiing in soon. We like playing tennis
and camping (tent camping in the woods), dabble at
bridge, and are scrabble fanatics! Percy has been
running middle distances for a couple of years and is
aiming for a marathon in 1984.

Percy and I are active in St. Albert United Church
and the children attend Sunday School there. We
have a real sense of community in St. Albert after
living here for five years, and meeting people
through the church, school, our babysitting Coop
and neighborhood. We also have a foster son in
Indonesia we support through the Foster Parents’
Plan and hope to raise our children to be socially
conscious. I am a childbirth educator and teach pre-
natal classes one night a week and am planning to
attain certification through the ICEA (International
Childbirth Education Association). Weaving is a
hobby I'm finally able to take up now that the kids are
a bit older and I have a floor loom downstairs that |
love to spend time on.

We're fortunate to have teachers’ holidays and in
the summer of 1983 we rented a tent trailer and
loaded the kids into our VW Van for a trip to Nova
Scotia and Prince Edward Island! It was a glorious
72 weeks, especially with 4 children under 6 years
of age. Happily, all 4 were walking and 3 of the 4
were potty-trained. We saw playgrounds and swim-
ming pools and beaches and seashells we would
never have seen without them! The accommodations
were only for sleeping. Heather liked Percy’s or my
chest best for that, and we were outdoors any other
time. We averaged 250 miles per day and tried to
have camp set up before 2 p.m. It was such a good
time, in fact, that we're planning a trip for 6 to
Europe in 1986, our 10th Anniversary.

The summer of 1985 is, of course, reserved for
the Fedeyko reunion. It will be fun to hear *'Good-
ness, the last time | saw you, you were only this
high!™, to renew old relationships, and make new
friends! I still have a little gold spoon Mary Fedeyko
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Humen gave me one Christmas when [ was very little
and very impressed with being remembered by such
a lovely gift!

And, to conclude, child-mother-grandmother we
have almost come full circle! My mother shook her
head and wrung her hands over my bedroom'’s state of
disorder; my grandmother favored us with candy
whenever we visited and Mother said ““They don’t
need it.”” Now I have four daughters 1 wring my
hands over and Baba Fedeyko always has candy and
gum from Kelowna — and goodness knows — they
don’t need it!

Mary (Fedeyko) and Peter Paulson
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1956, Mary and Peter Paulson.

My earliest memories are of a small two room
house, rough, unpainted, and weather-beaten on the
outside. I was born there on December 5, 1912.

Krydor was our nearest little town, about 4 miles
away, and our nearest neighbors were Skwaras and
Mulkas. It was with their children that I played dur-
ing the warm days of summer.



1919, John and Mary Fedeyko.

[ recall the thrill of my first car ride in about 1920.
The car had a folding top with curtains around the
sides that were put up when it rained. At times Dad
used a crank to start it.

I started school in Cut Knife in 1921. Brother
Bill, cousin Edward and [ stayed at Aunt Alexandra’s
since there was no school near our farm. Mrs. King-
ston was my first teacher.

The following year Dad got us a horse and broth-
ers Bill and John and I drove to Wardenville School,
about 5 miles away. In 1924 Wembley School was
built less than half a mile away from our home. What
a delightful change! Miss Raymond was our teacher
for part of the time I attended Wembley.

| attended the Hafford High School for Grades 10
and 11 and boarded with Uncle Tony and Ann Hor-
bay, all the time working part time at the Hafford
Telephone Central office, the telephone exchange
that Uncle Tony operated. Cousin Mary Parchoma
roomed with me and I enjoyed her company as well
as that of Ann Pluta and Nettie Zypchen.

Mr. E. Sklenka was my unforgettable High
School teacher. We all admired him.

Peter Paulson and I were married in 1934 in
Saskatoon. We moved around to places where Peter
could get a job as a car mechanic — Saskatoon,
Raymore, Allan. and Cut Knife, in that order. Our
two sons, Kenneth, born in 1935, and Raymond,
born in 1936. started school in Raymore.

1941, Raymond and Ken Paulson.

Our family tragedy occurred in 1947 when our
son Raymond died at the age of eleven. A malignant
brain tumor was the cause of death.

Peter lost sight in one eye following an occupa-
tional accident. The sight disability somewhat nar-
rowed his ability to carry on as a mechanic; however,
he was able to work at odd jobs whenever work was
plentiful. I have worked steadily since we moved to
Cut Knife in 1947.

Kenneth attended school in Cut Knife until his
graduation. It was a happy occasion in 1956 when he
married Denise Thallatt. They have a family of 4
children.

I enjoyed playing softball in the summer and
skating in the winter. We travelled whenever we



could afford it and the boys liked visiting my parents
on the farm where they would stay several days and
longer during the summer.

After a lengthy illness Peter died in 1974. Person-
al adjustments had to be made and [ kept on with my
job.

1962, L-R: Ken and Doug Paulson, great-grandmother
Fedeyko and Mary (Fedeyko) Paulson.
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1982, Mary Paulson with son Ken.

I’m over 70 years old now and still work at a job
I"ve held for the last 22 years in the Furniture Depart-
ment at Finley's Hardware Store in Cut Knife.

I am now living in a Senior Citizen’s Apartment,
in modern living quarters, very comfortable for a
single person, and [ am enjoying it very much. [ own
and drive my own car and enjoy going for country
drives with my close friend Mrs. Sandberg. I also
like going to Bingo in Cut Knife. My sister Ste-
phania’s death in 1983 saddened me greatly; however,
life must go on.

I'm looking forward to our family reunion in
1985,

1982, Mary Paulson, Katherine holding Anthony and Ken
1947, Peter Paulson and John Fedeyko, Saskatoon, Sask. Paulson. Four generations.



John and Alice Fedeyko

1949, Our Wedding, John and Alice (Langley) Fedeyko.

I was born at Krydor, Sask. at my parental home
on April 27, 1916. When I was three years old, my
parents sold the farm at Krydor and moved to Cut
Knife where they purchased land in the Wembley
district, eight and a half miles north west of the town
of Cut Knife. It was here that they farmed until
retirement to North Battleford in 1949.

When I was seven years old [ started school four
miles west of our home at a school named Warden-
ville. Bill, Mary and myself travelled by horse and
buggy. Our first horse was an old plug that didn’t
move very fast, so we had to start out early every
morning. Then Dad got us a horse that was real
snappy and always at school earlier then anyone else.

In 1924, Wembley school was built a quarter of a
mile from our home. We were able to go home at
lunch hour and got back in time to play fast ball or
football. In the years that followed I had a lot of fun
playing fast ball and hockey. Our hockey rink was
just north of the house. In those winters there was lots
of snow, so all the boys in the district would get
together to prepare the rink for hockey practice and
skating. There was a family on every half section in
our district so there were lots of kids around. At one

time there were forty-four children attending
Wembley school.

At the age of sixteen my school days came to an
end and | stayed home to help my father with the
farming. That was in the “dirty thirties”™ and the
years of the depression. There was very little money
to go around in those days.

Getting back to our community skating rink |
remember having a meeting to discuss our finances.
We only had seven dollars for lumber. My friend
Norman and myself went to St. Walburg to get more
lumber for the rink. It was eighty miles from home
and we travelled by team and sleigh. Farmers were
very good to us along the way and would put us up for
the night and give us meals.

In the summer time our neighbors would truck
the ball team within a twenty mile radius for only one
dollar and a half. Gas was cheap in those days. but
expensive in another way.

1937 was a hot and dry summer. Dad put in the
crop, but at that time there were no weed sprays. The
weeds got ahead of the grain and choked out the crop.
Harvesting proved almost futile. There was only
enough grain harvested to seed the next years’ crop.

After the harvest was completed and very little
money coming in, four of my friends and myself
went to the Peace River area for harvest work. For
stookers we were paid one dollar and fifty cents per
day and for threshing two dollars per day. For doing
odd jobs around the yard we were paid one dollar per
day. It wasn’t hard to figure out that no one was going
to get rich quick in those days. I worked there until
the middle of December. The farmer got me a cattle
car from Grande Prairie to Edmonton to look after
the cattle. In that way I wouldn’t have to pay any fare.
When 1 got off the train at Paynton I was seventeen
miles from home so | had to walk through six inches
of snow, carrying a suitcase. I left Paynton at seven
o'clock and got home at two o’clock. I was twenty-
one years of age at that time.

That winter | stayed home and helped Dad break
in six broncos (horses) that had never had halters on.
Some of them were very mean, like cats. They would
either bite or kick, so you really had to watch your-
self.

Dad and I farmed with horses until 1939. That
year Dad traded some of his horses off and bought a
John Deere tractor, two cylinder and a one-way seven
and a half feet. This machine would plow and seed at
the same time. It was my job to seed and work the
land. During my spare time I would do some truck-
ing. I remember hauling one hundred and twenty-
five thousand bushels of grain one year. I seemed like
a lot then but over the years it wasn’t that much per
day.



In 1939 World War II broke out. I was called to
report to the Army. After the medical, [ was declared
unfit, so during the winter months I worked as a
civilian at airports. At that time wages were sixty-
five cents per hour. When I first started I went to
Weyburn. There were four hundred men and I was
chosen to brace hangers that were built before but
needed extra bracing. During the rest of the war years
| stayed home and helped Dad farm. Things began to
pick up as far as prices were concerned for the farm-
er.

Being away from home part of the time I began to
think that farming was not that bad after all. In 1948 1
met a very nice girl by the name of Alice Langley. In
the summer of 1949 we were married and started full
time farming. Dad and Mother moved to North Bat-
tleford that same year. Through our union there were
two boys within three years. Family life sometimes
runs into difficulties. Alice became seriously ill and
practically blind at one time, but thanks to Doctors
and their knowledge she was able to get her eyesight
back. The boys also became ill before their school
years began. There was always lots of worries but in
time with Doctors’ care everything turned out for the
better.

1958, Alice and John, sons Doug and Ron.

The years have gone by very quickly. Our boys
have grown up. Ron has married and is working at
Spruce Grove, Alberta. Doug is at home and looking
after the farm, so now I guess I can just call myself
“hired help”.
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1979, John and Alice Fedeyko. 30th Wedding Anniversary.

Hopefully and soon Alice and myself will be able
to leave the farm and take things a little easier.

May we all have a most memorable time in 1985.
Alice Fedeyko, 1921

My father’s parents, with a family of five children
(four boys and one girl) immigrated to Canada in
1893, from Stoke Newington, London, England.
Dad (Wilfred James) spent his eighth birthday in the
immigration hall in Regina.

My mother (Mary Eliza) and Dad were married at
the Carter residence, Aulac, New Brunswick, Febru-
ary 1, 1921. They honeymooned at Halifax and
Montreal, returning to my father’s farm at Richard,
where they lived for forty-five years. My Mother’s
father's history dates back to 1774 in Nova Scotia.
My grandmother Carter’s history dates back to 1389,
related to Lord Lumley who owned Lumley Castle,
England. John Lumley of a family of nine immi-
grated from Yorkshire, England in 1772.




By 1928, there were four children, three brothers
and myself, I, being the oldest. My mother informed
me that [ arrived in November, twenty degrees below
zero and a howling blizzard.

In 1924, Mom took Victor (known as Vic) and
myself to visit our grandparents in New Brunswick,
via train. I was three and Vic eighteen months. Ap-
parently, I rebelled in Winnipeg, refusing to get on
the train. My mother’s parents never got to Saskatch-
ewan for a visit and passed away during the thirties.
During the same year, Mom and Dad purchased a
cottage at Meeting Lake at Aumack’s resort. Each
year until we were grown up we spent a month to six
weeks in July and August at Meeting Lake, learned to
swim, handle a boat and met a lot of children our age
from the surrounding areas. There was never a dull
moment. If we weren’t swimming we were playing
softball, horseshoes and golf or fishing.

Having three brothers made me quite a tomboy.
Housework and cooking were *‘taboo’ as far as [ was
concerned. I would much rather be with the boys,
skating, skiing, playing hockey, softball, baseball
and even rugby.
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1921, Threshing on the Wilfred Langley farm.

I started school at Etonia (two miles south of our
home) at Easter when [ was six. The teacher boarded
at our place. Off to school we would go by horse and

buggy.
In the fall of that same year I started school at

-

1928, on the way to school, Vic, Fred and Alice Langley. Buggy
powered by “Tinker".
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Richard. The following year Dad took me to an
Auction sale at Maymont. There was a shetland pony
(Tinker) complete with harness and cart to be auc-
tioned. After some hasty bidding the pony became
mine. When [ was eight Vic and I had transportation
to school and as the years passed. Fred and Howard
also accompanied us. We would also pick up other
children along the way.

In winter we would drive team and open cutter.
Those were the days when temperatures dropped to
forty and fifty below zero. We dressed warmly for
winter as my mother insisted. We had to wear long
underwear, black wool stockings and I wore blue-
lined bloomers. When I reached the age of twelve |
rebelled and refused to wear long underwear any
longer, but my mother insisted. I hated lumpy stock-
ings and so cut off the legs of the underwear. When
wash day came along my underwear was discovered
and 1 was punished severely. More underwear was
ordered for me from T. Eaton Co. Ltd., however, |
repeated the above, regardless of punishment and
nothing more was said.

School days were supposed to be the best days of
our lives, so my dad quoted, but as the years pro-
gressed we all began to wonder whatever made him
say such a thing. We thought lessons were a bore and
recesses and noon hours were just great. As we grew
older we began to realize that learning was the most
important part of our lives. We took part in debates,
oratory, sang in school choruses at music festivals in
North Battleford. For three years in a row our group
won the highest points in the school chorus thus
winning a Shield with our names among others en-
graved on it. It hung in the classroom the remaining
years of our education. | have often wondered where
it went after the school closed.

When I was eight years old it was decided that |
should learn to play the piano and I was very much in
favor of it. Each week Mom and 1 would drive to
Maymont in the old 27 Chevrolet. Music lessons
were one dollar a week. My idea of learning to play
the piano soon was a disaster. I had to practice every-
day. Many a time Mom would chase me to the piano
with a broom. Each year as I progressed practices
were longer. I remember practicing an hour before
leaving for school and two hours after school, be-
sides homework. | entered music festivals at North
Battleford always coming second. A little Jewish girl
was always at the top. According to the adjudicator
my problem was the index finger sticking up on my
left hand. At fourteen years of age lessons increased
in price and the great depression arose, so I had to
forfeit my music. At the time | was very jubilant at
not taking any more music, but today I am sorry at



not keeping it up. My education in music was under
the directory of the Toronto Conservatory.

Spring was a happy time of year and there was
always Track and Field meet at school. Many schools
in the surrounding area took part. The final event was
always at Maymont. My first year of competition was
when | was seven years old and 1 won the highest
points in my age group. | won a book called, * Alice
in Wonderland™. After that year it was decided to
give out crests to each individual with the highest
points in each age group. I still have the crests for
1935, 1936 and 1938. One high jump competition
stands out in my mind. One of the girls broke her leg
while jumping. We didn"t have soft landings in those
days. just a sand pile to land in.

1945, Fred Langley with sister Alice.

Another favourite sport of mine was softball.
When Sports Days rolled around every year our
school team was always there, anything to get away
from school. I remember the catcher and 1 euham_-
ing places at a Sports Day at Maymont. (I was always
the pitcher). The batter hit a fowl ball and of course
the ball hit me in the eye. There were no masks or
pads then. My eye literally turned green. On arrival
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home. my mother took one look at me and exclaimed
“You are a mess.”” Regardless, we all got ready and
went back to the dance.

Harvesting was also a favorite time of year for we
voung folks, but not for my mother. Many men were
hired for binding and stooking the crop. then the
threshing. The Case steam engine and separator,
cook car and caboose went to each of the four Lang-
ley families to thresh the crops. Ten men drove racks.
picking up and unloading sheaves into the separator.
There were also eight grain wagons plus two spike
pitchers for unloading the sheaves. The steam engine
needed water and fuel so another man was needed.
The grain haulers ate at the house and the rest ate in
the cook car. Needless to say a cook was also hired.
Nothing was so exciting to we kids as to see the
machinery coming up the south road to harvest our
crop. We were never allowed to go to the fields on our
own. We used to go out at noon to blow the whistle or
with Mom at lunchtime. That whistle was heard all
over the country. The steam engine had a language of
its own. One toot meant the stook wagons were
lagging behind, two toots the water supply was get-
ting low and three toots for meals. As of now the old
steam engine is a Museum piece at the North Bat-
tleford museum.

The Mayfield and Douglas Municipality
(Richard, Speers and surrounding areas) had a farm
girls’ and boys’ camp, similar to 4-H today. Each year
farm girls and boys from far and wide entered the
North Battleford Exhibition for judging livestock,
etc. for boys and cooking, canning, sewing, knitting
and crotcheting for girls. All our work was judged by
an official from the University. I remember winning
first for canned tomatoes, rhubarb and a pair of hand-
knit socks, plus honorary mention for my record
book. I still have that record book. My brother Vic
won the gold watch, donated by T. Eaton Co., for the
outstanding fellow of the day. While Vic was sta-
tioned in Egypt during the second World War and
sitting in a bus with his arm overhanging the window
an Arab tore his watch from his wrist and ran off. It
was futile to go after the Arab as they all wore the
same garb, thus the end of the gold watch.

School was getting tiresome at Richard so [ per-
suaded my parents to let me go to the Convent of Sion
at Prince Albert for grade eleven. | was accepted and
boarded at the Convent. What a strange atmosphere!
Everything was so different and how homesick I got!
I was absolutely sick. I couldn’t eat, I couldn’t sleep
nor could I study. | finally got permission to phone
home to ask my folks to come and get me. Mom
replied they would come and get me in two weeks.
Clever Mom! In two weeks I was over my homesick-
ness. | loved the Sisters. They were so meticulous



and such exceptional teachers. Their hearts and souls
were for all of us, and along with it exceptional
disciplinarians. We were never allowed to go out
alone during the week but could go out on Sundays to
the church of our choice and stay out for the after-
noon. Their meals were a disaster. We’d get pork and
beans for breakfast, rhubarb or prunes. They made
their own saurkraut and sausage. Sometimes for Sun-
day evening we'd get chicken for supper but very
seldom. At the end of the term I was recommended in
four subjects to finish Grade eleven. 1 was happy
when the school year ended and no way could Mom
or Dad persuade me to go back to the Convent for
Grade twelve, the biggest terror of my life. Math was
my worst subject, yet Algebra, Trigonometry and
Geometry | loved.

The following year I enrolled at Success Business
College. Somehow I could not get into the swing of it
and after four months of it I gave it up as a bad job. I
returned home to help Mom in the house and assist
Dad with chores and field work as it was then that the
war broke out and the boys had joined the services.

In 1943 | enlisted in the R.C.A.E Mom was
horrified as that meant there were 3 of us in the
service. After passing tests and physicals I was ac-
cepted and went to Rockcliffe for basic training.
There was a whole trainload of us. This is where we
met people from all over Canada and all nationalities.
In the four weeks of basic training we learned disci-
pline, respect for N.C.O.'s (non commissioned of-
ficers) and Officers. We drilled each day, went
through innoculations and were fitted for uniforms
and comfortable shoes. There was no end to in-
noculations. My arm became very sore and a hard
lump appeared. On our last needle, when my turn
arrived I asked the Medical officer to please not put
the needle in that lump. She just looked at me and
“bang™ right into that spot. After that my respect for
her was zero. Many of the girls would faint on the
spot. We were not treated as ladies, just one of the
Armed Forces. Only three girls went missing during
Basic Training. Whether they were ever caught or not
[ never knew. As we were well drilled to marching,
physical education and in shape we were then sent to
Toronto for four more weeks of learning our trade. |
chose Motor Transport, so we had to learn the ins and
outs of a motor vehicle, whether it be truck, car or
ambulance. We were given driving lessons through
Toronto, Hamilton and Buffalo. After passing all our
tests we had a choice of what part of the country we
wished to go to. I chose Saskatoon, but was posted to
Davidson Elementary Flying and Training school.
Our jobs were to drive vehicles for the Officers,
trucking for picking up freight, picking up laundry at
the airport, garbage at the hangar, and picking up
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members of the forces moving to the airport or going
to other stations. We were not allowed to associate
with officers or Senior N.C.O.’s. If we were to pick
up and wait until he or she arrived, get out of the car,
walk around to the passenger side, open the door and
salute them before they got in the car. Some would
salute back. Most of them were very polite and there
was conversation. Others were down right rude and
sarcastic. We were on night duty also (just until
midnight). I remember one girl on duty had to report
to the Officer’s Mess at ten o’clock to take the Com-
manding Officer to his home in Davidson. She sat
and waited in that car until two a.m. waiting for him.
When he did show up he was two sheets in the wind.
After that the girl applied for her discharge and got it.

The airport closed at Davidson, (about a year and
a half after I got there) and personnel and supplies
were moved to Yorkton. | detested the place and
applied for a posting to Vancouver. My posting came
in but to Portage la Prairie. From then on I went to
Moncton for reposting and ended up at Dartmouth.
I'll always remember by trip from Halifax to
Dartmouth. I got terribly seasick. I was a bit dis-
gusted with Dartmouth as it did nothing but rain.
Harvest leave had come into being so I applied for
and got two weeks harvest leave without pay and free
transportation. Off to home T went to help with har-
vesting and hauling grain. While at home on my
leave I received a telegram saying that my discharge
had come through and to return to Dartmouth imme-
diately.

V1] Day at Davidson, May 9, 1945 was one of the
greatest celebrations | ever witnessed. Planes aero-
bated through the sky while ticker-tapes, confetti and
heaven only knows what all went on all day into the
early hours of the next morning. Everybody was one
happy family.

Not knowing what to do with myself after return-
ing home from the forces, I decided to go back to
school. Through the Department of Veterans Affairs
I completed high school and Teachers’ college (then
known as Normal school). My first school was Grey
School, south of home and I boarded with a lovely
elderly couple. They are both gone now. Then I went
to Willow Heights but resigned at Christmas. I didn’t
like it there. After Christmas I journeyed to Edmon-
ton and stayed with friends. While there 1 decided it
may be an experience to teach in Northern Alberta.
My first interview was with an old adjutant to the
Commanding Officer at Davidson. He was in charge
of Development of Schools in Northern Alberta. On
explaining what kind of a life it would be in the north
(it wasn't a pretty picture) I excused myself and said
that I would let him know next day (my intentions)-



After thinking it over that evening I called him next
day and returned home.

" While 1 was teaching at Willow Heights my girl
friend taught at Lindequist. How well I remember an
event that was to change my whole life. On this
parliculur night [ had just washed my hair, had it in
curlers and getting my lessons ready for nextday, as a
car drove into the yards the man of the house went out
to investigate and on coming back into the house he
announced that someone wanted to see me. | asked
him who it was and he replied, *I don’t know. Just
some Frenchman.” On going out to the car, | dis-
covered it was my girl friend with her boy friend and
John. whom | had never met. That was the beginning
of our romance. Some Frenchman!! And it took
awhile to find out that his name was Fedeyko. That
winter John drove his 1947 Ford sedan to Vancouver
and sold it there.

[n the spring of 1948 John and [ became engaged.
[ remember my first visit to his mother and dad’s
place (where we live now). Not only were his Mother
and Dad there but half of the rest of the family also.

On applying for Dufferin school in 1948, I was
accepted. I became acquainted with many fine peo-
ple in the Cut Knife area, and liked the district very
much.

John was always busy, hauling grain, helping his
dad at the farm and hauling gravel. He used to haul
Indians to the Sports Days and [ would go along with
him when there was no school.

In July, 1949 we were married at Richard and
honeymooned at Calgary, Banff, Lake Louise and
Jasper.

We lived in the house known as the summer
house on his dad’s farm. When Mother and Dad
moved to North Battleford the fall of 1949 we moved
into the other home comprised of four rooms with no
clothes closets or cupboards. We lived there for six-
teen years. For eight years we rented the farm.

John and I have two sons, Ronald John and Doug-
las Anthony of whom we are very proud.

We too had a threshing crew at first, but not as
many men and the tractor worked the separator.

In 1951 John bought his first combine at Baldwin-
ton from Mr. Veitch. Everyone was excited about it
and went to meet him, including Dad and Ron, alittle
over a year old.

As the years progressed our acres increased and
combines got larger, plus other machinery.

The highlight of our married life was building our
own home in 1966. At the beginning there was so
much space, cupboards, closets and everything.
Now all that space is running over.

~ Ron and Lois were married in 1979. Doug is still
with us and renting the farm.
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John worked hard during his life and still does.
This is one reason for us being where we are today.

Ronald and Lois Fedeyko
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1979, Our Wedding Day. Ron and Lois Fedeyko.

I was born on October 10, 1950 at Cut Knife,
Saskatchewan to John and Alice Fedeyko. Although
the first few years of my life escape my memory I do
remember attending Wembley school for the first 3
years of my education.

Wembley was a one room country school situated
in a grove of maple trees and was less than a quarter
mile from the farmstead where | lived. Being this
close, I was allowed to go home for dinner. The
teacher for these three years was Herb Duvall and
memories of him, the school and my fellow school
mates shine brightly. Weiner roasts and nature hikes
to the creek northeast of the school were plentiful
during the summer and I remember an instance when
Mr. Duvall organized us into a posse to search for his
son after he had thrown sand in the water pail. In
December it was time to start rehearsing for the
Christmas concert which everyone looked forward
to. Another instance which stands out very clearly
and could have been very serious happened one
spring while I was attending Wembley school. Dad,
Mom, Doug and I were to attend a slide showing by
people who were missionaries overseas. However,
prior to this Doug and I decided to eat some clean
wheat Dad had stored in a granary. Doug ate very
sparingly while I ate my fill and within a couple of
hours I was very ill. Needless to say, the grain had



been treated and was to be seeded. It was also at this
age that my mechanical aptitude began to show. |
would “borrow™ some of Dad’s tools and proceed to
“fix" machinery which was parked in the yard.
There was one instance when I was placed on Dad’s
black list. This was the time when he was going to
prepare the combine for harvest and the engine
wouldn’t start. You guessed it!! I had been “fixing™
the motor and the engine starter was in pieces.

1957-1958 was the final year for Wembley school
and in the fall my brother Doug. who was entering
grade one, and myself, boarded a 10 passenger
school bus with our fellow Wembley school mates
and headed for Cut Knife.

It wasn’t easy being suddenly injected into a
school attended by 200 or more students as compared
to Wembley where there were about fifteen of us.
However, the first year of school in Cut Knife was
made much easier by the teacher  had. Her name was
Mrs. Davenport and she had a very genuine concern
for each and every one of her students.

1962, Ron and Doug Fedeyko, Wolf Cubs.

At about the age of 101 joined the Boy Scouts and
every Wednesday night Mom or Dad would take
Doug and I to Cut Knife for the meetings. The
highlight of every year was the summer camp held at
a lake northeast of Cut Knife. Rainfall during these
outings was dreaded as the tents usually let more
water in than they kept out. However, this was all
taken in stride and good fun. The lake was excellent
with its soft golden sand beaches and everyone en-
Joyed the daily swimming and water sports.

Atabout 13 years of age I joined the beef division
of the Wilbert4-H club. Meetings were held monthly
at Wardenville school where we were taught public
speaking, care of animals and proper showmanship
of cattle. While a member of the 4-H club I never had

any grand champion animals but they always stood
very high in the placings. There was a year in which |
won the trophy for judging beef cattle and was quite
proud as [ was competing against members who were
much older than I was. It was always sad when the
animal which we had cared for all year had to be
shown and then shipped to the packing plant. Doug
was also in the 4-H at the same time | was and I shall
always remember the first steer he ever had which
was unmistakingly named ““Charger”. The name
gives the nature of the beast completely away and |
have to tell what happened when it came Charger’s
time to leave the truck in Cut Knife during the 4-H
achievement day. I unloaded my docile beast first and
was on my way to the rink when I realized Doug and
Dad were raising a big commotion behind me. It was
quite a sight to see those two tripping over each
other’s feet while at the same time trying to restrain a
mad animal. He was finally cornered about four
hours later and taken straight to the stockyard in
North Battleford.

During my time at home in my younger years our
travelling of any great distance was limited. 1 do
remember a couple of trips to Fort Saskatchewan and
one to Long Lake with Uncle Bill, Aunt Justine and
cousins where an enjoyable time was spent fishing
and visiting. I guess it was here that I caught my first
fish.

During my summer holidays and in the fall |
enjoyed helping out on the farm except for the root
picking which was nearly all done by hand. If there
was ever a job which made me grit my teeth because
of the intense dislike for it, the job had to be picking
roots. This came about in the sixties when Dad
bought a half section of land from Mr. Turner and
with it came one hundred and fifty acres or more of
bush.

My favorite part of the year was, and still is,
harvest season. From the time I have my first recol-
lections of the farm I always enjoyed riding on the
combine. Whenever the opportunity presents itself |
still enjoy helping Doug and Dad on the farm. Many
moments during harvest season stand out: one of the
most enjoyable experiences was watching Grandpa
Fedeyko haul grain from the combine to the granary.
He had a half ton truck which would hold exactly one
dump from the combine back then. He would load
and be off and always managed to return for another
before Dad had the hopper filled. I guess harvest
season was a special time for Grandpa also as he
always seemed to want to be on hand to clean and
patch granaries or do whatever other job he could
find.

Dad, Doug and myself always enjoyed getting
out for a duck shoot in the fall. Often we imagined we



had anti-aircraft guns as the ducks would sometimes
be a thousand feet in the air and we were sull firing at
them and at the same time being amazed at the extra
speed these birds would suddenly find. Doug and |
accompanied Grandfather Langley once when he was
80 and still active as an outdoorsman. Although we
never got any geese during this outing I was amazed
at the excitement Grandad showed with the anticipa-
tion of the shoot.

1979, Doug, John, Alice and Ron Fedeyko.

Upon completion of my school years in Cut
Knife I developed what is known as a restless spirit
and with all my travels there were many jobs. | would
never attempt to list them all, however they include
working underground in the mine, truck driving,
working my way to Florida with a carnival, and
spending a few years in the Air Force. Most recently |
have sold real estate and for the last 3 years I have
been working towards a journeyman’s certificate as a
refrigeration mechanic.

In 1976 1 met Lois and her son Anthony. It all
came about while 1 was working for a farmer at
Drayton Valley. This farmer bought his wife a flower
shop and having had no previous experience in this
type of venture he decided to hire Lois to help her get
Started. After a courtship of approximately two and a
half years we were married July 7, 1979 at the United
Church in Cut Knife, Saskatchewan.

We presently reside in Spruce Grove, Alberta and
are kept busy with our daily activities. Lois has a
flower shop which demands about twelve hours of
her time per day; I am employed by Edmonton Re-
frigeration and Anthony is kept busy with school and
playing football and hockey. He is quite talented in
hockey and we have enjoyed watching him partici-
Pate in many games.

At the close of my 33 years of history I am
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1982, L-R: Anthony Fedeyko, Dave Porter, Stephania
Schneider, Lois and Ron Fedeyko.

eagerly anticipating being reunited with relatives
whom I know and those | have never had the oppor-
tunity to meet.

Doug Fedeyko

I arrived into this world on the eighth day of
January, nineteen hundred and fifty-three at six
o’clock p.m. in the Cut Knife Hospital, in Cut Knife,
Saskatchewan. According to my mother I weighed
three pounds and fourteen ounces, and lived in an
incubator for six weeks.

Before | started my school years in Cut Knife, I
went to Wembley school every second Friday in the
afternoons. All that was done in these afternoons was



1961, Doug with grandparents Jacob and Katerina Fedeyko.

art work, or to just sit and listen to what the teacher
had to say. Sometimes the whole class would hike
down to the creek north of Wembley School and have
a wiener roast. Wembley school is just across the
road from where our house is situated right now.

I remember on one occasion while at this school,
myself and two or three friends became hungry. |
invited them over to the house to have something to
eat. Mom and Dad were away at the time, but we
found a jar of cookies which Mom had made. We ate
all of these cookies. In a few days some visitors came
over and Mom was going to serve coffee and cookies.
When she opened the cookie jar there were none left
to serve. She couldn’t figure out where they all went.

In September of nineteen fifty-nine, I started my
grade one at Cut Knife Elementary School. There
was quite a difference from walking across the road
to Wembley School for a half aday and then going by
bus to Cut Knife for the entire day. As the school year
went on, each student had a small job to do before the
end of the day. My job for one week was to clean the
black boards at three o’clock each day. To reach the
top of the black board I had to stand on a chair. On
one occasion the chair slipped, I fell down and cut
my chin. My teacher had to take me to the hospital
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and | had to have six stitches in my chin. I still have
the scar today.

In about grade six, noon hour was very boring,
especially in the winter months when there were no
sports to participate in. One day myself and my
fellow classmates called a meeting with the princi-
pal. We wanted to make a skating rink beside the
school. The principal gave us a flat no as an answer.
He said we didn 't have the facilities to make arink. A
week later we called another meeting and tried to
convince him that it would take very little knowledge
to hook a hose to the fire hydrant, and we would have
all the facilities we would need to make a rink. if the
weather man would co-operate. Again he refused us.
[ wrote a letter to the superintendent and he said there
would be nothing wrong with making a rink beside
the school. This was my first experience in getting
people together to organize something like this.

May was always the month for field days at
school. My favourite sport to enter was the long
distance races. I never won first in these races be-
cause when I got close to the finish line, I usually
started laughing. I came in second or third.

When I was thirteen years of age I decided to take
up the game of curling. Cut Knife always had a
school bonspiel. The first bonspiel that I ever entered
in my life, I came out a winner. The team which I was
on won first in the second event. I have a trophy for
this accomplishment.

During my high school days I tried out for the Cut
Knife Soccer team. The position which I wanted to
play was goal. There were eleven people who signed
up for this position. After practicing for two weeks
and playing seven exhibition games, the coach wrote
us a letter to tell us if we made the team or not. Out of
these eleven people he picked me for the regular
goalie and another person for back up. To make a
long story short, Cut Knife won the soccer cham-
pionship for the Wilkie School Unit Division. We
beat Unity three to two in the final game, a team
which we only tied during regular season play. That
was the last soccer game I played. The only thing |
regret is that my brother Ron wasn’t on the team.

In nineteen sixty-five, I joined the Wilbert 4-H
Club. I entered in the beef project which meant I had
to pick out a calf, tame it down, feed it, and with
some help train it to lead. Before Achievement Day
came around, I also had to have it properly groomed.
I never won the Grand Champion Event, but I do
remember placing sixth out of two hundred in the
North Battleford fat stock show with one particular
steer. | have a ribbon and trophy for that event.

When I was seventeen years old I played on the
Cut Knife baseball team. | remember losing a game
against Maidstone one evening, coming home our



1968, Doug — placed 6th out of 200, Fat stock show North
Battleford, Sask.

coach made us run down one of the steepest hills in
the country. After we ran down the hill I said to the
coach *‘I hope you don’t make us run up that hill.™
The coach said to me *“For a comment like that you
can start running up that hill.”" If I didn’t run up that
hill the coach would have benched me the next game.

Also when | was seventeen, I bought myself a
ski-doo for the winter months. On weekends, there
would be ten or twelve ski-doos lined up in front of
the house. We all would be inside having coffee and
talking about where our next destination would be.
The furthest point that we ever rode to was from our
house to North Battleford, Saskatchewan, round trip
being close to one hundred miles. I also did a lot of
hunting and trapping with this ski-doo. One winter |
got fifteen coyotes and five foxes. The most I ever
brought home in one day was five coyotes. I sold
these for a total of one hundred dollars, twenty dol-
lars per coyote. One hundred dollars wasn't a bad
days wages for hunting.

1982, John Fedeyko swathing wheat. Best crop in memory, 55
Plus bu. per acre.
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After the winter months passed I bought a motor-
cycle for the summer. I had a lot of trouble with this
motorcycle, so after four days I traded it in on a larger
one. The price, which had to pay difference, was one
hundred dollars. I had to pass a written test and a
driving test before I could operate a motorcycle on
the highway.

1982, The last dump of 1982 harvest.

That same summer my brother Ron was working
for a farmer south of Regina, Saskatchewan. My first
bike trip was down to see Ron. Ron knew I bought a
motorcycle, but he never saw me drive one, nor did
he ever see this motorcycle. I still remember the day
when | arrived at the farm where he was working. It
was at supper time and he came running out of the
house to see me. After a short conversation, every-
one invited me in the house and we all had supper
together. | stayed with Ron for about a week on this
farm and helped out with some work.

In nineteen seventy three I bought a motorcycle

1882, Combining on the John Fedeyko farm.



1880, John Fedeyko homestead.

from one of my school teachers. I drove to High
Level, Alberta. In nineteen seventy-four, with this
same motorcycle, | entered a race at Biggar, Sas-
katchewan. I made it to the final race, but I never won
it. I came in second and brought home a trophy.
Coming in second was nothing to be ashamed of as
there ‘were fourteen other motorcycles to contend
with at this race. That was the first motorcycle race |
ever entered in my life, it will probably be the last.

I still own and operate a motorcycle. I have had
four different ones since nineteen seventy. I drove to
different places such as Regina. Swift Current,
Saskatoon, Nipawin, Outlook, Banff, Edmonton,
High Level, Kelowna, and Calgary. just to mention a
few. The two trips which I enjoyed the very best were
to High Level, Alberta and to Kelowna, British Co-
lumbia.

Since I finished school. I have always stayed on
the farm. I helped my dad farm until he rented me
some land. I sometimes regret that I never went
outside the farm to look for work.

[ like to farm and I hope that someone in the next
generation will be interested as well and will want to
take over the family farm.
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Stephania (Fedeyko) and Howard
Schneider

I was born in our farm house 3 miles north of Cut
Knife, Saskatchewan, on October 25th, 1921. Mrs.
Charley Corney was the midwife. [ was the fourth
child and second daughter of Jacob and Catherine
Fedeyko. According to my brother, John, I was born
a blonde, later turned to a redhead and eventually
became a dark brunette with lovely natural curly hair.

I do not remember much of my “*baby-hood™
until about six years of age, when I started school.
Wembley School was only % mile from our home.
My first day at school was terrifying in that as | was
about to enter the schoolroom which held about 40
pupils, a boy named Arnold Hardy winked at me. |
ran back into the cloakroom and would not come into
the classroom. Finally around noon the teacher, with
brother John's help, convinced me otherwise. This
single classroom held pupils from grades one
through eight.

As far back as I can remember, Wembley School
won prizes for our marching and our purple and gold
banner. George Beckett. an English bachelor. and
very artistic, usually designed the banner. The Sports



1929, Stephania Fedeyko age 8. Paul Fedeyko age 2.
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Day took place in Cut Knife where we participated in
various races, jumps, etc. and also had a ball team.
Christmas Concerts were also a regular at Wembley.
It was such fun practicing for the program. As a child
I always asked Santa for a Teddy Bear. The school
district supplied one gift for each child plus candy. an
orange, an apple and nuts. It was a joyous time.

There was usually a two month winter vacation as
the winters were so cold, and only one month holiday
in the summer. During the cold winter days, two of us
girls would make hot soup in the Teacherage for all
the pupils. As I lived so near the school I always ran
home for lunch, disposed of it quickly and ran back
on the double so I wouldn't miss anything.

1967, Wembley School, Cut Knife, Sask., Canada. Attended
by Stephania Grades 1-8. School built in 1923.

I finished my grade eight at Wembley and then
took grades nine and ten via correspondence. The
tests were written at Wembley under the teacher’s
supervision and she mailed them to Regina. For my
grades eleven and twelve, 1 went to Hafford, Sas-
katchewan. My school days were very happy ones.

Now back to the farm — I lived with my parents
until age fifteen. I truly enjoyed farm work which I
had to help with. | was quite an adventurous person. |
loved to go walking through the trees, following the
creek on our farm. One day I came upon a whole
convention of butterflies. It was quite a large patch of
grassy land surrounded by saskatoon berry bushes
and these butterflies were all one species: black,
yellow, orange and white. It was quite a scene. |
loved eating the berries in season: chokecherries,
saskatoons, pincherries, strawberries, and raspber-
ries. My brother John, a neighbor Norman



McDonald, his sister Jean, and I would go to an
Indian reservation not far from home to pick saska-
toon berries. We took along a lunch and bathing
suits. After picking a couple of pails, we would have
lunch then go for a swim in the river. The four of us
would go to Atton’s Lake and camp in tents for
several days. The boys would catch fish to supple-
ment some meals, but we brought enough with us
anyway, taking no chances of going hungry. Such
carefree times they were.

We always celebrated Ukrainian Christmas on
January 6th (Christmas Eve) to January 9th. I loved
singing carols with my father. All chores were done
early on Christmas Eve before the first star appeared
in the sky. Mother prepared twelve meatless dishes
for the supper. After the meal we sang carols, then
hung up a stocking and off to bed. We would find
some nuts, candy and orange or apple plus a little
something like a hair ribbon or a dime. But I am sure
we got a lot more pleasure and satisfaction from these
presents than the present-day children get from all
their parcels upon parcels under the Christmas tree. |
always remember brother Bill, the eldest, for bring-
ing me gifts when he came home for Christmas or
other times. I mostly remember a parasol, a nice skirt
and adress. I don’t remember living with brother Bill
and sister Mary as such as they were gone to school or
work so that when I was younger I tended to be afraid
of Bill. But as I grew older my respect and admiration
for him grew and he has really become a *Big Broth-
er’. Brother John (five years older) and brother Paul
(five years younger) tended to be the reason I became
somewhat of a tomboy. I loved dressing in their
breeches and pants — maybe the more to be like
them. I learned to skate at five or six as we had a pond
just down the hill from the house. Later neighboring
children would come on a Sunday to play hockey and
skate by couples (didn’t we feel grown up).

There were trips to town on Saturday nights when
you could get to see a show for 5¢. Sunday mornings
were a special breakfast treat — mother’s baking and
cooking, canning, etc. without the present-day con-
veniences make the memories all the more nostalgic.

Finally my parents decided to send me to Hafford
for my grades 11 and 12. I stayed with mother’s sister,
Aunt Mary Wozney, Uncle Paul and cousin Irene,
who was about six years old. Here I met a young
man, Donald Zuck, who had a musical band and
played at weddings, dances, etc. Sometimes I went
along with the band and always had a good time. He
asked to drive me home to meet my parents and
wanted to marry me. Being only seventeen I decided
to decline the offer and see more of the world before
settling down. Later on I regretted this step; but that’s
in the past.

After Hafford, I went to Saskatoon Business Col-
lege for almost a year and enjoyed it very much. [ saw
the first run there of **Gone With the Wind™". What a
Thrill! A Jewish girl named Molly and I became great
friends and she used to treat me to shows and other
goodies. I wrote a Civil Service exam and obtained a
jobin Ottawa. A telegram came asking me to come in
January to a Stenographer’s pool in the Department
of Munitions and Supply, Priority Rating.

Dad bought me a trunk for my belongings and
sent me off by train. The weather was extremely cold,
upon arriving in Ottawa. | had no idea where to go so
I hailed a cab for the nearest hotel. After contacting
my *‘to be”" employers, I got directions to get there.
Upon arrival they arranged a place for room and
board for me. I met my roommate, Edith Stell from
London, Ontario, and we roomed together for two
years.

1944, Edmonton, Alta., Canada. Howard Schneider and Ste-
phania Fedeyko.



The office work was interesting and we were
extremely busy. I got promoted from Steno Pool to a
private secretary for two department heads. It kept
me busy and on my toes. I also befriended Marion
Fournier who invited me to her home in Perth, On-
tario for holidays as Saskatchewan was too far away.

After the war ended, | went home for about a
month, but after all the activity found things rather
boring. Brother Bill suggested I come to Edmonton
to get a job as he lived only sixty miles from there.
My first job was with Canada Dry Ginger Ale Com-
pany. I rented an apartment in the home of Mr. and
Mrs. Plawiuk with my roommate, Lois. Plawiuk’s
had a daughter Lillian and she suggested I write
another Civil Service exam in order to get a job with
the Department of Transport where she worked and
wages were better. | followed her advice and got the
job. Many week-ends I spent at brother Bill's place in
St. Michael, Alberta, where they ran a small store
and post office. I believe I worked in Edmonton for
two years. Lois and I went dancing often as that was
one favorite pastime of mine. Also I was what you
might call a ““clothes horse ™. I loved buying as much
as | could afford.

One snowy night, Lois, Katherine Raychyba (my
sister-in-law’s sister) and I went to a dance down-
town. The U.S. Army and Air Force were stationed
in Edmonton at the time, (especially at Namao). A
few of them were at this dance and there I met
Howard Schneider who was to be my future husband.
He seemed to be a very pleasant person and a lot of
fun. He danced with the three of us all evening and
invited us out to midnight lunch, then offered to take
us home via cab. On the way home he asked for a date
for the next evening and I accepted. We saw a lot of
each other from then on. However, there were times |
couldn’t understand why he had to drink beer and
alcohol as he did. It was just periodical and not
offensive at the time. I was young and didn’t have
any knowledge of alcoholism. Looking back now,
Howard was definitely an alcoholic. We went to-
gether for about eight months and he bought me an
engagement ring. He went to Cut Knife in September
1945 with me to meet my parents and they seemed to
accept him. He was being discharged from the Forces
as the war was over and he had to return to the U.S.
He left for his home in Davenport, lowa where I was
to follow after Christmas, and we would be married.
[ spent Christmas in Cut Knife. Jean MacDonald, a
school girlfriend put on a lovely shower for me at
Wembley school. 1 got many nice gifts from the
ladies and also money from my parent’s family. With
th? same trunk dad bought for me (which I have to
this day) and suitcase, I left for Davenport. Howard
met me and took me to his oldest sister’s place where
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I stayed till we got married. Patricia Villinis was very
kind to me and we got along very nicely.

Howard and [ were married in Iowa City and in
the first year our first son, Howard Lee Jr., was born.
I was so thrilled with my baby. The going was a little
rough as at the time Howard was a bread salesman
and didn’t get a very good wage. We lived in a flat
above a garage. | washed clothes on a washboard and
with diapers, it was an everyday chore. Soon we
moved to an apartment owned by a nurse. The fol-
lowing year Dwain was born and I was doubly busy.

Despite his drinking Howard was a good father to
the children and would do anything for them. He
could also be a great help to me.

When he changed jobs to become a Kirby Vac-
uum salesman he started making good money, won a
lot of prizes for being top salesman. One year he won
atrip to Cleveland for both of us with all side benefits
— a set of luggage, choice of suit of dress at the
expense of Mr. Kirby at a very exclusive dress shop.
We were there four days at a lovely hotel, all ex-
penses paid. We visited all the Executive of Kirby
Company, Country Clubs, and Mr. Kirby's home. At
each place we were wined and dined, but Howard had
joined A.A. and didn’t take a drop. I was so thankful
for that.

Howard Jr. started kindergarten in Davenport.
That was quite an experience — taking one’s first
child to school and leaving him there for half a day.
He took to it like a duck to water.

-
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1949, Howard, Stephania, Howard jr. and Dwain Schneider.

In 1952, we decided to move to Seattle, since
Howard disliked the humidity during the summer
and the intense cold in the winter in Davenport.

We sold what little furniture we had and with only
our personal belongings drove to North Battleford,
Saskatchewan to my parents, who had retired there



1957, Seattle Wa. "Off to School”. Dwain and Howard jr.

from Cut Knife. We stayed with them for almost a
month, then onto Seattle.

As this was July it was a very scenic view we had
and enjoyed the whole trip. On approaching our
destination we saw signs of “*Floating Bridge™. We
could not imagine such a thing but after we crossed it
we saw it was on pontoons and probably at the time
the first floating bridge in the world. We stayed the
first night at the first hotel we came across as we were
in the height of traffic. I got in touch with Polly
Winter (an old roommate from my Ukrainian In-
stitute days). She invited us to stay with them till we
found a suitable home and we accepted her kind
offer. Howard went to the Kirby Co. here and imme-
diately started working with two other men. They
were doing quite well. We moved to Mesces Island
across the floating bridge from Seattle and rented a
house. There I enrolled Howard Jr. in grade one and
Dwain in Kindergarten. The boys loved our new
home.

Howard Sr. loved fishing, so we spent many a
Sunday picnicking. exploring and fishing, though we
never caught many fish. During the next year and a
half we moved to different rented homes till in Janu-
ary 1954 we bought a home and I still reside there.
We had an elementary school within walking dis-
tance which was very handy for the children.
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We took a lot of trips through Washington, Cal-
ifornia, and even to Mexico. We managed a couple of
trips back to lowa and of course 1 tried to get back to
Saskatchewan as often as possible. Howard had
changed jobs, now he was selling carpets and hearing
aids. He then ended up with siding, windows. storm
doors etc. His drinking habits were getting worse, his
blood pressure increased and his legs became dis-
eased with arteriosclerosis.

[ obtained a job with a company named Truck-
weld in order to help maintain our home. I worked
there for 18 years as a receptionist, partial book-
keeper, rather like a girl Friday. The people were very
pleasant.

In September 1971, Howard went into the Vet-
erans’ hospital for observation and tests. His blood
pressure was high, he didn’t have a good vein in his
body and he was on a diabetic borderline. He was in
Hospital for two weeks. After that he still worked at
his job partially. In November 1971 he drove me to
work as his office was nearby. It was a Monday and |
always bowled Monday nights. He didn’t come
home that night. Next day one of his bosses and
secretary came to Truckweld to tell me Howard had
died in a motel in North Seattle. He had been going to
keep a business appointment, did not feel well, so
asked for a motel room to rest. The car was still there
next morning so the manager went in and found him
dead. The coroner found that he had died of a mas-
sive heart attack. Thus ended my twenty-five year
marriage. After the funeral I went back to work as
usual.

The boys of course went through high school
successfully. Howard Jr., after graduating from grade
twelve, found a job as an electrician at Todd
Shipyards. Dwain was enlisted into the army and
went to Vietnam.

Howard Jr. and Laureen Johnston were married
on Sept. 14th, 1968 and after seven years were di-
vorced.

Dwain and Margaret Felton were married on
March 6, 1970 and on November 3, 1971, a daughter
Molly Kim was born to them. She certainly was
Howard Sr.’s pride and joy as he loved little girls.
However, she was only two weeks old when he died.
When Molly Kim was six, Margaret and Dwain were
divorced. Both boys have not remarried as of this
date.

In 1967 1 discovered a small lump on the left side
of my neck. The doctor ordered a biopsy and to my
consternation it proved to be malignant, a cancer
called lymphoma. From 1967 to the present day
1983, I have been treated off and on with radiation
and chemotherapy. I overcame one type of chemo-
therapy in January 1983, so the doctor is trying some-



1982, Molly Kim Schneider
age 11, granddaughter of
Stephania Schneider.

thing else in the Chemo Department. At present [ am
very ill and weak and need help with meal prepara-
tion and care of my personal needs. | am hoping and
praying the different treatment will restore my health
to some degree. In 1979 I was forced to quit working
due to the state of my health.

In due time, after Howard's death, I joined two
singles clubs and took part in various activities, be-
sides bowling twice a week. At one house party, |
met David John Parter, a wonderful person and we
started dating in August 1972, He was a very consid-
eratc and kind person. We have taken many trips
during the past twelve years. There was Mexico,
Hawaii (many times), South Pacific Islands, Bermu-
da, California (many times), Arizona, Denmark,
Spain, Morocco, Fiji, Australia and New Zealand,
Washington D.C. (White House), Florida, Puerto
Rico, Barbados, West Indies (St. Thomas), of course
back to Saskatchewan to Cut Knife, where my broth-
er John and sister Mary still live, to Kelowna where
my brother Bill and his wife retired. The one trip |
took with my brother Bill and Justine to Poland (June
1978) was a very rewarding experience. We rented a
car and toured across Poland, visited my mother’s
birthplace and visited distant relatives. Dad’s birth-
place was just across the border in Russia and as we
had no visa for Russia could not go there. We took a
lot of pictures and saw with our own eyes how the
‘other half” lives. We have been sending them used
clothing and food parcels since then, which are much
appreciated as also is cash.

At present David is taking care of me. The boys
come to see me and call me on the phone. Howard is
working at the University of Washington now as a
lead man in the Electrical Maintenance Department.
[_)Wain works for a men’s apparrel company. Molly
lives with her mother and step-father in Oregon. She
has visited me many times and is fast growing to be a
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1974, David J. Porter and Stephania Schneider, Hawaii.

little lady, tall and good-looking. We always have fun
when she visits me.

Before I became so ill I planned to sell my home
and move into an apartment. However, the Dear Lord
only knows whether that will come about. The last
ten years with David have been very rewarding and
happy ones, and I regret having to end my story on a
sad note.

May there be a grand re-union in 1985.

God Bless you all!

Editor’s note: Stephania Schneider died on July 6th,
1983, shortly after writing this.

Paul and Claire Fedeyko

I was born on January 18th, 1927, in the little
town of Cut Knife, Saskatchewan.

Being the youngest member of a family of five
children, my growing years were probably influ-
enced as much by my brothers and sisters as by my
parents, Jacob and Katerina Fedeyko.

Even though my very early years were spent
during the depression era, in the Saskatchewan dust
bowl, I can’t recall any time when my parents com-
plained about their hardships. I can remember when
“relief” ($25 per month, per family) was available;
however, my Father refused to **go on the dole™.

[ suppose there are always events from one’s past,
be they clearly remembered or only a fleeting shad-
ow of recollection, which have an impact on how one
thinks and feels. What was there in my early child-
hood years which remains in my memory? The long,
cold winters, the hot. dry summers of the early
1930’s, the close knit family unit of which I was a
part, all contributed to developing the person grow-
ing to adulthood.

There is no doubt in my mind that my parents
encountered substantial hardships in these early
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years, living in a community where the principal
language was English. My Mother understood little
and spoke less of the language. Father could get by,
but it was a struggle on the best of occasions.
Nevertheless, these early pioneers persisted in mak-
ing a niche in the wilderness, developing a farm
which provided a meager livelihood, and bringing up
a family which I'm sure, in their hope, would have a
better life economically.

In my childhood days, sights, sounds, and smells
seem to predominate. I can so well remember the
early spring with the snow disappearing off the hills
behind our farm house and the black earth poking out
through the white snow. The sound of spring run-off,
with the water rushing through the fields and through
the woods around our farm is something else that |
will always recall. Spring seeding, with Father out in
the field with his horses and plows, harrows, and
seed drills, is another memory which will always
persist. And then later on in the year, the horrible dust
storms in the early 30’s, when, at times, it would be
necessary to light the coal oil lamp in the house
during day hours in order to see. Occasionally, the
summers were less cruel and the fields of standing
grain billowing in the wind were a sight to remember.

Harvest time had its own beauty, when the grain

was being cut with a binder drawn by horses, and the
sheaves of grain would be stooked in the field. Dad,
Mother, my older brother John, and my sister Ste-
phania, can all be remembered as a part of the work-
ing force during these years. My oldest brother, Bill,
and oldest sister, Mary, can only be remembered as
visitors in those years, because they were pursuing
their own vocations.

Getting into the winter season was a preparation
in itself, with items from the garden such as potatoes
being put in the cellar, cabbages being made into
sauerkraut, and wood being cut and stacked to be
used for fuel to heat the house during the long, cold
winter.

Indeed, the winter was long and cold. Our house
was not insulated and ice forming on the inside of the
windows would not disappear until spring. The
house was heated with a wood stove and on many
occasions the fire would go out during the night. By
morning ice had formed in the water bucket. Early in
the winter clothes would arrive from Eatons via the
mail order system, so that everyone could be outfit-
ted for the cold weather.

The winters were cold, yes, but then there was an
aspect of friendship within the community which had
a warming effect overall. T can so well remember
neighbors, who would visit, driving into the farm
yard with their sleighs and horses and then spending
the weekend at our house.

Preparing for Christmas is another early recol-
lection, and to Mother and Dad it seemed to be an
emotional time of year. No doubt, they were thinking
of their homeland, and the Christmases they had
spent with friends and relatives.

While I can recall some of my forefathers —
Grandfather and Grandmother Horbay, Grandfather
and Grandmother Fedeyko, it is Grandmother
Fedeyko whom I best recall. She visited with us on
the farm in 1937, and unfortunately contracted pneu-
monia and died — one of my earliest recollections of
the inevitableness of life. We must all leave at some
time or another.

My early years in school were spent at Wembley
School, a little one room affair which housed up to
30 students, and which had the habit of being filled
with smoke during the winter when the furnace was
not stoked properly. Whatever the education may
have been in those days, some of it must have stuck,
because I progressed through public school, high
school, and eventually to university in Saskatoon,
Saskatchewan. A degree of Bachelor of Science and
Agriculture was obtained, which no doubt influ-
enced prospective employers in terms of offering a
job.

While going to university (1945-9), I spent three



summers in the army taking officers training. Two of
these were spent at Camp Shilo, Manitoba, and one
summer at Picton, in Ontario. The end result was a
commission in the army, as Lieutenant.

During this time, the Korean war was developing
and some of my friends in the COTC (Canadian
Officers Training Corps) offered their services. Un-
fortunately not all of them survived.

While going to university, I stayed at Mohyla
Ukrainian Institute for the first two years, and thor-
oughly enjoyed participating in the Ukrainian choir,
learning how to read and write in Ukrainian, and
taking Ukrainian dance lessons. I must admit my
dancing abilities did not earn any awards: however,
I’'m sure some Ukrainian culture did stick.

1949, Paul Fedeyko, Grad-
uate, University of Sas-
katchewan, B.Sc. in Agri-
culture.

After graduating from university I went to Toron-
to to find useful employment. In somewhat rapid
succession, 1 worked for Massey Harris (for three
years), Case (for one year) then went back to Western
Canada to work for a university classmate of mine, in
a trucking endeavor. Unfortunately this endeavor
didn’t work out that well, so in 1955 I was employed
by John Deere Limited. During my travels, I met my
wife to be, and in November 1957 Claire and I were
married. Our first residence was a little basement
apartment in Stettler, Alberta. We then moved,
through a John Deere transfer, to Vernon, B.C. in
October of 1958.

We lived in Vernon for a year and then in Prince
George, B.C. for a year. From Prince George, we
were transferred to Vancouver where we spent five
years in this beautiful coastal city. During these
years, our son Michael was born (December 1958)
with Mary Ann arriving in January of 1960. Our
youngest daughter, Nancy, was born in October
1965, at which time we were moved from Vancouver
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1958, Standing, L-R: Paul and Claire Fedeyko, Mary Paulson,
John and Alice Fedeyko, Ron and Doug in front.

to Calgary. After living for two years in Calgary we
then moved to Edmonton for three years, and subse-
quently Burlington, Ontario where we now reside.

The years have gone by very quickly. Our eldest
daughter, Mary Ann, is now articling with a law firm
and will be a full-fledged lawyer by August of 1985.
Nancy is presently in Europe, on a Rotary Exchange
Program, going to school in a little town called
Liege, Belgium.

Michael is working, despite the difficult econom-
ic times and unemployment situations, and is happy
in his endeavor.

Time has flown by swiftly. My sister, Stephania,
died in the spring of 1983. My parents are long since
deceased, my wife's parents have passed away, and
time seems to be gaining momentum. Nevertheless,
life has been good. Our children are healthy and
happy, | have a good job, and we live in a comfort-
able home.

We are not looking forward to our family reunion

in July of 085

Claire Fedeyko

I was born Margaret Claire Tannian on November
12, 1933 in Calgary, Alberta, the youngest of 4 chil-
dren, to Mary and Michael Tannian, Irish immi-
grants who came to Canada to start a new life.
Although materially speaking we were poor, our life
was rich in day to day living. We grew up among
neighbors who, of course, lived under similar cir-
cumstances and because of this, we were a closely
knit group. Our vacations and entertainment all took
place within a six block radius. We skated on the
neighborhood rink, played baseball and went tobog-



ganing in the nearby fields. Perhaps. however, the
most unique part of the neighborhood was the **Tan-
nian Garage’ . Although we never had a family car,
we were blessed by having in our backyard a huge
garage (huge by the standards of those years). The
garage was more like a barn and was the setting for
countless carnivals, miniature Stampedes and Broad-
way-like extravangazas (or so we thought). The cost
of admissions to these productions was, for some
reason, ten nails. The signs on telephone poles pro-
claiming another Show — Admission Ten Nails, was
well known in the neighborhood and even today
when we get together with former neighbors, remi-
niscing about our ‘“Show Business Days'" highlights
our conversation. And try as we might, we are still
unable to determine whatever became of all *‘the
nails”. And although our *‘cast” included talented
tap dancers, singers, and even a violinist, for some
reason none of them ever became famous in that
particular field.

My school days were similar to most people — |
enjoyed the two mile walk to and from school each
day. When the temperature dropped extremely low
we were given street car tickets but for the most part
we walked and during those walks, plotted and
planned many wonderful things most of which never
came to be but were exciting to think about. Perhaps
one reason that my imagination was so active was
The Library Trips. Long before I started school I was
taken at least every second week to the Public Library
by my Mother who loved reading and also loved
reading to her children. And, as usual, our form of
transportation was our feet. This walk was probably
five miles each way but we had our favorite resting
places along the way, the swings in one park, just a
patch of grass somewhere else and always, the reward
at the end — a new book.

Church picnics, birthday parties, but the two
biggest days of the year, the Stampede Parade and
Kiddies Day at the Stampede were the highlights in
those days.

As time went on and I progressed from grade
school to High School and Brownies to Guides
changes were also taking place within my family. My
brother Jim who had served a brief stint in the Air
Force and Army near the end of the war, left for
University in Ottawa, only returning home during the
summer. My sister Phil who had tired of life in
Calgary was invited by an Aunt in New York to try
life in the big city. Her stay there was to last five years
and as the economy of the times dictated, she wasn’t
able to come home again during that time. However,
she benefitted from that trip by furthering her educa-
tion, and on returning to Calgary had her pick of
many different jobs.

84

It was during that time as well that my beloved
Dad died at the young age of fifty-two after two years
of suffering. [ was only fourteen at the time. so it was
an extreme blow — I had lost a wonderful. lovable
friend and the neighbors had lost a caring friend. for
my Dad’s association with the St. John's Ambulance
Society had resulted in him stitching many a lacera-
tion in our kitchen that had occurred during local
hockey and lacrosse games. His ample vegetable
garden, which took up two city lots, as well as his
love of hunting, had provided food for those who
were more needy than ourselves, as well as the Nuns
who taught in our school.

For the next few years our family consisted of my
Mother, my sister Nan and myself — quite a change
from the early years. I thoroughly enjoyed High
School, was very involved in most extra-curricular
activities ranging from sports, cheerleading, year-
book editing and Student’s Union. I also belonged to
an organization called Sat-Teen Club which was
made up of members from all the different High
Schools in the city and because of this I had friends in
all parts of the city many of whom I still am in contact
with today. Saturdays and school vacations found me
toiling away behind the counters of Woolworth's Five
and Dime Store helping to defray the cost of my
education. 1 felt rather sad when High School Days
were over but | soon started work with Calgary Power
and enjoyed life there as well. It was a fairly large
company and because of this had many employee’s
outside activities. Curling, Bowling and Baseball
filled the evenings and weekends and once a year for
the Annual Company Banquet a group of us would
get together and present a skit or some form of
entertainment — so my early days of *‘Theatrics™ in
the family garage were being further developed. It
was about this time as well that my sister Phil moved
back to Calgary and we three sisters have many fond
memories of escapades together, including a few
Grey Cup Trips — by train — to Toronto and Van-
couver. One thing that became an annual event in our
household was the St. Patrick’s Day Party — some-
thing my Mother looked forward to each year. It’s
hard to imagine how so many people were able to fit
into our small home but nobody ever wanted to miss
that event. It was a challenge to be able to get to work
the next day but most of us seemed somehow to
manage.

It was during that time as well that we three girls
and our brother presented our Mother with the fare
for a trip back to Ireland. It was a carefully guarded
secret and Mom was absolutely dumbfounded that
Christmas Eve following Midnight Mass when she
opened the “‘Dress Box™ and discovered the con-
tents. The following May she left by Boat for a return



trip after an absence of over thirty years and spent
five wonderful months seeing old friends and family
and visiting places so fondly remembered.

During my working years I socialized with many
people and one of my friends asked me one Fateful
Friday if I would be interested ina **Blind Date™ with
a friend of her boyfriend. I wasn’t too keen — [ had
made plans to go to a movie with some girlfriends
and blind dates usually never were that great — but
by the time my friend finished describing this **fel-
low"" I was convinced that God was walking the earth
again and I agreed to go. And so it was that I met Paul
and within less than a year my life was to take a new
turn. On November 30, 1957 — on a Grey Cup Day
— Hamilton vs Winnipeg — Paul and [ were married
in St. Anne’s Catholic Church in Calgary. As we left
the Church and headed for our reception — it seemed
as if all the guests were turning on their radios to hear
the Grey Cup proceedings. Even the Priest seemed in
a hurry to get the job done and get on his way.

We started our nuptial bliss, after a Honeymoon
in Seattle, in a basement suite in somebody’s home in
Stettler, Alberta. Paul travelled most of the week and
we spent the weekends travelling to either Calgary or
Edmonton and sometimes we would go ice-fishing at
anearby pond. I don’t remember ever catching any-
thing but I'm sure the same fish went swimming by
each time with a grin on his face!

After a year in Stettler we were transferred to
Vernon, B.C. Our few possessions were shipped in
an almost coffin-like box. As it was carried outside,
the lady upstairs looked at it somewhat apprehen-
sively — she seemed somewhat relieved when 1
appeared upstairs to say goodbye. Our year in Ver-
non was rather an eventful one because during our
Christmas Vacation — while visiting Calgary — 1
gave birth to Michael John on December 26, 1958, in
Holy Cross Hospital. The day we returned from the
hospital, New Year's Eve, was a warm balmy spring-
like day but by evening a blizzard was raging — so
typical of Calgary’s unpredictable winters.

It was great returning to Vernon with that new
precious bundle and showing him off to our neigh-
bors and friends. And with the help of a book of
instructions (I can never care for anything without a
book of instructions) and consulting with our neigh-
bor, a Public Health nurse, I soon became rather
adept at changing diapers and all the other aspects of
Motherhood!
~ Weenjoyed day to day life in Vernon and watch-
Ing Michael's progress, in our minds the brightest
child ever born. We invested in a small boat and spent
many weekends fishing in the nearby lakes, with
Michae| enjoying the view safely tucked in his car-
bed in the boat.
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Almost a year to the day of our arrival in Vernon,
we were transferred to Prince George. I was begin-
ning to feel like a world traveller, hitting all the high
spots. We spent a few days in a motel while we
looked for accommodation. The pickins were lean in
Prince George in 1959 and we finally located a one
bedroom apartment which we were soon to outgrow
because once again while we were on Christmas
Vacation in Calgary another Fedeyko was born —
Mary Anne — on January 6, 1960 — also in Holy
Cross Hospital where the Maternity Ward Nurses
remembered me from the previous hasty trip! And
again it was great to return to our home with another
delightful bundle to show off to newly acquired
friends. We soon located a two bedroom duplex
which was shared by a young couple from Califor-
nia, Bob and Audrey Doan, who also had two chil-
dren and who were truly a Godsend to me in those
days as Paul was constantly away and our neighbors
were the only source of adult company [ had during
the week. On weekends the Doans and ourselves
shared many dinners together and during the warm
weather we managed to go on a few picnics fighting
off the dreadful blackflies that were native to that
area!

That year flew by so quickly — I covered much of
the city of Prince George by foot wheeling the two
kiddies around everyday. Once again in October
1960 we were again transferred — this time to North
Surrey, B.C. This move was rather exciting as it
involved the purchase of our first house, a lovely
little home with a delightful view of the Fraser River.
It really was a thrill for me, watching the big boats —
I never tired of it. Once again we were fortunate to
have great neighbors who soon became warm
friends. Although the winters seemed long and drea-
ry and there was no snow for little people to play in—
during the warm weather there was a multitude of
places to take them and we spent many happy hours
and days at the many beaches, parks and mountains
of The Lower Mainland. Having grown up in land-
locked Calgary, I always felt the kids were fortunate
to be able to spend so much time frolicking on the
beaches and in the water and of course they never
tired of it and at a very young age, they became very
comfortable in the water. Long walks were almost a
daily routine for the three of us, in fact once a week
we trudged two miles to the bus which took us to
Mother’s Day Out at the family Y in New Westmin-
ster. Mike and Mary Anne were kept busy with crafts
and games and I was free to participate in exercise
classes and swim lessons. It was a day we all en-
joyed, highlighted by a shared popsicle on the long
walk home.

While living there we had many trips to Seattle to



visit Stephania and Howard and their family and
enjoyed being able to share several Easter and
Thanksgiving holidays with relatives. The kids actu-
ally did much travelling in those days, taking the
train through the Rogers Pass was a great treat — one
which they enjoyed at least a half dozen times on
their annual trip to visit Grandparents in Calgary and
North Battleford. Our many trips by Ferry to Van-
couver Island also provide pleasant memories.

As the kids grew, time seemed to move more
quickly and before long Michael started school. He
seemed so grown up at the time and was quite excited
about the whole idea. It was also rather sad, however,
as he and Mary Anne had been such close friends and
enjoyed doing things together. I was concerned about
the separation but things went rather smoothly. Mary
Anne played with others on the street whose older
siblings had also gone off to school and Mike would
bring his new ‘‘school friends’” home to meet his
“little sister’” and they would all have a great time
together. I think the highlight of Mike’s days in grade
one was Sport’s Day when he and his partner won all
the events and his sweatshirt was covered from top to
bottom with red-ribbons. Looking back I think he
first developed this speed one day when we were out
strawberry picking and he came across his first
snake. You’ve never seen anyone move so quickly
through a strawberry patch. The summer of 1965 was
the hottest we had ever experienced while living in
B.C. We spent every hour we could cooling off at the
Beach — a good thing we did because it was to be our
last summer in North Surrey.

We had two changes that year — our family grew
once more. Nancy was born October 12, 1965 in
North Surrey Hospital and while 1 was there Paul
brought me the news that we had been transferred to
Calgary. I didn’t know if I was happy or sad, for,
although I was returning to my Hometown, it was
difficult leaving a place after five years — our neigh-
bors had become such close friends and had been so
kind over the years.

Bringing Nancy home from the hospital was a
special treat because she had a big brother and sister
so anxious to see her. It was fun walking quietly by
her room and seeing either one or both of them
peering in at her and watching her every move.

By the time she was one month old we moved to
Calgary. Mike was in grade 2 and Mary Anne be-
came a very efficient Mother’s helper. She scurried
around getting things ready for Nancy’s bath and
loved giving her a bottle. Mike enjoyed his new
school and did very well there. He soon became very
busy with cubs and hockey. I enjoyed having my
family nearby, so they could see the kids grow. My
Mother was happy to finally see one of her grand-
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children grow from babyhood and enjoyed hearing
about Mary Anne and Michael’s day to day episodes
as well as help them to celebrate birthdays, dress-up
for Halloween and observe other important occa-
sions. And it was fun too, getting together with
friends from high school days and swapping child-
rearing stories as well as reminiscing about the
**good old days™ long before marriage and Mother-
hood.

During 1967, Canada’s Centennial year, Calgary
had their first Miles for Million’s March, a twenty-
five mile walk through the city. Each participant was
sponsored for a certain amount per mile with the
proceeds to go to charity. Michael and Mary Anne
were anxious to join the other kids on the street. The
boys thought that perhaps Mary Anne was too small
but she assured them that she was indeed capable of
the challenge. I thought it seemed like a good idea,
after all they had proven themselves to be good little
walkers and I was sure that they would be able to
cover a few miles anyway and then return home. |
was quite surprised, therefore, when one of my
neighbors reported that the kids were seen at the six
mile checkpoint still going strong. As the day pro-
gressed, however, I became a little concerned and
was extremely relieved when they came bouncing in
the door having completed the entire twenty-five
miles and full of energy. That was the first of many
twenty-five mile marches they were to take within the
next few years — not bad for a couple of seven and
eight year old kids.

One of the highlights of our annual trips to the
farm were lightning and thunder storms. The kids
never had seen lightning in B.C. and the few electric
storms they had seen in Calgary were rather calm
compared to the Saskatchewan variety, so it was quite
a thrill for them that night in July of 1966 while they
were sleeping outside in the tent with Doug and Ron,
when the lightning struck John’s telephone and the
thunder gave a mighty clap. I don’t remember who
moved the fastest — John running outside to rescue
them, or the kids running inside to be rescued! As
well as frequent visits to North Battleford and the
farm, our leisure time in Calgary was spent either
picnicing in the summer — our favorite place was
Happy Valley — they had two huge swimming pools
that we all loved — and tobogganing and skating in
the winter. [ don’t think we'll ever forget the year the
Cub’s Father and Son Father’s Day picnic brunch was
cancelled because of a snow storm so typical of
Calgary’s unpredictable weather!

After only two years in Calgary, Paul was trans-
ferred to Edmonton — quite a blow to a native
Calgarian, but it really didn’t turn out to be too bad
after all. Several friends were transferred there at the



same time, most of whom lived in the same general
area. Mike was now in grade four and Mary Anne in
grade two. Nancy had just turned two and was ready
to take on the world. Many of the people moving into
our area were young couples with small children and
as our yard was the first one on the street to be
landscaped and fenced it soon became the gathering
place for neighborhood children. Nancy loved to
instigate games, her favorite ones pertaining to
horseback riding (imaginary horses, of course) and
to ride a horse successfully one requires a whip.
Nancy. always being resourceful, supplied whips for
everyone on the street by snapping the branches from
Paul's newly planted tree on the front lawn. Paul’s
homecoming that week was one that was feared by
all! Surprisingly, the tree survived and so did Paul!
Mike and Mary Anne became busy with many extra-
curricular activities once again — Mike with hockey,
cubs and baseball and Mary Anne with piano, skat-
ing, Brownies and baseball. Because we had moved
into a new subdivision there was a shortage of
Brownie Leaders and, as | had been a Guide Leader
for several years I volunteered my services and be-
came a Tawny Owl. I thoroughly enjoyed working
with such an enthusiastic group of youngsters. The
lady with whom I worked, the Brown Owl, was a
fairly recent arrival from Switzerland with a fair bit
of artistic ability and I found it rather interesting that
it was she who taught me how to color Ukrainian
Easter Eggs. She had enlisted one of the Brownie’s
Mothers to teach us the art. Mike, Mary Anne and I
decided to do some at home and, although they were
rather amateur productions, we were all quite pleased
with the results. Our Saturdays were hectic in those
years for, after taking the kids to their morning swim
lessons, we then would deliver Mary Anne to the
downtown Art Gallery for Art Lessons and Mike to a
hockey game or practice as well as work in a trip to
the Library which the kids really looked forward to as
both Mike and Mary Anne were becoming avid read-
ers and Nancy, too enjoyed looking through books.
Nancy and I would join our neighbor once a week for
aday out at the Y. The kids would all get together in
the pool and Nancy, of course, took to the water like a
duck and wasn’t too happy when it was time to get
out.

We all took advantage of Edmonton’s lovely
parks. skating and tobogganing at Mayfair and Emily
Murphy park in the winter and picnicing most sum-
mer weekends. Mike and Mary Anne enjoyed the
Park’s summer school program and spent most of
their days there becoming especially proficient at
tether ball.

It was in Edmonton as well that Mike and Mary
Anne first became wage earners for, being the oldest
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offspring on the street, and having looked after their
young sisters many times, they were eagerly sought
after as baby sitters and soon began to feel financially
independent! Our three years in Edmonton went by
very quickly. We suffered a loss during that time as
my beloved Mother died as the result of a car accident
in February 1970. It was particularly tragic as it
meant that the children no longer had any living
grandparents which is a sad way for children to grow
up. However, because we had spent five years living
in Calgary and Edmonton it had provided the kids
much more opportunity to spend time with their
Grandma and we were grateful for that time together
and have fond memories of Christmases, Easters and
Thanksgivings spent together.

Our Edmonton stay ended in November 1970
with Paul’s transfer to Burlington, Ontario which, at
the time, seemed like moving to the other end of the
earth. However, after a horrendous train trip here,
during which everyone but Paul became extremely
ill, we soon decided that our stay here would be a
happy one as Burlington is truly a picturesque and
clean city and so close to many interesting places.
The many recreational facilities have made it a great
place in which to raise a family and how our family
has taken advantage of those facilities! We were
fortunate to move into a home within walking dis-
tance of so many amenities. All three of the kids
continued their swimming lessons and became in-
volved with a multitude of activities. Mike was now
in Boy Scouts, Mary Anne had “‘flown-up” to
Guides and Nancy started Kindergarten — only half
days — which still gave her time in the mornings to
explore the nearby creeks and parks of our neighbor-
hood. Her “‘exploration outfit”’ consisted of a some-
what much worse-for-the-wear hand-me-down stet-
son which had seen far too many Grey Cup Games
and a tattered denim jacket, patched blue jeans and a
beat-up knapsack. No wonder one neighbor referred
to her as ““The Apparition™.

As Nancy progressed from kindergarten to grade
one it meant that I now had the day to myself and it
wasn’t long before *‘People’ became aware of this.
By “People”” I mean those who are involved with
numerous volunteer groups who are looking for new
blood. Before long my days were all taken up.
Through the CWL at Church I became involved with
an Audio Visual group — testing ears and eyes of
Nursery School-aged children, volunteered in the
School Library, assisted Mentally Retarded Children
with swimming as well as working with them in the
class rooms, and worked as an Area Chairman with
The Heart Fund. I enjoy each one of these activities
and have met some great people who are both inter-
esting and fun to work with. I also joined a social



group — Newcomers — and through this organiza-
tion have become involved with curling, golf and an
Amateur Drama Group, twelve women who, al-
though extroverts, are warm and caring friends. Our
gatherings not only involve preparing humorous
sKits, but also a place where we are able to share and
discuss our problems, be they large or small and so.
is in effect, a type of inexpensive “therapy™. The
Burlington Y has also provided me with many hours
of “Fitness and Fun™.

Living in Burlington meant that we were within a
fifteen minute drive from my brother Jim and his
wife Marian in Mississauga so we have, over the
years, been able to share many picnics, birthdays,
Christmases and other festive occasions with them as
well as just get together for ordinary visits sharing
both the good times and sometimes the “‘not so
good™ times when family support is so beneficial.
My sister Nan has also spent many vacations with us
and has enjoyed taking part in numerous family
gatherings. In our new “Eastern™ location we de-
cided to spend our vacations seeing new country —
we weren't sure in the beginning how long we would
be living here and so, that first summer, we drove to
Kingston, Montreal along the St. Lawrence to
Quebec City, showing the kids where history was
made. From Quebec City we took a Ferry to Maine
where we found a lovely Motel in Portland. That
particular day was so pleasant and warm we decided
to pick up a few groceries and have our dinner picnic
style in a local park. By the time we were settled it
was near dusk so we turned the car lights on while we
“set” our table. We were about to “'dig in”* when a
couple of fellows came strolling by, said *‘Hello
folks, nice evening isn’t it"”" and continued on their
way. Shortly after, two local policemen drove up —
asked if we had seen anybody go by and then told us
“to clear the area’. They were no sooner by us when
suddenly they started firing their guns. Needless to
say our picnic table was very quickly “unset™, our
belongings thrown hap-hazardly into the trunk and
we five “*bodies’ scrambled into the car. Once inside
the car, the kids and I were anxious to head back to
the safety of our Motel but Paul wanted to remain
there to see the “outcome™. However, sanity soon
prevailed and we did scurry back to our lodgings. In
spite of our first experience in that area, we found the
New England States both beautiful and interesting
and made a few more trips there in the years that
followed.

Our first winter in Burlington the kids signed up
for ski lessons. As they became competent we started
spending the Sundays of Winter skiing at various
locations throughout Central Ontario and Western
New York and discovered that the area surrounding
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us was as scenic — if not more so — in winter as in
the summer. The ski vacation which will probably be
best remembered is the Christmas one we took to
Stowe, Vermont — it seemed as if the entire area was
a Christmas Card come to life. And, at that time, the
steep hills and long runs represented quite a chal-
lenge to the Kids.

As the kids became more self-sufficient it meant
that Paul and I felt we were now able to take vacations
on our own and we have enjoved trips to the
Bahamas, Barbados. and Spain. Our favorite trip to
the Bahamas. however, was the year we took the kids
to Freeport. Having boarded the plane in Toronto on
a rather blustery March evening, it was a unique
experience for them to step out into a warm balmy
Bahamian morning described so aptly by Nancy. as
“creamy .

1983, Paul and Claire Fedeyko with children, Michael, Mary
Anne and Nancy.

We decided that because the kids were approach-
ing *‘young adulthood™ that we should take a family
trip out West once again and so, in August 1975, we
drove out, picking Mike up enroute at Parry Sound
where he had been employed during the summer. It
was a long drive but one we all enjoyed for we all saw
parts of Canada that were new to us and it was a treat
to visit relatives and the farm once again. | think the
highlight of this trip was joining Alice, John, Ron
and Doug on a camping trip to Waskesiu. The “*older
folk’* shared the camper, the boys shared the tent and
Nancy and Mary Anne slept in the car. We were
treated to a **hair raising” boat trip and Mike braved
the frigid waters to do a little water-skiing. For some
reason Mary Anne will never be allowed to forget the
ice-cream cone that Mike bought for her.

Of all the places we have ever lived, I think that I
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shall consider Burlington always as “*home™. For it
was here that the metamorphosis of our family has
taken place. The children have developed from ado-
lescents to teen-agers to adults while we were located
here. They were fortunate to attend schools that fos-
tered their developments in many areas for, as well as
providing a formal education, they were encouraged
to take part in sports, public speaking and other
organizations outside of school and I'm sure that
these involvements have played a large part in what
they have each become. Then, too, they have all
encouraged each other in trying different pursuits —
Mike encouraged each of the girls to take part in
Speech Contests in which they both did very well.
Mary Anne encouraged Mike to join the Track Club
at High School where they shared the same circle of
friends and when Nancy reached High School, they
both felt that she would add to and benefit from the
Track and Swim Teams. Mary Anne and Nancy's
experience with swim teams resulted in both of them
becoming lifeguards and swim instructors for the
city while Mike’s part time jobs have been varied,
from yardwork to painting to handyman until he was
hired part time by Brewer’s Retail.

As a young man just entering High School, Mike
knew that he would like to pursue a career in Busi-
ness Management and, after concentrating on the
subjects pertaining to that field in High School, he
enrolled in Business Administration at Mohawk Col-
lege in Hamilton. Following his graduation from
there, he was hired full time by Brewer’s Retail.

Mary Anne's interests swung from Medicine to
Law but by the time she entered the University of
Western Ontario she had decided that Law was to be
her chosen field and she graduated from that Faculty
in May 1983.

At this time of writing, 1984, Nancy’s future is
still ahead of her but because of her various experi-
ences and involvements, no doubt it will be an inter-
esting and productive one.

Sometimes a sense of sadness and nostalgia over-
comes me when I think of the days we were all here
together but [ realize that is Life following its
course. Then I enjoy a feeling of contentment when |
realize that we will never really be apart for our
family has a strong sense of loyalty to each other and
look forward to our gatherings when their great
senses of humour and of good fun will ensure another
warm occasion.

Mary Anne Fedeyko

[ was born on January 6, 1960 in Calgary, Alberta
to Claire (nee Tannian) and Paul Fedeyko. Mom and
Dad weren’t living in Calgary at the time — they

1983, Mary Anne Fedeyko,
Graduate, University of
Western Ontario.

were just visiting over the Christmas holidays — but
[ think Mom was probably happy to seem me born in
her home town!

The first place I really remember living is Van-
couver. Vancouver was a place where Mom would
take Mike and I for long walks every day. Vancouver
was also a place where the whole family would go to
the beach (and usually get burnt to acrisp!) I think the
long walks inspired my love of the outdoors and the
beaches developed my enthusiasm for the water.

Vancouver is also memorable in my mind for the
huge salmon Dad would bring home after a fishing
trip and the delicious filets that Dad would barbecue.
As to whether Dad actually caught the fish — now
that’s a good question!!

Right from the start Mom inspired us to be inter-
ested in reading. She’d read books to us every night

1961, Mike and Mary Anne Fedeyko.



before bed. Later, when we could read for ourselves,
visiting the library became a weekly ritual — we’d
always finish our books so that we could get a new
batch of them on our next visit to the library!

Calgary was next on our list of places to live. Just
before moving there our little sister was born. I was
proud to help pick her name — Nancy Margaret — |
thought it was a spunky name, and Nancy has cer-
tainly lived up to it!

| started Grade 1 at St. Augustines in Calgary. |
really liked school — probably because I was almost
6Y2 years old before I started and was ready for some
real learning! I also started swimming lessons in
Calgary — Mike and I would hop on a bus and take
our lessons in a backyard pool — I loved it!

I think we all enjoyed living in Calgary. It was
especially nice that Grandma Tannian and Aunt Nan
lived there at the time — it was a treat having relatives
in the same city.

Our next stop was Edmonton. We had a couple of
very cold winters there and we always had to bundle
up' But Edmonton was a great place to go skating and
we had a few family winter barbecues — a nice way
to get some fresh air!!

While we were in Edmonton I decided to join
Brownies. Unfortunately the local group was **full’’.
However, when Mom offered to assist and be a
Brownie leader they managed to find a spot for me —
thanks to Mom — but I think it was fun for both of us!

Our summers in the west often involved family
barbecues (I think its one of Dad’s favorite events!')
and numerous ‘‘road trips”’. We always had great
summer holidays and travelled all over the country.
Some of our travels led us to the Fedeykos in Sas-
katchewan. I never really knew Grandad Fedeyko,
but I remember visiting Grandma Fedeyko. She al-
ways had a great garden in the backyard, and she’d
let me sneak samples of her vegetables. I'd try to
learn a few Ukrainian words from her — and I think I
mastered a few (but not very many!!)

A visit to the Fedeyko farm was a highlight in our
holidays. I remember being amazed at how tiny the
original farmhouse was and thinking how funny it
was that there was a dirt cellar in the house!! Our
cousins Ronnie and Doug would tromp through the
fields with us and catch gophers, Uncle John would
letus “*help™ round up the cattle, and every once in a
while we'd get to go for a ride on *‘Buck " (the horse
who didn’t). Aunt Alice inspired my interest in the
P1ano — [ took lessons and still love to play but I
don’t think I'll ever match her natural ability!

~ Every once in a while we’d see Aunt Stella —

either at the farm or, once, in Seattle. She always
Struck me as a very fashionable fun-loving lady!

We moved to Burlington, Ontario when I was in
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grade 5, and I started school at St. Raphael’s. The
first year 1 was there I started public speaking in
classroom competitions — I enjoyed it and the next
year I participated in the school competition. With
some great assistance from my family and lots of
encouragement from my journalist Uncle, Jim Tan-
nian, I was quite successful and managed to qualify
for some further competitions. This was, perhaps, a
hint of where I'd end up!!

The family living behind us in Burlington was
Ukrainian, and in conjunction with them we cele-
brated Christmas in the traditional Ukrainian man-
ner. When they moved away we made the serving of
traditional Ukrainian food part of our annual ‘‘Box-
ing Day” party — which is, in a few words, always
fun for all our friends and family who are there. Aunt
Marion and Uncle Jim Tannian attend when they are
in the vicinity — and Marion is often the hit of the
party (although Mike often manages to steal the show
— it being his birthday and a time to celebrate!)

I kept up my swimming in Burlington and even-
tually became a lifeguard and then a swimming in-
structor — a great source of summer income and fun!
The greatest fun was probably being part of the
Burlington lifeguard team. A group of us would hop
on our bikes early in the morning before work and
ride to a city pool for early morning training. The real
benefit was being able to travel all over the province
from competition to competition and meet lifeguards
from cities all over Ontario.

I went to high school at Nelson High. I was very
involved in most high school activities, including
track and field, cross-country running and cross-
country skiing and, of course, swimming. I was
honoured to win the outstanding female athlete
award in grade 12 — in my view I probably wasn’t
really outstanding but I tried my hand at everything!!
I was also honoured to win the top all-round female at
the end of high school for athletics and scholarship.

I decided to go to University at the University of
Western Ontario in London, Ontario, partly because
I won a scholarship there (which would definitely
assist my financial situation!') It was a good decision
— Western has a beautiful campus, good programs in
every discipline, and an endless variety of ways to
have fun.

While at Western I joined the University swim
team, and found out what training really meant!
Training and travelling with the team was a great way
to break up studying time.

I lived in residence (Delaware Hall) for the first
two years of University and helped organize the
social events through participation on the social com-
mittee. | met some very good people in residence
who will be my friends for many years.



After second year University Nancy, my sister,
convinced me to try running the annual Burlington
Road Race with her — a mere (in Nancy's words) 15
miles. We made it and now thanks to Nancy it has
become an annual event, and I've become an avid
running fan, making it a daily event.

1981, Mary Anne and Nancy Fedeyko. Nancy winner of a 15
mile race "women under 18 division”.

The summer of that first road-race | went to Trois-
Pistoles in Quebec for a french immersion course. |
lived with a french family and really learned the
language, as well as the way of life of a rural french
family.

The next year | started law school at Western. |
lived in a house with four other girls — summer
barbecues were a favorite activity, as was visiting the
“Ceeps” and having Mike and his friends down to
London for a visit.

I gotinvolved in a number of activities during my
three years in the law school — student politics,
ladies hockey, and mooting, which involves arguing
a hypothetical court of appeal case before a panel of
real judges. | was fairly successful in mooting and
was picked to be on the team that represented the
school at the **Canadian Championships’™ in
Montreal. My participation in all these activities
made law school a great experience and probably
assisted in my earning the Dean Ivan Rand Award at
the end of third year law for leadership and academ-
ics.

I had a variety of interesting summer jobs while |
was in law school. One summer [ worked at a Legal
Aid Clinic in London, assisting in criminal law and
domestic cases. Another summer I lived in Toronto

and worked in the law department at Texaco, assist-
ing in corporate and tax matters. What a contrast!

At the end of law school I took the summer off
and travelled through Europe — largely by bicycle
— with a good girlfriend of mine. I was definitely hit
by the travel bug, and I'm looking forward to another
trip sometime — hopefully in the not too distant
future!!

I decided to practice law in Calgary — some of
my relatives think my roots are “*calling me home™
— but it just seemed to me to offer the best oppor-
tunity for a young lawyer (especially one who likes to
ski!!) It also helped to know that I'd have friends and
relatives in the city. So now, here I am, having just
finished a year of articling, about to be called to the
Bar (August 29, 1984) and truly enjoying living in
Calgary. And although I'm a long way from Bur-
lington I look forward to the visits I'll make — every
time 1 visit home, Mike, without fail, makes me
laugh so hard I have to cry, Nancy's always available
to do something sporty and Mom and Dad are just
fun to visit. I'm also looking forward to more fun and
adventure in my career, meeting more fun and inter-
esting people and just enjoying life as one should!!

1983, “Western News' clipping: Dean Philip Slayton congratu-
lates Mary Anne Fedeyko, winner of the Malcolm J. McKinnon
Award which is presented to the first year student who ex-
emplifies the spirit that law school offers not only a legal
education but also an opportunity to grow and develop into
concerned individuals. Law students vs alumni: Law students
squared off against the alumni last Friday in the first annual
Alumni-Student Moot Competition. Third-year Law student
Mary Ann Fedeyko emerged as top overall mooter after com-
peting against George Grant ('76), top alumni mooter. The
Jessup Moot team of Bev Behan, Scott Watson, Sher Singh
and Ms. Fedeyko competed against an alumni team consist-
ing of Doug McDowell ('63), Donald Taliano ('64), Kathy de
Jong ('80), and Mr. Grant. The legal case argued whether a
section of the Narcotics Control Act violates the Canadian
Charter of Rights and Freedoms. The Jessup team is prepar-
ing for the Jessup Moot in Montreal, March 3-5. Western
News, Jan 27/83.



Nancy Margaret Fedeyko

1970, “The Musical Group” — Michael, Nancy and Mary Anne
Fedeyko.

It was a pleasant day on October 12th, 1965 on
which I was born in North Surrey, B.C. This was the
beginning of an eventful life, the first portion of
which was a move at the age of I month to the city of
Calgary, where my Father was relocated to work for
John Deere. At the tender age of one year I made by
debut as a model (photographers were Paul Fedeyko
and relatives). From then on | went to become some
sort of a geologist wandering down the streets of
Calgary at Grandmother’s side picking up and care-
fully examining every single pebble and stone in
sight. Much to my Grandmother’s relief I soon gave
up this profession and went on to the arts, the medi-
um being coloring books or any scrap of paper avail-
able, using any color of crayon.

Skipping on in years, [ was just four, | joined a
musical band along with my older brother, Michael
(who was also talented both on the piano and the
castanets) and my older sister, Mary Ann, who spe-
cialized on the recorder and Donald Duck guitar. |
was critically acclaimed as well for my performance
on both the Donald Duck guitar and the drums
(which looked amazingly similar to toy tins and lego
boxes).

Not too long after this it was off to the rodeo. My
trusty steed in the back yard would never wander

1967, Grandma Fedeyko with Michael, Mary Anne and Nancy
Fedeyko.

much farther than the back road, and it was a sad day
when he had to be retired and went to the great
rocking horse stable in the sky.

It was a little before Christmas of 1970 that my
family and I took that hard to forget train ride from
Edmonton to my new and more permanent home in
Burlington, Ontario. Yes, gone were the days of
tetherball in the back yard. Now was the time for
maturity. So, mature as | was, | put on my jean
jacket, black baseball cap, and green boy scout knap-
sack (which my brother had previously retired). |
trekked out to the streets of Burlington, making it
past two houses, and finally stopping at the third
where I made my first friend of Burlington. Many an
adventure we would have travelling the world with-
out having to leave the safety of our own backyard.
We would climb any tree or cross any creek that
dared inhibit our trail. But the highlight of every
week was Sunday. My appetite would suddenly
swell; after having a full meal at our home, [ would
stroll over to my friend’s (who had not eaten) and
inform them that “why no, | have not eaten yet”
thereby mooching my second dinner of the day.

First exotic trip was down to Myrtle Beach in
North Carolina. [ can remember my family bought
me a beautiful beach hat inscribed with the letters
SOB, with my brother telling me the letters stood for
‘south of the border’.

At the age of seven I became more serious about a
musical career and started into piano lessons. Many a
time did I think of abandoning this career, but per-
severed until I reached the age of 17.



By the age of seven I was well into skiing, with
my Mother close behind. Not on her skis mind you.
Since I was just a beginner, a tow ticket was out of the
question. Mother would carry the skis up the hill and
run down behind me as [ **snow plowed™ and fell my
way into the joys of skiing.

1973, Michael, Mary Anne, Claire and Nancy Fedeyko. Mount
St. Louis, Ontario.

Also blossoming was a career of speech making.
This was an annual event at my school, Saint
Raphaels. I would always enter, and through some
good fortune, won in grades 3, 5, and 6.

Also around this time was a commencement of
my camping days. This was done through the won-
derful world of Brownies and Guiding. I always
loved the outdoors and camping. This led to canoe
trips and finally a job as a life guard at the very same
camp which I first attended.

I always loved horses, and was extremely pleased
to find that my Uncle, John Fedeyko, in Saskatche-
wan owned a horse. Buck, the horses name, oc-
cupied every waking moment there. This wild steed,
who by then was probably blind and deaf, was care-
fully guided by the skilled hands of Nancy (Annie
Oakley) Fedeyko.

Many riding adventures followed. One in par-
ticular being a night ride at a farm not too far from the
camp where | worked when | was 15. Hopping an
electric fence I showed my friends the finer points of
riding. This was quickly ended by a bull who insisted
on my departure from the field.

It was high school that will be most remembered
in my life. Sports played a very prominent role,
introducing many new friends. A few awards also
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came from sports; All Ontario Swimming medal,
Track and Field medals, awards in cross country
skiing and many point awards which Nelson High
School awarded; my letter, my pin, my plaque, and
finally a special athletic award which is the highest
the school can offer. Activities with the YMCA at
which | was a counsellor and in clubs with the school
where 1 went on a Brigantinean, an old fashioned
sailing ship, are only a few of the activities which
rounded off my adventuresome early life.

It is now at this time in 1983, at the age of 17 I no
longer need to pretend of travelling around the world
in my friend’s back yard. Now it can be a reality.
Sponsored by the internationally known Rotary
Club, 1 will be heading overseas to Belgium as a
Canadian Youth Ambassador for the period of one
year. During this period I will be attending a school in
Liege, Belgium. I am looking forward to many more
chapters in my history, where I may boldly climb any
hill or cross any stream that may inhibit my path.

Nancy Fedeyko.

@ﬂorld Youth Report

4 BurRt/NsToN FosT

By NANCY FEDEYKO
Nelson HS.
Dear Burlinglon:

My first view of Belgium
wasn't as foreign as I thought it
would be. The plane came
through the clouds to show a
huge factory with *“‘Carpet
Land" written on the roof! [ was
wondering why it took us 7 hours
to circle Toronto!!

Belgium is a cute little coun-
try, tucked away in a corner of
Europe. It can fit over times into
Ontario but it has a population of
almost 10 million, they have no
choice but to be friendly.

Belgium is quite the historical
place, the battle ground of many
wars, Waterloo, WWI and II
There are many forts throughout
the country.

The country is close to
everything in Europe, il is a
crossroad country. I've seen a
lot of Belgium, including the
English Channel (I'm not swim-
ming that sucker), Brussels,
Bedgium's capital and-the focus

of the European Common
Market. I've also managed lo
take a bike tour through
Holland, cruise the Rhine to
Bonn, capital of West Germany,
s0 much to see in such a small
area.

The school 1 attend is small
compared to Nelson, only 300
kids. There are only 14 in my
graduating class.

There are no extra-curricular
activities other than trips to
Greece and Switzerland organiz-
ed by the kids themselves.

Many people here believe that
since I'm from Canada and live
next to the Province of Quebec
(the province they had heard
most about), I must be bilingual.
I think that I changed their
minds very quickly. Mind you, I
have picked up a little since [ ar-
rived.

I am having a great time here,
it’s a tremendous experience. A
big *Howdy' to all at Nelson,
Burlington, Lifeguards and my
friend John.



Edward and Anne Fedeyko

1945, Edward and Anne Fedeyko.

Edward Konstantine Fedeyko, the eldest son of

Konstantine and Rozalia Fedeyko was born Decem-
ber 10, 1912. His place of birth is registered as Fish
Creek, Saskatchewan and he lived in the Krydor and
Cutknife areas during his childhood. School days
were spent at Zbaras School where he obtained his
Grade Eight. Many days he went to play and eat at his
uncle Kazmir Bazarkewich's, instead of going home
due to distance. From early childhood, farming be-
came his life. Cattle and horses were his favorites.
During his lifetime he helped work the farm land
with his parents. As a young man he was hampered
by kidney disease but refused to admit he had a life
threatening illness and never saw a doctor.

Edward was a man of many interests and varied
talents. He was a sportsman — a skilled hunter and
“lucky™ fisherman. His interest in politics and sup-
port for the Liberal party was a subject at friendly
discussions. Involvement with KYK (Committee of
Ukrainian Canadians) and the Ukrainian community

1949, The Fedeyko gathering. Front row, L-R: Billy, Eugene,
Mary and Dennis. Back row: Anne holding Rose, Edward,
Rosalia, Kost and Justine.

was also very important. Books in both languages
were read in his house as well as *‘western stories™
and *“The National Geographic.” Edward learned to
play the violin (a kolomayka was his favorite) in his
early days and it was a source of solace to him during
his worst times. Friday nights on the farm were spent
by the radio listening to boxing or hockey. He never
did get to see many games on television. When in
Krydor on a buying trip, his favorite place to visit was
Holota’s Poolroom and to play with his neighbour
and friend, Joe Cyba.

1949, Anne Fedeyko holding Rose, Louise holding Richard,
Edward and Mary Fedeyko.



Edward married Anne Procenty (daughter of
Wasyl and Olena) in 1945. They farmed in part-
nership with his parents and shared living quarters.
Mary. Rose and Lesia are their daughters.

It was a difficult life on the farm. Roads were
poor during the winter which made them almost
isolated. Trips were made by horse and wagon or
sleigh because snow was deep. There was no power
but the one thing they were pleased with was good
well water. Besides horses the most popular vehicle
on the farm was the tractor. Edward was very proud of
his shiny green John Deere tractor — he even built a
garage for it.

In 1951 when Edward’s parents moved to
Hafford. he purchased a Cockshutt Implement busi-
ness there. Due to his illness, he was unable to run
the farm efficiently so much of the labour rested on
Anne’s shoulders. It was during the fifties that his
illness started keeping him at the hospital for longer
periods each time. During these times, his father
helped him with the heavy tractor work, seeding and
harvest.

Up until 1959, the main vehicle was a red half-ton
truck which took both the grain to the elevators and
family to church on Sunday. In 1959, a new red and
white Pontiac was purchased and finally, the whole
family could sit inside to travel.

B |
1950, Threshing on the Kost Fedeyko farm.

Unfortunately, Edward could not enjoy the same
good health as most of us. The disease persisted until
he was spending most of his time in the hospital. On
April 15, 1963 he passed away in St. Paul’s Hospital
in Saskatoon. He was buried in Krydor Ukrainian
Greek Orthodox Cemetery — may he rest in peace.

I, Anne Fedeyko (Procenty) was born May 22,
1923 on our farm in the Uhryniw district, six miles
south of Krydor, Saskatchewan. My father came to
Canada in 1912 to find a home for his family. He
purchased our homestead and ten years later he sent
to Ukraine for my mother and sister. I was born a year
later and in three years another sister, Olga, was
born. It was not an easy life. The winters were cold

with much snow and there were no ploughs to clear
the roads. Our school was two and one-half miles
away: during the summer we walked, many times
without shoes: in the winter months. my father drove
us by horse and sleigh. Our Christmas concerts were
held in the school and every family came and took
part in it — we do not see close neighbourly get
togethers any longer. The concerts were performed in
Ukrainian as most of the children were Ukrainian.
We were taught English during school hours and after
four o’clock the teachers taught Ukrainian for half an
hour. When [ first entered school, | knew only one
word of English but I soon learned even though we all
spoke Ukrainian on the playground. There was one
teacher for forty students from Grade One to Grade
Eight. After I finished Grade Eight, | helped at home
for a few years before I went looking for a job. |
worked as a waitress in North Battleford at the Do-
minion Cafe.

My parents were very religious. The very first
thing we did when we awoke was to kneel down and
say our prayers and to do the same every evening.
There was also a Ukrainian Catholic Church in our
area where the sisters would come to teach catechism
and religious songs. Our church services were held
once a month. In those days there were no pews and
we all packed in like sardines.

For recreation outside of school, we spent time
playing on the shore of Redberry Lake. There was no
spending money so our entertainment was singing
Ukrainian songs and playing cards. Tickets to a
dance were twenty-five cents and even that much was
hard to get.

In 1945, I married Edward Fedeyko, who farmed
four miles away from our home. We farmed in part-
nership with his parents. The hardest part of living on
the farm was the isolation. The roads were very poor,
especially in the winter. We experienced a change in
transportation from horses to machines. Our farm
was a mixed farm. For several years we sold cream,
which we separated with a hand operated separator.
collected in cans and transported to the CN station in
Krydor.

I also raised chickens and turkeys for spending
money. Threshing days involved everyone in the
family including children who carried sandwiches
and hot coffee to the crews on the fields.

Our main concern, even though Edward was so
sick, was to provide our children with a good educa-
tion and a sound knowledge of their roots. The Ukrai-
nian language was the only language spoken in our
home and our religious holidays were always ob-
served. Some of our free time was spent playing
“Kaiser”™ with the neighbours, singing and garden-



ing. I also enjoyed cooking and sewing for my chil- small house I purchased. I also cleaned police head-

dren. quarters. In 1969, I moved to Saskatoon with my
Edward later bought a Cockshutt Implement youngest daughter Lesia, purchased a house and
business in Hafford. His parents bought a house in started work at St. Paul’s Hospital, where I've been
Hafford and our children started school there. This ever since. Even though being a widow isn’t easy and
was also a difficult time as both of our girls were away I've had many hard times. my family and my grand-
for a whole week and home only on few weekends. children have provided me with much pleasure.
Edward also spent a lot of time in the hospital,
putting me in charge of the farm. Mary (Fedeyko) and Bohdan Humen

) ] .«. 4 " : \'
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1973, Anne Fedeyko with grandchildren, Wendi Humen, Mark
Mauthe, Kimberly Humen and Kris Humen. (at bottom).

After nineteen years of marriage, I lost my hus-
band. Life after Edward’s death was difficult for me.
The relationship between my in-laws and myself was
difficult for many years and now became unbearable.
After spending many years working on the farm, |
was faced with the job of sole provider and a life in
town. I took in boarders and rented out rooms in a

1967, Bob and Mary Humen. Hafford Ukrainian Orthodox
Church

I, Mary Humen (Fedeyko), eldest daughter of
Edward and Ann Fedeyko, was born July 22, 1945 in
Saskatoon City Hospital. As a small child to the age
of six, I lived on a farm south of Krydor, Saskatche-
wan. It seems as though our house never lacked
company — besides our immediate family, both of
dad’s parents and cousin Konnie lived there. Also,
for a short time my mother’s dad. grandfather Pro-
centy, lived with us also. Every Sunday was special
— we all went to church earlier than most because

1982, Grandmother Anne Fedeyko with Kimberly and Wendi grandfather Fedeyko was the cantor. After church
Humen and Kris, Mark and Derek Humen. service, we always either went for dinner to a rela-
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1956, Krydor Sask. Mary Fedeyko in grandfather's garden.

tives or had someone over. These afternoons were
spent jumping off barn roofs, chasing animals and
searching for sparrows’ nests.

Many of my memories are of incidents involving
my sister Rose and myself. From the day she was
brought home, Rose was an almost constant compan-
ion. I was very jealous when she smiled for Konnie
but cried for me. 1 even tipped her over with the
carriage and received my first spanking from dad. At
Christmas we hung our brown stockings over the
doorway and were happy to find peanuts, candy and
oranges in them. My first and still special gift was a
doll grandmother brought from Toronto.

My cousin Richard played a dangerous game one
summer when he took a stick of firewood and hit me
on the head. Rose promptly picked up another one
and hit him on the head. Richard and I had interesting
adventures when he came to visit and one summer we
spent alot of time in Redberry Lake, which resulted
in boils developing in both my ears. I still hate
swimming!
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1964, Mary and Lesia Fedeyko.
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1958 “The Winner” Mary
Fedeyko, CYMK “Krasno-
movstvo”.

School years were spent in Hafford Public and
High schools. I lived with grandmother and grand-
father while mom and dad were on the farm. Almost
every weekend Rose and I took the bus from Hafford
to Krydor and walked three miles to the farm. In-
volvement in CYMK, Ukrainian dancing, singing
and public speaking were activities which kept me
busy during my school years. Upon completion of
high school, I entered St. Paul’s Hospital School of
Nursing. It was also that spring (1963) that my father
passed away after many years of illness. Living in



residence and being away from home were hard from
the beginning. Uncle Paul’s (Fedeyko) letters and
many jokes helped more than he would have imag-
ined. The support and encouragement | received
from my husband (then boytriend) helped me pass
through three difficult years. I graduated in August
1966.

1967, Anne Fedeyko with daughters Mary, Rose and Lesia.

Bohdan and I were married October 21, 1967 in
the Hafford Ukrainian Greek Orthodox Church.
There was no honeymoon as we both had to return to
work. Kimberly Ann was born September 1, 1969
and Wendi Lyn followed after a two year break on
November 3, 1971. Rose and I certainly had our fun
visiting — we were either breaking kids apart or
sitting around like blown up balloons pregnant with
Mark and Wendi. The men were hunting.

At present, I am employed at St. Paul’s Hospital
as a casual float nurse. My husband is employed by
the City of Saskatoon. Kim and Wendi are in school.
We are actively involved in our community and our
church. Kim has a love for horses and belongs to the
Saskatoon Pony Club. Wendi thinks dogs are great
and owns **Scooter.”” Both girls are involved in
Ukrainian dancing, language classes and CYMK.

Writing a story about oneself and family has
brought me a certain warmth and pride. [ know that |
have many people besides Mom and Dad to thank.
My grandparents established a self-respect within me
that made me proud of who I am. When I was a little
girl *Baba Alexandra™ was a welcome visitor — one

99

thing a little girl never forgets is someone bringing
cookies with icing and always smiling. Grand-
mother’s family was also very supportive anytime
dad was ill or needed help. In grade nine through the
assistance of Uncle Bill Fedeyko, I attended St.
John’s Institute in Edmonton. Also thanks to Eugene
for looking after his “*country cousin.”™ Now I must
thank my husband for looking out for all of us in our
family.

We reside at #1 Red River Road in Saskatoon.
Anyone who may have the desire to drive through our
fair city is certainly welcome to come and share our
home with us.

[, Bohdan Humen was born April 5, 1941 to the
family of Tom and Katherine Humen. Our farm was
located seventeen miles northeast of Hafford, Sas-
katchewan, in the Albertown district. | came seventh
in a family of fourteen children. My mother and
father worked hard during difficult times and as each
child grew old enough to handle a responsibility, they
were incorporated into the work force. We spent
many happy days playing hide and seek, cowboys
and Indians and swimming in Oscar Lake. Before |
attended school my closest companion was my sister
Mary. Mother relates a story that at four years old,
being a couple of years younger than my sister, she
and I pretended we were twins. Our younger sister,
being jealous, took our bottles and threw them in the
stove — we never forgave her for years to come.
School was a three mile walk each way (Lancaster)
and in the wintertime we drove a horse and sleigh.
Before we went to school we were expected to milk
the cows and do other chores and after school the
same prevailed. During school hours we had to speak
English not Ukrainian, if not we received a strap-
ping. Games played during breaks were football,
softball and hunting rabbits with sling shots. I at-
tended Krydor High School for one year. At the age
of sixteen | joined a threshing crew for thirty days
and never returned to school.

Church services were held once a month in our
local Ukrainian Catholic Church. Catechism was at-
tended every summer in Albertown.

Following a year spent helping at home I decided
to go out and earn some money. My first job was with
CP Rail, where 1 worked for several years before |
decided to settle in Saskatoon. The first car | bought
at eighteen years of age was a 1951 Ford.

I was twenty-one when I met Mary Fedeyko.
After a courtship of five years, acting as bus driver,
taxi, friend and having a big shoulder for sad times,
we were married. | was employed with Interconti-
nental Packers and Mary at St. Paul’s.

My favorite is sports — fastball, hockey and
football games. | played fastball with several teams



in a league. In the years following I coached and
managed fastball. At present I coach my daughter’s
softball team.
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1978, Kimberly and Wendi Lyn Humen.

Most of our activities center around our children
now. So much more is offered in fields of music,
sports, dancing and hobbies. Living in the city has its
advantages — the bus is close-by and a carpool isn’t
difficult to organize. Summer holidays are spent
fishing and camping in some of Saskatchewan's
beautiful northern lakes. This appears to be what
keeps a person from growing too old too fast.

1982, The Humen Family, Bob and Mary with Kimberly and
Wendi Lyn.

Rose (Fedeyko) and Wayne Mauthe
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1968, Rose and Wayne Mauthe. Ukrainian Orthodox Church,
Hafford Sask.

Growing up on a Saskatchewan farm in the 1950’
was, from a child’s point of view, a fun place to be.
Anyone who is surrounded by doting parents and
loving grandparents can do little else but blossom.

My earliest recollections are of my Mother and
Father and myself on the farm 3 miles south of
Krydor. These were happy times with a close family
unit. I recall playing dolls in my **budka’ under the
stairs, smearing Mom’s lipstick and listening to Dad-
dy’s exciting bed time stories.

Our house was built of wood, had three main
rooms and an upstairs with one room. The walls in
the living room were made of congo wall (something
like linolium) and would swell and recede when it
was windy. I recall evenings when it was especially
windy having fun watching the “*wall’s grow.” The
main area around the house was planted with flowers
and raspberry bushes my Mother patiently tended.
Grass was cut with a scythe by my Grandfather or
Dad and the women folk looked after the garden. We



1952, Rose Fedeyko age 4.

also had strawberries, crab apple and plum trees, and
rhubarb. About 20 steps from the main house we had
a summer Kitchen. Mom used it for washing clothes
and canning, also my Grandfather would sleep there
when he was around helping out. Many a morning or
evening | would sneak over to the summer kitchen to
cuddle up to my “‘gidyny". Children never seem to
mind if there is dirt or some grain dust beside a loved
one. | just enjoyed his company.

Our yard was surrounded by caragana, maple and
poplar trees. It was very cozy and well tended. I have
many happy memories of life on the farm, mainly
because I was small and didn’t have to do much
work. In the summer my job was to bring in the wood
from the woodpile. T would pile it on the wooden
wheel barrow, bring it to the house then neatly pile it
in the wood box. Daddy and Grandfather needed
fresh, cool water in the field and it was my job to take
it to them.

Mary and 1 went for cows usually in the late
afternoon. We had many interesting experiences dur-
ing this time: horses following us (they look gigantic
when you are S or 6), trying to catch a kitten only to
find out it was of the black and white variety, catching
big bull frogs. Mom alway warned us about staying
away from the fence during a lightning storm. We
would ask why and she told us it was very dangerous
and we could die. Well Mary and I being good little
girls would stand as close as we could to the barbed
wire fence to see what would happen.

Harvest was an exciting, busy time for farmers
and I'm sure still is. Daddy was busy on the field and

101

Mom in the kitchen cooking up a storm for hungry
men and kids. I must have been 5 or 6 at the time Dad
was cleaning out the back of the combine. The straw
was thick that year and had to be looked after often. |
happened to come out just as he was cleaning it and lo
and behold there were four baby mice nested in the
straw. Dad carefully pulled them out and put them in
my pockets. “There™ he said, *‘now take these nice
pink mice and show your Mother what you have. Be
sure and daggle them over the frying pan where she’s
frying potatoes.” So away | went with my prize into
the kitchen “*Look Mom aren’t they pretty?”” Well
Mother was not pleased to say the least and Dad got
an earful when he came for dinner.

I can’t remember too much of winter on the farm,
apart from just cold weather, snow piled high, Mom
chipping ice so the cows could get to the water; my
Dad getting very ill and leaving for a long time; being
alone with Mom and listening to that dreadful wind
howl. It sure was lonely.

I started school in 1954 at Hafford, Saskatche-
wan. My Grandfather took me my first day of school.
I remember praying for the first time in English (I
was sure God didn’t understand). My teacher was
very pretty, she wore makeup, perfume and even
high heeled shoes. I had never seen anyone like her
before in my life. School meant living at Hafford
with Grandmother and Grandfather, going to church
three times a week and visiting very old people. Not
much fun for a little girl who was used to a large
farmyard with many animals to play with. In
Hafford, Mary and I attended catechism after school
on Fridays. Grandmother was a stern disiplinarian
and made sure we had our homework done. Then we
were taught to read in Ukrainian, cross-stitch and
crochet. After all lessons were done and if there was
still time before bed, Grandmother would read us a
story in Ukrainian or tell us about her life as a child in
Ukraine.

When | was 9, my Father and Mother bought a
new car. It was a brand new 1959 Pontiac Strato Chief
— the only option on it was the four doors. No radio,
cruise, air conditioning or any of the extras we look
for now in a vehicle.

The winter of 1959-60 was the last one my family
spent on the farm; Dad by this time was very ill and
could not do the heavy lifting to feed the cattle. He
spent most of late fall and winter in St. Paul’s Hospi-
tal and we lived at Hafford. How sad these times were
with no one particularly happy about what was hap-
pening but there seemed little one could do. The
bright spot of summer 1960 was playing with our new
baby sister. Lesia received all of our love and asked
for nothing in return. We heard all the little lullabyes,
verses and games that my Mom and Dad knew, in fact



[ liked them so much that I often sang them to my
little boys.

During the next few years (before my Father’s
death in 1963 and Grandfather’s death in Aug. 1964),
we lived for the most part in Hafford. I recall when
we purchased our first television. It was an RCA
Victor and as far as we were concerned, the best. We
would watch the Ed Sullivan Show, Lassie Come
Home, Tugboat Annie, Paladine, The Don Messer
Show and Country Hoedown, just to name a few.
Grandfather and Dad watched boxing when Archie
Moore was champ and midget wrestling. It was at
this time that Rev. Rebalka and his wife, Sylvia,
spent some time with us. They were a young couple
whose visits we really enjoyed.

Uncle Paul and his family came to visit us several
times. I don’t remember the exact years they came
but they certainly seemed to have little trouble in
adapting to our life style (or so I thought). Connie
came in 1960 for two months and helped us out
enormously. He worked on the farm and did the
things my Grandfather and father just couldn’t do.
Richard also worked very hard and I'm sure my
parents and Grandparents really appreciated his
efforts. 1 enjoyed seeing relatives from far away.
They were fun and different than us. I hope their
recollection of farm life is pleasant as well.

Some months before Christmas 1962 my father
became extremely ill and was in hospital for weeks.
During this time he became so gravely ill that we
were told death was near. Doctors do try their best but
even they don’t know when the last moments will be.
My father came home to celebrate Christmas with us
for the last time. Soon into the New Year the am-
bulance came to take him, and we were to see him
well no more. Just before Easter we were called again
to come and see him.

He died on Easter Monday, April 15, 1963. Uncle
Paul came to be with us and he drove us to the
funeral. Grandfather was too ill to be up and about
and so could not attend his son’s funeral. He was
heartbroken staying at home, not being able to help,
but there wasn't much anyone could do. Fifteen
months later we all attended Grandfather’s funeral.
Father and son are buried side by side, just as they
lived together and worked together. They are now at
peace together.

Between the years 1963-64 there were three more
family funerals. My girl friend, Eunice Kroll, died
Feb. 1964. She was only 15 and died of leukemia.
Traditions sometimes take a morbid turn and all the
young girls walked behind the coffin, each carrying a
wreath as her bridesmaids. As a youngster this was
very difficult to accept.

My high school years I recall with fond memo-
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ries. There were many dances, get togethers, boy-
friends and fun. Uncle Paul became a kind of long
distance friend, he wrote me many a letter and sent
me jokes most of which I still have. I appreciated
those letters as they helped ease the pain of not having
my Dad or Gidyn. Church played a big part in our
lives at Hafford, I was involved with our youth or-
ganization in the Greek Orthodox Church. We sang
in the choir, danced and put on dramas. Dramas were
my favourite — I loved to be on stage pretending to
be someone I was not. In 1967, about 15 of us went to
Toronto for the Dominion CYMK Festival. We pre-
sented songs, dances and a lovely play. We came
home the end of July by train. The ride was long and
very hot. None of us had much money for food — on
the way there our mothers had packed fried chicken
for us but on the way back we had to survive on the
two shopping bags of fruit my Uncle Paul had bought
us.

1966, Rose Fedeyko.
Grade 12 graduation.

My Mother introduced me to Wayne. She was
running a boarding house and he came looking for a
place where he could eat. This was in May, 1966
(Wayne was 21 and I was 17). We dated all that Fall
and part of the winter. Then, in January 1967, he was
transferred to Wilkie Detachment and it wasn’t that
casy to see each other. July, 1967 [ started working as
a proof teller for the Bank of Nova Scotia at North
Battleford. Mary came with me and we found a
basement suite for me to live in and helped me get
settled in. The one year I spent alone was very lonely
for me. 1 was used to a big household and it was so
lonesome to come home to an empty apartment.

Our son Kris was born July 9, 1970. He was a
very happy boy, smiling alot and good natured. Fif-
teen months later on October 11, 1971 Mark was
born. Needless to say my hands were full looking
after two babies. They were active little boys needing
alot of care. | had worked at the bank until just before
Kris's birth, then I permamently retired from bank-
ing. In May, 1973 Wayne and I decided to build our



first home. With baby number three on the way, we
felt that we should have our own home. We moved
into our three bedroom bungalow in February, 1974.
One month later, on March 4th our third son, Derek,
was born.

July, 1976 we were transferred to Rosthern, Sas-
katchewan. We moved into an old (1905) story and a
half house which we later bought; Kris started Grade
| and Mark went to kindergarten. I got involved with
the Lutheran Church here, as in North Battleford.
My children were baptized at Zion Lutheran in North
Battleford and we continued to attend regular wor-
ship services at Rosthern. The people at Rosthern
were very friendly towards us and made us feel right
at home.

July, 1978 we were moved to Maidstone, Sas-
katchewan and this was a difficult move for our
family. We liked it so well at Rosthern that we did not
want to go. The older boys missed their friends and |
missed mine. The move was made even more diffi-
cult when I discovered I had Rheumatoid Arthritis.
We couldn’t find a house to live in at Maidstone, so
we had to wait until one was built and that meant
moving in October when the boys had already started
school at Rosthern. We finally arrived in Maidstone,
October 23, 1978. Kris and Mark were hesitant start-
ing school their first day with so many strangers to
meet, but they soon found two little boys who had
recently moved in from B.C. It didn’t take them long
to make new friends. Maidstone was enjoying a mini-
oil boom at this time so there were a lot of strangers
moving in. My time was spent getting used to being
sick, driving boys to hockey, Sunday school and
cubs. I bowled, did some curling, taught Sunday
school (in the Anglican Church), and attended bible
studies. I have met some wonderful people through
these studies and they have helped me enormously to
understand and cope with all the little problems.

Our stay in Maidstone was short as well and in
August, 1980, we were transferred to Montmartre,
Saskatchewan. For those of you who are not familiar
with where Montmartre is, it is 53 miles southeast of
Regina and some 350 miles from Maidstone. We
have lived here for two years and are looking forward
to a move this spring or next. Our interests here are
similar to those in Maidstone, with the boys in
hockey I'm watching a lot of minor hockey. Wayne is
coaching the 10-12 year olds, Kris and Mark’s team,
and I drive Derek to his games. We attend services at
the United Church here because that is the only
Protestant English church close by. Sometimes [ go
to the Greek Orthodox Church and the people are
wonderful to us and we really feel a part of the parish.
We have met many interesting people here and I'm so
glad we had the opportunity to live here. What's in
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store for the future?? No one really knows. We can
only take our opportunities when they come and do
our best. Moving hasn’t always been easy but the
benefits of meeting new friends and seeing new
places has made it worthwhile.

Wayne and Rose Mauthe with sons, Kris, Mark and Derek.

Wayne Mauthe

Canadian born in Gladstone, Manitoba on June
14, 1945 of parents of German descent, Wilhelm
(William) Mauthe and Margaret Elizabeth nee Tonn
named me Wayne Kenneth Mauthe. For the first four
vears of my life, | lived with my parents on my
mother’s parents farm at Plumas, Manitoba. My
brother, Donald George joined our family on Decem-
ber 12, 1947 and in 1949 we moved from my grand-
parents (Joseph Tonn and Augusta Nee Kopp) farm
to our own farm eight miles away. As mother’s family
was fairly large (5 boys and 4 girls) and lived in the
community with their families, regular family get
togethers were common. Close family ties exist even
today, although the family is much more widely
spread, from Vancouver Island, B.C. to Toronto,
Ontario and south to California and Florida in the
U.S.A. My father’s parents (Henrich Mauthe and
Sophie, nee Mitchler) lived ten miles in the opposite
direction, with a family of four boys and three girls,
which also afforded regular family gatherings, usu-
ally on Sunday afternoons after having attended
morning Church service at the Waldersee Lutheran
Church where the services were always in German.
Although family ties have not been as close, contact
is still maintained on special occasions with some
families staying in closer contact than others. One of
the greatest pieces of advice | received in my life was
from my grandfather Mauthe. who one day when I



was working in the yard with him in mid-January and
1, being quite young, complained of having very cold
hands. My grandfather’s reply had been simply *I
know a man who has no hands.™ Although I do not
remember if I had questioned grandfather at the time
as to its meaning, it wasn’tuntil many years later that
the full impact of those words sunk in: I had been well
oft and did not know it. I still apply my grandfather’s
philosophy to my life and no mattter how bad things
get, there is still a bright future ahead. We had so
much to learn from our forefathers. My youngest
brother, Harold William, arrived on October 19,
1954, joining us on our farm which now consisted of
V2 section of good soil, but which did have some pot
holes in which the soil was of an alkaline nature and
did not support high crop yields. In good years, 45
bushels of wheat and up to 85 bushels of oats per acre
was harvested. Our farm was of the mixed farming
variety with about 400 acres under cultivation and the
rest in pasture and hay fields to support a herd of
about 15 cows and the yearly calf crop. Poplar bush
on about 35 acres supplied the firewood for the cook
stove and the box heater. The two stoves were our
only source of heat for the entire three bedroom, two
story home, with the cook stove in the kitchen and
the box heater in the living room. As very little heat
escaped upstairs to the bedrooms, 1 recall often
warming my clothes under the covers before getting
dressed in the morning, with winter mornings being
much the same as we experience today. All beds were
covered with a good old feather ““tick,™ a comforter
some 12 inches thick when the feathers were properly
fluffed. The breath mist could regularly be seen in
the upstairs rooms for five months of every year. The
toilet, of the outdoor variety and the only one on the
farm, posed the regular winter time problem which
could only be solved by breaking off the *cone’ with
a sturdy poplar pole. As there was no running water,
water was carried from the well to the house in 5
gallon pails and was a daily chore, as was filling the
woodbox, which on cold days was required twice
daily. On extremely cold days, the cattle were wa-
tered in the barn with many trips having to be made
with two five gallon pails. On milder days, the cattle
would be herded out ¥4 mile to a dugout in which the
water level stayed fairly high, but which required
daily chopping of the ice to get to the water. Winter-
time also saw the use of the axe come into play,
especially in having to start falling the next winter
firewood. This usually allowed the wood to season or
cure during the summer and be ready for winter
burning. The team of work horses got their daily
winter workout by hauling out the manure from the
barn and hauling a load of logs back on the way in.
Summer was their time to rest as the old Cockshut 40
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took on the summer duties in the field. Spring always
found the geese laying eggs. the cows calving and the
crocus blooming, but not always in that order. With
the cows back in the pasture, old fence posts had to
be replaced and broken wire repaired. This seemed to
be a never ending job that quit only when the cattle
were sheltered again for the winter. The majority of
the fence posts were homemade of poplar trees. with
only some oak and black willow being used. Al-
though these two lasted longer, the hardness of the
wood made preparation of the posts extremely te-
dious, usually only undertaken when father felt that
his boys were in need of some extra exercise. A huge
garden, planted by the entire family yielded a good
return, but my memory recalls that it was usually the
boys' fingers that were wrapped around the hoe han-
dle as father always had other farm duties and mother
had household chores to do. Summer and fall rolled
around with harvest and haying completing the cycle
where everything much the same repeated itself for
another year. School was attended regularly with
only a few days being missed every year during
seeding and harvest. As the entire community was
involved in farming, the school also worked its
breaks to accommodate farm families by closing
during the vital farm operations of seeding and har-
vesting.

Baseball was the major summer sport, which has
now given way to fastball and slowpitch. Fall always
saw the football coach trying to rework the farm boys
into athletes after they had spent all summer hoeing
in the garden, pounding the post hole digger and
pitching square bales. All in all, the coach usually
did a pretty good job, considering that he was work-
ing with young boys living on the brink of manhood.
Winter sports were restricted to hockey on an outdoor
rink or curling in a two rink closed-in building. Not
being a Wayne Gretzky, I took to curling which [ still
enjoy today, although I now have three boys who
have ““Hockey Stars™ in their eyes, and spend many
father-and-coach hours at the skating arena.

Having completed highschool in 1964 and having
tasted the tarm life of long hard hours, and also
having tried two summers of driving single axle and
tandem axle gravel trucks, I felt that I had to try my
childhood dream of being a **Red Coat Mountie.™ In
June 1964, 1 wrote my final exams in highschool and
went straight to the Royal Canadian Mounted Police
Detachment in Gladstone, Manitoba and wrote my
police entrance exam. For the remainder of 1964, |
drove gravel truck and was laid off work in January,
1965. 1 applied for Unemployment Insurance and
March 3rd. I received a phone call from the Unem-
ployment Insurance Commission, telling me that |
had a job as a surface worker at the nickel mine at



Thompson, Manitoba and that 1 was to start on
March 15. Two hours later on the 3rd of March, I
received a call from the Royal Canadian Mounted
Police that I was accepted and that | was to be sworn
in. 1 called back the Unemployment Commission and
explained to them that I was joining the Police Force.
I was sworn in on March 19, 1965 and posted to
Rockeliffe, Ontario, a suburb of Ottawa. which was
one of the Police training bases at that time. I spent
three days on the train moving east with $30.00 in my
pocket and a light suitcase. I adapted quickly to the
military style of life that one is compelled to live
while in training. I guess that the reason for this was
that I felt that 31 other young men were going through
the same thing that I was and I was going to be man
enough to survive. Although it was tough, I did
survive and after nine months of rise and shine at
6:00 A.M. and lights out at 11:00 p.m., with a heavy
mixture of horse riding, stable cleaning, boot and
leather polishing, shirt ironing, target practice and a
nose in the book, I graduated on November 3, 1965.
What a relief. My parents planned to attend my
graduation, but because of a train derailment which
had occurred on the line ahead of them, they had to
be rerouted and missed the ceremonies, much to my
disappointment and also theirs. | was posted to Sas-
katchewan and accompanied my parents back on the
train as far as Manitoba, after which I was on my
own. Larrived in Regina and spent one day polishing
the brass window handles before being posted to
North Battleford, Saskatchewan. Enroute from Re-
gina to North Battleford via bus, I had a three hour
layover in Saskatoon and met two veteran Mounties
who recognized me as a recruit and proceeded to tell
me about North Battleford. From their description, |
learned that it was a great place to have been, a great
place to be leaving but one hell of a place to be going!
Not knowing anything about the strange world that |
had entered, I expected the worst, remembering that
in Regina they had given me 12 rounds of ammuni-
tion, a winter storm coat and a pair of zippered rubber
overshoes. The name North Battleford itself led me
to believe that the first part of the name must indicate
a locality near the North West Territories. Contrary
to my belief, I found North Battleford to be a very
enjoyable, warm community where I quickly made
new friends and where | lived for 6 months before
being transferred to Hafford on March 6, 1966. As
the Barracks provided only sleeping accommodation
for single Police Officers, I was faced only with
having to find a boarding house. After some enqui-
ries into this, I learned that Mrs. Ann Fedeyko, a
widow with three single daughters, already had
boarders and that this would be my best choice. I had
approached Mrs. Fedeyko, skeptical, as she already

105

1965, Const. Wayne K. Mauthe, RCMP. “N" Division, Ottawa.

had boarders, but was pleased to find out that she
would supply me with sit down meals at her table for
$45.00 a month. Needless to say, the cooking suited
my palate very much and the community hospitality
quickly made me feel at home. The single daughters
that I had wondered about were Mary, taking Nurses
Training at St. Pauls Hospital in Saskatoon: Rose,
completing her Grade 12 at Hafford High School and
Lesia, being somewhat younger and in Grade 1.
After some time of tolerance on my part and toler-
ance and acceptability on the part of Mrs. Fedeyko
and her daughters, Rose and | became better ac-
quainted. On January 30, 1967 | was transferred to
Wilkie Detachment, but did make visitations back to
Hafford to visit Rose and her family and my friends. |
remained posted at Wilkie until April 28, 1968, when
I transferred to the North Battleford Telecommunica-
tions Section as the Force was attempting to place me
at a point suitable for a married member, as Rose and
[ had made plans for our wedding on August 3, 1968.
We were married at Hafford in one of the first



R.C.M.P. weddings the community had seen. The
rest is our story.

1981, Wayne and Rose Mauthe.

We had a lovely wedding day with many friends
and relatives at our wedding celebration. Our honey-
moon had to be postponed until September (as work
permitted) at which time we travelled to Vancouver
Island and other points in B.C., visiting relatives and
also sight seeing. Our first home was at 1462-101st
Street, North Battleford, a back yard, above ground
level, one bedroom suite which was in the same
apartment block that Rose lived in before we were
married. Our son, Kristopher Wade, was born on
July 9, 1970. He was a very happy boy, smiling a lot
and very good natured. When we were expecting our
second born, the decision was made to move to larger
home which was an upper two bedroom suite in a
four-plex at 2042-99th Street. Wayne was transferred
to North Battleford Rural Detachment, but no physi-
cal move was required on our part as it basically
amounted to a paper transfer in which Wayne
changed from one job to another in the same office
building. Our second son, Mark Edward, was born
on October 11, 1971 and needless to say Rose's hands
were full with two babies. Wayne was kept busy also,
but with an eight hour break every day at his job,
Rose was left with the home task of looking after the
boys. Sometime later we moved to another home,
this time at 1712-102nd Street where we lived until we
expected our third born. At this time our decision was
to build our own house and bought a lot at 2176-101st
Street Crescent, later renamed Douglas Avenue. We
moved into our new home in February 1974 and
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Derek Wayne was born on March 4th. Rose had
permanently retired from her banking job just before
our first son had been born and now found her job of
being a mother very demanding but worthwhile. The
beginning of March 1974, Wayne and Rose, together
with two friends, formed a company we named April
Holdings. During that summer we built four houses
for resale. We then bought a revenue home which we
later sold as well. It was a busy summer full of little
kids and lots of work.

We were transferred on July 6, 1976 to Rosthern,
Saskatchewan and sold our home in North Battleford
and rented a one and a half story house which had
been built in 1905 and which we later bought. The
transfer was a promotional move for Wayne and in
October 1976, he was promoted to Corporal, serving
as the third in charge and eventually the 2nd in
charge. We became involved with the Lutheran
Church in Rosthern as in North Battleford. Our chil-
dren were baptised at Zion Lutheran Church in North
Battleford and we continued to attend regular wor-
ship service in Rosthern. We became involved with
Bible session studies, with Rose following more
diligently along this line. Wayne became involved
with the Rosthern Lions Club and devoted some extra
time to community activities. Kris had started Grade
One and Mark went to kindergarten. The community
had made us feel very welcome from the first day that
we had arrived, but the day came and we were on the
move again. This time we moved to Maidstone and
was one of our more difficult moves as living ac-
comodation had to be waited on and our transfer
could not take place until October 22, 1978. The boys
had already started school at Rosthern, with Kris in

1976, “Fishing” Wayne, with sons Mark, Derek and Kris.



Grade 3 and Mark in Grade 2, so not only did our
family have to experience a friend adjustment, but
also a school adjustment. This is one move that we
didn’t really want to take as the boys missed their
friends and we missed ours. The move did give
Wayne the opportunity to be in charge of his own
Detachment, giving him the opportunity to expand
on his knowledge of the administrative duties of
running a Detachment. Kris and Mark were both very
leery of attending at school on our first day in Maid-
stone but they soon found two friends who had also
only recently moved to Maidstone from B.C. When
we first moved to Maidstone, we were living in a new
house we had bought, but after several months of
making house payments at Rosthern where we had
not been able to sell our house, plus making house
payments at Maidstone, we were finding the finan-
cial burden getting a little too heavy as we saw our
savings being slowly eaten away. Barracks were
available, however, had not been lived in for a couple
of years, so Wayne made application to move into the
Barracks. Permission was granted and in May 1979
we changed houses and put our Maidstone house up
for sale also. Within one week of each other and
within two weeks of moving into the Barracks, we
were able to sell both our homes, the one in Rosthern
and the one in Maidstone. Maidstone was enjoying a
mini-oil boom at this time, so it was a growing
community with new people always moving in. Just
before leaving Rosthern, we found out that Rose had
Rheumatoid Arthritis and our lifestyle had to adapt
accordingly, with Rose having to make the biggest
adjustment in learning to live with this new sickness.
Rose became involved in teaching Sunday School
and Cubs and Wayne joined the Kinsmen Club in an
effort to return something to the community instead
of always taking something. We became involved
with the Anglican Church which we attended reg-
ularly and became involved again in family Bible
study and Rose also in a Ladies’ Bible study. We have
met some wonderful people through these studies,
helping us enormously to understand and cope with
some of life’s little problems. Our stay in Maidstone
was short lived and we were transferred to
Montmartre, Saskatchewan on August 5, 1980. Our
interests here are similar to those previously men-
tioned, with the boys involved in minor hockey,
swimming and all activities offered in a community
of this size. Rose supports the boys as a spectator
while Wayne is now involved as a *‘coaching father™
of the 12 and under team. We attend the Moffat
United Church in a nearby rural community. as this is
the only English Protestant church close by. Rose
sometimes attends the Ukrainian Greek Orthodox
Church and we find the people from both parishes
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very friendly and warm. As in our other home com-
munities, we have met many interesting people and
are very glad to have had the opportunity to have
lived in those communities and to have met the peo-
ple. Moving hasn’t always been easy, but the benefits
of meeting new friends and seeing new places seems
to have made it all worthwhile. A little saying that we
picked up quite sometime ago is very appropriate and
can be easily applied to anyone’s lifestyle, whether
you change communities often or have established a
permanent residence and home — *“*No one cares
how much you know, until they know how much you
care.”

Lesia Irene Fedeyko

1982, Lesia Fedeyko. Uni-
versity of Alberta Gradua-
tion, B.A. Honors.

Lesia Irene Fedyko is the third and youngest
daughter of Edward and Anne Fedeyko. Born in
Hafford, Saskatchewan in 1960, she was only three
years old when her father passed away, making any
memories of him few, but dearly treasured. Her
mother, Anne, was very devoted to Lesia, playing the
role of both father and mother, and raised her to value
the Orthodox Church, her family, and the Ukrainian
culture. She attended Hafford School, but in 1969,
Lesia and her mother moved to Saskatoon, where she
attended Pleasant Hill School, and later Mount Royal
Collegiate.

Outside of school, her main interests included
CYMK, Ukrainian dancing with the Pavlychenko
Ensemble, and singing with the Vesna Youth Chorus.
With these groups, Lesia was fortunate enough to
travel throughout Canada. Always a diligent student,
she maintained a high average in school while being
actively involved in the community. Scholastic
achievements in Ukrainian and French enabled her to
be chosen Saskatchewan’s student representative at a
Canadian multiculturalism conference held in Van-
couver.

World travel fascinated Lesia and in 1978 she



1978, Lesia — "Knyahynia of Obzhynok” (KYK). Represented
the Ukrainian Youth under this title. Dancing with Mayor
Clifford Wright of Saskatoon.

travelled with a high school travel club to Greece,
where she experienced Greek culture and learned
much about the Mediterranean peoples.

Many awards and scholarships were granted
Lesia throughout her university years, including a
$1500 undergraduate scholarship from the Canadian
Institute of Ukrainian Studies for high attainment in
Ukrainian studies. In 1979, she was one of five se-
lected students who participated in an exchange pro-
gram with the University of Chernivtsi, Ukraine fora
six-week study period.

Lesia transferred to the University of Alberta in
1980 to further her studies. While at St. John's In-
stitute, she was very actively involved in dance,
drama, as well as singing, both in residence choir and
with Edmonton’s CYMK choir. She was also presi-
dent of the University of Alberta Ukrainian Students’
Club which held several functions for university stu-
dents.

In 1982 she convocated with a Bachelor of Arts
degree with first class honors in Ukrainian. In 1983,
Lesia completed a second degree, Bachelor of Edu-
cation, from the University of Saskatchewan. Pres-
ently, she is pursuing a teaching career, and enjoying
the challenges it offers.

1982, Lesia with Wendi and Kimberly Humen.

Paul R. and Louise Fedeyko

I was born on July 23, 1916, 3 miles west of
Krydor on the first homestead farm. The family
moved to Cutknife where, at the age of four, I nar-
rowly survived an accident when I was pushed
against the flywheel of a tractor. I attended the Ukrai-
nian Public School for one year from grandfather’s
place. and when the family moved to their own farm,
attended Zbaraz School for five years. In 1927 | was
sent to Krydor High School for grade 8 and the rest of



1983, Paul and Louise Fedeyko.

my Senior Matriculation. In 1933 I was at the Univer-
sity of Saskatchewan and the next year attended the
Royal Military College at Kingston. Due to health
problems I was compelled to quit the College alter
one year and the fall of 1935 found me in Toronto. |
was fortunate to get a job at a Ukrainian Dairy as a
bookkeeper and worked there for 3 years. Then |
spent 2 years as a bookkeeper accountant in an auto-
motive firm that handled new and used parts.
While I held various jobs for small firms and
private businesses I was studying at night to improve
my education. Work was scarce during the war, es-
pecially if you had no army discharge. 1 had at-
tempted to join but because of ill health my
enlistment was not approved. Finally in 1943, | was
called to report and did basic training at Petawawa.
We were convoyed to England in 1944 and stayed in
different barracks and met all kinds of interesting
people. Original units were broken up and new ones
formed and sent to Italy, Egypt, and the Middle East.
I was kept in England for one year, then was sent to
France, Belgium, and Holland, but not Germany.
Army life was day-to-day routine but I did get a
chance to see many places and historical buildings.

1934, L-R: Bill (Wasyl), Rosalia, Edward and Paul Fedeyko.



Unfortunately 1 was not able to take pictures as
cameras and film were not available and developing
would have been impossible. While I was overseas |
was promoted to Corporal — Royal Canadian Engi-
neers.

After my discharge in 1946, I worked for a short
time as a bookkeeper, then went into partnership and
bought a garage. A few years later we rented a Shell
station in Toronto. The garage business was a real
headache — long hours, late closing, trying to keep
customers, and most importantly, trying to get good
help. We finally sold it all and purchased a 200 acre
farm in Orangeville. 1 got rid of all the weeds and
organized parts for various crops; we had no cattle or
fowl. To the family, life on the farm was great in the
spring, summer, and fall. Winters in the snow belt
made a simple task like getting in and out to shop, a
major undertaking.

1934, Yaroslaw Martinovich and Paul Fedeyko. Royal Military
College, Kingston Ontario.

I decided I wasn’t cut out for farming and the
move back to the City of Toronto was a challenge to
us all. I got a job as a Stationery Engineer at Amer-

ican Standard Co. and worked steady nights for 13
years till the company was sold out. I kept on with the
new owners until the buildings were torn down. The
Toronto Western Hospital was my next place of em-
ployment and I remained there as maintenance engi-
neer until my retirement in 1981.

Although I did not belong to any organizations or
groups because of the time demands of shift work and
recalls, [ did donate to the Ukrainian Greek
Orthodox Church when they began building at 404
Bathurst St. in Toronto.

We find the pace of retired life slower and quieter
than when we were younger. There are many things a
person would like to do or try but the old bones and
muscles do not respond. Health and peace of mind
are, indeed, a treasure.

Ann Louise Fedeyko (nee Shugan)

I was born in Winnipeg in 1921. My father
worked in Transcona for CNR as an assistant fore-
man at the depot.

I started school in Headingly and continued in
Domain public schools. The family moved to Trans-
cona and that is where I finished my education.

As there was no prospect of a job in Transcona, |
came to Toronto to my mother’s family, who helped
me to get work at Sherrif’s Marmalade Factory. |
changed employment and entered the garment indus-
try as an assistant head cutter, pattern maker and
screen printer. In 1941, T met Paul Fedeyko and we
were married in 1943.

When Paul joined the armed forces I worked as a
lathe-operator turning out shell casings in an am-
munition plant. After his discharge in 1946, I was
kept mostly at home as our son Richard was born in
1947.

The move to the farm in Orangeville was quite an
experience. | was asked to be a relief teacher and to
help with school activities. 1 attended the United
Church in the area and taught Sunday School. [ still
remember preparing cakes and pies for church
gatherings and being one of the few people who
could drive and had a car at home. The actual farm
life was very difficult.

We moved to our Rexdale home and started an-
other phase of living. To supplement the family in-
come I took a job as a supervisor of a Laura Secord
store at the plaza close to home. Eventually 1 was
asked by a hardware firm to take over the duties of
head cashier and assistant manager of their store. My
years of retail experience helped me to start my own
Ladies” Wear Store which I kept for 3 years and sold
out of to be an assistant manager in an exclusive
ladies’ fashion place. Then I was asked by another



fashion firm to set up and manage a store in one of the
first large modern plazas. Later | was sent to another
new built plaza to organize their new store. The
hectic pace of changing styles and being on my feet
all the time was taking its toll on my health. My last
position was manager of Maternity Fashions.

Age is catching up to us and we slowly have to
accept older life, carrying on the best we can. As
long as we have our health the future is sunny and
cheerful.

Konstantine Paul and Constance Fedeyko

Constance and Konnie Fedeyko with children Stefan and
Holly Jo.

I was born in 1939, a son to Paul R. and Anne
Fedeyko. The childhood memories which are most
pleasant for me are of the time I spent living on the
farm in Krydor, Sask. with my grandparents, Kost
and Rosalia Fedeyko, after my mother died. Sadly,
my children will never experience growing up on a
farm. It is with much nostalgia that I recall some of
those farm experiences: The threshing teams that
used to go from farm to farm to help harvest, with my
grandmother and aunt cooking for 15 men (no micro-
waves then!); the blessing of livestock and of our

1942, Konnie and grandfather Kost Fedeyko.

buildings: our first tractor with lugs that took Uncle
Edward and grandfather 2 days to drive home; har-
rowing with horses on a hot day; the outhouse with
the softer pages of the Simpson’s or Eaton catalogue;
the Chinook winds that would change the tempera-
tures from — 20F to —40F; going to school in the
cabooses because of cold weather or staying at my
granduncle Kazmir's (grandmother’s brother); my
years at the country school, Zbaraz, School District
#2403; Ukrainian as my first language (I still have
trouble with v's and w’s in English); the trips to
Saskatoon (the **big City™) and eating fresh kobasa
and rye bread on the way back home; and finally,
trapping gophers.

Schools I have attended include: Silverthorne
Collegiate Institute — Senior Matriculation; Ryerson
Polytechnical Institute, Toronto, Ontario, (Mechan-
ical Engineering Tech.): Michigan Technological
Univ., Houghton, Michigan, USA (B.Sc. — Mech.
Eng.); University of New Haven, Connecticut, USA
(M.Sc. — Indus. Eng.).

[ belong to the American Institute of Industrial
Engineers and at one time belonged to the Young
Ukrainian Nationalists in Toronto.

The companies | have worked for follow: Roscoe
Metal Products in Toronto; Turnbull Elevator Co.
Ltd., Toronto: Taylor Instruments Company,
Rochester, N.Y.: Avco Lycoming Division, Strat-
ford, Conn.; General Electric Co., Bridgeport,
Conn.; United Technologies Corp. (Ambac Automo-
tive Div.), Cincinnati, Ohio; Dressler Industries Inc.,
Corporate Computer Services Div. with approved



1971, L-R: Louise, Paul, Constance, Konnie, Rosalia and
Richard Fedeyko

sports. especially watching our daughter. Holly Jo.
swim. She set a record in her age and stroke group in
Cincinnati and swam with a relay team that won and
broke 2 records in a meet composed of 48 teams from
the Midwestern United States. Holly Jo also placed
fourth in synchronized swimming in the midwest
regionals the following year. Our 9 year old son
Stefan is also coming along fine and will no doubt
find his sport when he gets older. Our vacations have
been spent visiting our immediate families and
seeing the points of interest in areas we have lived in.

We maintain Easter and Christmas traditions for
both English and Ukrainian celebrations. Easter is
special for us all as we go to church and the basket is
loaded with good ethnic foods to be blessed in the
church.

1943, Konnie age 4.
1982, Stefan and Holly Jo Fedeyko.

transfer to the Industrial Division in Stratford, Conn.
in 1984, We presently reside at 844 Eisenhower Drive,
My wife (Constance Pospesil) and I enjoy most Pitsburgh, PA.



Richard Allen and Helen Fedeyko

1972, Helen and Richard Fedeyko.

I was born in 1947, a son to Paul R. and Louise
Fedeyko.

My first school days were spent at Orangeville,
Ontario on the farm property, and I also attended
Sunday School at Camilla. The earliest recollections
I have of farm life are wonderful. I remember my
German Shepard companion, Shepp, my experiences
driving the Jeep through the fields, my first shot at a
ground hog, my dad teaching me safety first.

1949, Richard, Paul R. and Konnie Fedeyko.

One vivid memory is of the time [ drove the Jeep
into my father’s car and of my favorite uncle Walter
Shugan advising my father that he parked in the
wrong place. My Uncle was full of schemes for
good. fun-filled mischief!

My first hospital stay, in Orangeville, followed a
fall on a neighbor’s frozen driveway resulting in a
split lip. No Christmas for me that year!

When we moved to Toronto I attended Public
school and matriculated at Thistletown Collegiate
Institute where [ enjoved courses in drafting, elec-
tricity and music. I was also group leader of a boy-
scout troop for 3 years.

We lived by the river in Toronto and my gang of
new friends and I relived a lot of cowboys and Indians
days. Uncle Walter had bought me a small BB pistol
in a holster and belt and was | ever proud to show it
off! When I hit a stone from too close the pellet
bounced back into the center of my forehead leaving
a mark which I will always have. After 2 days and 4
bandaids I had to go to the doctor. Did he have a fit!
All T got was a needle, a lecture, and no gun for a
while.

I contracted every childhood disease within a 50-
mile radius and suffered a broken hand, broken foot
and had two operations.

The pains and woes of growing up were compen-
sated for by visits to places of interest. We crossed the
gorge at Niagara Falls by cable and visited the tower
and museum. There was a trip to the Parliament
Buildings and Royal Mint in Ottawa, and a tour of
Quebec, and through the historic City, as well as
Montreal.

We used to visit with my Grandparents (Kost
Fedeyko) and Uncle Edward in Saskatchewan every
year and what a holiday that was on the farm! We

1984, Mark, Helen and Richard Fedeyko.



1983, Mark Fedeyko.

—

were treated royally and the food was always deli-
cious!

I will never forget the trip to North Battleford and
visiting a real fort!

I remember meeting Uncle Bill Fedeyko at Fort
Saskatchewan, the tour of Edmonton, and vicinity
and mostly the oilfields and farms with pumps on
them. We enjoyed the stay at the cottage and I still
have a picture from there of most of the Fedeykos I
met.

I met my wife, Helen Argerys, at a Christmas
party and we were married in September 1972. We
are settled down now and have a son, Mark, born in
1983.

Catherine (Barchuk) and Louis Karpan

Slowly the car turned off Highway 40 and wound
its way onto a grid road north, passing an unpainted
granary with a lean-to on the west side to house a
buggy. Turning west we came to a farm house with a
small porch, now covered by tall caragana hedge.
The white washed wall stood remarkably well all
these years. It stirred many happy fond memories as |
viewed the home I left some 55 years ago. This was
the place my parents had built and where I was born,
near Krydor, Saskatchewan.

I was born a twin in September 1912, the first
children of Elizabeth and Martin Barchuk. Unfor-
tunately my sister Anne died of dysentery in 19]3.

As 1 was approaching school age, Aunt Alex-
andra taught me the alphabet and since Oukraina
School was only half a mile from Grandmother’s,
most of my school year was spent there. When the
snow was heavy Grandma walked ahead, making
tracks for me to follow in. In the spring we used to
take a short cut across the field and lakes and most of
the time our clothes, socks, and shoes were so wet
that they would not dry by morning. We kids were
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1920, Back row: Catherine Barchuk and Mark Deditch. Front
row: Irene, Walter and Stephanie Barchuk,

lucky that the ice across the lake did not break. It was
such fun.

When we moved in 1927, we lived about two
miles from Krydor High School. These were the
happy days: between studies we took part in ball and
other games. Our principal was W. Sarchuk; we
worked hard and made good grades. 1 graduated
from high school in 1930 and the following year |
enrolled in Regina Teachers’ College. In 1933 I was
able to obtain a teaching position at Lost Lake



School, just east of Hafford, at a salary of three
hundred dollars a year. Those were the years where it
was not uncommon to have one hundred applications
for one school position. The school houses were of
frame construction, heated with a pot belly wood
furnace. There were seldom any reference books or
material of any kind. The school housed around forty
to sixty pupils with eight to eleven grades and the job
was a real challenge. When I 'look back I marvel at the
quality of education the pupils received. Perhaps it
was due to children wishing to learn and the fine
cooperation of the parents.

In April 1934, 1 took over the teaching at Sand
Lake School from Louis Karpan who went farming.
This was an old school of sixty-three kids and eleven
grades. Louis™ family came from Krydor originally,
where he attended school, followed by Saskatoon
Bedford Road and Nutana Collegiate and later Teach-
er's College in Regina. His first school was Canada
School, some twenty miles north of Hafford, about
three miles east of the present site of the Hamlet of
Alticane. He also taught three years at Sand Lake
School west of the present Petrofka Bridge.

In July of 1934 Louis and I were married in the
Church Chapel in Krydor and moved out to the farm
at Borden. We were fortunate to get a few good
crops, but the price of grain was in the forty cent a
bushel range, so progress was fairly slow. Those
were the years when jobs were scarce. We lived along
the Canadian National Railway and it was not un-
common to have someone for lunch or dinner but this
ended as soon as the war was declared.

At the beginning of the World War II we had
acquired more land and livestock and at first were
able to hire help, but with enlistment, help got scarce
and the load got pretty heavy. In 1940 our daughter
Elizabeth Lucy Elaine was born and was a welcomed
addition in our house. By the summer of 1943 we felt
that the farm load we had assumed was getting too
heavy without help, so we decided to leave the farm
and try a business venture. In the fall of 1943, we
purchased a general store at Speers, Saskatchewan.
Business was good but we found that we were faced

with a quota system which was hard to obtain. In’

January of 1945 we lost the store in an afternoon fire.
Unfortunately we had very little insurance, so Speers
Cooperative rebuilt the store which we operated that
year.

In the fall of 1945 we purchased a general store in
Maymont from Nathan Friedman and hired Ted
Saundres to operate it for us. In 1947, Louis built a
garage and set up a shop with three employees and
General Motors and Massey Ferguson contracts.

In 1945 daughter Gladys Linda joined our family
as a sister to Lucy. Gladys started school in May-
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mont, and both girls joined CGIT and the church
choir.

Both girls took piano lessons. Lucy taught Sun-
day school classes when she was home. Graduating
from high school with honors she attended Univer-
sity of Saskatchewan and graduated with a Degree in
Education, later specializing in Primary Education.
Daughter Gladys graduated from high school and
decided to join the Navy.

[t wasn't until 1951 that we took our first holiday
and motored to the West Coast with Lucy and
Gladys. We visited such places as the Boulder Dam,
Glacier Park, Stanley Park, Buchard Gardens of Vic-
toria. That was the first look the girls had at the
beautiful mountains.

The following year our family motored east, trav-
elling through the northern U.S. and visiting
Hamilton, Toronto Museum and Niagara Falls.

In 1967, Lucy and Brenda motored with us to
castern Canada and Expo in Montreal. We visited
Ronald and Gladys Falcon and their baby daughter
Katherine in Halifax and marvelled at the wooden
bridges in Nova Scotia and toll bridges in Halifax.
We visited the house of Anne of Green Gables,
Legislative Buildings in all the provinces, toured
Prince Edward Island, dug for clams, and visited a
miniature city and original church building.

In 1970 we took a trip to the Orient, visiting
Japan, Hong Kong, Taiwan and China proper. We
visited the Emperor’s Palace, the grounds, golden
Palaces, rice paddies, fishing villages, tea planta-
tions, cultured pearl beds, Toyota car assembly plant,
Expo and the Cherry Blossom Festival. Hong Kong
was particularly fascinating with sky scrapers, many
cultural sights, poverty dwellings, and overcrowded
apartment houses.

In 1971 we flew to London, England, took a tour
through Holland, Denmark, Sweden and Norway,
took the ship voyage to Newcastle, and from here we
toured England, up to the Irish Sea, Wales and Scot-
land.

In 1977 we took a trip to Europe, England,
Belgium, Switzerland, Austria, Isle of Capri, Italy
and France.

In 1978 I visited the Holy Land. Louis did not
wish to go. A group from Maymont went and we
visited Jerusalem, Bethlehem, and most biblical
places that Christ had made his way through so many
years ago. We dipped our toes in the Jordan River.
This was a very educational and enjoyable trip.

In 1979 we toured Fiji, Australia, and New Zea-
land. We visited vineries, stayed overnight at farm-
steads where we were shown how ranchers operate.
Due to warm winters they do not put up any feed for
livestock. The bulk of their machinery consisted of a



garden tractor and a Jeep truck. We visited one of the
finest stud farms where we saw a two million dollar
stud horse and the finest breeding in the world. We
saw thousands of sheep. farm fields of wheat.
sorgum, and the growing of two crops a year. We
visited the Opera House in Sydney and also Captain
Cook’s Palace. On the way back we stopped in
Hawaii, a beautiful group of islands with beautiful
beaches, hotels, and parks. We toured the finest
harbour in the world, Pearl Harbour.

In 1978 Louis retired from municipal secretary-
treasurer position, and has been looking after the
affairs of the Village of Maymont, the church books
and i1s manager of low rental homes. He hopes 1o
retire completely in the spring of 1983. We have a
cottage at the lake and our families are not too far so
we are hoping to have more time to enjoy our leisure
years with them.

Gladys Linda and Ronald Falcon,

1963, E. Lucy E. (Karpan)
Howes.
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Stephanie (Barchuk) and Mike Melnyk
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1972, Stephanie and Mike Melynk.

I was born in Nov. 23, 1914. I attended Ukraina
and Krydor school where I completed my secondary
schooling. Upon completing my grade twelve, | re-
turned to the farm.

In 1935 I met and married Mike E. Melnyk and
settled on rented land. We faced the same many
hardships as the pioneers, including severe weather
conditions.

In 1938, during the depression, with no prospects
of a crop, Mike and two of his neighbors decided to
go to Alberta to find work. They walked and rode
freight trains to get there only to discover that jobs
were scarce there too. He made just enough money to
return to Saskatchewan and it was back to farming
again!

In those days, lights were either coal oil or gas
lamps, and a wood stove provided heat and was used
to cook with.

During the depression years horses were indis-
pensible and were used for transportation as well as
various chores on the farm and all field work. In the
winter we hauled cut wood for fuel and even hauled
wood to town for a few dollars as money was very
scarce in those days.

There were long hours of work which was a part
of farming, gardening, and raising a family with
limited facilities available. In those days wells had to
be dug and the water drawn and carried by hand.
During dry spells the wells would go dry, and we
hauled water both for house and for the livestock. In



those depression years, we had to work hard and got
nothing in return.

In 1944 we purchased Mazurek’s land. built a
house and moved that same year. In 1949 we bought
our first tractor, after which the work got easier but
the davs seemed to get longer. In order to make
money to operate the farm we raised cattle, pigs and
chickens. milked cows and shipped cream.

The use of cars in winter meant keeping the roads
open. For many winters it was up to Mike and our
neighbors to keep the roads open. This was a cold
and unrewarding job, as many times a newly opened
road would be blown over the next morning.

Electricity came in 1960 to change the way of life
on the farm and with it came lights, a freezer, and
other conveniences to make farm tasks easier.

With changing times country schools were closed
and the school bus picked up the children at the door
to take them to Blaine Lake school.

Our family consisted of three sons. Emest was
born on March 8, 1936 and died while still very
young. Gordon was born on Nov. 28, 1945. He
attended Uhrynow, a country school which was three

1977, Walter, Stephanie, Mike and Gordon Melnyk.

miles away. At times it was difficult getting to school
during the winter time as the roads were very poor
compared to today. After completing grade eight at
Uhrynow. Gordon enrolled at Blaine Lake Com-
posite High School. He graduated and remained on
the farm for several years. He then went to Saskatoon
to work as a letter carrier and later worked in the
Duval potash mine. June 1, 1969 he married Claire

1979, Kevin, Gordon, Cindy, Claire, Brian and Darryl.

Bonin. In 1970 they returned to the farm and built a
new house. They have four children: Kevin 13, Dar-
ryl 11, Cindy 7. and Bryan 5. They all attend Blaine
Lake school.

Our third son, Walter, was born on Nov. 16, 1949.
He also attended Uhrynow School for six years, then
attended Krydor for two years. He completed his
high school at Blaine Lake in 1967. He enrolled at the
University of Saskatchewan, faculty of Engineering
in 1967 and graduated from the U. of S. in 1972 with
a B.Sc. in Engineering, Geological Sciences. He
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1960, Threshing on Mike Melnyk farm.



1960, Harvesting, Walter on Binder, Gordon on tractor.

1866, Harvesting on Melnyk farm, Gordon on Combine, Walter
on truck.

presently resides in North Vancouver, and works for
Esso Resources Canada as an exploration geologist.

In 1978 we moved to Blaine Lake leaving our
eldest son Gordon to take over the farming operation.
Both, Mike and I are in good health and enjoy help-
ing on the farm, travelling, fishing, and gardening.
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1969, Gordon and Claire Melnyk.

Irene (Barchuk) and Paul Hrynchuk

[ am one of five children born to Martin and
Elizabeth (Fedeyko) Barchuk on August 25, 1916. |
was raised on the farm and went to a country school
named *“*Oukraina™, just a mile south of my grand-
parents’ (Fedeyko) home. In my early school years
we moved to Krydor district where I attended school
to the eighth grade.

I remember when I was a young girl and we had
our Christmas dinners at our grandparents. Grandma
had hay on the table with a white tablecloth and all
the main twelve dishes of food. After a delicious
meal we children went under the table to search in the
hay for nuts and candy. There was also a sheaf of
wheat in the corner for a good crop in the coming
year. During my holidays from school I stayed with
my grandparents and | remember making some tasty
golden brown bread in an outdoor oven. The smell
and aroma made you hungry. It was great.

There was another time when grandpa needed
help to make hay. We had to tramp it on the hayrack
and haul itto the yard. My sister Stephanie and | were
so thrilled when we were paid 50¢ for that day and



Paul and Irene Hrynchuk family, Back row, L-R: Louise, Paul,
Irene, Alice. Front row: Bert, Kenneth and David.

1935, Paul Hrynchuk, winter transportation.

planned how we would spend it on the rides at the
Saskatoon fair. That was a long time ago, we were
3-10 years of age at the time, and the rides were the 5¢
ind.
~ ILcanstill vividly picture my grandparents getting
In their shiny black buggy with its well-groomed
horse to go to Krydor shopping, which was once in
tWo or more weeks. There were many times, also,
when coming home from school we had to go by our
grandparents’ house and would call in for some
cookies and milk, good home baked bread, good
tl?utter and cottage cheese which were all made on the
arm.,
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When Dad sold the land we moved away and
didn’t get to see them as often as we would have
liked.

I finished my schooling in Krydor (Grade 8) and
then stayed home and helped on the farm. I remem-
ber Dad hitching up the horses to the harrows and I
went all day walking behind them, barefoot and
bruised. Then I decided it would be fun to go help
Dad plow the land. The horses were hard to handle
and I was a very tired girl of 13.

I married Paul Hrynchuk at the age of 18 and
moved to the Borden district to our small farm. We
had three children who attended Wheat Heart School
for some three years. We sold our place and took over
Dad’s land in the Krydor district in 1946. The times
were very tough, because we had such a setback in
the dirty thirties. I remember when eggs were 5-6¢ a
dozen. The wheat was 52¢ in 1939 and we sold one
cow, to feed the family, for $8.00. We kept one cow
milking for the children.

Harvesting on the Hrynchuk farm before the day of the tractor.



Grandpa passed away in August of 1939 when the
farmers were busy mowing their crops for feed.

In 1949 we had another son, Dave. and one more
in 1955. They are all on their own and far away. We
have 2 grandsons and 5 granddaughters. We don’t get
to see them as often as we would like to.

We farmed until 1974 and have retired to the town
of Blaine Lake, Saskatchewan, population 750.

Barchuk, Hrynchuk, Melnyk, family outing.

Ann (Barchuk) and Nick Malarchuk

1943, Nick and Anne Malarchuk.
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In a simple sturdy log house deep in the Saskatch-
ewan plains of pioneering days, a daughter. Anne,
was born on April 2, 1922 to Elizabeth Fedeyvko
Barchuk and Martin Barchuk. their fifth surviving
child granddaughter of Eva and Sylvester Fedevko.

L g P T B
1943, Martin and Elizabeth Barchuk.

The time was to become known as the “*Roaring
20°s™, yet little of that was to be found in the small
town of Krydor, Saskatchewan. Here people worked
from dawn till dusk, fiercely determined to provide a
better and fuller life for themselves and their fam-
ilies.

Anne remembers the occasional visits of her
grandparents and enjoying the hearth baked bread. It
was such a treat at Christmas when Grandmother Eva
Fedeyko would allow us children to play in the straw
under the table. What fun that was! Christmas was
such a joyous occasion, receiving nuts and oranges, a
doll and wicker carriage at the age of four, and a few
years later the sleigh rides, and ball games with
brother Walter.

However, she also recalls the pain and anguish
that she suffered simply for being the only Polish girl
in a totally Ukrainian community, especially during
her school days. Time dims that pain but does not
eradicate it.



In Autumn of 1943, on October 25, Anne married
Nick Malarchuk from the nearby town of Blaine
Lake. Saskatchewan.

On June 1, 1945, a daughter. Shirley Leona, was
born. The family moved to Toronto, Ontario when
she was three and a half years old to seek an oppor-
tunity for a better life. It was here that Nick decided
to go into building and moved the family to
Hamilton. Ontario, their second child. Sandra Anne,
was born July 25, 1952.

Anne’s life hdb been very interesting taking care
of her family and working for a food chain for twenty
years. Nick and Anne have travelled all ten Canadian
provinces, the United States and the West Indies, and
are now enjoying their grandchildren whenever pos-
sible, and their remaining years of retirement.

1981, Nick and Anne Malarchuk.

Shirley Leona (Malarchuk) Livingston

Shirley Leona Malarchuk, born June 1, 1945, was
an Ontario scholar and graduated from St. Joseph’s
School of Nursing in 1966. She fulfilled her yearning
for travel by spending two years in Europe, both
working and travelling.

Upon her return, she promptly sought sunnier
pastures and moved to Houston, Texas. Here, a tall,
lean Oklahoma boy by the name of Robert
Livingston swept her off her feet. They were married
in Houston in 1974.

Robert’s parents were actually born and raised in
the state of Missouri and Robert’s father has traced
the Livingston genealogy to a Scot who fought on the
Plains of Abraham.

Robert attended the University of Oklahoma
Medical School and did further training at the Na-
tional Cancer Institute and M. D. Anderson in

1978, Shirley and Robert Livingston.

Houston. His specialty is medical oncology and he is
considered one of the finest oncologists in the coun-
try. Robert is a Professor of Medicine at the Univer-
sity of Washington and enjoys his work thoroughly.

After more than ten years in nursing, Shirley is



1980, Shirley, Darcie and Nicolas Livingston.

now a full-time mother for Nicolas, 5, and Darcie, 3.
Shirley is an avid skier and exercise enthusiast as well
as being the fiscal manager of the Livingston house-
hold. The entire family enjoys the beauty of the
Pacific Northwest and now refer to it as home.

Sandra Ann (Malarchuk) Davis

1981, Kim and Sandy Davis.

Sandra was born on July 25, 1952 at Hamilton,
Ontario. She was very aggressive in her studies dur-
ing her younger years and was an Ontario scholar.

Upon graduation from Erindale College, Univer-
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sity of Toronto, in 1973 with a Bachelor of Arts
Degree, Sandra travelled and holidayed in the
Bahamas. There she met Kim Weldon Davis. and it
was love at first sight. They were married the follow-
ing year at Toronto, Ontario on June 8, 1974.

Kim had travelled all over the world in his

1974, Sandy and Kim Davis

younger years, as his father was a pilot. Kim served
in the Navy for six years.

At present, Sandy and Kim live in Poway, Cal-
ifornia, a suburb of San Diego. Kim works for the
Pacific Bell Company and enjoys his work. Sandy
runs the household and they are happy in their new
surroundings.

Pauline (Deditch-Worby) and Gilbert L.

McCutcheon

My life story begins in the spring of 1923 in the
small town of Cut Knife, Saskatchewan, Canada,
when [ was born the second child to Steven and
Alexandra Deditch on March 31st. I was christened
and given the name Pauline Olga Grace Deditch at
Saint Vladimers Ukrainian Greek Catholic Church,
the same church where my parents had been married.
Mother says my godparents were Aunt Elizabeth
Barchuk and a distant uncle, Nick Senkus.

My dad was a school teacher prior to moving 0
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1950, L-R: Ann Deditch, John Worobetz, Elsie Worobetz, Alex-
andra Deditch, Stefan Deditch, Pauline Worobey, John Wor-
obey, Ihor Deditch and Patricia Worobetz sitting on chair.

Cut Knife from the community of Krydor, Saskatch-
ewan. In Cut Knife he took a position as a dray
master working for the Canadian National Railway.
He also managed the town livery barn which was
owned by two of my mother’s brothers, Jacob and
Konstantine Fedeyko.

Dad’s position kept him extremely busy. Mother
had to help out with the draying, in addition to her
daily chores of housework and taking care of me.
Dad bought a new Model T Ford and Mother learned
to drive it, after which she could drive to Rossman to
pick up deliveries. She would sit me on the front seat
(no seat belts in those days) while she cranked the car
until it would sputter and clatter, backfire and finally
start. Cranking the car to a start broke her wrist on
one occasion. We would drive over the prairie coun-
try roads, which were actually Indian trails, to reach
our destination. Mr. Katchur, the station agent, and
his wife waved and greeted us warmly. They helped
Mother load the mail and supplies while I was seated
on a depot platform with their small son, Peter. We
children watched the car being loaded and soon
Mother and I were on our way home.

My fondest memories are of Mother and Dad
taking me to visit Uncle Jacob and Aunt Catherine
Fedeyko's large farm. I had a great time there. Aunt
Catherine was a warm-hearted person who was al-
ways smiling and made cakes and rolls for us. My
cousin Stephania, was always ready to play with me.
We played hide-and-go-seek and ran around as chil-
dren do. Uncle Jacob was a jolly person and I recall
running alongside him as he pulled the red wagon
filled with buckets of grain to feed the piglets. On the
way back he would put Stephania and me in the
wagon and give us a ride. I remember chasing the
chickens and turkeys all through the yard but I never
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caught any! These trips were fun and always looked
forward to.

When I was five years old, we went to live with
my grandparents, Sylvester and Eva Fedeyko, on
their large farm in the Krydor area. They were two
lovely people. Grandfather was a carpenter by trade.
He erected a building with a tool shop on one side
and an open hearth oven on the other. Dad helped
Grandfather with field and yardwork while Mother
and Grandmother did their daily chores and tended
the gardens. I usually tagged along with Grand-
mother as Mother had Elizabeth and Annie, my
younger sisters, to take care of. Every week Grand-
mother and Mother baked bread. I would help them
carry the bread loaves to and from the hearth oven
and they always made me a wee loaf. There was such
a delicious aroma floating through the air that I can
almost taste it still.

It was near Krydor that I began my schooling.
My Dad had had the honor of naming my first school
— The Oukraina School — as well as of being the
first teacher to instruct at that school. My mother had
attended the same school as a student prior to her
marriage to Dad who taught there. My grandfather
built the lockers and cupboards where students
placed their lunches, cups and personal belongings at
Oukraina School.

My first grade teacher was a nice gentleman, Mr.
Peter Horbay. In second grade | had a new teacher,
Miss Ann Lucyk who was a lovely, polite lady. |
recall bringing homemade butter to her once a week.

There was a Canadian National Railway crossing
that cut across my grandparents farm. One of my
parents would walk me across it until I learned to
watch out for myself so that | would not be hit by a
train.

Sunday momings, Grandfather and Dad would
hitch the horses to the new buggy; Sister Elizabeth
and I would sit on the front floor board, Grandfather
and Grandmother in the front seat, Mother, Dad and
baby sister, Annie, rode in the backseat.

Sunday afternoons we had large dinners and on
these occasions I met my other relatives, Uncle
Konstantine and Aunt Rosalie Fedeyko, and cousins
Paul and Edward. Aunt Elizabeth and Uncle Martin
Barchuk and their children Catherine, Irene, Ste-
phania, Walter and Ann were also there. Those were
grand times.

Two years slipped by before my parents, my two
sisters and I moved ten miles away. Dad and Mother
bought their own farm and built a house where I grew
up in the Oscar Lake community. My father was not a
farmer but he was curious to see what he could do
with a farm. All the knowledge he possessed about
farming had been obtained from books plus a little



help from Grandfather. With Mother’s help they
struggled along.

I was brought up in a good Christian home, very
strict and well respected in the community. [ remem-
ber my parents had a lot of patience with my sisters
and me. My Dad would teach us to say those lengthy
Ukrainian prayers in my very early years, and every-
day we all thanked the good Lord for our daily
blessings.

Times were lean and life was not easy for our
family during those difficult years. The grain Dad
sowed was almost wiped out by frost and hail.
Nevertheless, some grain was saved: enough to pull
us through the next year. Even during these hard
times, compared to many people we were fortunate.
My mother was a seamstress and tailor who sewed
clothing for many neighbors and friends. Many a
night I would wake up at one or two o’clock in the
morning to find Mother still pedaling on her treadle
sewing machine and the few extra dollars she earned
helped out. Despite our limited financial means,
Mother managed to dress us well. Mother had poise.
class and style which I was very proud of. Mother
made beautiful clothes which could surpass Christian
Dior, Givenchy and many others in design and
quality.

Dad’s broad education and knowledge of law
enabled him to do interpretive work for neighboring
farmers and friends. Father was sometimes paid in
cash, but usually received goods from the farmlands;
freshly sheared wool, young calves, piglets and even
fresh fish.

Young as we children were, even we contributed
to family earnings. | would help Mother dig Seneca
roots which we dried and sold for a small profit. We
had a lot of cows which we children milked, and then
we separated the cream through a Delaval bell sepa-
rator. Every week Louis Simons picked up our fresh
sweet cream in a large truck and hauled it to the North
Battleford creamery. We also sold eggs and molded
our own fresh butter which we sold to a Krydor store,
and all of this combined gave us good cash earnings.

There were a lot of gophers on our farmland
which were destroying our grain crops and gardens.
My sister Elizabeth and I became quite expert at
catching them in traps. Elizabeth was the one who
would kill them and cut their tails off for bounty. Idid
not have the heart to kill them. However, [ would help
set and help carry the traps. Elizabeth always got
more money out of the deal as she did the undesirable
work! [ agreed this was fair.

Towards evening, when Dad was not busy, he
would take my sister and I to the fields. Mother
would pack freshly baked bread. butter, bacon and
potatoes to take along. Dad would make a bonfire out
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in the field. My sisters and I would run around the
glowing fire and pretend we were Indians having a
big pow-wow. When we roasted corn-on-the-cob and
bacon on long willow sticks, and Dad baked potatoes
in the wood coals. a sweet delicious aroma would
float through the air. Then Mother would join us.

Another cherished memory of my childhood is of
an old green trunk Mother had. How I loved to
rummage through it, with my Mothers permission. |
used to spend hours looking through old photos,
dressing in Mother’s silk and chiffon dresses, high
heeled shoes. and plummed hats, pretending | was an
elegant lady like my Mother.
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L-R: Elsie Worobetz with Mother Alexandra Wojchuk and sis-
ter Pauline McCutcheon.

Farm life was very hard, however, we attended
many social functions, and these activities were al-
ways looked forward to.

Children were a farm family’s pride and joy. We
kids helped do farm chores, my particular job being
to herd the geese to the lake on the far side of the
farm. At twilight I had to bring them home again so
that the red fox would not eat them.

In Dad’s earlier years he was choirmaster at St.
Vladimir's Ukrainian Greek Catholic Church. Moth-
er was a choir member, and at home we sang Chris-
tian hymns and Ukrainian songs. Dad divided us into
soprano, alto and tenor sections. I enjoyed the sing-
ing very much.

We did not have a Bible in our house, however,
Dad could conduct an entire Mass which he had
learned in the Ukraine. Father taught us our cate-
chism and scriptures and when the priest visited the
nearby church we all attended.

My later school days were at Lancaster School. It



was a four and one-half mile walk each way (no
school buses in those days). My first teacher at Lan-
caster. Mr. John Ostrowski, was strict and had very
little patience. After English studies were completed
at four o’clock. we would study Ukrainian and Pol-
ish. My Dad deserves the credit for teaching me the
Ukrainian language. He spent many hours tutoring
me and 1 read and write Ukrainian fluently.

My next teacher was a more patient man, Mr.
Grant Fletcher. As much as I hate to say it, math was
my weakest subject, and Mr. Fletcher was concerned
about it. Many evenings I was brought to tears having
to stay late learning fractions. On Friday afternoons
we had social classes which included drama, singing
and square dancing. The last two hours we were
grouped into two sides and we were taken by the
teacher on an arrow chase across Mr. Rebalkin’s
farm. After that we would all assemble back at school
to sing “God Save Our King™, then dismissed.

My last teacher was Miss Mary Kalin. She was a
lovely teacher. I was in my teens then and she had a
lot of patience with me, seeming like a big sister to all
us girls. After four o’clock she taught us ballroom
dancing, the waltz, charleston, scottish and fox-trot.
In addition to dancing she wave set our hair and
taught embroidery, cross stitch and petii point. |
embroidered a beautiful star design on a long sleeve
satin blouse and used it as a Ukrainian costume in
several plays at our local hall.

I was athletically inclined as a child and played
on the softball and basketball teams. I was also in the
Girl Guide group. Miss Kalin selected Stella Rurak
and 1 to substitute on the boys™ baseball team. We
played in tournaments against Albertown, Kre-
voshiem, and Sich schools. There was a sad ending
to my ball playing days when Sam Rebalkin was
batting and the bat slipped out of his hand, hitting me
on the nose and knocking me out. I was on the ground
in a pool of blood and my baseball career was in
ruins.

Shortly after that incident my mother became ill.
She was bedridden for one-and-a-half years. At that
time | was taken out ot school. My parents knew |
was an obedient, ambitious and trustworthy child.
Being the oldest it was my duty to help out with the
family necessities, 1 was my Mothers right hand. |
was responsible for all household chores which con-
sisted of preparing breakfast, sending my sisters to
school, milking cows and feeding the animals. I also
washed clothes on a glass scrubbing board which
gave me blisters lasting until the next wash day. | also
took care of my brother, Ehor. who was a toddler.
Ehor was a quiet and obedient child, for which I was
grateful! I also baked cookies and cakes which my
sisters would eat after school.

After Mother recuperated. I was able to partici-
pate in church activities and the amateur theatrical
group. At age sixteen I was allowed to attend box
socials and shadow sale dances. chaperoned by one
or both of my parents.

Christmas in our home was a joyous and festive
occasion, with the traditional tree and handmade
decorations adding a touch of color to our house.
Christmas caroling was part of the community shar-
ing of this most special time. Special holiday prayers
and meals were shared with our relatives and friends.
While the fields outdoors glistened with snow and
ice. There were sleigh rides across snowy fields, ice
skating and skiing on homemade skis that Michael
and Walter Lanski, our neighbors, built. We had
blazing fires inside which gave our home a warm
hospitable glow. The aroma of Mother’s freshly
baked cakes, cookies and pies filled the house and
my sisters and I would hang up our stockings, antic-
ipating the arrival of St. Nick. Our parents made sure
they stuffed a small gift, apple, orange and nuts into
our stockings. How we treasured the few simple gifts

.. we were happy when Christmas came but sorry
when it was gone.

When my grandfather, Sylvester Fedeyko died. |
went to live with my grandmother. I had the respon-
sibility of running my grandmother’s house. I did all
the household chores in addition to milking the cow
and feeding the piglet and chickens. The hardest job
was shoveling the snow off the pathway to the barn.

Grandmother and I attended Mass at the Ukrai-
nian Greek Catholic Church. We sometimes walked
to church, but often caught a ride with Mr. and Mrs.
Zachary Lychushyn. Grandmother taught me many
prayers. She also taught me to cook many Ukrainian
dishes which recipes I dearly treasure.

Grandmother’s health began to fail and she de-
cided to live with her oldest son, my Uncle Jacob
Fedeyko, in Cut Knife while I returned home to live
with my parents.

When I returned home [ met my future husband,
John Worobey, at my Uncle Jack and Aunt Barbara
Sass’ house. John and I became good friends but
nothing more for the time being.

At age eighteen, I moved to Toronto, Ontario, in
search of work. I stayed with family friends and
found a job at Artistic Jewelry Products. I worked in
the shipping department and was later promoted to
make-up samples.

John Worobey came to Toronto in 1941 and we
were married in a Greek Orthodox church. My cous-
in, Paul Fedeyko, helped us organize our wedding
and was our best man. John and I stayed in touch with
our families after our marriage.

John was an industrious and dedicated worker, a
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1941, Wedding Day. L-R: Walter Chura, Mary Bobran, John
Worobey, Pauline (Deditch) Worobey, Paul R. Fedeyko and
Ann Wasylciw.

good-natured person both at work and at home. He
worked at Sully Brass Company for six years while |
worked five years at Artistic Products and one year at
Ponds Cosmetics Company as a lipstick flamer.

John transferred to a new position in Los An-
geles, California in 1947. Friends who came from
Toronto helped us find a cottage in East Los Angeles.
I worked for three years using a zig-zag sewing
machine in a lingerie shop, insetting lace in slips.

In 1950 we bought a house in the Los Angeles
suburb of Rivera. We were blessed with our first
child on January 31, 1951. We christened our son,
Johnny Robert, three months after moving to our new
home, and | then stayed home as a full time home-
maker. Johnny Robert was an asthmatic child and we
spent many sleepless nights nursing him. Three years
later our second son, Glenn Steven, was born on
November 12, 1953.

While the children were growing up, we all at-
tended St. Marianne’s Catholic church. For enter-
tainment, our family picnicked, played ball, ice
skated and square danced.

My sister Ann and her family moved to Los
Angeles in 1956. John and I helped them file their
immigration papers. It was nice to visit with relatives
again and our children attended the same schools and
church.

In 1960 John’s health began to fail. I returned to
work as sole supporter of our family, working for
Lever Brothers Company on various shifts, which
was hard. In 1965 John passed away, leaving me the
responsibility of raising two sons, one of whom was
frequently ill. Faith and prayers kept me going from
one day to the next.

As the boys grew up, 1 was both their mother and
father. I helped them with their scouting activities,
their paper routes, and twice a week I took them for
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piano lessons and to catechism. The boys belonged to
a square dancing group and we often travelled to
special performances in different cities.

In spite of all the hardships, I never lost hope.
After a number of years, my diligent prayers were
answered, Johnny Robert outgrew his asthma. Also,
I was noticed and promoted to a much better position
as a laboratory technician. Praise the Lord!!

Both of my sons were good students, Johnny
Robert attending Rio Hondo and Mt. San Antonio
Colleges and receiving his Associate of Science de-
gree in Commercial Flight from Mt. San Antonio
College in 1971. He also has his private pilots license.
Robert now works for Lucky Markets as a rail check-
er.

Glenn also attended Rio Hondo College. And in
1971 he enlisted in the U.S. Army, spending two
years in Germany. When he returned, he resumed his
studies. Glenn received his Bachelor of Arts degree
from the University of Redlands in 1983 and is now a
Locomotive Engineer for the Southern Pacific Rail-
road.

Johnny Robert is married to Jennifer Sourp and
their three children are: Robbie (fourteen), Heather
(nine) and Jessica (two). Glenn is married to Lori
Krebs. They have a two year old son, Benjamin, and
are expecting their second child in June of 1984.

I remarried in 1975 to Gilbert Loran McCutcheon
who has one son, Donald Wayne, from his previous
marriage. Donald is married to Alicia Oliver. Their
daughter, Dawn, is one year old.

Gilbert and Pauline McCutcheon.



Gilbert is an industrious and dedicated worker in
the transportation department of Lucky Markets. He
has been in this field for thirty years and has also
been a driving instructor for truckers.

After twenty-three years at Lever Brothers, I
retired on December Ist, 1983, and now Gilbert and |
spend our time together nurturing our garden and
cultivating our many rose bushes and travelling.

I owe a debt of gratitude to my parents and grand-
parents. They taught their children to live by the Ten
Commandments, respect for hard work and strong
family ties. They also taught us never to forget our
heritage and Ukrainian culture.

May each one of us live each day to the fullest,
serve our Lord and those around us, to the very best
of our ability.

Gilbert L. McCutcheon
written by Gilbert Loran McCutcheon

G. L. McCutcheon on the job.

I, Gilbert Loran McCutcheon, was born in Hol-
lis, Oklahoma in 1925. My grandparents came to the
USA from Scotland. My parents moved from Texas
to Oklahoma during the Sooner days of 1889. My
father’s three brothers settled in the same area.

I was the youngest of eight children. My dad
homesteaded a 160 acre farm near Hollis and built a
nice home on it. Virgin farmland grew very good
crops, even during the great depression.

We children walked 3% miles to a country
school, even through snow, sleet, and sand storm. At
age fifteen years I drove the school bus. I graduated
from high school at seventeen and a half years of age.

After graduation, I enlisted in the U.S. Navy. I
spent four years overseas ranging from Casa Blanca,
North Africa to the South Pacific and Japan. I served
on the Battleship USS Massachusetts. I helped com-
mission it in 1942. In Pearl Harbor I was assigned to

the USS Princeton, on an aircraft carrier. One year
later at the Battle of Luzon in the Philipines, we lost
the aircraft carrier from a kamikaze attack. | was one
of the few survivors. Again, I was reassigned to the
USS Massachusetts which operated with the 3rd and
5th fleet, in conjunction with the British ships in the
South Pacific.

[ have been a truck driver for over forty years. I
have driven over 23 million miles without an acci-
dent. I have one son, Donald, by a previous mar-
riage, they have a one year old daughter.

On March 30, 1975, I married Paulene (Polly)
Worby at the Candlelight Chapel in Las Vegas, Ne-
vada. Our three sons attended the ceremony. Our
marriage is based on trust, understanding, and con-
sideration for each other. One of the things we enjoy
together is travelling. On my first trip to Canada with
Polly, I found the Canadians most congenial and
warmhearted, especially her parents. Polly is intel-
ligent, honest, and a compassionate person. She is a
Christian with outstanding principles. She is am-
bitious and very creative in many fields. Polly paints,
decorates cakes, does needlework, knits and helps
teach craft classes.

Gilbert and Pauline with grandchildren, Robbie and Heather.

I am presently employed with Lucky Stores, Inc.
until my retirement. We enjoy our two grandsons and
three granddaughters.

J. Robert and Jennifer Worby

My name is Johnny Robert (Worobey) Worby, a
fourth generation descendant of Sylvester and Eu-
dokia Fedeyko. My parents are John Iwan Worobey
and Pauline Grace Deditch Worobey, both of them



The Worbys: Jennifer and Johnny Robert with children,
Heather, Jessica and Robbie.

from the farming community near Krydor, Saskatch-
ewan, Canada. They married in Toronto, Ontario in
1941 and emigrated to East Los Angeles, California

in 1947. My arrival was in the early morning of

January 31, 1951 at Maywood Hospital. Upon our
release from the hospital Dad took Mother and my-
self home to Rivera, California where they had pur-
chased a new home three months earlier. 1 called
8429 La Docena Lane home for the next eighteen
years.

According to my parents’ recollections, | was a
sickly child, experiencing pneumonia three times
before my second year. At age two, the first asthma
attacks started and remained until age fifteen. At age
three [ experienced the most serious of numerous
childhood accidents: tripping over a vacuum cord, |
fell on a metal sand shovel, cutting the roof of my
mouth. The end result was twenty-two sutures to
close the gaping hole.

On November 12, 1953. I had a new companion,
my brother Glenn Steven. Our father’s pride in siring
two sons did not diminish our Mother’s disappoint-
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ment in not being blessed with a daughter. Con-
sequently, Glenn paid dearly. being dressed in the
first unisex clothing (rompers). His beautiful golden
curls were to be his trademark until well after his
second birthday. when Dad insisted on a haircut.

The early years were spent playing in the back-
yard in a sandbox and ““helping™ in the large garden.
Many mornings Dad would wake me to see the new
born bunnies that mother rabbit seemed to have so
frequently. It seemed we had rabbit stew often as Dad
was very fond of it. Every Saturday morning was an
occasion as I was able to rise at 5:00 AM to accom-
pany Dad to work at Kaag Trophies where he was a
foreman. We would light all the casting pots, go to
breakfast and return when the lead and other metals
had melted.

N

1

N

B

L-R: Worobeys' John, Johnny Robert, Glenn Steven and
Pauline.

Elementary school years were spent at Selby
Grove School one block from home. The memory of
this period is of a happy and carefree time. School
was enjoyable but after school was when the fun
began. Glenn and I would spend our time playving
ball. or in our tree house or constructing subterra-
nean forts. At age eleven, | joined the Boy Scouts
spending three years gaining considerable outdoor
knowledge and enjoying the monthly weekend
campouts. My first job delivering the Pico-Rivera
News and also Pico Rivera Times Post provided the
means to accumulate a nice coin collection. Other
interests included collecting baseball cards and
comic books.

My intermediate attendance was at Burke Jr.



High for seventh, eighth and ninth grades. After
school Glenn and [ mowed vards to supplement our
monetary needs. This became very important as Dad
passed away in 1965, at the end of the eighth grade
school term. For after school recreation I participated
on the basketball and track teams. Occasionally there
were hunting outings, trap and skeet shoots at the
local range. After ninth grade, I worked full time
evenings and weekends for the L.A. Times News-
paper local Pico Rivera Dealer.

High School years were spent at El Rancho,
“The Ranch™. There was not a great amount of
leisure time. Glenn helped deliver the Times morn-
ing edition seven days a week before we went to
school and on the weekends. We started at 2:00 AM
finishing shortly after 6:00 AM, leaving time for last
minute school work and preparation. We used my
“new’” 1953 Chevy Bel Air for work and transporta-
tion to the Southern California beaches. Body surf-
ing and snorkeling were frequent high school period
recreation activities. This was the time of accumulat-
ing my “old car” Empire of 1953 and 1954 Chevies.
The backyard started to take on the appearance of an
automotive garage. One wise purchase of a 1931
Model “A™ Ford Sedan was made at this time, an
acquisition I still have today. High School com-
mencement was in 1969. | married June Penny the
same year.

Mount San Antonio College was the choice of
continuing education in the fall semester of 1969.
Commercial Flight was the course of choice with the
same future vocation in mind. My first child, Robert
Wade Worby arrived on New Year's Eve of 1969. The
next year was eventful as a first home was purchased
in Bell Gardens, California. There were two small
houses on a lot. Young Robbie had a big play area
where he spent the majority of time running away
from his overly aggressive dog, Alpo. In the summer
of 1971, I graduated from Mt. San Antonio College
with an Associate of Science Degree in Commercial
Flight.

The next eight months were spent travelling
across the Southern and Eastern United States. Upon
returning in February of 1972 I took a job as tire curer
at B.F. Goodrich Company. On March 16, 1974 a
second child arrived. Heather Deanne. The follow-
ing year brought the purchase of a new house in
Ontario, California, along with the closure of the tire
plant. By year end | was employed at Lucky Stores
Inc. in the grocery warehouse division. A few of the
job duties have included receiving clerk, shipping
clerk and forklift operator. This is my current place of
employment with nine years tenure.

My first marriage ended in 1978 with a divorce
and subsequent annulment. After two years
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courtship, Jennifer Ann Sourp and I wed on May 23,
1981 at St. Bruno’s Catholic Church. We honey-
mooned in the Pacific Northwest and Western Cana-
da. Upon returning, a home was purchased in San
Juan Capistrano near the Catholic mission of the
same name. The old mission became our house of
worship. Ten months after marriage Jennifer gave
birth to our first child. Jessica Fern. In March of 1983
we purchased a house in Laguna Hills, California
which is currently our home.

.

Johnny Robert holding daughter Jessica.

Jessica's Christening.

I consider myself a fortunate man at this time of
life. The Lord has been bountiful in providing all our
necessities, the many blessings include healthy, lov-
ing children and a supportive loving and caring wife.
The joy of nurturing and guiding my children
provides my greatest reward in life. Daily friendship
and companionship of those you love bring ultimate



happiness. I am fortunate to have a hard working and
supportive Mother. As sole parent throughout my
teenage years, she was loving in her guidance and
concern regarding my life. She still shares this in-
volvement to this day.

Worby children, Heather holding Jessica and Robbie.
In closing, I am very thankful to a loving Christ
who walks with me, blessing this life of mine in so

many positive ways.

Glenn and Lori Worby

1983, Glen and Lori Worby.
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I, Glenn Worby, was born in Bell, California,
November 12, 1953. I have one brother, Robert, who
is three years older than 1.

I had a happy and quite uneventful childhood
growing up in Pico Rivera, California. Robert and I
got into the usual mischief that boys do, including
rock-throwing and playing with fireworks. My sad-
dest childhood memory is of the death of my father,
John, when I was eleven.

Robert and [ were pretty industrious Kids, and at
ages eleven and eight we started to mow yards and
throw newspapers. Within a few years we had saved
enough money to buy our first cars and pay for our
own insurance t0o.

My mother, Pauline, had been working for Lever
Brothers Co. since Robert was nine and I was seven.
My mom had to work rotating shifts. Robertand I did
housework and yardwork to help Mom out.

I was a *‘B"" student in school, graduating from
El Rancho High School in 1971. I attended one se-
mester of college before enlisting in the U.S. Army
in January of 1972. I spent seventeen months in
Germany and was honorably discharged in Decem-
ber, 1973.

After my discharge I returned to school. I at-
tended classes for another year until I met my wife-
to-be, Lori. I quit school and went to work for Safe-
way Supermarkets. Lori and I were married in June,
1976. The next year we bought a home (our first) in
Pico Rivera and lived in it for two years.

I went to work in 1978 as a Locomotive Fireman
for the Southern Pacific Railroad. In 1979 1 was
promoted to my present position of Locomotive En-
gineer, and in the same year Lori and | bought a new
house in Redlands, California.

In 1981 our son, Benjamin, was born in Redlands
on October 22nd. Ben is now a happy, healthy two-
year-old. We are expecting our second child in June,
1984.

1983, Benjamin Worby, 2
years old.




I received my Bachelor of Arts degree in Man-
agement from the University of Redlands in January,
1984. Lori goes to school part time and should re-
ceive her degree in the near future.

Glen Worby driving SSW number 9267.

I am proud to contribute to this book which I
know will be cherished by future generations.

Elizabeth (Dedich) and John Worobetz

1948, John and Elizabeth (Deditch) Worobetz.

I, Elizabeth (Elsie) (Dedich) Worobetz, was born
in Krydor, Sask., on October 22, 1926. I am the third
child of Stefan and Alexandra (Fedeyko) Dedich, and
grandchild of Sylvester and Eudokia Fedeyko.
Early Childhood

At the time of my birth, my father, mother, and
sister Pauline lived with my grandparents, Sylvester
and Eudokia Fedeyko. My father helped grandfather
with farm work, and travelled north in search of our
own land and home.

On July 31, 1928, sister Anna was born. The
hand-me-downs were well taken care of, no doubt
about it! Grandmother had a treadle sewing machine
and fortunately, both she and my mother were good
seamstresses.

The railway ran within two hundred yards of the
house. Pauline, Anna, and I looked forward to the
daily train and waved from the yard, as it went by.

I must have been four when parents and grand-
parents had been harvesting in the field, Pauline had
gone to school, and I was appointed to mind Anna in
the yard. Everything was fine until she began to cry.
Holding her hand, I decided to take a short cut down
the railroad track to mother in the field. We had only
gone a little way when around the corner, a short
distance away, the train came towards us. Seeing the
steep ravines on each side of the track, and knowing
that the engineer could release a cloud of steaming
vapour on the ground, petrified me. I had to do some
quick thinking. Still holding on to Anna’s hand, we
made a quick left turm off the track and crouched
behind a stone just as the train raced past us. The
guardian angel must have been there then too. Anna
stopped crying, we went back into the yard and
remained there until our parents returned from the
field. ** . . . and no more short cuts down the track
again!” And [ think I lost my baby-sitting job.

Pauline, a few years older than I, had been attend-
ing Oukraina School. She obviously enjoyed school,
relating about the fun, particularly at recesses. Occa-
sionally, after school hours, her classmate Johnny
Worobetz came to play. They built a tent with gunny
sacks over a fence wall, and made Anna and I sitin it.
They then spilled water over the tent, saying it was
raining and that if we sat there, the rain would stop.
Suddenly there was another ‘cloudburst’. Anna and
I, drenched in ‘rain’ and tears, tumbled out of the
tent, and ran into the arms of our protective mother.

My sisters and | were healthy and active young-
sters. Being close in age, there were times when we,
no doubt, were a handful, particularly for the grand-
parents whose youngest child having been our moth-
er.

While grandmother was preoccupied with the
cooking, sewing, knitting or whatever else, grand-



father usually managed to spend some time with us.
He plaved Ukrainian records on the gramophone. He
first wound up the spring by turning a handle. The
music came out of a good-sized horn. Occasionally,
he adjusted to the middle of the record. a colorful
wooden top dancer. As the music played, the little
man danced vigorously, moving all parts of its body
like a string puppet. This indeed, was a very special
treat. We learned to sing many songs, and mimicked
the puppet’s dance movements.

1938, The family musicians. L-R: Elsie, Ann and Pauline De-
ditch.

Grandparents had a view master. We sat for hours
at a time, looking at the many picturesque scenes
from around the world.

Grandfather also made interesting spinning tops.
He cut an empty thread spool in half, rounded the
middle part with his pocket knife, and whittled a
short piece of a willow branch enough to fit snuggly
into the spool. He then sharpened the bottom part of
the stick and the top was ready for play. But grand-
father being a perfectionist in all respects, spent
several evenings making a good top.

When the novelty of the spinning tops wore off,
grandfather was busy making ‘foorgalki’. Grand-
mother supplied the two-holed buttons and string.
With the button strung and the string tied, there was a
‘foorgalka’. **Spin the string and pull, but be careful,
don’t get near anyone’s hair”. Grandfather some-
times got into our hair, or was it that we got into his.
But he was a wonderful man — a kind, gentle,
patient and humorous man, and we loved him. We
loved grandmother, father and mother for all the
many other things they did for us.

Life On Dedich Homestead

Father purchased a homestead on the south edge
of Oscar Lake, approximately ten miles north from
grandparents. After numerous trips, father and moth-
er cleared away enough land to build a two room log
house, mud plastered, and whitewashed with lime.

This made a nice. clean-looking dwelling which was
reasonably warm in the winter with the stove on, and
cool in the summer with the heat off. A log barn was
built and a well dug at the same time.

In the early summer of 1932, we moved to our
own home. bringing along some furniture, dishes,
food and “"Lopka™ the cow. She was a good milker,
and provided the family with a good supply of milk.

Slowly. through hard work and perseverance,
there were definite signs of progress on the home-
stead. More land was cleared, more buildings built,
livestock increased and a few implements purchased.
It was a thrill to plant potatoes behind a hand plough.
Father made a furrow with horse and plough. as we
children quickly dropped the seedling potatoes in
place, before he came around again and covered
them up with another furrow.

Summer was a busy time on the farm as the
winter pantry had to be replenished. The vegetable
garden took top priority and many hot days were
spent hoeing long rows of potatoes. The wild fruit
was the main supply of fruit so berry picking was next
in order. The picking went on until jars of wild
saskatoon berries, cranberries, blueberries, and even
some wild strawberries lined the cellar shelves.
Berry time always meant fresh saskatoon berry pies,
or even more often pirohi or vareniki, the memory of
which is still mouth-watering today. Mother spent
many long hours in the Kitchen canning fruits and
vegetables so good meals could be enjoyed in the
winter when the snow lay deep.

Mosquitoes were terrible during summer eve-
nings. Smudges were made, and the stock remained
near the smoke. Often times father made a smudge
near the house to prevent the mosquitoes from enter-
ing.
There were also the never-ending potato bugs to
be picked off the potato plants in order to revive the
plants and still look forward to a potato crop.

The cow pasture was about half a mile down the
road from our house and buildings. During the sum-
mer holidays, my sisters and I drove the cows to the
pasture and remained there making sure they stayed
out of the wheat field. Here we could hunt for frogs
and watch them swim in shallow pools. The trees
were full of different birds™ nests. We perfected the
skill of tree-climbing, but stayed well away from the
owls’ nests, as the owls’ pecks were ferocious. Vari-
ous berry patches yielded quantities of fruit, so we
were never in need of other between-meal lunches.

Then came haying which was hard work in the
hot sun. I loved the smell of dried hay. My sisters and
I plaved around the edge of the sloughs while we put
the hay into small stacks that were later hauled home.
I always looked forward to the soft hay ride from the



meadows. The hay was unloaded near the barn to
make a long sloping haystack which would serve as
feed for cattle and horses during the winter. We loved
sliding down the freshly-made haystack. Father
threatened to ““tan our hides™. then we would resort
to the straw pile for different play.

Harvest time was the busiest time of year. We
youngsters looked forward eagerly to the threshing
crew coming to our farm. Of course it meant extra
work such as shovelling grain in the grain box, or in
the granary, or helping mother with extra baking. But
with the smell of fresh straw, chaft falling on every-
one and everything, and a lot of extra good food, this
was another “*hay-day™.

After all the neighbors’ crops were harvested,
cattle was then sent to open pastures. Returning from
school, Anna and I each grabbed a slice of mother’s
freshly baked bread, and perhaps a ripe sunflower
head out of the garden, and ran the opposite direction
we just came from, in search of the cows to be
brought home in time for milking. In the distance, we
could hear all kinds of cow bells except our own. Our
bell cow seemed to find a sheltered spot quite often,
and then stand perfectly still. Assisted by “Liska’ our
dog. we had the herd back at the corral in no time,
breaking all previous records. Small wonder why we
girls stayed so slim then!

1924, Winter driving, L-R: Ihor, Alexandra (mother), Ann and
ETsie Deditch.

Saturday was mail day. The mail was brought in
from Alticane, twenty some miles to Klechkowski
(Oscar Lake) post office, three miles northwest of
home. Everyone took turns getting the mail, but it
seemed as though Anna’s and my turn came up more
often than anyone else’s. During good weather we
considered it an outing which enabled us to visit with
friends from neighbouring schools. The post master
had now replaced the horse and wagon with a ‘third-
hand” truck which broke down often, causing late

mail arrival and distribution. We looked forward to
the Winnipeg Free Press Prairie Farmer with its col-
oured comics particularly the humorous Katzerjam-
mer Kids. Anna and I made some pen pals through
the Free Press receiving a letter now and then.

Then too. the most awaited Eaton’s Spring and
Summer and Fall and Winter catalogue arrived. It
was nicknamed the **prairie Bible™, the most looked
at book in the house. Most of the shopping was done
through the catalogue. and when a parcel arrived, it
was like Christmas Day. When the catalogue became
outdated, it was relegated to the outhouse where it
continued to serve as reading material, until it had
been used up for other purposes.

1948, Haying on the Deditch farm. Front to back: Stefan De-
ditch, John Worobetz, Alexandra Deditch and son lhor.

Early winter was butchering time which was an
all day event. When the pig had been Killed, it was
singed and scraped until the flesh was smooth and
free of bristles. Then the inside parts were removed
— nothing was wasted. father even blew up the
bladder for a foot ball. It didn’t last long, but it was
quite a novelty.

One of the biggest problems was to keep the meat
from spoiling. During the winter, the meat was
frozen, usually packed in snow. Later in the spring, it
had to be canned in sealers. Mother cured the bacons
and hams, keeping them in brine. When father built a
smoke house some of the meat was smoked, es-
pecially the “kobasa’.

Washing clothes in the winter caused considera-
ble extra work and effort. A large wooden barrel in
one corner of the kitchen was used for melting snow.
The snow water was heated in a copper boiler and
poured into a large tub on a bench or two chairs. The
clothes were washed on a washboard with homemade
soap. White clothes were sometimes boiled in soapy
water, rinsed and hung outside to freeze. The clothes



were then brought in carefully to finish the drying.
Mother prided herself with the whitest wash in the
neighbourhood.

By now, our family had increased by one more.
Ehor was a healthy baby, and with all the attention
from the family, he was growing up fast.

He was about five when the family helped get rid
of the infested mice in the oat stack. Everyone stood
armed with cudgels, ready for attack as soon as father
picked up a sheaf or two off the stack. The frightened
mice scampered in all directions, one managing to
take refuge inside Ehor’s pant leg, scurrying
throughout the body, losing its sense of direction.
Above deafening screams, and with hands on our
legs, we witnessed mother’s exasperating attempts to
smother the now delirious rodent, and bring relief to
my hysterical brother.

Neither of us children could get away with any
nonsense in the presence of company, and if we
didn’t “*straighten up™ when we got the **look™ from
father, we sure wished we had. Mother was strict too,
but her slaps didn’t hurt so much. We had much
respect and pride for our parents and learned to be
honest, considerate and respectful children, friends,
neighbours, and citizens.

The family always found leisure time, more so
during the winter months. Pauline and I played
guitar, and soon had a family sing song. I put my
creativity to action and soon constructed a “‘one-
girl” band using the wash tub for drum, box and
string for a mouth-organ stand, and guitar in my
hands, but mother always had practical needs for the
tub. Later, father and mother bought me a violin
which I learned to play some too, and contributed my
musical talents in concerts. One such concert in
Krydor was under the direction of Mr. Shurgot.

After Saturday papers were read, we dealt a few
hands of **hola’, everyone's card game, or
“magoose”” or the not so popular game of “cheat™.
Everyone liked to cheat in this game, but no one
wanted to get caught, so we'd all disperse for bed.

Father taught us all the many lengthy Ukrainian
prayers, and made certain we said them before going
to bed.

We attended church when services were held at
St. Peter and Paul parish about three miles south west
of home. During Easter season, we devoutly partici-
pated in confessions, communions, and the blessing
of the Easter bread (paska). A special service (pro-
znik) was held annually on July 12, the most signifi-
cant church event during the summer. We also
attended catechism lessons held in church during the
summer holidays. Close contact with church helped
enrich our spiritual lives. There were few if any
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services during the winter months, due to road condi-
tions, and lack of animal shelter.

Christmas was no doubt the highlight of the win-
ter. The house took on a new look when mother gave
the walls a new coat of lime. One still-existing straw
mattress was refilled with hay, and the once last
choice of bed had now become first and a mad
scramble as to who would be the lucky one. There
were preparations of different varieties of foods, that
would be served to family and guests. My favorite
were the poppy seed bismarks (pompooshki). The
arrival of Saint Nicholas with some goodies was
awaited for with much anticipation, as well a visit by
the carollers. When we were older, we too went
carolling, singing Ukrainian, English and Polish car-
ols. Sometimes we wished Christmas would never
end.

School Years

School . . . school . . . school, it seems that
most of my life has been spent attending schools as a
pupil or as a teacher. | had fourteen years of the
former and twenty-tive and some years of the latter.
The rest of the time was spent getting psyched up for
participating in the educational process or at home on
extended maternity leaves. So however anyone looks
at it, schooling has always been my life. No memo-
ries would be complete without recalling some of my
school experiences.

In 1934, | began my grade one in Lancaster
School, four miles southeast of home. The one-room
classroom was now filled to capacity with forty-six
sweating bodies seated, and available yet was stand-
ing room only.

My first teacher, Mr. Fletcher, spoke English
only, while on the contrary, my English vocabulary
consisted of only two words, namely “yes” and ‘no’.
Imagine the teacher’s frustrations when he asked my
name and | said ‘yes’, or inquired how old [ was, and
my reply was ‘no’!

A pendulum clock hung on the north wall and
ticked ever so slowly, except at recesses. [ put all my
eagerness into motion and soon was able to tell time
while my English vocabulary progressed steadily.

Well do I recall the frozen ink bottles, and lunch
drinks that we tried to thaw out over the heater.

The school lunch bucket was often a lard or syrup
pail with lard or syrup sandwiches. If we were lucky
we had peanut butter sandwiches, and maybe even an
occasional orange or banana.

The handy lard pails (the more popular) yet
served other purposes. In the spring and early sum-
mer, coming home from school, we stopped near a
slough to drown gophers. The gopher tails then sold
at one or two cents each. One of us stood at the hole
with a stick ready to hit any gopher that stuck its nose



out of the hole, and yelled instructions to the others
to, “‘hurry and bring more water™".

In the late fall the chokecherries would have been
touched by frost and in their best taste. Proceeding
home from school, we picked our lard pails full
which now weighed what seemed like a ton, with the
thin wire handles pressing painfully into the bony
fingers, making it quite difficult to carry the buckets
for the next two or three miles. But all this painstak-
ing effort was very rewarding when mother used the
chokecherries to make the most delicious fruit des-
sert called *‘chamoola™.

The biggest event in the school program was the
annual Christmas concert. Preparations began from
mid-November, practising carols in the music
period, memorizing recitations, and parts in plays in
the last period of each day, even starting to learn drills
and Ukrainian dances. During the final week, the
afternoons were used for dress rehearsals. A stage
was set up and stage curtains were strung. Desks
were put to the sides and benches were brought in for
the audience to sit on. There always was a big deco-
rated tree, and ‘Santa’ came at the end of the concert
and handed out bags of candy nuts and an orange to
all the students and pre-schoolers.

Christmas concerts were looked forward to for
many reasons. It usually meant a new dress, or a new
pair of shoes, or both. Driving up to the school was
always fun. We sat in the sleigh box all bundled in
warm clothes. The twinkling stars fascinated us —
these were our early lessons in astrology.

The joy of every little girls’ heart at that time, was
to receive an Eaton’s beauty doll for Christmas. One
year | got a set of wooden blocks, but the following
Christmas I was ecstatic with joy when I got that doll.
Sometimes mother allowed me to use her treadle
sewing machine to sew clothes for my doll, but I
made most of her wardrobe by hand. She was the
only doll I ever owned, and had become part of me. |
wanted so much to take her along when I left home.
Now, I wish I had.

Another incident remaining vivid in my mind is
worthy of mention. Being older than I, Pauline had
just been bought a fifteen-cent magic slate, that I
dearly would have loved to have. Upon examination
of its thickness, I realized there wasn’t just one slate,
but two, pressed tightly together in the process of
packing and shipping. You, the reader, would only
have to live through years of depression and poverty
to realize a child’s joy over what now might be
considered of small value.

School picnics were not to be overlooked either.
There we were able to buy a candy or two, and maybe
even an ice cream cone. Athletic participation was
the highlight of the day. I lost out at the jump pit, but
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“look out™ at the race track! My natural swiftness
enabled me to outrun the sack racers as well, so there
was another red ribbon added to my collection.

Having successfully completed my first ten years
in Lancaster. I then proceeded to grade eleven in
Krydor High School in the fall of 1944, participating
in extra curricular activities such as music, choir and
classes in the Ukrainian language. I stayed with
Lydia Shewchuk at Semenchuk’s — the school jani-
tors. Our parents brought in food as often as was
possible, and we shared it. Lydia and I occasionally
volunteered to sweep the school floors. In apprecia-
tion, Mrs. Semenchuk treated us to fresh homemade
doughnuts.

Train day was an important day in Krydor, with
people always standing around to see who arrived on
the train. This one particular day, Lydia and I hap-
pened to be there and who should get off the train but
a handsome soldier on leave from the army. A few
weeks later, | received an interesting letter from John
(the soldier). Fortunately, postage was only three
cents during the time of our correspondence for the
next few years.

Following completion of grade eleven I spent a
year in Toronto with Pauline and her husband John
Worbey, at which time I was employed by the Toron-
to Credit Bureau. In 1946, Pauline and John motored
to Saskatchewan. I returned with them, re-entered
Krydor High School, completed grade twelve and
enrolled at Teachers’ College in Saskatoon the same
year.

In the fall of 1947, I accepted a teaching position
at Cheremoz, a country school, north of Yorkton,
Sask. My heart had always yearned to be a school
teacher, and now my dream had been fulfilled. Here |
was, standing in front of a ‘‘packed audience” —
thirty-six smiling faces, grades one to eight, project-
ing all the moral support.

From his experiences as a school teacher, my
father reassured me that after the first day, things
would fall into place. Excited and eager to teach, I
soon discovered the same eagerness and enthusiasm
in those thirty-six energetic youngsters willing to
learn. And they did.

When my family lived with grandparents near
Oukraina School, John's parents at that time lived in
my uncle Konstantine's house about one half mile
away. | was about four when I first met John. Nine
years later, while | was attending Lancaster School,
John spent two weeks there as a practice teacher. We
renewed our first acquaintances, but even then. little
did I realize that someday he would be my husband.
We corresponded for a few years, after which time
we decided to marry and save on postage.

John and I were married in Prince Albert on



January 4, 1948. Our marriage was solemnized by
Rev. Cymbolist in the Ukrainian Greek Catholic
Church of St. George.

In the fall of 1948, while I awaited the arrival of
our first child, John assumed duties at Alingly
School, twenty miles northwest of Prince Albert with
living quarters in the school basement and no modern
conveniences. Because of poor acoustics, what
seemed like innocent drops of pencils in the class-
room upstairs, sounded more like deafening claps of
thunder downstairs. On the third year we moved into
the newly-built teacherage where Patricia and [ could
now freely remove our earplugs.

During our stay at Alingly, we depended on
neighbours for transportation. We walked for small
groceries to a country store two miles away. Al-
though neighbours were considerate and helpful, we
needed our own transportation. Even though John’s
salary was meager, we were able to save eight hun-
dred dollars for a down payment on a vehicle. In
April, 1950, we were proud owners of our first new
car, but the use of it was limited as after the monthly
payment and living costs, there was little money left
for gas.

We managed to take an occasional trip to the farm
to visit my mother and dad. One such trip was not to
be so. About three quarters of the way, the rain came
down in torrents. Two miles north of Krydor, we were
stuck, deep in the mud. After several hours of frus-
trations, John managed to turn the car around, and we
proceeded back to Prince Albert.

In 1951, we moved to David School twenty-three
miles northeast of Prince Albert. The school was an
old style of building with a partition at one end for the
living quarters — hot in summer and extremely cold
in the winter with no modern conveniences, the near-
est phone being ten miles away. There were enough
students in the district for two classrooms, so John
taught grades eight to twelve while I taught grades
one to seven.

We rented an old farm house across the field that
seemed a bit more comfortable than the school, but
also required much heat during cold weather, causing
chimney fires. On one such occasion, a house fire
was averted with snow applications to the pipes.
From then on, John and I cleaned the pipes faithfully
every two weeks.

With two pay cheques now, the car could be used
more frequently, but the roads were either snowed in,
washed out, you name it. Even though the farmers in
the surrounding areas had tractors, and offered as-
sistance, our travels had to be restricted.

Two years after our second daughter was born,
we had the good fortune of moving into a new teach-
erage again, adjacent to the new three-room school.
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Both buildings were equipped with modern facilities.
At last, our pioneering era had almost ended. The
people in the neighbourhood were overwhelmed with
pride and joy on our behalf. and surprised us with a
“house-warming’’ party.

1957, Our first visit to Los Angeles, California. L-R: Friend
Bootsie, Donna Sawicki, Pat Worobetz, Robert Worby, Glen
Worby, Cathy Worobetz and Charlene Sawicki.

This was to be our last teacherage as we com-
muted from our home during teaching years at East
Central and Red Wing Schools.

It was here in the northern city of Prince Albert
that we settled and lived in, for the past twenty some
years. Itis here where home is for John and I and our
children, who grew up and completed their school-
ing.

In 1959, John and I took up teaching positions
with five other teachers on staff at East Central
School, ten miles east of Prince Albert. Teacherages
are not provided this distance from town. We rented
again, while our house was being constructed.

Finally, on February 4, 1960 our house was ready
for occupancy. It was like Christmas again. It wasn’t
just another dream, it was reality — our own home at
last!

Looking back over nearly sixty years of life, one
can see the happy moments, the heartaches, and
frustrations. Life is simple when we are young,
growing more complex as time goes on, only to
become more settled and content when one finds
peace with oneself and with God.

John Worobetz

1, John Worobetz, son of Filemon and Maria
(Manko) Worobetz came to Canada, the Krydor dis-
trict, as a young boy of seven years of age, in July,
1930.

I was born in the village of Charobriv, County
Sokal, western Ukraine.



1983, The Worobetz Family. Seated: John and Elsie. L-R:
Cathy, Rob, Patrick, Terry and Pat.

When I was only four years of age, my mother
passed away after a lengthy illness with tuberculosis.
When my father remarried, we immigrated to Cana-
da.

I do recall, slightly, our long journey to this land
which was to become my new home. There was the
stop at Rotterdam with its canals, these fascinated me
as I never saw so much water in between buildings.
Then our long trip across the Atlantic, one could see
water no matter which way you looked. It took us a
week to cross. Many people were sea sick the whole
week. The food on board was of good quality except
that they served steaks and roasts rare. So our people
through an interpreter asked for well done meat,
saying they were not used to that type of meat. As for
myself, I enjoyed the silent movies that were shown
every afternoon.

We arrived in Halifax on July 5, 1930. From there
we were taken by train to Winnipeg, a central point
for immigrants settling in Western Canada. After a
short stay in Winnipeg we took the train to Krydor,
where I completed my schooling.

While in the Krydor district, | remember living in
Konstantine Fedeyko's old place near Oukraina
School. We were neighbours to Sylvester and Eva
Fedeyko. I remember visiting the Fedeykos quite
frequently. They were very hospitable and helpful to
us.

Two things come to my mind in our association
with them. One was their gramophone, which in
those days was a most desirable form of entertain-
ment, something like the T.V. nowadays. We used to
listen to the records that the Fedeykos had. One had a
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song about a worried man who did not know what to
do till he contemplated to buy himself a chicken and
then the chicken sang for him so he would forget
about his problems. The other event I recall was the
horse problem that the Fedeykos were faced with in
their retirement. They had a one-horse buggy that
took them to church, town, and visiting. The horse
was young and full of spirit and hard to handle for an
older couple. It would balk and take-off with them.
They were frightened and concerned. A neighbour
advised them to get rid of this young horse and get an
older more stable animal, one that would not be so
eager to frolic but be satisfied to move at a slower
pace. So an old, slow and pokey nag was found. Now
Sylvester Fedeyko was a very practical and devout
farmer. He took excellent care of his animals and so
ina short while, guess what? Yes, this old nag rejuve-
nated and started acting up for them also.

After several years in the Oukraina School dis-
trict, we moved to our own place near Zaporoze
School, where I completed my elementary educa-
tion.

After taking my grade eleven and twelve at
Krydor High School, I graduated in June, 1941.
While working on the farm for wages amounting to
twenty dollars a month, I heard of a short course
offered in Saskatoon to train teachers. There was a
shortage of teachers during the war years.

While practice teaching at Lancaster school, 1
met Elsie for the second time as I saw her first when
we were small children near her grandparents’ place.
I didn’t realize that within a few years we would be
man and wife.

My first school was at Smeaton that is north-east
of Prince Albert. After one year of teaching I joined
the army. During my stay in the forces I was stationed
at Halifax, Winnipeg, Victoria, and Vancouver. | was
discharged in May, 1946.

Elsie and I were married, and have resided in
Prince Albert area and city. | taught school all these
years, being principal in the Prince Albert School
District.

During the 1957-58 school year we lived in
Saskatoon as I was on Sabbatical leave to further my
education towards a B.Ed. Degree. | retired from
teaching in June, 1978.

Worobetz Family

We raised a family of five children:

Patricia graduated from Teachers’ College in
Saskatoon. She married Ian Codling, a school teach-
er. They have five children: Tara, Jason, Peter, Rebec-
ca and Jonathon.

Catherine completed a secretarial course at
Robertson’s Secretarial School, Saskatoon. She mar-



ried Doug Wallace, a school teacher. They have two
daughters: Jessica and Caylee.

Robert completed High School, is lead guitarist
in a travelling band.

Terrance is presently enrolled in a science com-
puter course at the Saskatchewan Technical Institute,
Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan.

Patrick is presently enrolled at University of Sas-
katchewan, Saskatoon.

Patricia Ann (Worobetz) and Ian Codling

The lan and Patricia Codling Family. In order of age: Tara,
Jason, Peter, Rebecca and Jonathon.

I was born 35 years ago, on December 16, 1948,
the eldest child of two school teachers, John and
Elizabeth Worobetz. My first 10 years were spent as a
northern Saskatchewan country girl. Although | do
not remember my very first home in Allingly, memo-
ries are clear of our second, a rented farm house in
the Samburg area. Every spring we white-washed the
outside of that house, packing the cracks with straw
and plaster. On laundry days, mom boiled water on
the stove and no running water also meant a walk
outside even through snowdrifts to get to the bath-
room.

Mom was my teacher from grades 1-5 at David
School, just a short walk across the field. In spring, it
was muddy so that your boots stuck and the suction
would pull them off. But in winter. crossing was
luxury for me because I'd get a toboggan ride, the
bottom scratching on the stubble which poked
through the snow.

[ think back to summer days, walking barefoot
along the country road to my friend’s farm. The tire
tracks are hard packed and hot. Stepping off set your
toes in the cool soft sand oozing around your feet.
Dad had to drive to the post office to pick up the mail
so | had a ride home.

[t was when we lived on that same school yard in
a teacherage that Prince Albert opened their first T. V.
station. Besides a T.V., that teacherage also had
running water with a pump at the kitchen sink and a
coal bin in the basement instead of a wood pile.

After a year spent in Saskatoon where Dad took
University classes, we moved into Prince Albert.
There I spent the rest of my growing-up days graduat-
ing from P.A.C.I. in 1966.

I left the next, light-housekeeping in Saskatoon
while attending Teacher’s College. There | met lan, a
6’2" blond, blue-eyed Englishman, president of
Teacher’s College and a christian. I am thankful to
the Lord for pairing me with lan. Through him |
became aware of the importance of needing Jesus
Christ as my Savior. We married on June 29, 1968 in
Prince Albert and for 16 years we have, together,
grown in the ““nurture and admonition of the Lord.™

Our first five years of marriage, we spent moving
around Saskatchewan teaching, lan as principal, | as
primary teacher, in three different small town com-
munities — Bateman (S.W. Saskatchewan), Archer-
will (N.E. Saskatchewan) and Punnichy (90 miles
North of Regina). Tara and Jason were born to us
while in Punnichy (I had retired after two years) —
Tara on October 14, 1971 and Jason on January 6,
1974.

After five years in the public school system, lan
was ready for a break. His philatelic hobby became
our livelihood when he opened Queen City Stamp
and Coin (a small shop) in Regina. It was a good
business for both enjoyment and success but five
years later in 1979, the teaching call came out and lan
accepted the principalship at Richmond Christian
School. So lan closed up shop, Tara finished Grade 2
and along with Jason and Peter John (December 19,
1978) we all ventured west to Vancouver, B.C., the
“land of plenty.” The “plenty™ part has proved true
for us because now we have plenty of kids. Rebecca
(November 8, 1980) and Jonathan (February 15,
1983) are both Richmond born.

The Christian School has been good for lan and



the kids. Ian has much freedom to teach all subjects
from a christian perspective.

Tara and Jason love attending the school where
they both participate in choir, ice skating and cosom
hockey. Jason, Grade 4, is our soccer star, the team’s
official goalie. He enjoys cadets, a church boys’
group where they have bible study, woodwork crafts
and play together.

Tara, on the verge of becoming a teenager, has for
several years shown great interest in the homemaking
department. She loves to bake, cook, sew and is a
great babysitter. She is a good choir soloist, takes
piano lessons and also enjoys cosom hockey and
Calvinettes.

Peter, Rebecca and Jonathan our three pre-
schoolers, keep us all well amused at home. Peter
will start kindergarten come fall. At present, both he
and Rebecca attend Sunday school, tiny tot variety
and swimming lessons. Jonathan, a little over a year,
and a real chatterbox shows us it won't be long before
they too, are playing piano and soccer.

In contrast to my early years, our kids live in a big
house that doesn’t require white-washing, that has
hot running water, flush toilets and to the door mail
delivery; paved roads everywhere (no sand to tickle
the toes) and a bus ride to school. It is a changed
world!

1983, The John Worobetz Family. Standing, back row: Cathy
(Worobetz) Wallace and Terry Worobetz. Front row: Rob
(kneeling), John, Elsie, Patrick Worobetz and Pat (Worobetz)
Codling.

But these words from Isaiah 41:10, which never
change, are steadfast and true, I quote to the Fedeyko
clan as words of encouragement:

“Fear thou not for I am with thee:
be not dismayed; for [ am thy God;
I will strengthen thee; yea, I will
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help thee; yea, | will uphold thee
with the right hand of my righteousness.™
Isaiah 41:10

Catherine (Worobetz) and Douglas
Wallace

1976, Bride and Groom, Cathy and Doug Wallace.

I, Catherine Marie, was born in Prince Albert on
March 2, 1955. I am the granddaughter of Alexandra
Woychuk, and great-Granddaughter of Sylvester and
Evdokia Fedeyko.

Being the daughter of parents in the teaching
profession, it seems only natural that my first child-
hood memories are those of the classroom. It was at
East Central School, ten gravel miles from Prince
Albert, in my mother’s classroom where [ first be-
gan school. She was a good teacher, or perhaps |
should say that | was a good student. However, |
enjoyed having mom for my teacher, but did not stay
at East Central long enough to be in my dad’s class-
room.

As we lived in our own house in town, I made
many friends here. The school situations for us were
of a different nature, and I missed out on all the
school activities, so my parents enrolled me at St.
Joseph Separate School in the city. Now, my next
door friend, Kelly, and I shared the same school,
classroom, and teachers.

There were some district rules to adhere to. The
dress code for girls was strictly skirts or dresses. The
playground was segregated with boys playing on one
side of the school, and girls on the other. Students
who lived five blocks away from school or more were
permitted to eat lunch in school. We lived four blocks
away! Not being used to these kind of rules, I found it
a little strange, but quickly adjusted and enjoyed the
city school.

During my grade four at St. Joseph, I participated



in the annual Prince Albert Music Festival, in the
individualized oratory class. I was speechless when
the adjudicators awarded me with the highest mark. [
also appeared on CKBI Television and was presented
with a medal.

Another proud event took place during my fifth
grade. I was granted the Sportsmanship Award of the
year. The honor of being chosen for this award was
excitement enough, but the Home and School com-
mittee opened up the first bank account with a depos-
it of five dollars.

One time my class was asked to write about a
humorous incident so | wrote about myself. **During
our stay in Saskatoon I occasionally required baby
sitting duties. The owners of the house — an elderly
couple volunteered to do so (to three-year old me).
Mr. Namenko who was blind, soon became the more
popular baby sitter. I took his hand, and with a lit
flashlight led him downstairs to our basement suite.
Seating him comfortably on the couch, I then pro-
ceeded to “house-clean’ using a bottle of detergent to
wash dishes one day, a can of comet to wash the walls
and floors another day, etc., etc. My ‘hand work’
came to an end when Mrs. Namenko appeared on the
scene, and immediately took over the baby sitting
responsibilities. "’

Every Saturday for two years, I attended Ukrai-
nian school organized by St. George’s parish. There,
I learned a few basics in the Ukrainian language,
participated in Ukrainian dancing, and enjoyed
going caroling at Christmas.

Summer months were filled with swimming les-
sons, picnics, and memorable family trips to the west
coast, down to California and east to Toronto.

Junior High meant a change of schools. My
choice was an all girls school across town — Institute
Notre Dame De La Providence. The uniform con-
sisted of a brown jumper and pink long sleeved
blouse, with the jumper only two inches above the
knee (with the mini skirt in fashion this was difficult
to accept.)

During my two years stay there, I participated in
intermural volleyball, drama club, school choir and
variety nights.

Grade nine for me involved another change in
schools to Prince Albert Collegiate Institute. There |
met many new friends including Doug Wallace. |
took an active part in variety nights and school choir.

I also participated in extra-curricular activities
including piano lessons, and was a member of the Pro
Rec Club Dancers who contributed their talents in
operatic and Winter Festival presentations.

After high school graduation, 1 registered with
Robertson Secretarial School in Saskatoon. Upon
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completion of the course, I took on secretarial duties
in a business firm in Winnipeg.

[ married Doug Wallace, my high school sweet-
heart in 1976. We made Winnipeg our home for two
vears where Doug pursued his education and ob-
tained his B.Ed. Degree in the University of Win-

1983, Doug and Cathy Wallace with Jessica (older) and
Caylee.

1976, Cathy (Worobetz) Wallace wedding prior to church cere-
mony. Front row, L-R: Tara Codling (flower girl). Steven De-
dish, Cathy Worobetz, Shirley Ashdown (kneeling). Second
row: Baba Wojchuk, Elsie Worobetz, Rob Worobetz (knee!-
ing), Petulla Dedish. Third row: Paul Woychuk, Patrick Wor-
obetz, Terry Worobetz, Pat (Worobetz) Codling. Back row:
Jason and lan Codling, John Worobetz and Ihor Dedish.



nipeg and University of Manitoba, and I continued
with my secretarial skills.

Doug’s first teaching position moved us to
Wanipigow. one hundred and thirty miles north of
Winnipeg which remained our home for five years.
We still used Winnipeg for our major purchases and
medical needs.

Doug and I were blessed with two lovely daugh-
ters: Jessica Dawn born October 15, 1979, and
Caylee Marie born March 30, 1982.

Time for a change and an attempt to get closer to
home made Cranberry Portage, Manitoba very ap-
pealing. We anticipate moving to Prince Albert mak-
ing that our permanent residence.

Robert Worobetz

1979, Robert Worobetz,
Grade 12.

On a warm summer day, June 10, 1961, a new
member joined the Worobetz clan. This much
awaited bundle of joy happened to be me, John
Robert, a brother for Pat and Cathy.

One of the first things I can recall is the time [ had
my stomach pumped when I was two years old. Not
exactly a pleasant memory I know, but still one of my
first. It seems I had been playing around in Mom’s
purse and had discovered a bottle of pills. Whether it
was full or not, mom couldn’t remember, so naturally
she did what any good mother would do in an
emergency — she panicked. When she calmed down
enough 1 reassured her, “It's okay mommy, I not
take.”

She took me to the doctor none the less. The
doctor inserted so many wires and tubes into me, |
looked like a porcupine! He finally brought me back
to my frantic mother and declared, “*Nothing but
porridge in this boy Mrs. Worobetz.™ That’s been my
life story ever since — always full of something, or
being told by someone that I am.

Take for instance the time when I. a young two
and a half-year old and full of youthful energy, went
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shopping for shoes with mom. I just couldn’t sit still.

“You're full of prunes!™ the sales lady said.

*“I not poons, | Wobbie!™ counters 1.

Then. there was the time Dad took us to a Christ-
mas Festival at East Central School where he was
principal. I felt like a pretty big man for a five-year
old, because my Dad was the principal.

“My Dad is the principal here, you know,™ |
remarked to one student, my chest so big making my
shirt buttons almost pop.

“You're full of it,” said he.

During my elementary school years at St. Joseph,
the teachers referred to me as the “walking encyclo-
pedia’, because I enjoyed reading our encyclopedia
at home and was full of “it” (information) . . . and so
it continued.

Years at Boucher Junior High followed, where |
participated in various sports, having had the honor
of setting a school record in the junior shot put event.

The most thrilling event was being a member of
the school’s super basketball team. We won most of
the games during the three years of participation!

Then it was the bruising game of football at St.
Mary’s High School that attracted my interest. Dur-
ing grade twelve, playing left tackle, our team, the
Marauders won all league games, losing to Melfort
by one point in the final play-offs.

Besides school work and sports, | developed a
keen interest in playing the guitar. My first taste of

1983, Sound Fx Telemiracle. L-R: Joe Chad (Vocalist), Mark
Sadlowski (key board), Rob. Worobetz (lead guitar), Rob.
Hemsworth (drums) and Tony Parent (base guitar).



success came while participating in the band at vari-
ous St. Mary’s school functions, local banquets,
parties, and weddings. The band received top award
as one of the contestants on CKBI Talent Night. It
was an honor to have been chosen to perform at a
banquet with special guest Prime Minister Diefenba-
ker in attendance.

I graduated from St. Mary’s High taking top
honors in music, and music it has been.

Our band Sound FX, joined the Travelling Bands
Association in 1981. We have travelled and per-
formed as far east as Ottawa, and Vancouver to the
west. The members of the band are: Joe Chad, Rob

TV o By Torord Wor e

Free-spirited Sound Fx members display hijinks
Koltar. who fies! camie to Saska
loon as a member of The Canadian
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bamd because of 015 orgimality aml
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There are namy positive sizn
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comparable to the <ame numbers
as Loverbov . An American agency
has made us o Standimg ter to
touring. We've been asked 1o aork fion

the Telemiracle again. thanks o
H Scarrow, whe has been a good
friend. And on the response of e
eurrent album. we hove to be fhagk
Wit of gong to the studios azan
savs Kaoltar

Sasealonm  audiences Wil
Sound Fxon a0 sliow-and<clanee
the Cemtenmiad Auditorium an Fry
d agan at the Capri Mot
rhiclub v L (|

1883, Saskatoon Star, Phoenix, paper clipping. Back row, L-R:
Rob Hemsworth, Tony Parent, Joe Chad. Front row, L-R: Rob
Worobetz and Mark Sadlowski.

Hemsworth, Tony Parent, Mark Sadlowski and my-
self, Rob Worobetz. We have just cut a record, which
at this time is being pressed in Toronto to be released
in September, 1983.

Terrance Worobetz

l' ~

1978, Terry Worobetz, skateboarding.

[, Terrance Glenn am the fourth child in the
Worobetz family. | was bom in Prince Albert on
August 24, 1963. I am the grandson of Alexandra
Woychuk, and great grandson of Sylvester and Evdo-
kia Fedeyko.

Having one brother older than I, and one
younger, | remember all the competitions we had
with each other. During a game of hide-and-seek
indoors, my best hiding place was under the foot
stool. My slim body went through a few rapid
Houdini contortions, and there 1 was completely
hidden from view.

Short car rides were fine, but taking a long trip,
for instance to “‘baba™ and *“deedo” in Kelowna
would get quite tedious after a couple hours. Patrick
and [ would have something going in the back seat.
Dad would threaten to stop the car. Mom sat between
us to keep peace for a while. We enjoyed all our visits
with baba then and now because she is the best cook!

I attended Boucher Junior High, a two mile dis-
tance from home. Because of my good work in
school, I was one of the more fortunate students who
got June recommendations, in all my grades, and
dismissed earlier for holidays. This enabled me to get
a job during the summer.

[ participated in various sports; swimming, skat-
ing, bowling and curling.



One summer my friends and I constructed a
skateboard ramp. We were getting pretty good at this
art, until one of my friend’s dad discovered some
lumber missing while building his garage.

Our family took several holiday trips. In 1976 we
took a “'Chinook™ tour on a Howard-Hughes Air
West jet to Los Angeles. Although we had already
been there in the summer, this was a Christmas vaca-
tion, and much more pleasant weather-wise. We tour-
ed Universal Studios where Patrick was picked from
the crowd to play the part of Burt Reynolds.

Tuijana, Mexico was an experience of life in a
different country. Young boys polished visitors'
shoes to make a little money. The merchants sold
hand-made wallets at two dollars each. Although we
were thirsty, our guides cautioned us not to purchase
any drinks as water there is not purified and would
probably make us ill.

The highlight of our trips was Hawaii in Decem-
ber, 1978. The New Year's Eve was very different.
Tourists spent thousands of dollars on firecrackers
that popped in a steady stacatto from five o’clock in
the afternoon until well into the morning hours. This
was a very unusual way of ushering the new year—a
very unexpected thrill.

During my three years at St. Marys High School.,
I worked after school hours and Saturdays and earned
enough money to buy a motor bike. This was fast and
economical transportation to school and work.

Upon graduating from High School, I received a
government scholarship grant towards furthering my
education. I am presently enrolled in a computer
science course at S.T.1., Moose Jaw, Sask.

Patrick Worobetz

1983, Patrick Worobetz.

On January 7, 1965, there was excitement at the
Worobetz house in Prince Albert. Patrick, Wayne a
brother to Patricia, Cathy, Robert and Terry was
born. Well, who was this bundle of joy? It turned out

to be me. who graduated from Senior High School in
1983.

I don’t remember what those first few years of my
life were like: but, with all those brothers and sisters
older than me. I must have had plenty of attention and
also plenty of hand-me-downs.

During my school years. I participated in several
sport activities in the city. These were school sports
but mostly those organized by the Prince Albert
Minor Sports Associations.

For several vears I played ball in the minor city
league. We were fortunate to win the city champion-
ship one year.

In my last year of minor football we won the city
championship. Then it was to Moose Jaw for the
provincial. Thrills! With a strong team effort we won
the tournament playoffs and became provincial
champions. One of my highlights of that year was to
receive the otfensive lineman of the year award.

While at Carlton Senior High, | was a member of
the Carlton Crusaders football team. Although we
won the city championship each year, we weren’t so
fortunate at the provincial level losing each time to a
stronger North Battleford aggregation.

When winter came, hockey was the main attrac-
tion around Prince Albert. All the boys would be
eager to do well. Why? Well maybe someday they
could become members of the famous Prince Albert
Raiders.

I started playing hockey when | was seven years

1979-80 Hockey season. Patrick Worobetz.



old. The following year our team ““The East Hill
Blues™ won the city squirt division title.

The pee wee, bantam and midget divisions fol-
lowed. All in all I was involved with hockey for ten
years. During those years we had great fun and
companionship playing in tournaments, practising,
raising funds and so on.

During the Pee Wee and Bantam years, 1 played
double “A™" hockey. This hockey was more competi-
tive as we played in what was called a centre-four
league. The league was comprised of teams from
Prince Albert, Melfort, Humboldt and North Bat-
tleford. While in Pee Wee and Bantam our teams
achieved two championships.

[t was an honour and experience for us to partici-
pate in the International Bantam tournament at Kam-
loops, B.C. This tournament includes teams from
the U.S.A. as well as those from most Canadian
centers.

Now that [ have graduated from High School, |
tend to look back and reminisce over the years at
school and sports, and come to one conclusion. It
was all enjoyable and worthwhile giving me com-
radeship, discipline, and good sportsmanship.

Ihor and Marie Dedish

1958, Hank and Marie Dedish, their Wedding Day, Sept. 27.

I was the youngest of tour living children, | had
three older sisters and was affectionately known to all
as the baby of the family, (even when I was 20 years
old — 6 feet tall and weighed 190 Ibs.)

[ was born on our Saskatchewan homestead, a
geographical location of Sec. 22, tp. 45, Range 9,
West 3rd Meridian, 18 miles northeast of Hafford,
Saskatchewan. It was planned that [ was to be born at
the Hospital in Hafford, however nature had its own
ideas. After a couple of days in Hafford hospital, my
Father and Mother decided to head home via a team
of horses and cutter along with perehna (feather quilt)
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and a charcoal heater. This was 18 miles of country
roads and numerous snowdrifts. Needless to say the
horses were white when they arrived home and that
wasn't their natural color. covered with frost and
SNOW.

I was born a couple of days later with the as-
sistance of a prairic mid-wife and entered this world
on 17 December 1934.

Born and raised on a farm like most prairie peo-
ple are accustomed to. I can start to recollect memo-
ries when | was about four and five years old. |
clearly recall going to Church with the family with a
team of horses and a democrat at Albertown, Saint
Peters and Paul’s Church, a small wooden structured
country church. I remember the parish priest, Father
Dreihomeretz, a fairly big man with a big beard
which he stroked periodically when delivering the
sermon. The children always sat at the right front of
the Church under the very watchful eye of the Father,
the odd yank on the ear of a mischievious child by
Father would make us attentive and mindful of the
Services.

I remember the rock picking days on the farm,
the area that we lived at was abundant with granite
and this was an unpleasant yearly chore. [ also recall
the haying days in the fall and particularly remember
the smell of the freshly cut grass when my Dad would
wind through the meadows with a two horse power
mower.

The Community where [ was born and raised was
a mixed farming Community. The area was far from
being prosperous but one managed as long as you
had a few chickens, hogs and cattle along with a good
garden and a few bushels of wheat.

Our farm extended into a good sized lake known
as Oscar Lake. | spent many enjoyable hours around
this lake during all seasons, either hunting, trapping,
swimming, playing hockey or just simply exploring
the lake shore.

As all young prairie boys, I also was fond of guns
and hunting. I recall when | smuggled a single shot
.22 rifle onto our farm, which I acquired from a
cousin of mine, | was 12 years old then and consid-
ered myself a responsible person to being able to
handle the firearm. I was somewhat reluctant to let
my Father and Mother in on the secret as [ felt that
their approval would be frowned upon. However, it
didn’t take them long to figure out that all the rabbits
I was bringing home were not all snared. Seeing that [
was providing food on the table I was cautioned about
the use of the firearm and allowed to possess same. |
remember to this very day when I shot my first
coyote. It was a bright sunny fall day when I snuck
down to the Lake after completing several acres of
oat stooking. Upon walking into a meadow adjoining



the Lake and in the shadows of tall white poplar trees
and the wind into my face I noticed a coyote making
his patrol across the meadow and pouncing on the
odd field mouse to supplement his diet. There was a
bounty for coyotes at that time and there was my
opportunity as a bounty hunter. From a standing
unsupported position I took careful aim and
squeezed the trigger and to the amazement of a 12
year old, the coyote disappeared into the meadow
grass. I ran to the spot where I last saw the coyote
only to find him still alive and rolling around, in my
excitement it took me another 10 shots to finish him
off. Prouder than anything I dragged him home
(about 2 miles) and displayed him to my parents,
who were somewhat amazed about my bounty hunt-
ing. I eventually did receive my $3.00 bounty from
the Rural Municipality of Redberry.

Lancaster School, a three and a half mile cross
country trek was my school from grades one to nine,
a rural one room school with grades from one to ten.
Walking or the odd bicycle was the mode of travel
during Spring and Summer. During the cold winter,
horses were used either a team and caboose or a
single horse and a toboggan or also even horseback.

My Dad passed away when he was fifty-one years
old and I was 15 years at the time. My sisters by this
time had all left home and were married and raising
families of their own. After a year on the farm by
herself, mother sold the farm to a neighbour and
moved to North Battleford where I took my Grade
eleven at the North Battleford Collegiate. I then
moved to the Prince Albert area and took my Grade
twelve at David School where my brother-in-law was
the Principal. Upon completion of my High School |
was somewhat undecided what steps 1 was going to
take with respect to career aspirations. I ventured to
commence work as a Store Clerk at the North Bat-
tleford Co-op Store. I always had a great admiration
for the Royal Canadian Mounted Police ever since [
was a young boy. While working at the Co-op Store |
played Junior “A"" baseball in North Battleford and
as a result was in contact with several young mem-
bers of the R.C.M.P. I was encouraged by these
members to join the Force. On 18 July 1955 I was
sworn in as a member of the Royal Canadian
Mounted Police after successfully completing the
required entrance exams and security screening. |
took my entire recruit training at “*Depot’™™ Division
at Regina, Saskatchewan. The training was a reward-
ing experience for me and something that I will
remember as long as I live. My first education to
training was that of putting up the winter hay for 60
plus Quarter horses at the training Depot. After com-
pleting the winter storage of some 20.000 bales of
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1956, 3 Cst. LY. (Hank) De-
dish. Training centre, "De-
pot Division” Regina, Sas-
katchewan.

hay we commenced our regular training with a full
squad on 22 August 1955.

On 7 May 1956 my training was completed and
my posting was to Langley City Detachment, a Com-
munity in the Fraser River Valley of the Lower Main-
land of British Columbia. Four months later | was
transferred to Langley Municipal Detachment some
4 miles up Highway #10. Commencing in carly 1958
I had one of four trips to the East Kootenays and
duties at that time known as **Doukhobor Patrol™.
The Freedomite group were physically showing dis-
satisfaction with the Establishment and as a result
numerous bombings and arsons were prominent in
the Grand Forks, Nelson, Castlegar areas and re-
quired additional manpower for stepped up patrols
and enforcement.

In September 1958, | was transferred to Burnaby
in view of my pending marriage later that month. On
27 September, 1958 I married Marie Halko at North
Battleford, Saskatchewan. The traditional Red Serge
Ceremony was employed to its fullest. I had known
Marie while I worked at the Co-op Store in North
Battleford. Marie at that time was working at the
Provincial Hospital. Marie departed North Bat-
tleford before 1 did. She chose to take her training at
the Essondale Forensic Institution near Vancouver,
B.C. and graduated as a Registered Psyhiatric Nurse.
Needless to say I had an interest in British Columbia
and thereby my first choice of posting upon comple-
tion of training was British Columbia. We bought a
new home a month after we were married and gained
great enjoyment with the new home. landscaping and
all.

August 1961 brought a transfer for us to Sidney,
on Vancouver Island. A beautiful location which
holds a lot of pleasant memories for us. A four man
Detachment at Sidney where I was second in charge.
Both our children were born at Resthaven Hospital in
Sidney. Steven born on 11 December, 1963 and Petu-
lla on 02 December, 1965. From Sidney we were



transferred to the other end of Vancouver Island, a
place called Port Alice and took command as Con-
stable in Charge. Two years later in December 1967
the whole family including the dog arrived at Alexis
Creek (75 miles west of Williams Lake) where I was
promoted to Corporal and In Charge of the Detach-
ment. The largest Detachment boundaries that you
could envision — 200 miles long and 100 miles wide
was the area covered by a four man operation. Some
great experiences arose while in the Chilcotin coun-
try which was known for its cattle ranching, logging
and Indian Reservations, a very interesting location
for hunting and fishing. At that time a good choice
for hunting deer and moose, four species of grouse
and excellent Steelhead fishing in the Chilcotin River
along with numerous lakes for trout fishing. During
the winter months and during cold and heavy snow-
falls the moose would get into the Ranchers hay-
stacks and would destroy more than eat. It would be
nothing uncommon to find a dozen moose in your
haystack any early winter’s morning. To keep in
practice with their roping abilities the ranchers would
rope the odd moose, only to release them after a
successful rope throw.

Our children were getting to be experts in the
agricultural and animal field. While at Alexis Creek
they were instructed in having and caring for a brood
of yearly chickens, a lamb, a calf, rabbits, chip-
munks, two dogs, cats and an old grey mare. Steven
had started his Elementary schooling and Petulla had
the pleasure of starting her kindergarten at the age of
three where she attended at the Anaheim Reserve for
the benefit of the Native Children to learn the English
language from her and under the watchful eyes of
Sister Ann. During our stay at Alexis Creek, Marie
established some memorable contact with the native
people there. She had dealings with them in their

1983, Marie, Petulla and Hank Dedish, Kitimat, B.C.
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native art of bead work and acted as an agent for sale
of their products. Marie had a beautiful full length
formal dress made for her by the native ladies, moose
hide and beautiful bead work with matching accesso-
ries of head band, purse and slippers. She wore the
gown to one of our Annual Regimental balls (on 13
Nov 1970) at Kamloops and obviously was the talk of
the ball. All members of our family are the proud
owners of various items of bead work and clothing
from the Chilcotin Country.
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Cpl. and Mrs. (Hank and Marie) Dedish, Alexis Creek, B.C.
1970. At the RCMP Regimental Ball, Kamloops B.C. Formal
gown with accessories made for Marie by the local Native
ladies. Moose hide, treated, with appropriate bead work.

After four years we bid Alexis Creek farewell and
moved to the beautiful Okanagan at Vernon, B.C.
where we only stayed for one and a half years and
moved to the geographical centre of British Colum-
bia at Vanderhoof. Our transfer to Vanderhoof after
only one and a half year stay at Vernon was a promo-
tional opportunity and my advancement to Sergeant
i/c Vanderhoof was and always will be a very soft spot
in our hearts. We experienced happy and joyful occa-



1974, Steven Dedish, 11
years.
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sions as well as a very sorrow filled one. Our oldest
child was stricken with a blood disorder during late
December 1975 and after an intense desire and deter-
mination to live we lost Steven to the devastating
disease of Leukemia in January, 1978.

On 28 July. 1978 another transfer took us to
Kitimat, B.C. the Aluminum City known for its
Smelting and production of aluminium. Another pro-
motional move to Staff Sergeant and Detachment
Commander. Kitimat is a native name for **People of
the snow™ and certainly lives up to its name, located
on the Northern tip of Douglas Channel, a town of
14,000 population. A Community that is the proud
owner of two artificial ice arenas, a year round swim-
ming pool, various recreational facilities and a new
theatre located within the local High School. Salmon
and Steelhead fishing, crabbing, prawning, boating,
sailing and scuba diving are favorite local pastimes.
As of May 1983 we are still in Kitimat and enjoying
our stay here.

During my service with the Royal Canadian
Mounted Police 1 was fortunate to receive two deco-
rations. | was honored during an Investiture at Gov-
ernment House Ottawa on 30 November, 1973, when
I received the Medal of Bravery from Governor Gen-
eral Roland H. Michener. Medal was issued in
recognition of actions taken when Thomas Edward
Webb Sr. was removed from his pick up truck after a
three vehicle accident which involved a flaming gas-
oline tanker truck on Highway 97 North at Vernon,
B.C. on 15th April 1973.

[ also received the Queen’s Silver Jubilee Medal
upon recommendation by my officer Commanding
Prince George Sub/Div on 23 March, 1978. This
medal is awarded for achievement and outstanding
work within a given profession.

Previous paragraphs have mainly expanded upon
my childhood and career days. At this time | would
like to add further detail with respect to my wife
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Marie and family data. Petulla. has written a short
story about herself for the book. Petulla is a young lady
of whom we are very proud. A self-motivated and
disciplined girl who strives for her utmost best, com-
pined with being an excellent student. a good athlete
and participates in extracurricular activities to the
fullest extent. Needless to say, we support her strong-
ly in her activities and always believed in taking her
to her activities and particularly in her Sports pro-
grams stayed to watch her participate. It could have
been skating, swimming, basketball, jazz dancing,
music festivals or even modeling her sewing wares.

My wife Marie, is one of nine children born to
Daniel and Mary Halko of Ranger, Saskatchewan. A
rural farming community in the Leoville-Spiritwood
area. Like many other homestead families, she
learned the joys and hardships of the rural settings. It
is interesting to note that Marie's two youngest sisters
also married members of the RCMP. Marie and | are
both avid trap shooters and have added several trap
shooting trophies to our den over a period of several
years. I still play slow and fast pitch fastball. I played
baseball for many years until the legs and pitching
arm weren't as strong anymore. | have even resorted
to playing **Old Timers™ hockey, which is a gentle-
man’s game of hockey with no body checking and
slap shooting. I've coached Minor Hockey and
Minor Baseball teams for many years and only in
recent years | have discontinued these programs. As
a family we have enjoyed camping during our sum-
mer vacations and travelled into some very remote
areas at the various locations where | have been
posted. We enjoyed these wilderness trips and gained
a great deal of knowledge about nature’s ways. We
use a truck and camper.

Yearly I make an annual hunting trip for moose
hunting within the British Columbia regions. Usu-
ally a two week trip into the woods with three or four
companions, generally early fall before the cold
frosts descend upon us. Moose hunting is our main
interest, however we never refuse a deer. We add
some bird, duck and goose hunting as well which
makes into pleasant and memorable trips.

One can see changes in a person from year to
year, as well as our lifestyles. Society changes are
dictated by people like you and I. Our modern day
society has become a permissive one and only yours,
my children and their children will say which way
our trends and ways of life will go.

In closing I would like to thank my parents and
their parents for making the choice of living in Cana-
da, a Country that all of us should be proud of and
“Proud to be a Canadian.™

Last but not least I would like to express my
gratitude to my cousin William (Bill) Fedeyko for
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Nov. 30, 1973. Newspaper clipping, Ottawa, Ontario.

making a thought come true. He had the fortitude,
desire and energy to make this book possible, he has
devoted a tremendous amount of hours, days and
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months towards a commemorative event.

Bill.

Thank you,

SERGEANT HANK DEDISH recewved the Queens Silver Jubilee Medal for achievement
and outstanding work in the R.C.M.P. force. Sergeant Dedish was recommended for the
award by his officer commanding from Prince George subdivision Superintcndent R.N

Bavnes

March 23, 1978. Newspaper clipping, Vanderhoof, B.C.

Petulla Marie Dedish
Birth — December 2, 1965

1982, Petulla Dedish,
Grade 12, 16 years.

[ am the second and last child born to my parents,
Hank and Marie. I was born on Vancouver Island in a
beautiful town called Sidney. During the 60°s, a pop-
ular singer was at the top of the charts — Petula Clark
— since my parents had been looking for a name that
was strangely unique, they chose Petula but adding
another L™ completing Petulla.
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1970, Steven and Petulla Dedish, ages 5 and 3 years.

I've lived in several towns in British Columbia,
covering almost the entire province. From Sidney, |
was off to Port Alice, then to Alexis Creek where |
was placed in a kindergarten class for 3 years (I
started when I was 3). It was off to the Okanagan,
where in Vernon 1 started my elementary school
years. After one and one half years in Vernon, father
was given a promotion to a Sergeant and the transfer
was to Vanderhoof where I completed my elementary
schooling. Vanderhoof will always hold a lot of
memories for me and my parents as I lost my older
brother of 2 years to leukemia.

In the summer of 1978, the three of us (and my
pooch, Corky), transferred to Kitimat where my fa-
ther was promoted to a Staff Sergeant. Kitimat, a
native name meaning ‘‘People of the Snow™, defi-
nitely lives up to its name. Sometimes we receive so
much snow that children are walking the snowbanks
and touching the telephone wires.

I will be completing my final high school year in
Kitimat. The high school carries grades 8-12 and has
over 1300 students. It is named after a beautiful
mountain that sits in the background of our town,
Mount Elizabeth, leading to our school, initials
M.E.S.S.
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I 'was a figure skater for 6 years but found I had to
make a choice between basketball or skating as the
two combined were overpowering my time. Being
5'9" 1 played basketball, and played for S years at
MESS. playing for the team in 1980 who won the
Provincial Championships.

I enjoy jazz dancing as I have participated in
several festivals and community telethons. | have
been involved in choreography for individual dance
routines as well as group choreography. I worked on
the group choreography for a school musical produc-
tion of God Spell.

In the fall of 1982, I taught 6 weeks of Aerobic
Dancing for Teenagers. It was very rewarding and it
sure kept me in good shape.

1982, Petulla, “modelling my blouse that | made.”



1982, Saskatchewan. Feeding “Bambi”.

If T ever find spare time, one can find me sewing,
skiing, babysitting, reading. writing poetry or talk-
ing a mile a minute. [ make a lot of my own clothes
and I love it when | am asked to model my accom-
plishments.

1982, "Aerobic Dance for Teens’ class, dancing for the "Alumi-
num City Telethon" in the Mount Elizabeth H.S. Theatre.

Upon completion of my high school graduation, 1
will be travelling to Denmark for one year as a Rotary
Exchange Student. I plan to learn the Danish lan-
guage and the ways and customs of the Danish folk.
It shall be a very rewarding experience and I plan to
gain a year's knowledge equivalent to, if not greater
than that of one year's university.

When I return from Denmark [ plan to attend the
University of British Columbia where I would like to
obtain an undergraduate degree in Psychology.
Hopefully I will manage to continue and receive a
master’s degree in either Audiology (teaching the
hearing impaired) or Counselling. If those seven
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years of school somehow change my outlooks, I can
always fall back on Nursing.

[ love children and I know whatever career |
choose, will always be related to the youth of our
Society.

Remember, whatever you put into life is only
what you will get out of life.

Send your Sorrows

Cry to the grasslands
Where no one will listen
To your endless tears
That whimper softly

To the morning sun.

Petulla Dedish In Denmark

Experiencing a new education, culture and lan-
guage is a fantastic learning process. Living for one
year in the country of Denmark has allowed me to see
the people and how they live. Throughout the year
(July 1983 — June 1984) I lived with three different
families in a small town on the peninsula of Jutland. |
was fortunate to spend 3%2 months with each family
so I was able to experience different patterns of
danish lifestyle.

| travelled by train to school each day, leaving a
rural farming area and arriving in a large urban area
where | attended a state school in the City of Esbjerg.
The state school is a danish **gymnasium’” which is
similar to a North American High School. Levels 1, 2
and 3 are offered in two major subject lines: (1)
Mathematics line and (2) Language line. I was placed
in Level 2 branching in the language line. I took
danish, english, french, politics, geography, music
and physical education — exceptions were made for
Latin and German as I hadn’t taken these particular
subjects prior to my schooling in Denmark. The
pupils are close to the age of 16 when they start at the
“gymnasium’™ and at this level they have to have
chosen their subject line of preference. The goal of
the school is to achieve academically, unfortunately
there aren’t any extra-curricular activities offered for
the pupils. Classes have set numbers of pupils and
each class takes the same subjects, therefore the
same individuals remain in the same class, and pro-
gress in this manner until the third level is completed.
[f high grades are achieved on the student exams one
may enter university and obtain a higher education
with all fees covered by the government.

Danish food is delicious; pork, potatoes and veg-
etables can be described as a typical danish meal.
French bread with cheese topped with jam is popular
for breakfast. Rye bread with meat slices and dress-
ings is a practical lunch. Hot meals are served in the
evenings. Oh, I can’t forget the coffee breaks, one in



the afternoon and one in the evening where all the
delicious danish pastries are enjoyed.

There are small traditions that are part of the
danes, and take time for “‘foreigners™ to adjust to.
Shaking hands when invited as a guest, it is impor-
tant to shake hands with every guest at the social
function not only upon arrival but also when saying
goodnight. After meeting a friend on a street, one
should always remember to *‘pass regards on to the
family™ or thank the people for the last evening they
spent together. The Danish people don’t use bed
sheets, they use quilts and find them much more
practical. In general, Denmark has a relaxed at-
mosphere in relation to its people and their ways.
Throughout the entire year, 1 had never been intro-
duced to anyone as Mr. or Mrs. X, it is always on a
first name basis.

Learning a second language can be a challenge
and it takes a great deal of patience. There are the
problems of misunderstanding, mis-pronunciating
but it becomes personally rewarding at the point
where there are no problems in a **day-to-day’ con-
versation.

Denmark is a beautiful country offering several
benefits for its youth and elders. Taxes are high but
medical and dental aid are free. Old age pensioners
have the opportunity to live in an elderly folks home
without worrying about one kroner!

[ am thankful to have been able to share a small
part of Denmark with you and [ am also grateful to
have not only learned about a new society but also to
learn about people and myself.

Anna (Deditch) and Anton Sawicki
as written by her children Donna, Charleen and
Ted

Our mother, Anna Deditch Sawicki, was the
youngest daughter of Stephen and Alexandra De-
ditch. She was born July 31, 1928 on her parents’
farm in Oscar Lake, Sask. She also grew up there and
attended school to the eighth grade.

At the age of 17 Mom went to work as a waitress.
She worked the following years at several C.N.
hotels; one of these was the Jasper Hotel in Alberta.
She also worked in Prince Albert where she met our
father, Anton (Tony) Sawicki. They met at a wedding
that Dad was attending in which Mom was a brides-
maid. They were married shortly thereafter in St.
Helen’s church in Brooksby, Sask. in November of
1950.

After they were married Mom and Dad moved to
Grandma Sawicki’s farm in Brooksby (near Melfort),
Sask. During this time, in July 1951, their first child,
Donna Cecile, was born. They lived on the farm for
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1950, Anton (Tony) and Anna (Deditch) Sawicki.

Tony holding Ted and Anna with their children Donna and
Charleen.



approximately 2 years. In 1952 they moved to Ed-
monton, Alberta where Mom worked for another
C.N. hotel. They remained in Edmonton until May,
1955 when they moved to Los Angeles, Calif.

Mom and Dad purchased a home in Pico Riveraa
short distance from Mom’s sister Pauline and her
family. It was here that Charleen and Theodore (Ted)
were born; Charleen in December, 1955 and Ted in
July, 1961.

Mom was a devoted mother and spent her time at
home with her children. Feeling the need for extra
income but reluctant to leave us in the care of some-
one else at this time, Mom began to sit for two small
girls in our home. Mom always had enough time and
love to share with all of us. She was a loving person
and endeared herself to everyone she met. With her
open, honest and genuine friendliness she made
many lifelong friends who, like us, still mourn her
untimely death.

Adults standing, L-R: Vera and Jack McMaster, Pauline and
John Worobey and Anna Sawicki. Glenn Worobey holding a
cat, Robbie Worobey, Charleen and Donna Sawicki.

In 1968 Mom was diagnosed as terminally ill with
Hodgkins Disease (cancer of the lymph glands). This
was shortly after she began work as a grocery check-
er at Safeway. She worked as long as possible but
died only one year after the diagnosis. It was a swift
but agonizing death. Mom never let us see the an-
guish she felt at the prospect of leaving her children
behind but she constantly worried about our welfare.
She always had a smiling face for us and was ever-
constant in her love and devotion for her family. A

strong woman with a loving, Kind heart, our mom
died and left us with a void that can never be filled.
She is still missed by all who knew her.

1967, Anna and Ted Sawicki.

Anna Deditch Sawicki died on July 14, 1969 at
the age of 41 and left behind her three children:
Donna, Charleen and Ted.

Donna (Sawicki) McDaniel
Donna Cecile was born on July 26, 1951 in

Donna and Michelle McDaniel.



Melfort. Sask. The eldest of three, she was the only
one born in Canada and remains a Canadian citizen
although she still resides in California.

Donna, like the rest, grew up in Pico Rivera and
attended school there. She attended L. T. Magee
Elementary to the 6th grade, then Osbourne Burke Jr.
High to the 9th grade, and graduated from El Rancho
High School in 1969.

While in High School Donna worked as a hostess
in Bob’s Big Boy. a local family restaurant. She
continued working there after graduation and soon
met and married her husband Riley (Dale) McDaniel
Ir.

In Getober of 1970 the Sawicki family moved to
Vancouver, B.C. but Donna and her family, which
now included Michelle Ann, born August 31, 1970,
stayed behind. Donna went back to work after
Michelle was born but not back to the restaurant.
Looking for a job with more career potential she
began work in the banking industry. She started as a
bookkeeper and quickly worked her way up to vault
teller.

It was at this time that Donna and Dale separated
and subsequently divorced. Michelle was 8 years old
at the time and Donna, feeling the need for a larger
income and more growth potential, switched profes-
sions and began work in the trucking industry. She is
currently a computer programmer for Immanuel
Transport and is also going to college in the evenings
to further her career in computers.

Donna and Michelle, who is now 14, are today
living happily in Huntington Beach, California.
Charleen (Sawicki) and Dennis Paquin

Charleen Alexandria was born on December 15,
1955 in Beverly Community Hospital in Montebello,
California. She attended the same schools as Donna,

1980, Dennis and Charleen Paquin.

L.T. Magee and Osbourne Burke, up to the 9th
grade, but after the death of our mom and remarriage
of our dad, the family moved to B.C. There she
attended St. Angela’s Academy for Girls and North
Delta Sr. Secondary School where she graduated in
1973. She then enrolled in Douglas Community Col-
lege and began work on her B.A.

During High School and College Charleen
worked for our father who taught her his trade —
watchmaking. When Dad closed his watch repair
shop she went to work for Westminster Manufactur-
ing Jewellers and spent the next few years designing
and making jewellery.

At the age of 24, Charleen married our step-
brother, Dennis Paquin. They were married in Los
Angeles, California and are presently living in Flor-
ida. Dennis is a Lieutenant in the U.S. Navy and is
the Intelligence Officer for Attack Squadron 81 based
at Cecil Field in Jacksonville, Florida.

Dennis and Charleen have three children: Justin
Anthony, 4%z yrs., Katherine (Katie) Mae, 3 yrs.,
and Michael David, 5 mos. The family is currently
preparing for a move to Hawaii. They will be sta-
tioned there for approximately eight years.

1983, Justin and Katie Paquin.

Theodore (Ted) and Suzanne Sawicki

Theodore (Ted) Anthony, the youngest of Anna’s
children, was born July 15, 1961 at the Downey
Community Hospital, in Downey, California. At the
time of his birth Donna was 10 and Charleen was 5.
Needless to say, the birth of a baby boy was a delight
for everyone.

Ted attended only elementary school in Califor-
nia due to the family’s move to Surrey, B.C. in 1970.
He continued grade school at Richardson Elemen-
tary, went on to Sands Jr. High and was graduated
from North Delta Sr. Secondary School in 1978.

Ted has always shown an aptitude for mechanical
type repairs. He, like Charleen, worked with Dad in



Ted and Sue Sawicki.
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watch repair, but he has really excelled in the field of
electronics. He is especially interested in stereo
equipment and is currently employed as a car stereo
specialist. His goal is to someday be self-employed
and own his own business.

Ted was married to Suzanne Skocylas on July 28,
1983 in Surrey, B.C. and they are expecting their first
child sometime in July, 1984.

Donna, Charleen and Ted wish to dedicate this
story to the person who taught us what it is to love —
our Mom. Life will never be the same without her.
She touched all our lives and we will be eternally
grateful that she was our Mother. We consider our-
selves truly lucky and proud that we can say we are
her children.
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FAMILY GROUP RECORD
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FAMILY GROUP RECORD

HUSBAND Anton (Tony) SAWICKI Occupation __ Watchmaker

Born 8 May 1928 Place Melfort, Saskatchewan . _ |

Chr. Place

| Marr S Novemh 1950 Place _ Brooksby, Saskatchewan |

Died Place —

Bur. Place ———

Father FeTTx SAWTTKT Wother _ Mary RUCACROSRY 7

Other Wives

WIFE Anna DEDITCH

Born 3T JuTy 1328 Place

Chr Place

Died 14 July 1969 Place San Gabriel, California, U.S.A

[Bur___ Ressurection CemeteryPlace ]

Father Stefan DEDITCH Mother Alpxandra FEDFYKO ... .

Other F Date 8 Piace
When Born Where Born _[. . Marrage Date 8 Place

Children Sex “WhenOied " |~~~ WhereDied ~ To Whom

1
| Donna Cecile F

[26 July 1951

7969 - Dale McDANIEL _ |

[15 Dec. 1955 | Moatebello, Califaraid . -~ - . Dennis PAQUIN
leen A I3 R
Y (redh| L 15 July -1964 | Bowney, -Cal-ifornia -|-28 Jul_y -9Sgﬁnzugksmst.

Children of -

I—_

=Dcnna & Dale McDaniel
Michelle Ann (31 Aug. 1970)

-Lharleen & Dennis Paquin
Justin Anthony (6 Oct. 1979)

Michael

Katherine Mae

(5 July 1981)

David (27 Jan. 1984)

A—'u-rﬁ‘r_-ro

I
I
5

Sources of Information

Giber Marnages

ORDER OF DATA

———={ NAME  sonn Henry BROWN
- —— ——={ PLACE Bramiey Hampshue England
DATE 2 Septembrer 1832
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